The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry 43 *Series Editors:* Damià Barceló · Andrey G. Kostianoy

Antoni Munné Antoni Ginebreda Narcís Prat *Editors*

Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water Quality Monitoring

The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II)



The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry

Founded by Otto Hutzinger

Editors-in-Chief: Damià Barceló • Andrey G. Kostianoy

Volume 43

Advisory Board: Jacob de Boer, Philippe Garrigues, Ji-Dong Gu, Kevin C. Jones, Thomas P. Knepper, Alice Newton, Donald L. Sparks More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/698

Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water Quality Monitoring

The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II)

Volume Editors: Antoni Munné · Antoni Ginebreda · Narcís Prat

With contributions by

 $\begin{array}{l} M. \ Alcaraz \cdot T. \ Alcoverro \cdot L. \ Arin \cdot E. \ Ballesteros \cdot D. \ Barceló \cdot \\ A. \ Bartolomé \cdot M. \ Belzunces \cdot S. \ Bofill-Mas \cdot J. \ Caixach \cdot \\ J. \ Camp \cdot C. \ Cardona \cdot X. \ Carreras \cdot E. \ Cebrian \cdot S. \ Civit \cdot \\ M.J. \ Corrales \cdot M. \ de \ Torres \cdot D. \ Fernàndez-Garcia \cdot \\ M.J. \ Corrales \cdot M. \ de \ Torres \cdot D. \ Fernàndez-Garcia \cdot \\ M.J. \ Figueras \cdot E. \ Flo \cdot J. \ Fraile \cdot E. \ Garcés \cdot M. \ García \cdot \\ M.J. \ García-Galán \cdot T. \ Garrido \cdot R. \ Girones \cdot E. \ Jordana \cdot \\ M. \ Köck-Schulmeyer \cdot M. \ Manzanera \cdot A. \ Munné \cdot F. \ Oliva \cdot \\ A. \ Palanques \cdot M. \ Pérez \cdot S. \ Pinedo \cdot C. \ Postigo \cdot A. \ Reñé \cdot \\ G. \ Roca \cdot J. \ Romero \cdot M. \ Rusiñol \cdot N. \ Sampedro \cdot \\ X. \ Sánchez-Vila \cdot A. \ Serrano-Juan \cdot C. \ Silvera \cdot X. \ Torras \cdot \\ I. \ Tubau \cdot E. \ Vázquez-Suñé \cdot E. \ Vegas \cdot V. \ Velasco \cdot M. \ Vila \cdot \\ B. \ Weitzmann \end{array}$



Editors Antoni Munné Department of Water Quality and Monitoring Catalan Water Agency (ACA) Barcelona Spain

Antoni Ginebreda Department of Environmental Chemistry IDAEA-CSIC Barcelona Spain

Narcís Prat Department of Ecology University of Barcelona (UB) Barcelona Spain

ISSN 1867-979X ISSN 1616-864X (electronic) The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry ISBN 978-3-319-23903-3 ISBN 978-3-319-23904-0 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-23904-0

Library of Congress Control Number: 2015959952

Springer Cham Heidelberg New York Dordrecht London

© Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

Springer International Publishing AG Switzerland is part of Springer Science+Business Media (www.springer.com)

Editors-in-Chief

Prof. Dr. Damià Barceló

Department of Environmental Chemistry IDAEA-CSIC C/Jordi Girona 18–26 08034 Barcelona, Spain and Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA) H20 Building Scientific and Technological Park of the University of Girona Emili Grahit, 101 17003 Girona, Spain dbcgam@cid.csic.es Prof. Dr. Andrey G. Kostianoy

P.P. Shirshov Institute of Oceanology Russian Academy of Sciences 36, Nakhimovsky Pr. 117997 Moscow, Russia *kostianoy@gmail.com*

Advisory Board

Prof. Dr. Jacob de Boer IVM, Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam, The Netherlands Prof. Dr. Philippe Garrigues

University of Bordeaux, France

Prof. Dr. Ji-Dong Gu The University of Hong Kong, China

Prof. Dr. Kevin C. Jones University of Lancaster, United Kingdom

Prof. Dr. Thomas P. Knepper University of Applied Science, Fresenius, Idstein, Germany

Prof. Dr. Alice Newton

University of Algarve, Faro, Portugal

Prof. Dr. Donald L. Sparks Plant and Soil Sciences, University of Delaware, USA

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry Also Available Electronically

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry is included in Springer's eBook package Earth and Environmental Science. If a library does not opt for the whole package, the book series may be bought on a subscription basis.

For all customers who have a standing order to the print version of *The Handbook* of *Environmental Chemistry*, we offer free access to the electronic volumes of the Series published in the current year via SpringerLink. If you do not have access, you can still view the table of contents of each volume and the abstract of each article on SpringerLink (www.springerlink.com/content/110354/).

You will find information about the

- Editorial Board
- Aims and Scope
- Instructions for Authors
- Sample Contribution

at springer.com (www.springer.com/series/698).

All figures submitted in color are published in full color in the electronic version on SpringerLink.

Aims and Scope

Since 1980, *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* has provided sound and solid knowledge about environmental topics from a chemical perspective. Presenting a wide spectrum of viewpoints and approaches, the series now covers topics such as local and global changes of natural environment and climate; anthropogenic impact on the environment; water, air and soil pollution; remediation and waste characterization; environmental contaminants; biogeochemistry; geoecology; chemical reactions and processes; chemical and biological transformations as well as physical transport of chemicals in the environment; or environmental modeling. A particular focus of the series lies on methodological advances in environmental analytical chemistry.

Series Preface

With remarkable vision, Prof. Otto Hutzinger initiated *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* in 1980 and became the founding Editor-in-Chief. At that time, environmental chemistry was an emerging field, aiming at a complete description of the Earth's environment, encompassing the physical, chemical, biological, and geological transformations of chemical substances occurring on a local as well as a global scale. Environmental chemistry was intended to provide an account of the impact of man's activities on the natural environment by describing observed changes.

While a considerable amount of knowledge has been accumulated over the last three decades, as reflected in the more than 70 volumes of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, there are still many scientific and policy challenges ahead due to the complexity and interdisciplinary nature of the field. The series will therefore continue to provide compilations of current knowledge. Contributions are written by leading experts with practical experience in their fields. *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* grows with the increases in our scientific understanding, and provides a valuable source not only for scientists but also for environmental managers and decision-makers. Today, the series covers a broad range of environmental topics from a chemical perspective, including methodological advances in environmental analytical chemistry.

In recent years, there has been a growing tendency to include subject matter of societal relevance in the broad view of environmental chemistry. Topics include life cycle analysis, environmental management, sustainable development, and socio-economic, legal and even political problems, among others. While these topics are of great importance for the development and acceptance of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry*, the publisher and Editors-in-Chief have decided to keep the handbook essentially a source of information on "hard sciences" with a particular emphasis on chemistry, but also covering biology, geology, hydrology and engineering as applied to environmental sciences.

The volumes of the series are written at an advanced level, addressing the needs of both researchers and graduate students, as well as of people outside the field of "pure" chemistry, including those in industry, business, government, research establishments, and public interest groups. It would be very satisfying to see these volumes used as a basis for graduate courses in environmental chemistry. With its high standards of scientific quality and clarity, *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* provides a solid basis from which scientists can share their knowledge on the different aspects of environmental problems, presenting a wide spectrum of viewpoints and approaches.

The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry is available both in print and online via www.springerlink.com/content/110354/. Articles are published online as soon as they have been approved for publication. Authors, Volume Editors and Editors-in-Chief are rewarded by the broad acceptance of *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry* by the scientific community, from whom suggestions for new topics to the Editors-in-Chief are always very welcome.

Damià Barceló Andrey G. Kostianoy Editors-in-Chief

Foreword

Environmental quality is going to be a crucial issue for the people in charge of public affairs in the next years. To manage an environment where air, water, and soil should be in good conditions is not only an objective but a compulsory requirement in terms of well-being and of public health.

From older times water management has been a very important issue, but recently, water managers have had to cope with new challenges arising from social demands mainly focused on ecological improvement. Flowing water in rivers, lakes, estuaries, coastal waters, or reservoirs is not only regarded as resource but as a key element for sustaining aquatic ecosystems and services they provide. Good ecological status meets services and goods sustaining human well-being as well as suitable freshwater quality for safety human uses. To take into account aquatic ecosystems, preservation requires building stronger linkages between ecological, economic, and social demands with the purpose of improving water management. This framework offers the most promising way forward for the field of conservation together with a suitable human development.

Nevertheless, this challenge requires changes. Thus, in the legal side, new laws, directives, etc., are needed and institutional changes and new administrative models (development of new agencies, water authorities) are necessary. On the other side, developing new monitoring programs in order to provide suitable and enough information on water status under an ecological integrative perspective is required. Also, water management plans should be developed which encompass a comprehensive water management combining sustainable human use together with good ecological status, economic sustainability (cost recovery strategies), and social participation. Moreover, climate change should be also considered which demonstrates the scope and complexity of this challenge.

The above mentioned target makes necessary the development of new monitoring tools for water quality assessment adapted to water ecosystem types and new quality elements must be measured. Therefore, there has been a rapid increase in the development and application of ecological indicators for water quality assessment and management in developed countries. For instance, the United States, Canada, Europe, and Australia have been developing new water monitoring programs based on biological and ecological indicators for water management purposes and planning. In the European Union (EU), the Water Framework Directive (WFD) (2000/60/EC) launched in 2000 a new framework for the protection of groundwater and inland and coastal waters. The WFD represents an opportunity for a new water resource management in Europe based on ecological and economical sustainability, with the requirement of a wide social involvement. The WFD was an important conceptual change of the way that EU Member States (MS) should consider water management by putting ecosystem integrity at the base of management decisions. Since then, all MS expended considerable time and resources to collect appropriate biological, environmental, and human pressure data to develop operative tools aiming at elaborating new monitoring programs and innovative river basin management plans. As the magnitude and difficulties of this large-scale endeavor became evident, both the European community and individual MS have funded a large number of research projects, particularly in the areas of ecological assessment for water management, to develop and improve the expert knowledge. The WFD was relevant for its innovativeness and the shift towards measuring the status of all surface and coastal waters using a range of biological communities rather than the more limited aspects applied so far.

In Catalonia, the government has been deeply involved on all this process and has been implementing the WFD soon after it was adopted. Hence the administrative institution especially devoted to water management, the Catalan Water Agency (ACA), was created in 2000. ACA is in charge of planning and carrying out water management strategies in Catalonia, taking into account both water demands and environmental protection. The ACA is nowadays in charge of building and maintaining urban wastewater treatment plans, water supply management, flooding protection plans, etc. Moreover, it has been monitoring all aquatic ecosystems, including inland and coastal waters and groundwater relationship, and has been developing new tools to ensure ecological and chemical status measurements in surface waters and chemical and quantitative status in groundwater, in accordance with the WFD requirements. Additionally, some research institutes have also been promoted mainly focused on water management. An example of this is the Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), that focuses its research lines in the integral water cycle, hydraulic resources, water quality (in the broadest sense of the term: chemical, microbiological, ecological, etc.), and treatment and evaluation technologies. The research carried out at the ICRA has to do with all the aspects related with water, particularly those associated with its rational use and the effects of human activity on hydraulic resources.

Over the last decades, it has been necessary to monitor and to assess the ecological status of water bodies following the WFD guidelines. Accordingly, the ACA started a close science to policy relationship with research institutions, which have been closely involved in such development. From this collaboration novel methodologies have been proposed, and a huge amount of data has been gathered over more than a decade. Overall, this cooperation has proved to be a stimulating and fertile ground for research of the interface between science and management.

Accordingly, the Catalan Water Agency (ACA) established a new monitoring program in order to provide a proper water status diagnosis just before the water management plan's updating in the Catalan River Basin District. The ACA has now a global picture of the ecological and chemical status of all water bodies in Catalonia. The experience gained by the Agency over the last 15 years has been incorporated in these two different book volumes that I have the privilege to introduce in this preface: Experiences from Surface Water Ouality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I) and Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water *Ouality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the* Catalan River Basin District (Part II). Both books summarize all the findings on water monitoring for WFD purposes, and they discuss further perspectives according to the new knowledge obtained. They are devoted to such effort which has resulted in a series of protocols adapted to the aquatic ecosystem monitoring in Catalonia. Both books encompass several specific chapters focused on different aquatic systems (rivers, lakes, wetlands, reservoirs, estuaries, bays, coastal waters, and groundwater) and are written by several researchers in close collaboration with ACA's technicians. They provide good examples and suitable monitoring tools for aquatic ecosystem monitoring in Catalonia that can also be easily extrapolated to other Mediterranean river basin districts. Data analyzed and information obtained are not only useful in understanding the current quality status but also gathering the necessary knowledge to design the best tools for aquatic ecosystem management and restoration and/or conservation measures adapted to each aquatic ecosystem type, paying special attention to Mediterranean conditions which deeply affect water management in southern Europe. At that time, just to end I can say that we are proud of the work done by our community of experts in water management working in public administrations, in research centers, and in private companies. I hope that the materials and experiences enclosed in the two volumes reflect a step forward of a better management of water and stimulate new developments for the future.

> Josep Enric Llebot Secretary of Environment and Sustainability Government of Catalonia (Generalitat de Catalunya) Barcelona, Spain

Volume Preface

Freshwater systems in Europe are threatened by a variety of stressors (chemical pollution, geomorphological alterations, changes in land uses, climate variability and change, water abstraction, invasive species, and pathogens). Chemical aquatic pollution today comprises a wide range of emerging chemical substances, such as pharmaceuticals, personal care products, or pesticides, among others. Stressors are of diverse nature but cause adverse effects on biological communities and ecosystems. It is well known that the relationship between multiple stressors might determine changes in the chemical and ecological status, which are the key objectives of the European Union Water Framework Directive (WFD). This important piece of legislation has pushed the EU River Basin Authorities to carry out advanced monitoring programs in collaboration with universities and research centers.

These two volumes of The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry we introduce here (Volume I: Experiences from Surface Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part I) and Volume II: Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II)) correspond to an excellent collaborative example between the River Basin Authority from the Catalan River Basin District (NE Spain), the so-called Catalan Water Agency (ACA), with the Catalan Universities and Research Centers. These books cover the main research outcomes achieved during the last 10 years following WFD implementation. It contains a total of 26 chapters and over 75 authors who explain how, from the interaction between the ACA and several academic centers, the different quality elements included in the WFD have been adapted to Mediterranean aquatic ecosystems. We want to remark the importance of this interaction between the members of the ACA and the members of academia or experts in a collaborative effort that probably is unique in the WFD implementation in Europe.

Why ACA has developed such collaborative effort? First of all because for most of the biological elements, no or few experience in how to use such elements existed in Spain Water authorities. ACA had more experience in the analysis of chemical parameters, i.e., priority substances. Second, the methods to be used by WFD guidelines should be inter-calibrated; therefore ACA was aware that a set of methodologies with a robust scientific background was needed, so their results could be compared to other European countries. Third, most of the streams in Catalonia are in a Mediterranean climate area, and for this reason, taxa present in aquatic ecosystems and their environmental constraints are different from those of more temperate ecosystems from Europe. Scientifically robust methodologies should be adopted by ACA to explain why our aquatic ecosystems are different and how these differences affect the way in which the water quality is measured.

The ACA has easily found the way to build up from the scientific knowledge the tools needed by the administration to measure the status of the water. Catalonia has a long tradition on water quality studies which is grounded in the shoulders of several Masters and Commanders of Science. We think that at least two of them should be quoted: the former professors of the University of Barcelona Ramón Margalef and Enric Casassas. Margalef was a well-known ecologist and the first professor of Ecology in Spain, and Cassassas was the introductor of modern analytical techniques in Spain. In a postwar situation, after Spanish civil war (1936–1939) and the second world war (1939–1945), scientific research in Spain was very poor and many times under scientifically unreliable people. The late professors Ramon and Enric were extremely clever and open-minded people, and despite many obstacles, they found a way to put the roots of what now is one of the best schools of aquatic studies in Europe. Both were excellent professors and researchers and generous people with new ideas and solutions. Certainly they were an example of scientists with a global vision but with a local action, with a real compromise with their homeland, Catalonia. This school has produced an array of young scientists (not so young anymore) that have studied in-depth many aspects of ecology or chemistry in freshwater systems with a deep vision on the Mediterranean water bodies. At the same time, most of these students formed many other students and these to other, so the first grand-grand-children are at this moment at the front line of water quality research studies. Other masters exist also in Catalonia in hydrogeology, microbiology, or fish ecology, that several of the authors of this book have taken advantage.

Thanks to the effort of Margalef, Cassasas, and others and his students; when ACA started to think what to do for the implementation of the WFD, most of the fundamentals for such work were there. But in many cases the scientific research is not applied for the administration because the two worlds are hardly in contact. The merit to understand that such relationship is necessary should be given to some of the directors of the ACA and some of the ministers of the environment of the regional government of Catalonia who recognized the importance of such collaboration. It was of help too that some of the disciples who did their Ph.D. with students of the two masters already mentioned took a position in ACA. These people are now coeditors, with Prof. Prat, of these two books: Antoni Munné and Antoni Ginebreda. Both are Ph.D. from Catalan universities and understand that without the collaboration of scientist and managers, it is almost impossible to produce

enough robust tools to be compared with other well-known tools developed elsewhere. We, the scientists, should be very aware of the role of these two people because without their effort these two books could never be produced.

We hope that this book will be of much interest for many international readers too. We think that it will be a useful guide for other European river basins, as well as in other parts of the world, as a good example of the added value of collaborative research on aquatic sciences. Indeed the books contain a comprehensive list of monitoring programs of importance for WFD implementation to the Mediterranean climate aquatic ecosystems. The literature references of the different chapters contain great amount of work produced by these numerous groups of academics and managers working and publishing together in the most relevant journals of ecology, fishes, microbiology, analytical chemistry, etc. We thank all of them for their time spent writing all the different chapters and making these books unique in this series.

We, as the most senior authors and former students of Margalef and Cassasas, are very proud of this work. We thank very much the ACA and the government of Catalonia for continuously supporting such work. We encourage as well, even under the present economic difficulties, to maintain such effort. It is obvious that new methodologies and tools will need to be incorporated to monitor programs in the future. We believe that the best way to do it is by establishing bridges of collaboration between scientist and managers.

Barcelona, Spain

Narcís Prat and Damià Barceló

Contents

Specific Viruses Present in Polluted Groundwater Are Indicativeof the Source of Nitrates and Faecal Contaminationin Agricultural Areas1Sílvia Bofill-Mas, Marta Rusiñol, Josep Fraile, Teresa Garrido,Antoni Munné, and Rosina Girones
Trend Assessment for Groundwater Pollutants: A Brief Review and Some Remarks
Francesc Oliva, Esteban Vegas, Sergi Civit, Teresa Garrido, Josep Fraile, and Antoni Munné
Occurrence of Polar Organic Pollutants in Groundwater Bodies of Catalonia
Cristina Postigo, María Jesús García-Galán, Marianne Köck-Schulmeyer, and Damià Barceló
GIS-Based Software Platform for Managing Hydrogeochemical Data 91 Violeta Velasco, Enric Vázquez-Suñé, Mar Alcaraz, Alejandro Serrano-Juan, Isabel Tubau, Xavier Sánchez-Vila, Daniel Fernàndez-Garcia, Teresa Garrido, and Josep Fraile
Groundwater Vulnerability Mapping Assessment Using Overlay and the DRASTIC Method in Catalonia
Pros and Cons of Biological Quality Element Phytoplankton as a Water-Quality Indicator in the NW Mediterranean Sea

Bioindicators, Monitoring, and Management Using Mediterranean Seagrasses: What Have We Learned from the Implementation	
of the EU Water Framework Directive?	161
Javier Romero, Teresa Alcoverro, Guillem Roca, and Marta Pérez	
Environmental Quality of Catalan Coastal Waters Based on Macroalgae: The Interannual Variability of CARLIT Index and Its Ability to Detect Changes in Anthropogenic Pressures over Time Xavier Torras, Susana Pinedo, María García, Boris Weitzmann, and Enric Ballesteros	183
Using MEDOCC (MEDiterranean OCCidental) Index to Evaluate the Ecological Status of Catalan Coastal Waters	
(Northwestern Mediterranean Sea) Over Time and Depths Susana Pinedo, Esther Jordana, Marta Manzanera, and Enric Ballesteros	201
Assessing the Environmental Quality in Heavily Modified Transitional Waters: The Application of MEDOCC (MEDiterranean OCCidental) Index in Ebre Delta Bays Esther Jordana, Susana Pinedo, and Enric Ballesteros	227
First Report on the Distribution and Impact of Marine Alien Species in Coastal Benthic Assemblages Along the Catalan Coast María García, Boris Weitzmann, Susana Pinedo, Emma Cebrian, and Enric Ballesteros	249
Evolution of Chemical Pollution in Catalan Coastal Sediments Albert Palanques, Josep Caixach, Marc Belzunces, and Arantxa Bartolomé	271
Monitoring Programmes for Bathing Waters Within the Frame of the EU Bathing Water Directive: The Experience of Catalonia Maria José Figueras, Mariona de Torres, Carolina Silvera, and Maria José Corrales	301
Index	335

Specific Viruses Present in Polluted Groundwater Are Indicative of the Source of Nitrates and Faecal Contamination in Agricultural Areas

Sílvia Bofill-Mas, Marta Rusiñol, Josep Fraile, Teresa Garrido, Antoni Munné, and Rosina Girones

Abstract Microbial source tracking (MST) tools are used to identify sources of faecal pollution to accurately assess public health risks and implement best management practices. Many different viruses are excreted by humans and animals and are frequently detected in water contaminated with faeces or/and urine. Because of the large degree of host specificity of each virus and the substantial stability of many excreted viruses in the environment, some viral groups are considered to be accurate MST indicators. The Laboratory of Virus Contaminants of Water and Food at the University of Barcelona has proposed the use of viral indicators as well as cost-effective methods for the concentration of viruses from water. The developed procedures have been used to determine the levels of faecal pollution in environmental samples as well as for tracing the origin of faecal contamination. Such tools were recently used by the Catalan Water Agency to identify nitrate contamination sources in groundwater.

Human adenoviruses, human polyomavirus JC, porcine adenoviruses, bovine polyomaviruses, chicken/turkey parvoviruses, and ovine polyomaviruses can be quantified in samples using molecular methods (qPCR). The selected DNA viruses specifically infect their hosts and are persistently excreted in faeces and/or urine throughout the year in all geographical areas studied. The procedures that have been developed to quantify these viruses have been applied to bathing, coastal, surface and groundwater. In this study, the source of nitrate contamination in groundwater was identified by analysing viral markers, thereby demonstrating the usefulness of

S. Bofill-Mas (🖂), M. Rusiñol, and R. Girones

Catalan Water Agency, c/Provença, 204-208, 08036 Barcelona, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 43: 1–24, DOI 10.1007/698_2015_426, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 25 August 2015

Laboratory of Virus Contaminants of Water and Food (Vircont), Department of Microbiology, Biology Faculty, Barcelona University, Barcelona, Spain e-mail: sbofil@ub.edu

J. Fraile, T. Garrido, and A. Munné

the selected viruses for the identification of sources of contamination in water. This methodology can be used to provide information to guide the proper application of measures in place to protect water from pollution caused by nitrates from several sources and thus to facilitate the accurate application of the 91/676/EEC Directive, which is mainly focused on agricultural sources of water contamination.

Keywords Adenovirus, Faecal contamination, Microbial source tracking, Nitrate contamination, Polyomavirus, Viral markers

Contents

1	Faecal Contamination in Groundwater	2
2	Development of Microbial Source Tracking (MST) Techniques	4
3	Viruses Used for Tracing the Sources of Contamination in Water	5
	3.1 Adenovirus	6
	3.2 Polyomavirus	7
	3.3 Parvovirus	8
4	Methods for the Use of Viral Markers for MST in Groundwater	8
5	Case Study: Identification of the Sources of Nitrate Contamination in Catalonian	
	Groundwater	12
6	Conclusions and Future Trends	14
Ret	ferences	16

Abbreviations

ACA	Catalan Water Agency (in Catalan)
CRBD	Catalan River Basin District
WFD	Water Framework Directive

1 Faecal Contamination in Groundwater

Humans, as well as farmed animals, play an important role in the microbial contamination of water, crops and food and introduce large quantities of pathogens into the environment through their excretions.

Although most pathogens could be removed if sewage, manure and slurry were appropriately treated, many are discharged into receiving waters or may be disposed of in biosolids on land. Pollutants enter the water environment from two main types of sources: point sources, which are single and identifiable sources of contamination, and nonpoint sources, which are more diffuse sources of contamination. Nonpoint sources of contamination may release pollutants intermittently and may be attributable to infiltration from farmland treated with pesticides and fertilisers. Examples of point sources are landfills, leaking gasoline storage tanks, leaking septic tanks and accidental spills. Both point and nonpoint sources of contamination may affect groundwater, and several waterborne disease outbreaks that are believed to have had viral aetiologies have been attributed to the consumption of polluted groundwater [1, 2]. Viruses (23–80 nm) are much smaller than bacteria (0.5–3 μ m) and protozoa (4–15 μ m) and thus move more easily through soil pores. They are highly stable at low temperatures in the darkness and survive for long periods in groundwater environments. However, relatively limited data on the level of viral contamination in groundwater are available compared with other environmental water matrices [3].

Detailed knowledge about sources of contamination is needed to develop efficient and cost-effective waste management strategies to minimise faecal contamination in watersheds and food, to evaluate the effectiveness of best management practices and to conduct system and risk assessments as part of water- and foodsafety plans, as recommended by the World Health Organisation. Faecal sources of contamination have high nitrogen content, and both pathogens and nitrates present in groundwater polluted with faeces may pose a risk to human health when such groundwater is used as a source of drinking water.

Nitrate is the most widespread groundwater quality problem in many countries, and it is the most frequent cause of a groundwater body failing to meet good status under the WFD in some EU countries (http://ec.europa.eu/environment/water/water-nitrates/reports.html), including Catalonia [4]. The principal nitrogen inputs into groundwater are derived from manure, fertilisers, sewage sludge and crop residues from agricultural areas [5]. In the environment, several forms of nitrogen (NO₂, NH₄, NH₃) can potentially be transformed into nitrate (NO₃). Various activities may cause nitrate groundwater pollution in agricultural areas. The use of synthetic nitrogen fertilisers as well as the use of organic fertilisers, such as manure and slurries, is the main cause of this pollution. In some areas, high levels of nitrates in groundwater used as a source of drinking water are a consequence of the increase in livestock production that has occurred in recent years. Moreover, an absence of slurry, manure tanks or storage facilities may also contribute to this problem. The disposal of municipal or industrial effluents by spreading sludge on fields may also be a diffuse source of nitrate pollution in groundwater.

Other sources of nitrate pollution in groundwater include the following: interactions between groundwater and surface water, nitrogen-rich effluents, poorly constructed wells that allow water to be exchanged between polluted and nonpolluted aquifer layers, old and badly designed landfills, septic tanks and leaking sewerage systems (http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/dwq/ chemicals/en/nitrateschap1.pdf).

The intensification of livestock production results in an increase in the amount of animal waste that must be managed. Catalonia, with a population of nearly 7.5 million people, has an important meat industry, with 6.8 million pigs, 0.5 million cattle and 0.6 million sheep [6]. A total of 19 out of 53 (36%) groundwater bodies in Catalonia have been classified as being of poor chemical quality as a result of high nitrate levels. Most of the affected groundwater bodies are located in agricultural areas, although not all stresses on groundwater result from agricultural activities. In some cases, urban wastewater leakage may also contribute to this problem. However, to date, agricultural sources and manure applications on fields, in particular, have been the main causes of pressure on groundwater. Together with nitrogen

compounds, faecal microorganisms are released into the environment in manure in holding ponds or storage areas or are applied to pastures to fertilise crops. Most livestock manure is disposed of on the ground, depending on the crop type, and annual quantities of nitrogen that are applied per hectare are specifically restricted in vulnerable areas [7, 8]. However, microorganisms and especially viruses can still, in some cases, infiltrate groundwater. The survival, fate and transport properties of viruses in the environment vary based on the type of virus, viral inactivation kinetics at high temperatures, UV exposure, filtration or adsorption in porous media or sediments and deposition and resuspension of sediments [9, 10]. Survival is likely shorter in surface water than in groundwater because of UV exposure, higher temperatures (depending on the time of year and the location) and the opportunity for more interactions with other organisms that can inactivate viruses [11] in superficial water. Tracing and identifying the sources (human and/or animal) of faecal contamination in water are therefore essential, both to improve waste management and to assess risks to human health.

2 Development of Microbial Source Tracking (MST) Techniques

Faecal pollution is a primary health concern in the environment, in water and in food; for this reason, bacterial faecal indicators have been analysed widely to assess the microbiological quality of water, and such assessments are required by water safety regulations. The use of index microorganisms, whose presence points to the possible occurrence of a similar pathogenic organism, and indicator microorganisms, whose presence represents a failure affecting the final product, to assess the microbiological quality of water or food is well-established and has been practised for almost a century.

Classic microbiological indicators, such as faecal coliform bacteria, Escherichia coli and enterococci, are most commonly analysed to evaluate the level of faecal contamination. However, whether these bacteria are suitable indicators of the occurrence and concentration of pathogens such as viruses and protozoan cysts has been questioned for the following reasons: (1) indicator bacteria are more sensitive to inactivation by treatment processes and sunlight than are viral or protozoan pathogens; (2) indicator bacteria may not originate exclusively in faecal sources; (3) indicator bacteria may have an ability to multiply in some environments of interest; (4) it may not be possible to identify the source of faecal contamination; and (5) the presence of indicator bacteria may be poorly correlated with the presence of other pathogens. Thus, various authors have concluded that these indicators could fail to predict the risk of contamination with waterborne pathogens, including viruses [12-16]. Therefore, the team at the Laboratory of Virus Contaminants of Water and Food at the University of Barcelona has proposed that quantitative tests of specific viruses be used as complementary indicators of faecal contamination in water.

Methods for detecting and identifying the source of faecal pollution in the environment are known as microbial source tracking (MST) tools [17, 18]. These methods mainly focus on detecting a microorganism that is intrinsically related to faeces and that thus indicates the presence of contamination and hence of potentially excreted pathogens, such as bacteria, viruses and parasites. MST can assist health and environmental agencies with the identification of sources of faecal contamination. MST tools can also be employed to help make decisions related to the management of drinking water sources, shellfish-growing waters and recreational waters.

A large body of work has been developed in the MST field over the past several years. The first reviews listing the available methods for identifying indicators of faecal pollution in water were published in 2002 [19, 20]. Three years later, the US Environmental Protection Agency published the first guide document [21], and since then, several authors have published newer methods and have compared their applicability with existing methods [18, 22–26]. MST tools can be classified into several broad categories: genotypic versus phenotypic analyses of either cultivated target organisms or indicators or cultivation-independent approaches in which samples from the environment are analysed directly.

Some of the MST methods proposed in the literature lack environmental stability, host specificity and/or global prevalence. Moreover, some MST methods are laborious; they require large and suitable databases for each context and good statistical tools to allow meaningful interpretation of the results [18]. These limitations can be overcome using molecular methods to detect and quantify hostspecific viral faecal indicators in water and food. Molecular techniques, specifically nucleic-acid amplification-based assays, provide sensitive, rapid and quantitative analytical tools for studying pathogens, newly emergent strains and indicators that are examined for microbial source tracking. Such methods are used to evaluate the microbiological quality of water [27], the efficiency of virus removal in drinking water and wastewater treatment plants [28–30].

3 Viruses Used for Tracing the Sources of Contamination in Water

Considering the limitations of current standard bacterial faecal indicators, selected viral groups have been proposed as alternative or complementary indicators to improve control of the microbiological quality of water and to reduce microbiological risk. Viruses are more stable than common bacterial indicators in the environment and are usually highly host-specific; because they are host-specific, their detection helps to trace the origin of faecal contamination. The viruses most commonly used for MST to detect faecal pollution are bacteriophages and DNA viruses (Table 1).

These viruses are recognised as important waterborne pathogens that are present in faeces, and new viruses that produce both symptomatic and asymptomatic infections are currently being described by metagenomic techniques [60]. Many orally transmitted viruses produce subclinical infections, and symptoms due to

Host	Viral MST tools	Genome	References
Human	Bacteriophage RNA F-specific (FRNAPH)	RNA	[31–37]
	Bacteriophage of <i>B. fragilis</i> spp.	dsDNA	[38–40]
	Adenovirus (HAdV)	dsDNA	[41-44]
	Polyomavirus (JCPyV, BKPyV)	dsDNAc	[44, 45]
	Enterovirus (HEV)	ssRNA	[46, 47]
	Tobamovirus (PMMoV)	ssRNA	[48]
Cattle	Bacteriophage RNA F-specific	RNA	[33, 34, 36]
	Adenovirus (BAdV)	dsDNA	[49, 50]
	Polyomavirus (BPyV)	dsDNAc	[50–52]
	Enterovirus (BEV-2)	ssRNA	[46, 53, 54]
Swine	Adenovirus (PAdV)	dsDNA	[49, 55]
	Circovirus (PCV2)	ssDNAc	[56]
	Teschovirus (PTV)		[53, 57]
Sheep	Polyomavirus (OPyV)	dsDNAc	[58]
Avian	Parvovirus (Ch/TyPV)	dsDNA	[59]

 Table 1
 Summary of the proposed viral MST tools for the detection of human and animal faecal contamination

dsDNA double-strand DNA, *ssDNA* single-strand DNA, *dsDNA/ssDNAc* double- or single-strand circular DNA

these viruses are only observed in a small proportion of the population. However, some viruses may give rise to life-threatening conditions, such as acute hepatitis in adults, as well as severe gastroenteritis in small children and the elderly. Some of the most important faecal viral pathogens are noroviruses, enteroviruses, adenoviruses, rotaviruses and the hepatitis A and E viruses. Human and animal viruses, such as adenoviruses [41, 42, 52], polyomaviruses [44, 55, 61] and parvoviruses [59], are frequently asymptomatic in immunocompetent hosts and often cause persistent infections. Moreover, they are highly host-specific, highly stable in the environment and resistant to disinfection [42, 62, 63]. Thus, the identification and quantification of specific viruses using molecular assays can be used for MST [42, 44].

3.1 Adenovirus

The *Adenoviridae* family has a double-stranded DNA genome of approximately 35,000 base pairs (bp) surrounded by a 90–100 nm, non-enveloped, icosahedral capsid with fibrelike projections from each vertex. Adenovirus infection may be caused by consumption of contaminated water or food or by inhalation of aerosols from contaminated waters, such as those used for recreational purposes. HAdV comprises 7 species with 57 types, which are responsible for enteric and respiratory illnesses and eye infections [64–66]. Among animal adenoviruses, porcine adenovirus (PAdV) may cause gastroenteritis symptoms such as diarrhoea, anorexia or

dehydration in piglets, while sows can suffer multifactorial respiratory diseases and even abortion [67].

- *Excretion pattern*: HAdV particles may be excreted in faeces for months or even years [49, 68]. Fifty per cent of the population has asymptomatic AdV infections at some time, and gastroenteritis occurs in 60% of children under 4 years of age [69]. HAdV40 and 41 serotypes of HAdV can be excreted at high concentrations in faeces (10¹¹ viral particles per gram) and transmitted via the faecal-oral route. Other adenoviruses, such as HAdV-1, HAdV-2, HAdV-5, HAdV-7, HAdV-12 and HAdV-31, are related to respiratory diseases and have also been detected in contaminated water and shellfish [70, 71]. PAdV infections can also be asymptomatic and are detected in nearly 70% of swine faeces, with most isolates being closely related to serotype 3 [49].
- *Prevalence*: Human and porcine adenovirus (HAdV) have been detected in contaminated water samples throughout the year in all geographical areas studied [29, 44, 49, 55, 72]. HAdV has been found in nearly 100% of urban wastewater samples tested, including those from cities in Africa, the USA, Central and South America and Europe. Adenoviruses are also frequently detected in shellfish, including samples that met current safety standards based on levels of faecal bacteria [73].
- Stability: Adenovirus is inactivated only after 2 h at 85°C [74]. With moist heat, the time and temperature of inactivation are slightly reduced; exposure to 65°C for 30 min is then sufficient to inactivate adenovirus particles [75]. Chlorine treatment, which is very commonly used to disinfect and purify water, oxidises viral protein shells and nucleic acids [76]. Nevertheless, infectious HAdV can still be detected after chlorine treatment for 30 min (2.5 mg/L), although its concentration drops by approximately 2.7 log₁₀ [77, 78].

3.2 Polyomavirus

Polyomaviruses are small, icosahedral viruses that have circular, double-stranded DNA genomes approximately 5,000 bp in length and that infect several species of vertebrates. The first human polyomaviruses, JC and BK (JCPyV and BKPyV), were identified in clinical samples from immunocompromised patients [79, 80]. The pathogenicity of JCPyV is commonly associated with progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) in immunocompromised states, and infections with this virus have attracted new attention because of JCPyV reactivation and pathogenesis in some patients with autoimmune diseases who are being treated with immunomodulators [81, 82]. Among the known animal polyomaviruses, bovine polyomaviruses (BPyV) does not cause significant pathogenicity in cattle, and no disease has as yet been ascribed to this agent.

Excretion pattern: Both human and animal PyVs are excreted in urine by healthy individuals [52, 83, 84]. JCPyVs have been detected in 40–80% of the population, and BPyV has been detected in 30% of the bovine urine samples analysed

[52, 61]. Polyomaviruses are transmitted by an unknown mechanism, although it is speculated that respiratory, cutaneous and faecal-oral routes could be involved in their transmission.

- Prevalence: Human JCPyV is distributed worldwide, and specific antibodies have been detected in over 80% of humans [85]. JCPyV and BKPyV were first described in environmental samples in 2000 [44]. JCPyV is frequently detected in river water, seawater, reclaimed water [72], drinking water [86] and shellfish grown in waters affected by sewage [61]. These viruses are present in nearly 100% of all sewage samples from different geographical areas [72]. BPyV has been identified as the cause of a widely disseminated infection in bovines, and it is a frequent contaminant of commercial bovine serum. BPyV has been detected in river water samples near slaughterhouses, farms and grazing areas [72].
- *Stability*: Polyomaviruses, such as SV40, are only significantly affected by exposure to a temperature of 95°C for 1 h [74]. Numbers of JC polyomavirus Mad4 viral particles were reduced by 1.5 to 1.1 log₁₀ GC, as measured by qPCR after 30 min of contact (2.5 mg/L), although no infectivity assays were conducted for this virus in these studies [77].

3.3 Parvovirus

The *Parvoviridae* family comprises small animal viruses with 5 kb linear, singlestranded DNA genomes with two large open reading frames. This family of viruses is divided in two subfamilies: the *Parvoviridae*, which mainly infect vertebrates, and the *Densoviridae*, which infect arthropod hosts.

- *Excretion pattern*: Human parvoviruses have been detected in stool samples, but their transmission pathways remain unclear [87, 88].
- *Stability*: These viruses have shown high resistance to temperature and low pH [89, 90] and have been found in commercial meat samples [91]. Bovine parvovirus was not significantly affected by exposure to 95°C for 2 h [74].
- *Prevalence*: When sewage water, as a representative matrix that can be used to test large populations, was monitored, a high prevalence (81%) of parvovirus was observed [92]. Avian parvoviruses are excreted in poultry faeces and have been reported in studies from different countries [59].

4 Methods for the Use of Viral Markers for MST in Groundwater

Viruses are present in the environment in low concentrations and are distributed unevenly. To detect viruses in the environment, it is essential to collect a significant volume of sample and to concentrate the viral particles before employing a detection assay. Detection of viruses in minimally or moderately polluted waters requires that viruses from at least several litres of water be concentrated into a much smaller volume (Fig. 1).

There are several concentration methods available, and many of them include two concentration steps in series, which will affect the recovery efficiency of the whole process. The development of cost-effective methods for the concentration of viruses from water and of cost-effective molecular assays, as well, facilitates the use of viruses as indicators of faecal contamination and as MST tools. The first methods used were based on the detection of viral indicators by PCR [41, 42, 44, 49]; more recently, quantitative PCR techniques have been developed that allow not only the detection but also the quantification of these viruses in environmental samples [29, 52, 58, 59] (Fig. 2).

It has been proposed that HAdVs and JCPyVs be quantified to trace human faecal contamination. HAdVs are present in sewage samples from all geographical areas



Fig. 1 Flowchart of the method used to detect and quantify viruses in water samples by PCRbased methods



Fig. 2 Human and animal MST methods constituting a toolbox for identifying sources of faecal contamination

Country	References	qPCR	Main results
USA	[94]	[95]	16% (18/114), 1E+02-1E+04 GC/I
Japan	[96]	[95]	45% (29/64)
USA	[95]	[95]	S: 80% (4/5) 4.3E+04 GC/I; SW: 100% (11/11), 8.1E+06GC/I
Spain	[86]	[43]	R: 93% (13/14), 4E+02 GC/I; SW: 100% (10/10), 1.4E+07 GC/I
Spain	[29]	[43]	100% (6/6), 3.8E+07 GC/I
Spain	[28]	[43]	R: 90% (102/114), 1E+01-1E+04 GC/I
New Zealand	[97]	[95, 98]	R: 83% (5/6), 1.70E+01-1.19E+03 GC/I; SW: 100% (10/10), 1.87E+05GC/I
Germany	[99]	[98]	97.5% (40/41), 1.0E+04-1.7E+06 GC/I
France	[100]	[43]	100% (42/42), 1.0E+04G/I
Spain	[101]	[43]	R: 100% (7/7), 3E+03 GC/I; SW: 100% (7/7), 3.2E+06 GC/I
Japan	[102]	[95]	61.1% (11/18), 3.6E+03-1.38E+05 GC/I
Germany	[103]	[98]	96.3% (193/190), 2.9E+03-7.3E-7.3E+05GC/I
Brazil	[104]	[43]	SW 64.2% (54/84) 1E+07 GC/I
Brazil	[105]	[43]	100% (12/12); 5E+04-1.3E+07 GC/I
Spain	[106]	[43]	100% (7/7), 1E+01-1E+06 GC/I
Ghana	[107]	[98]	GW: 0% (0/4), SW: 22% (2/9)
Chad	[108]	[43]	GW: 0%, R:6% (1/16)
Germany	[109]	[98]	R: 9.3% (108/111), 3E+03 GC/I; SW: 100% (12/12), 1.0E+07 GC/I
Greece	[110]	[43]	45.8% (22/48)
Europe	[63]	[43]	R: 41% (381/928) S: 27% (132/482)
Brazil	[111]	[43]	100%, 1E+07 GC/I
Brazil	[112]	[43]	96% (46/48)
Spain	[113]	[43]	100% (44/44), 8.32E+03 GC/I
Brazil	[112]	[43]	69% (25/36) 1E+05 GC/I, 52.7% infective
Brazil	(114)	[43]	100% (24/24), 1E+05-1E+06 GC/I
New Zealand	[115]	[43]	R:86% HAdV (30/35) and 63% HAdV F (22/35), 1E+02 GC/I; S: 60% (9/15), 2.8E+02 GC/I; SW: (37/37)1E+05 GC/I
Uganda	[116]	[43]	GW: 0%; R: 70% (29/41), 2.65E+04 GC/I
Australia	[117]	[<mark>98</mark>]	91% (21/23) after sewerage overflow
Australia	[118]	[<mark>98</mark>]	100% (30/30), 1E+05-1E+06 GC/I
China	[119]	[98]	100% (24/24), 2.28E+04 GC/I
USA	[120]	[98]	40% (26/65), 2.2E+04 GC/I
Spain, Brazil, Hungary, Greece, Sweden	[72]	[43]	Spain 1.5E 03 GC/I (50/61), Greece 4.8E+02 GC/I (18/80), Brazil 3.9E+05 GC/I (253/276), Hungary 1E+04GC/I (108/109), Sweden 1.6E+02GC/I (12/108)

Table 2 Review of MST studies using HAdV to trace human sources in the environment

G groundwater, R river water, S seawater, SW raw sewage

that have been studied, while JCPyV is a less abundant but highly human-specific virus [93]. For this reason, the analysis of both viruses to determine the extent of human faecal pollution of environmental samples is a good approach that has a specificity of 100%. Both viruses have been evaluated in various studies in different water matrices, and their utility in MST has been demonstrated (Tables 2 and 3).

Porcine adenoviruses (PAdVs) and bovine polyomaviruses (BPyVs) have been proposed as porcine and bovine faecal indicators [49, 51], and several studies have

Country	References	qPCR	Main results
Spain	[86]	[45]	R: 100% (9/9), 2.7E+04 GC/I
Spain	[29]	[45]	SW: 100% (6/6), 6.11E+06 GC/I
Spain	[28]	[45]	75% (18/27), 7.4E+02-1.3E+03 GC/I
United States	[121]	[121]	100% (41/41), 3.07E+07 GC/I
Germany	[99]	[122]	97% (40/41), 2.4E+04 GC/I
United States	[123]	[121]	50% (40/40)
Australia	[124]	[121]	R: 25% (5/20), 1E+03GC/I; SW: 100% (40/40), 1E+05GC/I
Spain	[71]	[45]	SW: 85% (6/7), 1E+05 GC/I; R: 100% (7/7), 1E+03 GC/I
Brazil	[125]	[45]	96% (6/7), 1.2E+06 GC/I
Japan	[102]	[45]	11% (1/18), 7.91E+02-3.42E+03 GC/I
Germany	[103]	[122]	68% (129/188), 1.4E+04 GC/I
Germany	[109]	[122]	R: (73/111) 1E+03 GC/I; SW: 100% (12/12) 1E+08 GC/I
United States	[126]	[121]	S: 3% (1/32); SW: 100% (15/15)
Greece	[110]	[121]	68% (33/48)
United States	[127]	[121]	1% (2/35), 1E+04 GC/I
Brazil	[112]	[121]	21% (10/48)
United States	[128]	[121]	12% (90/752)
Spain	[113]	[45]	100% (6/6), 5.44E+05 GC/I
United States	[129]	[121]	20% (26/130), SE+02-3.55E+05 GC/I
United States	[130]	[121]	61% (15/25)
Spain and Brazil	[131]	[45]	R: 100% (12/12), 9.38E+03 GC/I; SW: 100% (12/12), 1.05E4 GC/I
New Zealand	[115]	[121]	R: 51% (18/35), 1E+03GC/I; 5: 67% (7/15), 1E+03GC/I; SW: (36/37), 1.5E+06GC/I
Brazil	[114]	[45]	100% (24/24), 1E+05-1E+06 GC/I
Australia	[117]	[121]	52% (12/23)
Spain, Greece, Brazil, Hungary, Sweden	[72]	[45]	Spain 1.8E+03GC/I (41/61), Greece 5.6E+02 GC/I(15/80), Brazil 4.6E+03 GC/I (190/276), Hungary 2.1E+04GC/I (76/109), Sweden 7.2E+01GC/I (10/108)

Table 3 Review of MST studies using JCPyV to trace human sources of contamination in the environment

G groundwater, R river water, S seawater, SW raw sewage

shown that these viruses are widely disseminated in swine and bovine populations, respectively, without producing clinically severe disease (Table 4) and are thus useful MST tools.

More recently, the quantification of ovine polyomaviruses and chicken/turkey polyomavirus has been suggested for tracing ovine and poultry faecal pollution, respectively [58, 59]. Quantification of each of these viruses has been used to trace the origins of nitrate pollution in groundwater in some areas of Catalonia, as described in the next section.

Virus	References	qPCR	Matrices analysed	Main results
PAdV	[55]	[55]	River, slaughterhouse and urban sewage	100% positive samples in slaughter- house sewage (1.56E+03 GC/L) and 100% in river (8.38 GC/L)
	[133]	[133]	River	50% positive river-water samples
	[56]	[55]	Manure	66% of the samples collected in the SMTS positive and 78% of the samples collected in the manure treatment sys- tem positive
	[135]	[55]	Manure	PAdVs were more prevalent than other viruses and may possibly be considered indicators of manure contamination
	[136]	[55]	Influents and effluents from swine manure biodigester	60% (24/40) samples positive
BPyV	[134]	[134]	Sewage	100% positive for manure and waste- water samples, 5.6% positive for faecal samples
	[52]	[52]	River, slaughterhouse and urban sewage	91% positive samples in slaughter- house sewage (2.95E+03 GC/L) and 50% in river (3.06E+02 GC/L)
	[132]	[52]	Groundwater	1/4 well-water samples positive for BPyV (7.74E+02GC/L)
OPyV	[58]	[58]	River, slaughterhouse	75% (3/4) slaughterhouse samples positive 20% (1/8) river water samples positive

Table 4 Studies describing the detection of bovine and porcine faecal pollution using BPyVs and PAdVs as MST tools

5 Case Study: Identification of the Sources of Nitrate Contamination in Catalonian Groundwater

Virus-detection assays have been used to detect viruses in groundwater samples from diverse areas in which nitrate levels exceeded >50 mg/L [137, 138] to trace the origins of nitrate pollution, as a collaborative study with the Catalan Water Agency and the Laboratory of Virus Contaminants of Water and Food from the University of Barcelona.

To ensure the designation of vulnerable zones according to the Directive against pollution caused by nitrates from agricultural sources [138], a total of 14 different monitoring stations were evaluated (Table 5). This study aimed to determine whether the pollution sources in these areas were manure, urban wastewater sludge or chemical fertilisers applied for agricultural uses. From three to five samples were taken per well for later analysis for the presence of different human and animal viruses. Samples were assayed for the presence of human adenovirus (HAdV) and human polyomavirus (JCPyV) to detect human pollution sources (from urban wastewater sludge used in agriculture or from sewage leaks); samples were assayed

				Human pollution		Animal pollution		
Groundwater		Depth		HAdV	JCPyV	PAdV	BPyV	NO ₃ -
monitoring station	Туре	(m)	N	Genome	Genome copies/100 mL			mg/L
Font través (ClarianaCardener)	Spring	0	5	ND	ND	ND	ND	>110
Pou Casa Lloch (Olius)	Well	5	5	ND	ND	7.74E +01	ND	>100
Pou de Ca l'Arnau (Solsona)	Well	9	5	ND	ND	ND	ND	>100
Pou Ardèvol (Pinós)	Well	40	5	ND	ND	ND	9.53E +02	30–40
Mina del Sanou (Sta Coloma Queralt)	Gallery	0	4	7.00E +02	ND	ND	ND	24–46
PouBudell (Forès)	Well	6	4	ND	ND	ND	ND	70.9
PouNou (Conesa)	Well	30	4	1.42E +02	ND	ND	ND	5.1
Pou de les Escodines (Forès)	Well	11	4	ND	ND	ND	ND	150.1
Mina Aiguadolç (Sta Coloma Queralt)	Gallery	0	4	ND	ND	ND	ND	24–46
Font de la Freixa (Argençola)	Spring	0	4	8.47E +01	ND	ND	ND	45–54
Pou de Biure (Les Piles)	Well	0	4	8.01E +02	ND	ND	ND	76
Pou de les Piles (Les Piles)	Well	65	4	1.59E +02	ND	ND	ND	100– 140
PouGuialmons (Les Piles)	Well	12	4	1.19E +02	ND	ND	ND	117– 122
Pou de Sant Gallard (Les Piles)	Well	40	4	ND	ND	ND	ND	80– 100

 Table 5
 Human and animal viruses in groundwater from wells with nitrate contamination

for the presence of porcine adenovirus (PAdV) to detect porcine sources of pollution (from the application of pig manure); and samples were assayed for the presence of bovine polyomavirus (BPyV) to detect bovine sources of pollution (from cow manure applications; Table 5).

Viruses were concentrated using the procedure described by Calgua and coworkers [131], based on flocculation with skimmed milk. After viruses were concentrated from 10 L water samples, viral nucleic acids were extracted. Then, qPCR assays specific for human adenoviruses (HAdV), JC polyomavirus (JCPyV), porcine adenoviruses (PAdV), bovine polyomaviruses (BPyV), ovine polyomaviruses (OPyV) and chicken/turkey parvoviruses (Ch/TuPV) were used to determine the relative quantities of each of these viruses in the samples and hence to determine the source of faecal contamination. The source of faecal

contamination determined in this way is then indicative of the source of nitrates in the groundwater from which samples were taken [43, 45, 52, 55].

The results obtained by qPCR were further confirmed by nested PCR and sequencing, as previously described [44, 49, 51]. The results obtained are summarised in Table 5.

The results show that in one area (Olius), faecal/urine contamination of porcine origin is clearly present (4/4 replicates tested positive), strongly suggesting that the application of swine slurries could be a significant source of nitrate contamination in the groundwater at that location. In the Pinós area, for which low levels of nitrate were measured, sporadic bovine contamination was detected (1/4 replicates tested positive), and diffuse contamination or the application of bovine manure was considered to be the potential source of the viruses that were detected. Finally human faecal pollution was detected as the main source of contamination in 4 other studied areas; further investigation is needed to identify the sources of contamination in these areas. This methodology has been tested in areas where nitrate concentrations are above the statutory limit (i.e. >50 mg/L) and thus where the use of groundwater as drinking water is compromised. A greater number of samples would be required to determine whether a relationship exists between the concentration of nitrates and the presence of the virus.

This study determines the origins of contamination of nitrates in groundwater, so that their sources (urban, animal or inorganic fertiliser use, in the case that viruses were not detected) could be established. The conclusions of this study could have implications for the future management of water in the region.

6 Conclusions and Future Trends

Groundwater is a vital source of water that provides, in Europe alone, drinking water for 300 million inhabitants. In Catalonia, over 587 hm³/year of groundwater is used, and this amount represents close to 20% of the total water used in the region. Today, high nitrate levels in groundwater remain an important target for pollution reduction worldwide, with implications for human and environmental health [139]. Nitrate and pesticide pollution from agricultural sources are major, well-known problems with groundwater quality, and increases in water demand and population density will increase the probability of faecal contamination of groundwater. Moreover, falling groundwater levels will further endanger the quality of groundwater and its ability to clean itself. In addition to these problems, overabstraction has already begun to induce saltwater intrusion along most stretches of the Mediterranean coast, rendering the groundwater in those areas useless for drinking and most other purposes. Appropriate management of water resources and more specifically of groundwater resources requires the reliable evaluation of water quality and the identification of sources of contamination. These measures are needed to prevent further contamination, to implement remediation measures and especially to provide information that can be used to institute

measures to protect waters from pollution caused by nitrates from agricultural sources [138].

Currently, microbiological quality assessments of environmental waters largely rely on detecting faecal indicator bacteria. Although this approach has clearly reduced health risks in many countries, the faecal indicator approach may be combined with monitoring of more environmentally stable viral indicators specific to human and animal sources of contamination [27, 93]. The viral MST tools developed in this study can be used to track faecal contamination of human, bovine, ovine, porcine and avian origins using specific individual assays or, in the near future, using multiplex assays. Multiplex diagnostic tools are already available, and multiplex quantitative PCR assays for MST have been described previously in a study that examined diverse human and animal viruses [133].

Human (HAdV, JCPyV), bovine (BPyV), porcine (PAdV) and ovine (OPyV) viral markers have been shown to be useful for identifying the origin of faecal contamination in river water and seawater in Brazil, Sweden, Spain, Hungary, Greece and New Zealand [58, 72]. However, more information on the environmental stability and distribution of viruses in diverse geographical areas and water matrices will be needed to validate some animal viral markers, including new viral MST tools that may be developed in the future for other animals representing other sources of contamination.

Routine quantitative PCR assays for viral indicators may also be improved and standardised, in light of new methods that have been developed that allow the absolute quantification of genome copies without requiring that independent calibration curves be generated [140]. Other technical improvements that can be expected include advances in microfluidics and nanobiotechnology, as a result of which miniaturised systems for the detection of viral indicators could be developed that are based on microchips. Several such approaches have been described [141, 142]. New technologies, such as high-throughput mass sequencing, have been used to analyse urban sewage from diverse geographical areas and have produced a wealth of data about the viruses present in wastewater [60]. However, further development of NGS techniques are still needed to provide more sensitive and affordable assays that could potentially be used for routine analyses.

Cost-effective methods for using specific DNA viruses as markers of the source of faecal (or nitrate) contamination in water have been developed and validated. These methods may be standardised to acceptable levels of cost, feasibility, sensitivity and repeatability, especially in the case of the DNA viruses selected in our MST studies. The sampling strategies should also be considered carefully to obtain samples that best represent the water in question. Ideal sampling strategies could involve the use of hydrological and physicochemical sensors and time- and flowintegrating automated sampling devices.
References

- Hunt RJ, Borchardt MA, Richards KD, Spencer SK (2010) Assessment of sewer source contamination of drinking water wells using tracers and human enteric viruses. Environ Sci Technol 44:7956–7963. doi:10.1021/es100698m
- Borchardt MA, Spencer SK, Kieke BA, Lambertini E, Loge FJ (2012) Viruses in nondisinfected drinking water from municipal wells and community incidence of acute gastrointestinal illness. Environ Health Perspect 120:1272–1279. doi:10.1289/ehp.1104499
- 3. Abbaszadegan BYM, Lechevallier M, Gerba C (2003) Occurrence of viruses in ground waters. Am Water Works Assoc J 95:107–120
- ACA (2012) Agència Catalana de l'Aigua, Generalitat de Catalunya. http://www.gencat.cat/ aca/
- DEFRA (2006) Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs and the Forestry Commission, 2006 Report. http://archive.defra.gov.uk/corporate/about/reports/documents/ 2006deptreport.pdf. Accessed 17 Dec 2014
- 6. IDESCAT (2012) Anuari estadístic de Ramaderia a Catalunya. http://www.idescat.cat/pub/? id=aec&n=48. Accessed 21 Mar 2014
- 7. Decret 136/2009 (2009) Diari Oficial de la Generalitat de Catalunya, nº5457, d'1 de setembre, d'aprovació del programa d'actuació aplicable a les zones vulnerables en relació amb la contaminació de nitrats que procedeixen de fonts agràries i de gestió de les dejeccions ra. 65858–65902
- Decret 220/2001 (2001) Diari Oficial de la Generalitat de Catalunya, nº3447, d'1 d'agost, de gestió de les dejeccions ramaderes. 2001:1–8
- 9. Rzezutka A, Cook N (2004) Survival of human enteric viruses in the environment and food. FEMS Microbiol Rev 28:441–453. doi:10.1016/j.femsre.2004.02.001
- John DE, Rose JB (2005) Review of factors affecting microbial survival in groundwater. Environ Sci Technol 39:7345–7356
- Meixell BW, Borchardt MA, Spencer SK (2013) Accumulation and inactivation of avian influenza virus by the filter-feeding invertebrate Daphnia magna. Appl Environ Microbiol 79:7249–7255. doi:10.1128/AEM.02439-13
- Gerba CP, Goyal SM, LaBelle RL, Cech I, Bodgan GF (1979) Failure of indicator bacteria to reflect the occurrence of enteroviruses in marine waters. Am J Public Health 69:1116–1119
- Solo-gabriele HM, Wolfert MA, Desmarais TR, Palmer CJ (2000) Sources of Escherichia coli in a Coastal Subtropical Environment. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:230–237
- 14. Lipp EK, Farrah SA, Rose JB (2001) Assessment and impact of microbial fecal pollution and human enteric pathogens in a coastal community. Mar Pollut Bull 42:286–293
- Byappanahalli MN, Shively DA, Nevers MB, Sadowsky MJ, Whitman RL (2003) Growth and survival of Escherichia coli and enterococci populations in the macro-alga Cladophora (Chlorophyta). FEMS Microbiol Ecol 46:203–211. doi:10.1016/S0168-6496(03)00214-9
- Pote J, Haller L, Kottelat R, Sastre V, Arpagaus P, Wildi W (2009) Persistence and growth of faecal culturable bacterial indicators in water column and sediments of Vidy Bay, Lake Geneva, Switzerland. J Environ Sci (China) 21:62–69
- Field KG, Samadpour M, Wuertz S, Field J (2007) Fecal source tracking, the indicator paradigm, and managing water quality. Water Res 41:3517–3538. doi:10.1016/j.watres. 2007.06.056
- Stoeckel DM, Harwood VJ (2007) Microbial source tracking studies MINIREVIEW. Appl Environ Microbiol. doi:10.1128/AEM.02473-06
- Scott TM, Rose JB, Jenkins TM, Samuel R, Lukasik J, Farrah SR (2002) Microbial source tracking : current methodology and future directions microbial source tracking : current methodology and future directions. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:5796–5803. doi:10.1128/ AEM.68.12.5796
- Simpson J, Santo Domingo J, Reasoner D (2002) Microbial source tracking: state of the science. Environ Sci Technol 36:5279–5288

- 21. EPA (2005) Microbial source tracking guide document. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Cincinnati
- 22. Savichtcheva O, Okabe S (2006) Alternative indicators of fecal pollution: relations with pathogens and conventional indicators, current methodologies for direct pathogen monitoring and future application perspectives. Water Res 40:2463–2476
- Roslev P, Bukh A (2011) State of the art molecular markers for fecal pollution source tracking in water. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 89:3080. doi:10.1007/s00253-010-3080-7
- 24. Wu J, Long SC, Das D, Dorner SM (2011) Are microbial indicators and pathogens correlated? A statistical analysis of 40 years of research. J Water Health 9(2):265–278. doi:10. 2166/wh.2011.117
- 25. Boehm AB, Van De Werfhorst LC, Griffith JF, Holden PA, Jay JA, Shanks OC, Wang D, Weisberg SB (2013) Performance of forty-one microbial source tracking methods: a twenty-seven lab evaluation study. Water Res 47:6812–6828. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2012.12.046
- 26. Harwood VJ, Staley C, Badgley BD, Borges K, Korajkic A (2013) Microbial source tracking markers for detection of fecal contamination in environmental waters: relationships between pathogens and human health outcomes. FEMS Microbiol Rev. doi:10.1111/1574-6976.12031
- 27. Girones R, Ferrús M, Alonso J, Rodriguez-Manzano J, Calgua B, Corrêa A, Hundesa A, Carratala A, Bofill-Mas S (2010) Molecular detection of pathogens in water–the pros and cons of molecular techniques. Water Res 44:4325–4339. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2010.06.030
- Albinana-Gimenez N, Miagostovich MP, Calgua B, Huguet JM, Matia L, Girones R (2009) Analysis of adenoviruses and polyomaviruses quantified by qPCR as indicators of water quality in source and drinking-water treatment plants. Water Res 43:2011–2019. doi:10.1016/ j.watres.2009.01.025
- Bofill-Mas S, Albinana-Gimenez N, Clemente-Casares P, Hundesa A, Rodriguez-Manzano J, Allard A, Calvo M, Girones R (2006) Quantification and stability of human adenoviruses and polyomavirus JCPyV in wastewater matrices. Appl Environ Microbiol 72:7894–7896. doi:10.1128/AEM.00965-06
- 30. Brady AMG, Gellner TM, Spencer SK, Williston AG, Borchardt MA, Bushon RN, Francy DS, Riddell KR, Stelzer EA (2012) Comparative effectiveness of membrane bioreactors, conventional secondary treatment, and chlorine and UV disinfection to remove microorganisms from municipal waste waters. Water Res 46:4164–4178. doi: 10.1016/j. watres.2012.04.044
- Havelaar AH, Furuse K, Hogeboom WM (1986) Bacteriophages and indicator bacteria in human and animal faeces. J Appl Bacteriol 60:255–262
- 32. Hsu FC, Shieh YS, van Duin J, Beekwilder MJ, Sobsey MD (1995) Genotyping male-specific RNA coliphages by hybridization with oligonucleotide probes. Appl Environ Microbiol 61:3960–3966
- 33. Schaper M, Jofre J, Uys M, Grabow WOK (2002) Distribution of genotypes of F-specific RNA bacteriophages in human and non-human sources of faecal pollution in South Africa and Spain. J Appl Microbiol 92:657–667
- 34. Kirs M, Smith DC (2007) Multiplex quantitative real-time reverse transcriptase PCR for F+specific RNA coliphages: a method for use in microbial source tracking. Appl Environ Microbiol 73:808–814. doi:10.1128/AEM.00399-06
- 35. Kim S-H, Cheon D-S, Kim J-H, Lee D-H, Jheong W-H, Heo Y-J, Chung H-M, Jee Y, Lee J-S (2005) Outbreaks of gastroenteritis that occurred during school excursions in Korea were associated with several waterborne strains of norovirus. J Clin Microbiol 43:4836–4839. doi:10.1128/JCM.43.9.4836
- Chung H, Sobsey MD (1993) Comparative survival of indicator viruses and enteric viruses in seawater and sediment. Water Sci Tech 27:425–428
- Doré WJ, Henshilwood K, Lees DN (2000) Evaluation of F-specific RNA bacteriophage as a candidate human enteric virus indicator for bivalve molluscan shellfish. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:1280–1285

- Tartera C, Jofre J (1987) Bacteriophages active against *Bacteroides fragilis* in sewagepolluted waters. Appl Environ Microbiol 53:1632–1637
- 39. Gómez-Doñate M, Payán A, Cortés I, Blanch AR, Lucena F, Jofre J, Muniesa M (2011) Isolation of bacteriophage host strains of Bacteroides species suitable for tracking sources of animal faecal pollution in water. Environ Microbiol 13:1622–1631. doi:10.1111/j.1462-2920. 2011.02474.x
- 40. Tartera C, Lucena F, Jofre J (1989) Human origin of *Bacteroides fragilis* bacteriophages present in the environment. Appl Environ Microbiol 55:2696–2701
- Puig M, Jofre J, Lucena F, Allard A, Wadell G, Girones R (1994) Detection of adenoviruses and enteroviruses in polluted waters by nested PCR amplification. Appl Environ Microbiol 60:2963–2970
- 42. Pina S, Lucena F, Girones R (1998) Viral pollution in the environment and in Shellfish : human adenovirus detection by PCR as an index of human viruses viral pollution in the environment and in Shellfish: human adenovirus detection by PCR as an index of human viruses. Appl Environ Microbiol 64:3376
- 43. Hernroth B, Conden-Hansson A, Rehnstam-Holm A, Girones R, Allard A (2002) Environmental factors influencing human viral pathogens and their potential indicator organisms in the blue mussel, *Mytilus edulis*: the first Scandinavian report. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:4523–4533. doi:10.1128/AEM.68.9.4523
- 44. Bofill-Mas S, Pina S, Girones R (2000) Documenting the epidemiologic patterns of polyomaviruses in human populations by studying their presence in urban sewage. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:238–245
- 45. Pal A, Sirota L, Maudru T, Peden K, Lewis AM (2006) Real-time, quantitative PCR assays for the detection of virus-specific DNA in samples with mixed populations of polyomaviruses. J Virol Methods 135:32–42. doi:10.1016/j.jviromet.2006.01.018
- 46. Fong T-T, Griffin DW, Lipp EK (2005) Molecular assays for targeting human and bovine enteric viruses in coastal waters and their application for library-independent source tracking. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:2070–2078. doi:10.1128/AEM.71.4.2070-2078.2005
- Wong K, Fong T-T, Bibby K, Molina M (2012) Application of enteric viruses for fecal pollution source tracking in environmental waters. Environ Int 45:151–164. doi:10.1016/j. envint.2012.02.009
- Rosario K, Symonds EM, Sinigalliano C, Stewart J, Breitbart M (2009) Pepper mild mottle virus as an indicator of fecal pollution. Appl Environ Microbiol 75:7261–7267. doi:10.1128/ AEM.00410-09
- 49. Maluquer de Motes C, Clemente-Casares P, Hundesa A, Martín M, Girones R (2004) Detection of bovine and porcine adenoviruses for tracing the source of fecal contamination. Appl Environ Microbiol 70:1448–1454. doi:10.1128/AEM.70.3.1448
- Wong K, Xagoraraki I (2011) A perspective on the prevalence of DNA enteric virus genomes in anaerobic-digested biological wastes. Environ Monit Assess. doi:10.1007/s10661-011-2316-z
- 51. Hundesa A, Maluquer de Motes C, Bofill-Mas S, Albinana-Gimenez N, Girones R (2006) Identification of human and animal adenoviruses and polyomaviruses for determination of sources of fecal contamination in the environment. Appl Environ Microbiol 72:7886–7893. doi:10.1128/AEM.01090-06
- 52. Hundesa A, Bofill-Mas S, Maluquer de Motes C, Rodriguez-Manzano J, Bach A, Casas M, Girones R (2010) Development of a quantitative PCR assay for the quantitation of bovine polyomavirus as a microbial source-tracking tool. J Virol Methods 163:385–389. doi:10. 1016/j.jviromet.2009.10.029
- 53. Ley V, Higgins J, Fayer R (2002) Bovine enteroviruses as indicators of fecal contamination. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:3455–3461
- 54. Jiménez-Clavero MA, Escribano-Romero E, Mansilla C, Gómez N, Córdoba L, Roblas N, Ponz F, Ley V, Sáiz J-C (2005) Survey of bovine enterovirus in biological and environmental

samples by a highly sensitive real-time reverse transcription-PCR. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:3536–3543. doi:10.1128/AEM.71.7.3536-3543.2005

- 55. Hundesa A, Maluquer de Motes C, Albinana-Gimenez N, Rodriguez-Manzano J, Bofill-Mas S, Suñen E, Rosina Girones R (2009) Development of a qPCR assay for the quantification of porcine adenoviruses as an MST tool for swine fecal contamination in the environment. J Virol Methods 158:130–135. doi:10.1016/j.jviromet.2009.02.006
- 56. Viancelli A, Garcia LAT, Kunz A, Steinmetz R, Esteves PA, Barardi CRM (2012) Research in Veterinary Science Detection of circoviruses and porcine adenoviruses in water samples collected from swine manure treatment systems. Res Vet Sci 93:538–543. doi:10.1016/j.rvsc. 2011.07.022
- 57. Jiménez-Clavero MA, Fernández C, Ortiz JA, Pro J, Carbonell G, Tarazona JV, Roblas N, Ley V (2003) Teschoviruses as indicators of porcine fecal contamination of surface water. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:6311–6315. doi:10.1128/AEM.69.10.6311
- Rusiñol M, Carratalà A, Hundesa A, Bach A, Kern A, Vantarakis A, Girones R, Bofill-Mas S (2013) Description of a novel viral tool to identify and quantify ovine faecal pollution in the environment. Sci Total Environ 458–460:355–360. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.04.028
- 59. Carratalà A, Rusiñol M, Hundesa A, Biarnes M, Rodriguez-Manzano J, Vantarakis A, Kern A, Sunen E, Girones R, Bofill-Mas S (2012) A novel tool for specific detection and quantification of chicken/Turkey parvoviruses to trace poultry fecal contamination in the environment. Appl Environ Microbiol 78:7496–7499. doi:10.1128/AEM.01283-12
- 60. Cantalupo PG, Calgua B, Zhao G, Hundesa A, Wier AD, Katz JP, Grabe M, Hendrix RW, Girones R, Wang D, Pipas JM (2011) Raw sewage harbors diverse viral populations. mBio 2: e00180–11–e00180–11. doi:10.1128/mBio.00180-11.Editor
- 61. Bofill-Mas S, Formiga-cruz M, Clemente-casares P, Calafell F, Girones R (2001) Potential Transmission of human polyomaviruses through the gastrointestinal tract after exposure to virions or viral DNA. J Virol 75:10290–10299. doi:10.1128/JVI.75.21.10290
- 62. Calgua B, Carratalà A, Guerrero-Latorre L, de Abreu CA, Kohn T, Sommer R, Girones R (2014) UVC inactivation of dsDNA and ssRNA viruses in water: UV fluences and a qPCRbased approach to evaluate decay on viral infectivity. Food Environ Virol. doi:10.1007/ s12560-014-9157-1
- 63. Wyn-jones AP, Carducci A, Cook N, D'Agostino M, Divizia M, Fleischer J, Gantzer C, Gawler A, Girones R, Höller C, de Roda Husman AM, Kay D, Kozyra I, López-Pila J, Muscillo M, Nascimento MSJ, Papageorgiou G, Rutjes S, Sellwood J, Szewzyk R, Wyer M, Agostino MD, Ho C, Maria A, Husman DR, Sa M, Lo J (2011) Surveillance of adenoviruses and noroviruses in European recreational waters. Water Res 5:1025–1038. doi:10.1016/j. watres.2010.10.015
- 64. Jones MS, Harrach B, Ganac RD, Gozum MMA, Dela Cruz WP, Riedel B, Pan C, Delwart EL, Schnurr DP (2007) New adenovirus species found in a patient presenting with gastroenteritis. J Virol 81:5978–5984. doi:10.1128/JVI.02650-06
- 65. Robinson CM, Singh G, Henquell C, Walsh MP, Peigue-Lafeuille H, Seto D, Jones MS, Dyer DW, Chodosh J (2011) Computational analysis and identification of an emergent human adenovirus pathogen implicated in a respiratory fatality. Virology 409:141–147. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2010.10.020
- 66. Walsh MP, Seto J, Liu EB, Dehghan S, Hudson NR, Lukashev AN, Ivanova O, Chodosh J, Dyer DW, Jones MS, Seto D (2011) Computational analysis of two species C human adenoviruses provides evidence of a novel virus. J Clin Microbiol 49:3482–3490. doi:10. 1128/JCM.00156-11
- Buller CR, Moxley RA (1988) Natural infection of porcine ileal dome M cells with rotavirus and enteric adenovirus. Vet Pathol 25:516–517
- Adrian T, Schäfer G, Cooney MK, Fox JP, Wigand R (1988) Persistent enteral infections with adenovirus types 1 and 2 in infants: no evidence of reinfection. Epidemiol Infect 101:503–509

- 69. Sharp IR, Wadell G (1995) Adenoviruses. In: Zuckerman AJ, Banatvala JE, Pattison JR (eds) Principles and practice of clinical virology, 3rd edn. Wiley, New York, pp 287–308
- Formiga-Cruz M, Tofiño-Quesada G, Bofill-Mas S, Lees DN, Henshilwood K, Allard a K, Conden-Hansson A-C, Hernroth BE, Vantarakis A, Tsibouxi A, Papapetropoulou M, Furones MD, Girones R (2002) Distribution of human virus contamination in shellfish from different growing areas in Greece, Spain, Sweden, and the United Kingdom. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:5990–5998. doi:10.1128/AEM.68.12.5990
- 71. Bofill-Mas S, Rodriguez-Manzano J, Calgua B, Carratala A, Girones R (2010) Newly described human polyomaviruses Merkel cell, KI and WU are present in urban sewage and may represent potential environmental contaminants. Virol J 7:141. doi:10.1186/1743-422X-7-141
- 72. Rusiñol M, Fernandez-Cassi X, Hundesa A, Vieira C, Kern A, Eriksson I, Ziros P, Kay D, Miagostovich M, Vargha M, Allard A, Vantarakis A, Wyn-Jones P, Bofill-Mas S, Girones R (2014) Application of human and animal viral microbial source tracking tools in fresh and marine waters from five different geographical areas. Water Res 59:119–129. doi:10.1016/j. watres.2014.04.013
- 73. Rodriguez-Manzano J, Hundesa A, Calgua B, Carratala A, Maluquer de Motes C, Rusiñol M, Moresco V, Ramos AP, Martínez-Marca F, Calvo M, Monte Barardi CR, Girones R, Bofill-Mas S (2013) Adenovirus and norovirus contaminants in commercially distributed shellfish. Food Environ Virol. doi:10.1007/s12560-013-9133-1
- 74. Sauerbrei A, Wutzler P (2009) Testing thermal resistance of viruses. Arch Virol 154:115–119. doi:10.1007/s00705-008-0264-x
- Brodsky I, Rowe W, Hartley J, Lane W (1959) Studies of mouse polyoma virus infection II Virus stability. J Exp Med 109:439–447
- Page MA, Shisler JL, Mariñas BJ (2010) Mechanistic aspects of adenovirus serotype 2 inactivation with free chlorine. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:2946–2954. doi:10.1128/AEM. 02267-09
- 77. deAbreu CA, Carratalà A, Calvo M, Barardi CRM, Bofill-Mas S, Girones R, de Abreu CA (2012) Comparative inactivation of murine norovirus, human adenovirus, and human JC polyomavirus by chlorine in seawater. Appl Environ Microbiol 78:6450–6457. doi:10.1128/ AEM.01059-12
- 78. Girones R, Carratalà A, Calgua B, Calvo M, Rodriguez-Manzano J, Emerson S (2014) Chlorine inactivation of hepatitis E virus and human adenovirus 2 in water. J Water Health 12:436–442. doi:10.2166/wh.2014.027
- 79. Gardner SD, Field AM, Coleman DV, Hulme B (1971) New human papovavirus (B.K.) isolated from urine after renal transplantation. Lancet 1:1253–1257
- Padgett BL, Walker DL, ZuRhein GM, Eckroade RJ, Dessel BH (1971) Cultivation of papova-like virus from human brain with progressive multifocal leucoencephalopathy. Lancet 1:1257–1260
- Berger JR, Houff SA, Major EO (2009) Monoclonal antibodies and progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. MAbs 1:583–589
- 82. Yousry TA, Major EO, Ryschkewitsch C, Fahle G, Fischer S, Hou J, Curfman B, Miszkiel K, Mueller-Lenke N, Sanchez E, Barkhof F, Radue E-W, Jäger HR, Clifford DB (2006) Evaluation of patients treated with natalizumab for progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. N Engl J Med 354:924–933. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa054693
- Kitamura T, Aso Y, Kuniyoshi N, Hara K, Yogo Y (1990) High incidence of urinary JC virus excretion in nonimmunosuppressed older patients. J Infect Dis 161:1128–1133
- 84. Koralnik IJ, Boden D, Mai VX, Lord CI, Letvin NL (1999) JC virus DNA load in patients with and without progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. Neurology 52:253–260
- Weber T (1997) Molecular epidemiology and emerging infectious diseases of the nervous system. J Neurovirol 3(Suppl 1):S46–S49

- 86. Albinana-Gimenez N, Clemente-casares P (2006) Distribution of human polyoma-viruses, adenoviruses, and hepatitis E virus in the environment and in a drinking-water treatment plant. Environ Sci Technol 40:7416–7422
- Norja P, Hedman L, Kantola K, Kemppainen K, Suvilehto J, Pitkäranta A, Aaltonen L-M, Seppänen M, Hedman K, Söderlund-Venermo M (2012) Occurrence of human bocaviruses and parvovirus 4 in solid tissues. J Med Virol 84:1267–1273. doi:10.1002/jmv.23335
- 88. Väisänen E, Kuisma I, Phan TG, Delwart E, Lappalainen M, Tarkka E, Hedman K, Söderlund-Venermo M (2014) Bufavirus in feces of patients with gastroenteritis, Finland. Emerg Infect Dis 20:1077–1080. doi:10.3201/eid2006.131674
- Nath Srivastava R, Lund E (1980) The stability of bovine parvovirus and its possible use as an indicator for the persistence of enteric viruses. Water Res 14:1017–1021. doi:10.1016/0043-1354(80)90146-3
- 90. Baylis SA, Tuke PW, Miyagawa E, Blümel J (2013) Studies on the inactivation of human parvovirus 4. Transfusion 53:2585–2592. doi:10.1111/trf.12372
- Zhang W, Li L, Deng X, Kapusinszky B, Delwart E (2014) What is for dinner? Viral metagenomics of US store bought beef, pork, and chicken. Virology 468–470:303–310. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2014.08.025
- 92. Blinkova O, Rosario K, Li L, Kapoor A, Slikas B, Bernardin F, Breitbart M, Delwart E (2009) Frequent detection of highly diverse variants of cardiovirus, cosavirus, bocavirus, and circovirus in sewage samples collected in the United States. J Clin Microbiol 47:3507–3513. doi:10.1128/JCM.01062-09
- 93. Bofill-Mas S, Rusiñol M, Fernandez-Cassi X, Carratalà A, Hundesa A, Girones R (2013) Quantification of human and animal viruses to differentiate the origin of the fecal contamination present in environmental samples. BioMed Res Int 2013:192089. doi:10.1155/2013/ 192089
- 94. Choi S, Jiang SC (2005) Real-time PCR quantification of human adenoviruses in urban rivers indicates genome prevalence but low infectivity. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:7426–7433. doi:10.1128/AEM.71.11.7426
- 95. He J-W, Jiang S (2005) Quantification of enterococci and human adenoviruses in environmental samples by real-time PCR. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:2250–2255. doi:10.1128/ AEM.71.5.2250
- 96. Haramoto E, Katayama H, Oguma K, Ohgaki S (2005) Application of cation-coated filter method to detection of noroviruses, enteroviruses, adenoviruses, and torque teno viruses in the Tamagawa River in Japan. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:2403–2411. doi:10.1128/AEM.71. 5.2403
- 97. Dong Y, Kim J, Lewis GD (2010) Evaluation of methodology for detection of human adenoviruses in wastewater, drinking water, stream water and recreational waters. J Appl Microbiol 108:800–809. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.2009.04477.x
- Heim A, Ebnet C, Harste G, Pring-Akerblom P (2003) Rapid and quantitative detection of human adenovirus DNA by real-time PCR. J Med Virol 70:228–239. doi:10.1002/jmv.10382
- 99. Hamza IA, Jurzik L, Stang A, Sure K, Uberla K, Wilhelm M (2009) Detection of human viruses in rivers of a densly-populated area in Germany using a virus adsorption elution method optimized for PCR analyses. Water Res 43:2657–2668. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2009. 03.020
- 100. Ogorzały L, Tissier A, Bertrand I, Maul A, Gantzer C (2009) Relationship between F-specific RNA phage genogroups, faecal pollution indicators and human adenoviruses in river water. Water Res 43:1257–1264. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2008.12.011
- 101. Bofill-Mas S, Hundesa A, Calgua B, Rusiñol M, Maluquer de Motes C, Girones R (2011) Cost-effective method for microbial source tracking using specific human and animal viruses. J Vis Exp 58:2820. doi:10.3791/2820
- 102. Haramoto E, Kitajima M, Katayama H, Ohgaki S (2010) Real-time PCR detection of adenoviruses, polyomaviruses, and torque teno viruses in river water in Japan. Water Res 44:1747–1752. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2009.11.043

- 103. Jurzik L, Hamza IA, Puchert W, Uberla K, Wilhelm M (2010) Chemical and microbiological parameters as possible indicators for human enteric viruses in surface water. Int J Hyg Environ Health 213:210–216. doi:10.1016/j.ijheh.2010.05.005
- 104. Rigotto C, Victoria M, Moresco V, Kolesnikovas CK, Corre AA, Miagostovich MP (2010) Assessment of adenovirus, hepatitis A virus and rotavirus presence in environmental samples in Florianopolis, South. J Appl Microbiol. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2672.2010.04827.x
- 105. Schlindwein A, Rigotto C, Cm S, Cr B (2010) Detection of enteric viruses in sewage sludge and treated wastewater effluent. Water Sci Technol 61:2166. doi:10.2166/wst.2010.845. Detection
- 106. Calgua B, Barardi C, Bofill-Mas S, Rodriguez-Manzano J, Girones R (2011) Detection and quantitation of infectious human adenoviruses and JC polyomaviruses in water by immunofluorescence assay. J Virol Methods 171:1–7. doi:10.1016/j.jviromet.2010.09.013
- 107. Gibson KE, Opryszko MC, Schissler JT, Guo Y, Schwab KJ (2011) Evaluation of human enteric viruses in surface water and drinking water resources in southern Ghana. Am J Trop Med Hyg 84:20–29. doi:10.4269/ajtmh.2011.10-0389
- 108. Guerrero-Latorre L, Carratala A, Rodriguez-Manzano J, Calgua B, Hundesa A, Girones R (2011) Occurrence of water-borne enteric viruses in two settlements based in Eastern Chad: analysis of hepatitis E virus, hepatitis A virus and human adenovirus in water sources. J Water Health 9:515. doi:10.2166/wh.2011.126.Occurrence
- 109. Hamza IA, Jurzik L, Überla K, Wilhelm M (2011) Methods to detect infectious human enteric viruses in environmental water samples. Int J Hyg Environ Health 214:424–436. doi:10.1016/j.ijheh.2011.07.014
- 110. Kokkinos PA, Ziros PG, Mpalasopoulou A, Galanis A, Vantarakis A (2011) Molecular detection of multiple viral targets in untreated urban sewage from Greece. Virol J 8:195. doi:10.1186/1743-422X-8-195
- 111. Barardi CRM, Viancelli A, Rigotto C, Pilotto MR, Garcia LA. T, Kunz A, Esteves PA (2012) Surveillance of human and swine adenovirus, human norovirus and swine circovirus in water samples in Santa Catarina, Brazil. J Water Health 10:445–52. doi:10.2166/wh.2012.190
- 112. Fongaro G, Nascimento MA, Viancelli A, Tonetta D, Petrucio MM, Barardi CRM (2012) Surveillance of human viral contamination and physicochemical profiles in a surface water lagoon. Water Sci Technol 66:2682–2687. doi:10.2166/wst.2012.504
- 113. Rodriguez-Manzano J, Alonso JL, Ferrús MA, Moreno Y, Amorós I, Calgua B, Hundesa A, Guerrero-Latorre L, Carratala A, Rusiñol M, Girones R (2012) Standard and new faecal indicators and pathogens in sewage treatment plants, microbiological parameters for improving the control of reclaimed water. Water Sci Technol 66:2517–2523. doi:10.2166/wst.2012. 233
- 114. Fumian TM, Vieira CB, Leite JPG, Miagostovich MP (2013) Assessment of burden of virus agents in an urban sewage treatment plant in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. J Water Health 11:110–119. doi:10.2166/wh.2012.123
- 115. Hewitt J, Greening GE, Leonard M, Lewis GD (2013) Evaluation of human adenovirus and human polyomavirus as indicators of human sewage contamination in the aquatic environment. Water Res 47:6750–6761. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2013.09.001
- 116. Katukiza AY, Temanu H, Chung JW, Foppen JWA, Lens PNL (2013) Genomic copy concentrations of selected waterborne viruses in a slum environment in Kampala, Uganda. J Water Health 11:358–370. doi:10.2166/wh.2013.184
- 117. Sidhu JPS, Ahmed W, Gernjak W, Aryal R, McCarthy D, Palmer A, Kolotelo P, Toze S (2013) Sewage pollution in urban stormwater runoff as evident from the widespread presence of multiple microbial and chemical source tracking markers. Sci Total Environ 463–464:488–496. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.06.020
- 118. Sidhu JPS, Ahmed W, Toze S (2013) Sensitive detection of human adenovirus from small volume of primary wastewater samples by quantitative PCR. J Virol Methods 187:395–400. doi:10.1016/j.jviromet.2012.11.002

- 119. Ye XXY, Ming X, Zhang YLY, Xiao WQW, Huang XN, Cao YG, Gu KD (2012) Real-time PCR detection of enteric viruses in source water and treated drinking water in Wuhan, China. Curr Microbiol 65:244–253. doi:10.1007/s00284-012-0152-1
- 120. Lee CS, Lee C, Marion J, Wang Q, Saif L, Lee J (2014) Occurrence of human enteric viruses at freshwater beaches during swimming season and its link to water inflow. Sci Total Environ 472:757–766. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.11.088
- 121. McQuaig SM, Scott TM, Lukasik JO, Paul JH, Harwood VJ (2009) Quantification of human polyomaviruses JC Virus and BK Virus by TaqMan quantitative PCR and comparison to other water quality indicators in water and fecal samples. Appl Environ Microbiol 75:3379–3388. doi:10.1128/AEM.02302-08
- 122. Biel SS, Held TK, Landt O, Niedrig M, Gelderblom HR, Siegert W, Nitsche A, Koch-institut R (2000) Rapid quantification and differentiation of human polyomavirus DNA in undiluted urine from patients after bone marrow transplantation. J Clin Microbiol 38:3689–3695
- 123. Abdelzaher AM, Wright ME, Ortega C, Solo-Gabriele HM, Miller G, Elmir S, Newman X, Shih P, Bonilla JA, Bonilla TD, Palmer CJ, Scott T, Lukasik J, Harwood VJ, McQuaig S, Sinigalliano C, Gidley M, Plano LRW, Zhu X, Wang JD, Fleming LE (2010) Presence of pathogens and indicator microbes at a non-point source subtropical recreational marine beach. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:724–732. doi:10.1128/AEM.02127-09
- 124. Ahmed W, Wan C, Goonetilleke A, Gardner T (2010) Evaluating sewage-associated JCV and BKV polyomaviruses for sourcing human fecal pollution in a Coastal River in Southeast Queensland, Australia. J Environ Qual 39:1743. doi:10.2134/jeq2010.0062
- 125. Fumian TM, Guimarães FR, Pereira Vaz BJ, da Silva MTT, Muylaert FF, Bofill-Mas S, Gironés R, Leite JPG, Miagostovich MP (2010) Molecular detection, quantification and characterization of human polyomavirus JC from waste water in Rio De Janeiro, Brazil. J Water Health 8:438–445. doi:10.2166/wh.2010.090
- 126. Hellein K, Battie C (2011) Culture-based indicators of fecal contamination and molecular microbial indicators rarely correlate with *Campylobacter* spp. in recreational waters. J Water Health 9:1–14. doi:10.2166/wh.2011.154
- 127. Chase E, Hunting J, Staley C, Harwood VJ (2012) Microbial source tracking to identify human and ruminant sources of faecal pollution in an ephemeral Florida river. J Appl Microbiol 113:1396–1406. doi:10.1111/jam.12007
- 128. Gordon KV, Mott J, Wang S, Brownell M, Lepo JE, Nathaniel R, Hellein KN, Harwood VJ, Kilgen M, Kennedy E (2012) Relationship of human-associated microbial source tracking markers with enterococci in Gulf of Mexico waters. Water Res 47:996–1004. doi:10.1016/j. watres.2012.10.032
- 129. McQuaig S, Griffith J, Harwood VJ (2012) Association of fecal indicator bacteria with human viruses and microbial source tracking markers at coastal beaches impacted by nonpoint source pollution. Appl Environ Microbiol 78:6423–6432. doi:10.1128/AEM.00024-12
- 130. Staley C, Gordon KV, Schoen ME, Harwood VJ (2012) Methods for microbial source tracking of performance of two quantitative PCR methods for microbial source tracking of human sewage and implications for microbial risk assessment in recreational waters. Appl Environ Microbiol 78:7317–7326. doi:10.1128/AEM.01430-12
- 131. Calgua B, Fumian T, Rusiñol M, Rodriguez-Manzano J, Mbayed V, Bofill-Mas S, Miagostovich M, Girones R (2013) Detection and quantification of classic and emerging viruses by skimmed-milk flocculation and PCR in river water from two geographical areas. Water Res 47:2797–2810. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2013.02.043
- 132. Bofill-Mas S, Hundesa A, Calgua B, Rusiñol M, Maluquer de Motes C, Girones R (2011) Cost-effective method for microbial source tracking using specific human and animal viruses. J Vis Exp 5:5–9. doi:10.3791/2820
- 133. Wolf S, Hewitt J, Greening G (2010) Viral multiplex quantitative PCR assays for tracking sources of fecal contamination. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:1388–1394. doi:10.1128/AEM. 02249-09

- 134. Wong K, Xagoraraki I (2011) Evaluating the prevalence and genetic diversity of adenovirus and polyomavirus in bovine waste for microbial source tracking. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 90:1521–1526. doi:10.1007/s00253-011-3156-z
- 135. Viancelli A, Kunz A, Steinmetz RLR, Kich JD, Souza CK, Canal CW, Coldebella A, Esteves PA, Barardi CRM (2013) Chemosphere performance of two swine manure treatment systems on chemical composition and on the reduction of pathogens. Chemosphere 90:1539–1544. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.08.055
- 136. Corsi SR, Borchardt MA, Spencer SK, Hughes PE, Baldwin AK (2014) Human and bovine viruses in the Milwaukee River watershed: hydrologically relevant representation and relations with environmental variables. Sci Total Environ 490:849–860. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2014.05.072
- 137. Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for the Community action in the field of water policy. EU Water Framework Directive
- European Commission DG XI (1997) The implementation of council directive 91/676/EEC concerning the protection of waters against pollution caused by nitrates from agricultural sources. Report COM (97)473
- Skeffington R (2002) European nitrogen policies, nitrate in rivers and the use of the INCA model. Hydrol Earth Syst Sci 6:315–324
- 140. Pinheiro LB, Coleman VA, Hindson CM, Herrmann J, Hindson BJ, Bhat S, Emslie KR (2012) Evaluation of a droplet digital polymerase chain reaction format for DNA copy number quantification. Anal Chem 84:1003–1011
- 141. Gilbride KA, Lee D-Y, Beaudette LA (2006) Molecular techniques in wastewater: understanding microbial communities, detecting pathogens, and real-time process control. J Microbiol Methods 66:1–20. doi:10.1016/j.mimet.2006.02.016
- 142. Ivnitski D, O'Neil DJ, Gattuso A, Schlicht R, Calidonna M, Fisher R (2003) Nucleic acid approaches for detection and identification of biological warfare and infectious disease agents. BioTechniques 35:862–869

Trend Assessment for Groundwater Pollutants: A Brief Review and Some Remarks

Francesc Oliva, Esteban Vegas, Sergi Civit, Teresa Garrido, Josep Fraile, and Antoni Munné

Abstract Groundwater is a valuable natural resource that needs to be assessed and protected. The European Union (EU) adopted new water legislation that includes the Water Framework Directive (WFD) and the Groundwater Daughter Directive (GWD). Both require the identification of sustained increasing pollution trends and their reversal. This is the second pillar of the WFD: such trends have to be identified for any pollutants that result in groundwater being characterized as at risk of not meeting the environmental objectives. Measuring these trends is necessary to determine and understand whether changes in land use, fertilizer application, pollution history, or climate change are affecting groundwater quality. However, in many cases, groundwater data series may not meet minimum requirements for classical statistical procedures employed in trend assessment: among other obstacles, data may be sparse, with missing or extreme values, censored data, seasonal effects, and autocorrelation. The aim of this chapter is to present and review several statistical methodologies that have been proposed and applied in recent years to deal with groundwater trend assessment, discussing the relative advantages and disadvantages of each one.

Keywords Catalonia, Daughter Directive, Groundwater, Monitoring, Quality trend assessment, Water Framework Directive

T. Garrido, J. Fraile, and A. Munné Catalan Water Agency, Provença, 204-208, 08036 Barcelona, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 43: 25–62, DOI 10.1007/698_2015_407, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 24 July 2015

F. Oliva (🖂), E. Vegas, and S. Civit

Department of Statistics - Faculty of Biology, University of Barcelona, Diagonal 643, 08028 Barcelona, Spain e-mail: foliya@ub.edu

Contents

1	Introduction	26
2	An Overview of Methodologies	28
	2.1 Individual Monitoring Points (Stations)	28
	2.2 Overall Assessment of GWBs	39
3	Assayed Procedures: A Case Study	42
	3.1 Methods Assayed for Individual Monitoring Points	43
	3.2 Methods Assayed for Overall GWB Trend Assessment	45
4	Results and Discussion	46
	4.1 Individual Monitoring Points	46
	4.2 Overall GWB Trend Assessment	55
5	Conclusions and Future Trends	57
Re	ferences	57

1 Introduction

Groundwater is a valuable natural resource that accounts for over 97% of all the freshwater available on Earth, excluding glaciers and ice caps (extracted from Groundwater Protection in Europe, [1]). It needs to be monitored and protected from chemical and organic pollutants, not only because groundwater is used as drinking water but also because it is an important resource for industry and agriculture and has recreational uses and environmental value [2]. Due to the fact that groundwater moves through the subsurface slowly, the impact of human activities may last for decades, and pollution events that occurred in previous years will probably continue to threaten us for several generations.

The European Union (EU) adopted new water legislation that includes the Water Framework Directive (WFD) (2000/60/EC) [3] and the Groundwater Daughter Directive (GWD) (2006/118/EC) [4]. The WFD is a regulatory framework for the protection of all natural waters which prescribes *environmental objectives* to be achieved by the end of 2015 and contemplates extensions to 2021 or 2027. The GWD for the protection of groundwater against pollution defines the specific environmental objectives of the WFD. It requires that threshold values be established (by the end of 2008) for pollutants related to the pressures identified as putting bodies of groundwater at risk (GWD, Article 3). These threshold values are quality standards, and so they are to be used to assess the chemical status of groundwater. The GWD also introduces measures to prevent or limit the introduction of pollutants into groundwater (GWD, Article 6).

Both the WFD (Article 17) and the GWD also require that *trends* must be identified for pollutants that characterize groundwater as being at risk of not meeting the environmental objectives of the WFD (WFD, Annex V 2.4.4; GWD, Article 5). According to the GWD, those trends must be statistically and environmentally significant (GWD, Article 2). The environmental significance relates to the potential future impact of an identified increasing trend in pollution. Such trends should be reversed when they reach 75% of the EU groundwater quality standard

values or specific threshold values (GWD, Article 5). In many countries, the concentrations of groundwater pollutants in aquifers are already approaching or have even exceeded statutory limits for drinking water. For this and other reasons, long-term monitoring of the concentrations of groundwater pollutant by both water utilities and regulatory agencies has become widespread. The achievement of a *good status* and the reversal of *significant and sustained* upward trends in the concentration of pollutants, including nitrates, are environmental objectives set out in Article 4 of the WFD. Trend reversal is to be achieved through the implementation of the Program of Measures (WFD, Annex VI) which aims to progressively reduce pollution and prevent further deterioration of bodies of groundwater (GWD, Article 5). Therefore, the statistical assessment of *trend reversal* is another matter of concern.

The properties that determine the quality of groundwater can vary over different time scales (daily, seasonally, or annually) and depend on the characteristics of the aquifer. In fact, the concentrations of a solute in samples at a single station depend on numerous factors including land use history, groundwater flow, and local groundwater pumping regimes, as well as seasonal and climate effects. Furthermore, the monitoring itself may involve elements that could make it difficult to accurately assess trends, for example, the sampling frequency, amount of missing data, length of monitoring period, and presence of uncontrolled covariate variables.

In many cases, the characteristics of groundwater data series may not meet the minimum requirements for classical statistical procedures employed to analyze trends. Among other obstacles, the data may be sparse and gappy and include censored data, extreme values or *outliers*, seasonal effects, and autocorrelation [5–7]. For EU members, in accordance with the WFD and GWD, two technical reports [8, 9] contain a series of general recommendations for groundwater trend assessment, including monitoring requirements, how to treat censored values, the length of data series, and the statistical methods to be employed. Besides those two excellent guides, a large number of papers have been published in many different journals over the last few decades. However, in our opinion, none of those works manage to definitively determine the procedures to be applied, because a procedure that may be adequate for a certain data series may be cumbersome or inappropriate for another series.

Another concern is related to individual monitoring points and data aggregation. Every groundwater body (GWB) is usually monitored at a certain number of sampling sites (stations). As required by the GWD (Article 5) and WFD (Article 13), member states must summarize the way in which the trend assessment at individual monitoring points within a GWB or group of GWBs has contributed to identifying that those bodies are subject to a significant and sustained upward trend or are experiencing a reversal of such a trend. Furthermore, the WFD (WFD, Annex V Section 2.3) states that in assessing the status of a GWB, the results of individual monitoring points within it are to be aggregated for the body as a whole. So apart from assessing the trend at every station, we have to assess the overall trend in the GWB. In Catalonia, a groundwater quality monitoring network has been set up in accordance with the requirements of the WFD (WFD, Article 8 and Annex V). Control networks have been designed taking into account the hydrogeological model and the pressures that have been identified on each GWB. Currently, there are some 942 stations distributed across a total of 53 GWBs. Chemical quality is analyzed annually, and quantitative analysis is performed monthly. The average spatial density of the stations in a given GWB is 0.58 stations per 10 km². This network for monitoring groundwater quality dates from 1994 in some strategic aquifers, and the first monitoring program in accordance with the WFD requirements began in 2007.

This chapter mainly focuses on presenting an overview of some of the main statistical techniques that have been proposed in recent years for the statistical testing of a groundwater trend. The methods presented here are rather simple and can easily be implemented using different commercial or open-source statistical software packages. In order to illustrate the procedures and highlight the main results, some of the GWBs and monitoring stations in Catalonian have been selected and the methods applied (see Sect. 3). The pollutants analyzed are nitrates and chlorides. All of the techniques are applied using packages and functions implemented in R [10].

2 An Overview of Methodologies

2.1 Individual Monitoring Points (Stations)

Groundwater monitoring networks provide observation of random variables (concentrations of pollutants) at each sampling site over time. Within the assessment of significant upward trends and trend reversal, we have to consider ([9], Sect. 6.2) the following issues: (a) a correct statistical method for assessing trends at each monitoring point, (b) how to deal with values below the limit of quantification (LOQ), (c) the appropriate length of time series, (d) how to establish baseline levels of substances, (e) what an acceptable level of confidence is in trend assessment, (f) how to establish a starting point for trend reversal, and (g) how to statistically demonstrate that a trend has been reversed.

In accordance with the GWD (Annex IV), to deal with individual concentrations below the LOQ, they are replaced by LOQ/2. Regarding the length of time series for yearly data, Grath et al. [8] recommend at least 8 measurements for the detection of an upward trend and 15 measurements in order to establish whether there is a significant breakpoint (trend reversal). In fact, that research clearly advises against long-term time series if the statistical method does not take into account a possible breakpoint. Nevertheless, we will see that a breakpoint, even within a short-term series, can seriously affect the performance of statistical methods that are recommended for trend assessment.

Reviewing the literature, the problem of detecting and estimating trends in hydrology data has a long history [5, 6, 11-27], and some of the publications report comparative analysis of different techniques. For example, Esterby [18] reviewed some parametric and nonparametric trend detection methods by applying them to water quality time series. Meanwhile, Hess et al. [21] present an overview of six linear methods used to analyze environmental time series. A comprehensive evaluation of 28 statistical methods for checking trend, homogeneity, seasonality, periodicity, and persistence in hydrologic time series was recently published [28]. So far, there is no general consensus regarding which method performs best in a given unknown situation, and few extensive comparisons of the proposed methods have been published. In this scenario, quite a lot of published work advises visual inspections by the user (among others, [29]) in order to decide which method is suitable, whether assumptions are valid, or to finally assess trends. This, however, is quite unrealistic; how many plots would the user have to examine considering all the stations and pollutants? Perhaps it would be thousands, so a robust automatic method (software) for assessing trends is absolutely vital. In this context, TTAinterfaceTrendAnalysis was developed in R package [30] to perform nonparametric trend analysis (Kendall test family) through an interactive GUI. Notwithstanding, other techniques to assess temporal trends in an automatic manner are absolutely crucial.

In this section, we review some of the more common statistical procedures used for trend assessment in groundwater quality data. The methods can be classified into two main general approaches: parametric methods (distribution dependent) and nonparametric methods (distribution free). However, the decision as to which procedures are most useful (to reveal change when it is present and not identify any change when there is no trend) depends on the characteristics of the data: the distribution (normal, skewed, symmetric, heavy-tailed, extreme values); the presence of outliers (exaggerated extreme values, perhaps due to measurement error or a one-off serious contamination event); and its seasonality, whether there are missing values (a few isolated values or large gaps), there is censored data (e.g., due to the LOQ), or there is some serial correlation and if it does contain a monotonic trend or an abrupt change [26]. If the assumptions made in order to apply a statistical test do not hold for the data, then the estimate of the significance level could be incorrect.

Finally, when we carry out a statistical test, it is necessary to define the null hypothesis H_0 (in our case, the hypothesis of no trend) and the alternative hypothesis H_1 (trend). Two types of errors can occur when we perform a test. A *type I* error occurs when the researcher rejects the null hypothesis when it is in fact true (*false positive*). The probability of committing a type I error is called the significance level, and it is frequently denoted as α (the most common choice is $\alpha = 5\%$). A *type II error* is present when the researcher fails to reject the null hypothesis which is in fact false (*false negative*). The probability of committing a type II error is usually denoted as β , and the complementary probability, $1 - \beta$, is known as the power of the test. Type I and type II errors are not complementary (i.e., their sum is not one), but they do stand in a relationship: if we decrease the chance of

committing a type I error (choosing a lower α value), then β increases. The decision rule for rejecting the null hypothesis is in accordance with the *p*-value. The *p*-value is the probability of observing a test statistic equal to or more extreme than our experimental value, assuming that the null hypothesis is true. If the *p*-value is less than the significance level, we reject the null hypothesis.

2.1.1 Regression Models

Linear models are the most widely used framework from a parametric perspective. The classical approach to assessing a trend is based on fitting a linear regression (LR) or quadratic regression (QR) model [8]. As is well known, the simple LR model is:

$$x_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 t_i + e_i \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$
 (1)

where x_i is the value for the *i*th observation, t_i is the corresponding value for the independent variable (time), β_0 is the intercept, β_1 is the slope, and e_i are the residuals (assumed to be independent and identically distributed). The regression coefficients are estimated using the method of *ordinary least squares* (OLS). A *t*-test may be used to test that the true slope is not different from zero ($H_0 : \beta_1 = 0$), which implies that there is no correlation between the pollutant and time ($H_0 : \rho = 0$). So we can conclude that a linear trend exists if the *p*-value of this statistic is less than α (the significance level). Nevertheless, a new assumption is made when we apply the test: the residuals, e_i , are normally distributed. Moreover, OLS are highly sensitive to outliers. In spite of this, as reported in Grath et al. [8], LR was the most used statistical method for trend assessment in the EU in 2001.

Trends which are nonlinear (say quadratic, exponential, or with an abrupt change) will be poorly described by a linear slope coefficient. We can easily extend the linear model to QR by adding a new term to Eq. 1:

$$x_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 t_i + \beta_2 t_i^2 + e_i \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$
(2)

If the coefficient β_2 (quadratic term) is significant, we reject the null hypothesis that LR is acceptable. A quadratic fit implies a concave or convex function (second-order polynomial), and the *inflection point* is at time $t_{\rm IP} = -\beta_1/(2\beta_2)$. Nevertheless, the quadratic model has its own limitations: (a) it cannot fit other nonlinear functions; (b) it is not easy to assess the trend before and after the inflection point (recall that a second-order polynomial never remains flat, which means we cannot say "no trend"); (c) the parameter estimates are greatly influenced by outliers; and (d) hypothesis tests are sensitive to departures from normality.

Therefore, it could be useful to apply a robust procedure. The *robust LR* (RLR) model can be stated as:

$$x_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 t_i + \sigma e_i \quad i = 1, \dots, n \tag{3}$$

where $\sigma > 0$ is a scale parameter. There are a number of ways to perform robust regression [31–36]. To deal with outliers in the *x*-direction, the most commonly used methods are based on *Huber-type estimates* [31, 37], which form a class of *M*-estimates. An *M*-estimate of β_1 is a solution of:

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i e_i x_i = 0 \tag{4}$$

where $e_i = x_i - (\beta_0 + \beta_1 t_i)$ are the residuals and $w_i = W(e_i/\sigma)$ with W(u) a suitable weight function. Equation 4 is the equation of a weighted OLS estimate and must be obtained by an algorithm called *iteratively reweighted least squares* (IRLS). In the first iteration, each point is assigned equal weight, and the model coefficients are estimated using OLS. For subsequent iterations, the weights are recomputed so that points farther from model predictions in the previous iteration are given lower weights. The Huber *M*-estimator (the default in many software packages) is defined as $W(u) = \psi_k(u)/u$, with $\psi_k(u) = \max(-k, \min(k, u))$, where *k* is constant that the user has to specify. The estimate of σ is usually $\hat{\sigma} = MAD$ (*median absolute deviation*). This approach is fairly robust against departures from normality and outliers in the *x*-direction. The model presented in Eq. 3 can easily be generalized to perform robust nonlinear regression.

Another approach is *loess* or *lowess*. Cleveland [38–40] proposed the *loess* algorithm as a flexible and robust method to fit a regression function which is suitable when there are outliers and we do not know the parametric model. The name is derived from *locally weighted scatterplot smoothing*, because a weighted least squares method is used to fit linear or quadratic functions at every local predictor point, based on its neighborhood. The *smoothing parameter* controls the fraction of the data contained in each local neighborhood, and data points are weighted by a decreasing function of their distance from the center of the neighborhood. Recommended in Grath et al. [2] as a method that is much more flexible with regard to the shape of a trend, an ANOVA test based on the *loess* smoother is described [2, 41] which allows us to examine both monotonic and non-monotonic trends. In spite of that, we want to mention several pitfalls of the system. (a) The election of the smoothing parameter is not easy, but it is absolutely essential, because it crucially influences the final result. (b) To perform a loess fit with short data series is a risky task which can lead to overfitting or underfitting of the data and may boost data autocorrelation. (c) In our experience, the method is not very outlier resistant, so a *loess* fit can become distorted due to the presence of outliers. (d) The ANOVA test proposed considers the *loess* fit as the true function (the error sum of squares is in fact the sum of squared *loess* residuals), so the outlined test is not reliable if we fail to fit the right function. Regarding the selection of a smoothing parameter, Hurvich et al. [42] propose an interesting and automatic determination based on AICc (the corrected Akaike information criterion) [43, 44],

as applied in Wen and Chen [45]. To summarize, for short data series, we prefer the robust regression approach outlined before *loess*; it is less risky and easier to perform, and we do not have to select a smoothing parameter.

Detecting step trends (an abrupt change in the mean level at a specific point in time) in a process is also an important topic. Various statistical methods are available for identifying and locating steps in a time series [46–48]. Piecewise LR is used to detect significant changes in a trend (*breakpoints*), which means there are two different linear relationships in the data with a sudden, sharp change in direction. In this case, x_i is modeled by splitting the linear predictor into two pieces:

$$x_i = \begin{cases} \beta_0 + \beta_1 t_i + e_i & t_i \le \gamma \\ \beta_0 + \beta_1 t_i + \beta_2 (t_i - \gamma) + e_i & t_i > \gamma \end{cases}$$
(5)

where γ is the breakpoint [49]. The slopes of the two lines are β_1 and $\beta_1 + \beta_2$, so β_2 can be interpreted as the difference between the slopes. The model given in Eq. 5, also named *two-section LR* (2SLR), forces continuity at the breakpoint [50]. It is straightforward to see that if $\beta_2 = 0$, we are in fact fitting simple LR. As is evident, the 2SLR model can be a useful approach for detecting trend reversals. Unfortunately, it is not robust when facing outliers.

2.1.2 Nonparametric Methods

Up to now, the methods we have summarized are based on linear models. Another possible approach is to apply a nonparametric model. Nonparametric methods tend to have been favored in the analysis of large datasets from national monitoring programs [18], since these methods involve fewer assumptions and they are less sensitive to outliers. There has been widespread use of Spearman's *rho* and Mann-Kendall (MK) *tau* statistics (especially the latter) to test for the presence of monotonic trends [5, 6, 51–62] and others.

The MK test is a well-known nonparametric rank-based method. Mann [63] originally used the test, and Kendall [64–66] derived the test statistic distribution. It is a distribution-free method (it does not require, e.g., normally distributed data), and it can be useful for detecting trends in time series when the data exhibit a monotonic function of time. MK test is robust against the influence of extreme values, suitable to be used with skewed variables [67], and appropriate for data that do not display seasonal variation (or for seasonally corrected data) and have negligible autocorrelation. It has been widely used and recommended by many researchers (see, e.g., [5, 60, 68]) to detect trends in the field of hydrology and in similar applications. The *tau b* correlation coefficient [65] is the natural estimator of the strength of the trend in the case of using the MK test and is easily derived.

In accordance with MK test, the null hypothesis H_0 is that the data is a sample of n independent and identically distributed (iid) random variables [5, 69]. The test statistic, Kendall's *S* [65], is calculated as follows:

Trend Assessment for Groundwater Pollutants: A Brief Review and Some Remarks

$$S = \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} \sum_{j=i+1}^{n} \operatorname{sign}(x_i - x_j)$$
(6)

where sign $(x_i - x_j)$ is equal to 1, 0, or -1 according to the sign of the difference $x_i - x_j$. Under the null hypothesis, E(S) = 0, and

$$\operatorname{var}(S) = \frac{n(n-1)(2n+5) - \sum_{j=1}^{g} k_j (k_j - 1) (2k_j + 5)}{18} = \sigma^2$$
(7)

where g is the number of tied groups and k_j is the number of observations in the *j*th group (if there are no ties, delete the summation in the numerator of Eq. 7). For n > 10, the test statistic

$$Z_{S} = \begin{cases} (S-1)/\sigma & \text{if } S > 0\\ 0 & \text{if } S = 0\\ (S+1)/\sigma & \text{if } S < 0 \end{cases}$$
(8)

where $\sigma = \sqrt{\text{var}(S)}$ follows a standard normal distribution [65]. The significance levels (*p*-values) can be obtained as follows:

$$p = 2(1 - \Phi(|Z_S|))$$
(9)

where $\Phi()$ is the cumulative distribution function (CDF) of a standard normal distribution.

The MK test detects monotonic trends, so it cannot assess a trend reversal. A sequential MK test, originally proposed in Sneyers [70], is used in Partal and Kahya [71] and Shifteh Some'e et al. [72]. Unfortunately, it is not a test in a statistical sense, but a heuristic visual procedure to detect a trend reversal. We consider this approach to be quite subjective, and we do not recommend it.

Hirsch et al. [5] developed an extension of Kendall's test called the Seasonal Kendall (SK) test that accounts for seasonality in the data. In order to estimate the magnitude of the trend, they developed the SK slope estimator, which is an extension of the estimator proposed by Theil [73] and Sen [74]. A modified version of the SK test that allows for both seasonal data and serial dependence has also been developed [6]. The literature contains many methods for dealing with seasonality (i.e., monthly or quarterly trends); however, the issue is beyond the scope of this review, which focuses on yearly data.

Spearman's *rho* correlation is an alternative to Kendall's *tau b*, despite being less commonly used in trend assessment. The results of the two statistics and tests are very similar; however, the faster convergence to the normal distribution of the statistic based on Kendall's *tau b* makes it slightly preferable in the case of a small dataset [75].

If a significant trend is found, the magnitude (rate of change per unit time) can be estimated using the TS slope [73, 74]. This approach involves computing slopes for all pairs of data points $(x_i - x_j)/(t_i - t_j)$ and then using the median of these slopes as an estimate of the overall slope:

$$\beta_{\rm TS} = \operatorname{Med}\left(\frac{x_i - x_j}{t_i - t_j}\right) \quad \forall \, i > j \,, \ i, j = 1, \dots, n \tag{10}$$

Thus, it is fairly sensitive to the presence of extreme values but can handle a moderate number of values below the detection limit and missing values. The trend slope, $\beta_{\rm TS}$, is a measure of monotonic change and represents the median rate of change for the selected period, assisting the user in comparing the magnitudes of trends for several stations. However, it must be said that it is a linear trend estimator.

Another option, which as far as we know has not been used in the area of monitoring GWBs, is RoCoCo (robust rank correlation coefficients), proposed by Bodenhofer [76, 77], who presents a set of measures to test for monotonic associations between two observables. These robust rank correlation measures are based on fuzzy orderings, and the tests developed seem to outperform the classical variants because they are more robust for small samples when facing noise. The MK test is ideally suited for detecting monotonic relationships, but if you have numerical data such as pollutant concentrations, they may contain noise. In that case, even small random perturbations of true values may obscure a monotonic association. The robust gamma correlation coefficient seems to overcome this problem. The basic idea behind this correlation is to replace the strict orderings in the definitions of concordant and discordant pairs by continuous functions that measure the degree to which one value is greater than another (fuzzy ordering). Given a dataset consisting of *n* pairs of observations, $(t_i, x_i)_{i=1}^n$, the scoring functions R_T and R_X are used to compute the overall score of concordant pairs, C, and the overall score of discordant pairs, D:

$$\widetilde{C} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j \neq i} \overline{T} (R_T(t_i, t_j), R_X(x_i, x_j))$$
$$\widetilde{D} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \sum_{j \neq i} \overline{T} (R_T(t_i, t_j), R_X(x_j, x_i))$$

The function \overline{T} is a triangular norm used for aggregating the relationships between *t* and *x* components. The final robust gamma rank correlation coefficient is then computed as:

$$\widetilde{\gamma} = \frac{\widetilde{C} - \widetilde{D}}{\widetilde{C} + \widetilde{D}} \tag{11}$$

in perfect analogy with Goodman's and Kruskal's gamma.

To test the significance of the robust gamma correlation coefficient, Bodenhofer and Klawonn [76] propose permutation testing. In order to calculate the correlations and to perform the tests, we use the R package RoCoCo [78].

2.1.3 Time Series Correlation

One of the underlying assumptions common to all the models and tests presented so far is that the data are serially uncorrelated. When there is serial time correlation, the performance of the tests at assessing the significance of the trend could be affected (type I error) and may give misleading results. The effects are well known [79, 80]: in the case of positive autocorrelation, the tests have a tendency to be risky (increase in false positives), while if the autocorrelation is negative, the tests perform in a conservative way (increase in false negatives). Environmental variables, such as hydrological data, frequently exhibit some form of positive autocorrelation [80, 81], and several authors have studied and quantified the type I error in a large amount of situations (both with analytical and simulation studies) and shown that they are often greater than the significance level adopted ([80, 82, 83], among others). If we are applying a parametric model, the time series statistics framework can be used to overcome the problem of autocorrelation. However, it is not easy to obtain reliable results when dealing with a small sample dataset, and probably for this reason, such a framework has not often been applied or recommended for annual data.

The most simple case is the presence of *lag-1 autocorrelation* (the reading x_i recorded at time t_i is correlated with the previous value x_{i-1}), that is to say, a first-order autoregressive process AR(1). For annual data, it may be a suitable approach, because the serial correlation with a lag bigger than 1 year will in general be low. From now on in this work, we will assume only a possible significant lag-1 autocorrelation.

Several proposals have been made to avoid false trend detections resulting from autocorrelation. Generally speaking, such efforts can be classified into two different approaches. The first modifies the statistical test to account for the presence of the serial correlation. Further information regarding this first approach, including the advantages of its use, can be found in Yue and Wang [84] and Khaliq et al. [85]. The second approach transforms the original data so that it meets the assumption of no temporal dependence [86]. This second approach is often adopted via the procedure called *pre-whitening* (PW) [79, 87, 88]. In all cases, a key step in the process is the estimation of the serial dependence.

Nevertheless, at this point, there is another obstacle to consider: the interaction between the trend and the autoregressive process [89–91]. If the data reflect a

deterministic trend, the estimate of the autocorrelation will become artificially inflated. For this reason, it has been proposed that the trend be extracted from the data (*detrending*) prior to the estimation of the autocorrelation [80]. Therefore, in order to evaluate the autocorrelation, two steps are involved: (1) detrending of the data (in the case of a significant trend) and (2) estimation of the autocorrelation within the detrended data.

In order to detrend (DT) the data, the following procedure has been proposed:

- 1. Calculate the Theil-Sen (TS) estimator with the original data, β_{TS} .
- 2. Assess whether the trend is significant using a $(1 \alpha) \times 100\%$ confidence interval of the slope. At least two different procedures have been described to build this confidence interval: a procedure based on order statistics [92, 93] and a bootstrapping procedure [94]. A controversial point is the election of the significance level (type I error); $\alpha = 0.05$ ($\alpha = 0.10$ if we choose a unilateral approach) is the usual value, but it could be too conservative in this step (low test power), so we recommend a value from 0.10 to 0.20 (0.15 and 0.20 are values often recommended in many stepwise variable selection procedures).
- 3. If zero is inside the confidence interval, we accept the hypothesis of no trend; and therefore the data remain unchanged: $x_i^* = x_i$. Otherwise, we remove the trend, transforming the data; thus,

$$x_i^* = x_i - \beta_{\rm TS} t_i$$

At this point, we want to note an obvious fact that is poorly reported in the literature: despite TS being a robust nonparametric estimator, it simply evaluates a slope, and therefore, the detrending procedure described above only removes a linear trend. It is straightforward and easy to understand that if the data reflect a nonlinear trend, detrending with a linear function is inappropriate. Suppose we have a data series with a quadratic trend (Eq. 2); then the detrending procedure leads to:

$$x_i^* = x_i - \beta_{\text{TS}} t_i = \beta_0 + (\beta_1 - \beta_{\text{TS}}) t_i + \beta_2 t_i^2 + e_i \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$

which is another quadratic function of time (so the data reflect a new trend). Even for data with a linear trend (Eq. 1), it is not certain that detrending completely removes the trend:

$$x_i^* = x_i - \beta_{\text{TS}} t_i = \beta_0 + (\beta_1 - \beta_{\text{TS}}) t_i + e_i \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$

Can we be sure that $\beta_1 - \beta_{\text{TS}} \approx 0$? It is not always, particularly with small datasets. To summarize, the detrending procedure may produce data that reflect a new trend. As far as we know, there have been no exhaustive studies of the consequences of the detrending procedure on the estimation of autocorrelation when it is applied to data with linear and nonlinear trends.

Once we establish that the data have no trend, we have to evaluate the autocorrelation. This is no easy matter, as can be seen in much of the published work ([95–98], among others). To estimate the lag-1 autocorrelation, the conventional estimator is widely used [99]:

$$r_{1} = \frac{\sum_{i=2}^{n} (x_{i} - \overline{x})(x_{i-1} - \overline{x})}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} (x_{i} - \overline{x})}, \quad \overline{x} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_{i}$$
(12)

The statistic r_1 is very similar to Pearson's correlation coefficient, but the numerator only has n - 1 terms, and \overline{x} is used instead of calculating the average for x_1, \ldots, x_n and x_1, \ldots, x_{n-1} . Under the hypothesis $\rho_1 = 0$, the expected value of r_1 is $E(r_1) = -1/n$ [100]. On this basis, Huitema and McKean [101] proposed the modified estimator:

$$r_1^+ = r_1 + \frac{1}{n} \tag{13}$$

Nevertheless, r_1^+ has a negative bias if $\rho_1 > 0$ and *n* is small. In fact, the approximate bias of r_1 is $-(1 + 4\rho_1)/n$ [102]. To test $H_0: \rho_1 = 0$, we use the approximation proposed by Moran [100] of var(r_1):

$$\operatorname{var}(r_1) = \frac{(n-2)^2}{n^2(n-1)} \left(1 - \rho_1^2\right)$$

which is an accurate estimation under the null hypothesis [103, 104]. So, under the null hypothesis $\rho_1 = 0$, $E_0(r_1^+) = 0$ is the expected value of r_1^+ , and the variance is

$$\operatorname{var}_0(r_1^+) = \frac{(n-2)^2}{n^2(n-1)} \tag{14}$$

It is now straightforward to use the statistic

$$Z_{r_1^+} = \frac{n\sqrt{n-1}}{(n-2)}r_1^+$$

which, under the null hypothesis, asymptotically follows a standard normal distribution. Therefore, it is now easy to calculate the *p*-value:

$$p = 2\Big(1 - \Phi\Big(\Big|Z_{r_1^+}\Big|\Big)\Big)$$

As we said above, the existence of serial correlation affects the MK test [67, 79]. Autocorrelation implies a change in the variance of the statistic *S*, var(*S*). Specifically, a lag-1 positive autocorrelation $\rho_1 > 0$ increases the var(*S*), which will

produce an increase in type I errors if we apply the usual MK test [84, 105]. In the case of a negative autocorrelation $\rho_1 < 0$, we will have exactly the opposite effect, but as we mention above, we expect a null or a positive time serial correlation with pollutants, and it is very rare to detect a negative autocorrelation. In order to solve the problem with the MK test, two strategies appear in the literature: data PW and modifying the MK test.

Modified MK Test for Autocorrelated Data

One way to modify the MK test is by modifying var(*S*). There are several proposals, and here we present the method described in Lettenmaier [106] and Hamed and Rao [107], reviewed and evaluated in Yue and Wang [84]. Once we have evaluated the lag-1 autocorrelation and rejected the null hypothesis $\rho_1 = 0$ (if the null hypothesis is accepted, it is recommended to apply the usual MK test), we apply the modified MK (MKM) test. The modified variance of *S*, var *(*S*), is calculated as follows:

$$\operatorname{var}^*(S) = \frac{n}{n^*} \operatorname{var}(S)$$

where n^* is the effective number of independent samples [108]. Matalas and Langbein [105] derived a formula for n^* in the case of a lag-1 autoregressive process:

$$n^* = \frac{n}{1 + 2\frac{\rho_1^{n+1} - n\rho_1^2 + (n-1)\rho_1}{n(1-\rho_1)^2}}$$
(15)

To arrive at our estimate of var *(*S*), vâr*(*S*), we have to replace ρ_1 with the estimator $\hat{\rho}_1 = r_1^+$ in Eq. 15. Next, we apply (for n > 10) the transformation specified in Eq. 9, replacing σ by $\hat{\sigma}^* = \sqrt{\text{vâr}^*(S)}$.

Finally, we note that other modifications of the MK test have been published (e.g., [67, 107]).

PW

The other approach to deal with autocorrelation is data PW [79] which means removing the serial correlation from the data prior to applying the test. This procedure reduces the occurrence of type I errors close to the adopted (nominal) significance level [86, 87]. Nevertheless, as we say above, the estimate of the autocorrelation will become artificially inflated if the data reflect a trend. For this reason, *trend-free PW* (TFPW) has been proposed [80]. TFPW is a four-step procedure: 1) DT the data; 2) estimate the autocorrelation; 3) remove the serial correlation; and 4) replace the trend in the data. According to Önöz and Bayazit

[83], TFPW is frequently more powerful than the PW at detecting trends, and it is widely used in much work [80, 109–114].

We propose the following TFPW algorithm that deals with missing values:

- 1. Apply the detrending procedure and estimate the lag-1 autocorrelation $\hat{\rho}_1 = r_1^+$.
- 2. Is the autocorrelation significant? If $H_0: \rho_1 = 0$ is accepted (choose α between 0.10 and 0.20), then do not transform the data, i.e., final data are original data: $x_i^{***} = x_i$.
- 3. If $H_0: \rho_1 = 0$ is rejected and β_{TS} (recall TS estimator) is not significant (the zero value is inside the confidence interval), remove the autocorrelation from the original data: $x_i^{***} = x_i \hat{\rho}_1 x_{i-1}$.
- 4. If $H_0: \rho_1 = 0$ is rejected and β_{TS} is significant, then:
 - a. Remove the autocorrelation from the detrended data:

$$x_i^{**} = x_i^* - \hat{\rho}_1 x_{i-1}^*$$

where $x_i^* = x_i - \beta_{\text{TS}} t_i$. Here, another obstacle arises: what do we do if the data have missing values? Curiously, this is an important point that is absent from the work we have reviewed. We propose imputing them (e.g., by applying linear interpolation), only in order to be able to remove the autocorrelation; otherwise, every original missing value implies losing another final value in this step.

b. Replace the trend in the data: $x_i^{***} = x_i^{**} + \beta_{\text{TS}}t_i$.

Once TFPW has been performed, you can apply the usual MK test and TS estimator to the transformed data, x_t^{***} . Finally, in Önöz and Bayazit [83], a modified form of TFPW (referred to as MTFPW) that aims to reduce its probability of rejecting a true H_0 was proposed. There is still some controversy in the literature regarding the most appropriate approach to correcting for serial correlation [115, 116]. For example, we think that many researchers forget that if $\rho_1 = 0$ and we reject the null hypothesis (due to a type I error), PW introduces autocorrelation. In this unfortunate case, it is easy to calculate this serial correlation:

$$\operatorname{corr}(x_i, x_{i-1}) = -\hat{\rho}_1 / (1 + \hat{\rho}_1^2)$$

where $\hat{\rho}_1 = r_1^+$. In summary, we may assume that further studies are still required to evaluate the performance of both PW and TFPW techniques.

2.2 Overall Assessment of GWBs

In this section, we deal with how to aggregate data from individual monitoring points (spatial aggregation) in order to assess a trend in a GWB as a whole. Grath

et al. [8] introduce the necessity to calculate trends for a GWB or group of GWBs. Since trends in GWBs as a whole cannot be observed directly, an approach has to be adopted to aggregating observations from individual monitoring points. Spatial correlation is a matter of concern here, because data series coming from various stations may be correlated. Although most studies ignore this fact in their interpretations of results, it must be kept in mind that the effect of cross-correlation in the data is to increase the expected number of trends [57].

Several approaches deal with overall trend assessment by grouping or blending the results from all the stations inside a GWB. Grath et al. [8] recommended carrying out the trend assessment with the mean values (average of all the stations for each period of time). An alternative is the average (or the median) of any statistic obtained from every single station within a GWB. In a case study of CIS Guidance No. 18 ([9], Sect. 10.8), two aggregation procedures are presented: (a) defining the median trend slope and (b) using age dating to aggregate time series (simply pooling data) along a standardized *x*-axis showing recharge time. In Douglas et al. [60], an interesting aggregation procedure based on the results of MK tests is described, and we will outline it below. However, an average or a median implies the assumption that the trend is homogeneous across all stations, which is difficult to justify. Thus, in Van Belle and Hughes [12], a preliminary test of the homogeneity of the trend direction was proposed. When the trend is heterogeneous across stations (e.g., an upward trend in one set of stations and a downward trend in another), any overall test of trend direction or slope estimator will be misleading.

2.2.1 S-Mean Method

The S-mean method [60] is based on the results of the MK test for every station. Specifically, we must compute:

$$\overline{S}_m = \frac{1}{m} \sum_{k=1}^m S_k \tag{16}$$

where S_k is the *S* statistic provided by the MK test for the *k*th station in a GWB with *m* stations. If the data series are cross-correlated, i.e., there is spatial correlation between stations, the variance of \overline{S}_m is

$$\operatorname{var}(\overline{S}_m) = \frac{1}{m^2} \left[\sum_{k=1}^m \operatorname{var}(S_k) + 2 \sum_{k=1}^{m-1} \sum_{j=1}^{m-j} \operatorname{cov}(S_k, S_{k+j}) \right]$$

Following Salas-La Cruz [117], the covariance between station k and station k + j is:

Trend Assessment for Groundwater Pollutants: A Brief Review and Some Remarks

$$\operatorname{cov}(S_k, S_{k+j}) = \sigma^2 \rho_{k,k+j}$$

where $\rho_{k,k+j}$ is the cross-correlation coefficient between the two stations. Therefore, the variance of \overline{S}_m becomes:

$$\operatorname{var}(\overline{S}_{m}) = \frac{1}{m^{2}} \left[m\sigma^{2} + 2\sum_{k=1}^{m-1} \sum_{j=1}^{m-j} \sigma^{2} \rho_{k,k+j} \right] = \frac{\sigma^{2}}{m} \left[1 + (m-1)\overline{\rho}_{xx} \right]$$
(17)

where:

$$\overline{\rho}_{xx} = \frac{2\sum_{k=1}^{m-1}\sum_{j=1}^{m-j}\sigma^2 \rho_{k,k+j}}{m(m-1)}$$

is the average cross-correlation coefficient for the whole GWB. Considering that the overall GWB has no trend, it is obvious that $E(\overline{S}_m) = 0$. Therefore, asymptotically (n > 10 could be enough for practical purposes), the statistic:

$$Z_{\overline{S}} = \frac{\overline{S}_m}{\sqrt{\operatorname{var}(\overline{S}_m)}} \sim N(0, 1)$$

follows a standard normal distribution. Obtaining *p*-value is straightforward:

$$p = 2\left(1 - \Phi(|Z_{\overline{S}}|)\right)$$

This procedure takes into account spatial correlation. In our opinion, it is much better than other approaches that simply mix or group data from the different stations. Nevertheless, we warn against the use of these approaches to blending the results of individual monitoring points: they implicitly assume a global trend for the whole GWB, and that is not always so. We outline below quite a different spatial aggregation method; it does not assume a common global trend.

2.2.2 Cross-Correlation: A Bootstrapping Procedure

Burn and Hag Elnur [61] propose an ingenious bootstrapping approach to determine the critical value for the percentage of stations expected to show a trend by chance. It can be summarized in the following steps:

1. Select a year at random from the entire period of time for which data are available (supposing that the sampled values are obtained yearly). Repeat this procedure for the required number of years, i.e., the number of years in the initial

dataset, so that the new dataset is in fact a resampling of the years, without altering the data from individual monitoring points.

- 2. Perform the MK test for every station (at a chosen significance level, α) and determine the percentage of stations with a significant trend.
- 3. Steps 1–2 are repeated k times (k = 600 in Burn and Hag Elnur [61]), to obtain the empirical distribution of the percentage of stations that are significant at the α level. Sort the k percentage values recorded and determine the percentile $(1 \alpha) \times 100\%$, p_{crit} .
- 4. If the actual percentage of stations showing a trend in the GWB analyzed is greater than p_{crit} , it will be considered significant.

Note that any temporal structure (a trend) that exists in every single station will not be reproduced in the resampled datasets because of the bootstrapping process. However, the cross-correlations in the original data are preserved, allowing us to evaluate the effect of spatial correlation within the GWB. In Sect. 4, we will provide a modified procedure that outperforms the algorithm just outlined here.

3 Assayed Procedures: A Case Study

In order to illustrate the procedures and highlight the main results, some of the stations and GWBs in Catalonia were selected (Fig. 1), and some of the methods described above were applied. We first determined the trends for individual monitoring points, in accordance with nine specific methods (see below); and then we applied two distinct methods to show how data may be aggregated in order to determine the trend for a GWB as a whole. GWBs with a long monitoring period and many sampling sites were selected to be analyzed. Nitrate and chloride concentrations were analyzed in order to identify significant upward and downward trends.

Figure 2 shows the scatterplots of the twelve stations used to compare the nine methods. These stations were not selected at random, but specifically in order to show the performance of the methods in different scenarios. One possible classification of these monitoring points based on the data shown, according to a rough trend assessment, is the following:

- Linear or monotonic trends: stations N1, N2, N3 (the latter two with extreme values), and N7.
- Overdispersion: stations N4, N5, and N6. It is difficult to assess the trends due to overdispersion; perhaps the data could fit a quadratic or even a cubic curve.
- Trend reversal: evidently this is not certain, but quite possible, at N8, N9, C1, C2, and C3.



Fig. 1 GWBs located in Catalonia and sampling sites currently used to monitor chemical status

3.1 Methods Assayed for Individual Monitoring Points

For each assayed method outlined below, we describe how it was performed (using package(s), function(s), or our own scripts in R), and we highlight the main results obtained in two categories: *goodness of fit* and *trend estimation*.

- 1. LR, using the *lm* function. Goodness of fit: Pearson's correlation coefficient (*r*), R^2 , and *p*-value. Trend estimation: $\hat{\beta}_1$ (Eq. 1) and *p*-value for $\hat{\beta}_1$.
- 2. RLR, with the *rlm* function (MASS package, [35]). Setup: Huber-type function with parameter k = 1.345 (default value), $\hat{\sigma} =$ MAD. Goodness of fit: R^2 . Trend estimation: $\hat{\beta}_1$ (Eq. 3) and *p*-value for $\hat{\beta}_1$.
- 3. MK test and TS estimator (MK&TS), with the MK function (Kendall package, [118]) and *mblm* function (package mblm, [119]). Goodness of fit: *tau b* correlation coefficient and *p*-value. Trend estimation: TS estimator (Eq. 10).
- 4. RoCoCo and TS estimator (RCC&TS), using the RoCoCo package [78] to calculate the RoCoCo. Setup: $R_T(t_i, t_j) = 1$ if $t_j > t_i$ (zero otherwise), $R_X(x_i, x_j) = \max\{0, \min((x_j x_i)/r)\}$, respectively named classical strict ordering and truncated linear scoring, and $\overline{T}(x, y) = \min(x, y)$. Goodness of



Fig. 2 Scatterplots of pollutant concentrations (nitrates and chlorides) from 1996 to 2013 for the selected monitoring points, showing the LR fit (*dotted line*) and TS fit (*solid line*)

fit: robust gamma correlation coefficient and p-value. Trend estimation: TS estimator (Eq. 10).

5. MK modified test for autocorrelated data and TS estimator (MKM&TS). We programmed our own code for the calculus of the modified variance estimate,

vâr*(*S*); lag-1 autocorrelation, $\hat{\rho}_1 = r_1^+$; and *p*-values. If serial data had missing values, we proposed the following heuristic correction to the estimation of lag-1 autocorrelation (Eqs. 13 and 14):

$$r_1^+ = \frac{(n+g)}{n}r_1 + \frac{1}{n}, \ \operatorname{var}_0(r_1^+) = \left(\frac{n+g}{n}\right)^2 \frac{(n-2)^2}{n^2(n-1)}$$

Goodness of fit: *tau b* correlation coefficient and *p*-value. Trend estimation: TS estimator (Eq. 10).

- 6. TFPW before applying the MK test and TS estimator (TFPW + MK&TS). We programmed our own code in order to perform the TFPW, as described in Sect. 2.1.3. A threshold value of $\alpha = 0.2$ was used to test the significance of the TS estimator and lag-1 autocorrelation. Goodness of fit: *tau b* correlation coefficient and *p*-value. Trend estimation: TS estimator (Eq. 10).
- TFPW before applying RoCoCo and TS estimator (TFPW + RCC&TS). This method combines TFPW with method 4. Goodness of fit: robust gamma correlation coefficient and *p*-value. Trend estimation: TS estimator (Eq. 10).
- Two-section LR (2SLR). Breakpoints detected with the *piecewise* function (SiZer package, [120]). Significance test for the difference of slopes: Davies test [121], applied with the *davies.test* function (segmented package, [122]). Goodness of fit: none. Trend estimation: β₁ and β₁ + β₂ (Eq. 5) and *p*-value for β₂ (Davies test).
- 9. QR, using the *lm* function. Goodness of fit: R^2 and *p*-value. Trend estimation: $\hat{\beta}_1$ and $\hat{\beta}_2$ (Eq. 2) and *p*-value for $\hat{\beta}_2$.

3.2 Methods Assayed for Overall GWB Trend Assessment

(1) S-mean method, described in Sect. 3.2: Nevertheless, missing values and ties are not considered in Douglas et al. [60]; thus, we propose a modified variance estimation of the statistic \overline{S}_m . The estimation of $var(S) = \sigma^2$ could be approximated by $\hat{\sigma}^2 \approx m\hat{\sigma}_{\overline{s}}^2$, where:

$$\hat{\sigma}_{\overline{S}}^{2} = \frac{1}{m^{2}} \left[\sum_{k=1}^{m} \operatorname{var}(S_{k}) \right]$$
(18)

Therefore:

$$\operatorname{var}(\overline{S}_m) = \hat{\sigma}_{\overline{S}}^2 [1 + (m-1)\overline{\rho}_{xx}]$$
(19)

(2) *Permutational* approach for testing overall GWB *trend assessment* (PTA): based on the procedure described in Burn and Hag Elnur [61], we propose a

modified method that (a) is a permutation test, so it gives a significance assessment (in terms of p-value), and (b) evaluates not only significant overall trends but upward and downward trends in a separate manner. The algorithm can be implemented in the following way:

- 1. For a given GWB dataset, perform trend test for every station. Given a significance level α , collect and count separately the number of significant upward and downward trends.
- 2. Randomly select a year from the entire period of time for which data are available (assuming a yearly sampling period). Repeat this random selection without replacement for the required number of years. The new dataset is in fact a permutation of years, without altering any data from individual monitoring points.
- 3. Perform the test for every station (significance level α) and determine the number of stations with significant upward and downward trends.
- 4. Repeat steps 2-3 k times (k = 9,999 permutations in our study). Sort the values of upward and downward significant trends separately, to obtain the empirical distributions of the number of stations with significant trends (upward and downward). Combine these with the actual values for the GWB obtained in step 1.
- 5. Finally, calculate the two percentiles, P_{exp} , of the actual values obtained in step 1, so complementary values $p = 1 P_{exp}$ (one for upward trends and the other for downward trends) perform like *p*-values.

Any of the methods summarized in Sect. 3.1 for individual monitoring points could have been applied, but for the purpose of comparing with *S*-mean, we performed the MK test.

4 **Results and Discussion**

4.1 Individual Monitoring Points

First of all, we briefly discuss the issue of autocorrelation. At nine of the twelve stations, significant positive autocorrelation was detected (Table 1). Of these nine stations, in five cases, we previously detrended (due to a significant TS slope). Therefore, because positive autocorrelation increases the likelihood of a false positive in the trend assessment, it seems absolutely essential to use a method that takes into account the autocorrelation (i.e., MKM) or to perform TFPW.

However, further analysis revealed serious flaws. Is there real autocorrelation of the data, or is it a spurious detection due to erroneous detrending? As you may recall, after linear detrending to data, if it is not appropriate (i.e., the data reflect a nonlinear trend), the transformed data will show a trend that will affect the estimate of autocorrelation. We cannot be sure exactly what happened (we are referring here to the overestimation of the autocorrelation in our case study), but it is clear that at

				Lag-1 autoco	rrelation
Groundwater body	Station code	Station label	Detrending	$\hat{ ho}_1$	p-value
GWB48	25248-0005	N1	YES	-0.2644	0.2200
GWB21	43074-0058	N2	NO	-0.0382	0.8805
GWB10	08129-0011	N3	YES	0.3677	0.1154
GWB21	43140-0078	N4	YES	0.5348	0.0220
GWB49	25152-0006	N5	YES	0.5707	0.0247
GWB49	25217-0009	N6	YES	0.3191	0.1719
GWB25	43161-0159	N7	YES	0.6785	0.0097
GWB21	43020-0056	N8	YES	0.2858	0.2211
GWB33	17085-0012	N9	NO	0.7203	0.0106
GWB39	08301-0035	C1	NO	0.4850	0.0378
GWB49	25242-0008	C2	NO	0.4337	0.1187
GWB23	08231-0025	C3	NO	0.7896	0.0010

Table 1 Lag-1 autocorrelation (estimate and *p*-value) and detrending applied (yes or no) according to TS confidence interval for all individual monitoring points (stations)

Labels N and C indicate nitrate and chloride pollutants, respectively



various stations with significant autocorrelation, the original trend seems not to be linear, so that the detrending will not have been effective (misrepresenting the data). The nonlinear tendency is quite evident, for example, in the case of N4, N7, C1, C2, and C3. Let us look in more detail at the case of N4: the original nonlinear trend (maybe a quadratic or cubic trend) means that the detrending actually increased the linear trend (Fig. 3), so that the two methods with TFPW detect a more significant trend than the respective non-TFPW methods.

Next, we discuss the results of the nine methods in the same order as that in which they appear in Table 2 and that they were described in Sect. 3.

LR is a good method when the data fit a linear trend reasonably well (Fig. 2). However, there are several pitfalls associated with it when treating groundwater data. It can be greatly affected by extreme values; for example, consider station N3 (Fig. 4): LR fails to detect an upward trend due to the inclusion of two extreme values in the time series which increase the residual values substantially. Also, the method has difficulties in cases of overdispersion (N5, N6) or a poorly defined nonlinear trend (N4). Obviously, it is not useful in cases with a trend reversal: it was

Table 2 Goo MKM&TS, R	dness of fit, trend estimatio CC&TS, TFPW + MK&TS,	n, and trend asse TFPW+RCC&T	ssment (upward S, 2SLR, and C	1 ↑, no trend – 2R) for the stat	 →, downward ↓) usi ions selected 	ng the methods a	ssayed (LR, RI	R, MK&TS,
		Goodness of fit			Trend estimation			Assessment
Station	Method	r	$\sqrt{R^2}$	<i>p</i> -value	Estimates of parar	neters	<i>p</i> -value	$(\uparrow \leftarrow \downarrow)$
N1	LR	-0.6189	0.6189	0.0062	-2.035		0.0062	
	RLR	I	0.7043	I	-2.334		0.0035	
	MK&TS	-0.4641	1	0.0080	-2.136		I	
	RCC&TS	-0.4691	1	0.0049	-2.136		I	
	2SLR	1	1	1	2.753	40.457	0.0373	↓ 2012 ↑
	QR	1	0.6570	0.0145	-4.701	0.157	0.2755	LR
N2	LR	-0.2311	0.2311	0.3891	-1.428		0.3891	↑
	RLR	1	0.3425	1	-0.315		0.7386	 ↑
	MK&TS	0.0418	1	0.8569	0.146		I	 ↑
	RCC&TS	0.0448	1	0.8185	0.146		I	 ↑
	2SLR	1	1	1	-3.079	2.277	0.8809	LR
	QR	1	0.2529	0.6508	-3.690	0.136	0.7084	LR
N3	LR	0.4089	0.4089	0.1031	5.142		0.1031	 ↑
	RLR	1	0.5321	1	3.109		0.0492	←
	MK&TS	0.3235	1	0.0765	2.876		I	←
	RCC&TS	0.3252	1	0.0766	2.876		I	←
	MKM&TS	0.3235	1	0.2158	2.876		I	Ŷ
	TFPW+MK&TS	0.2833	1	0.1373	3.298		I	 ↑
	TFPW+RCC&TS	0.2867	1	0.1343	3.298		I	↑
	2SLR	1	1	1	-8.150	7.085	0.9447	LR
	QR	1	0.4104	0.2749	6.731	-0.092	0.8880	LR

48

N4	LR	-0.4080	0.4080	0.1040	-1.785		0.1040	 ↑
	RLR	I	0.4081	1	-1.785		0.1040	↑
	MK&TS	-0.3382	1	0.0638	-2.030		I	
	RCC&TS	-0.3502	I	0.0573	-2.030		I	
	MKM&TS	-0.3382	1	0.2837	-2.030		1	 ↑
	TFPW+MK&TS	-0.4500	1	0.0170	-2.363		1	
	TFPW + RCC&TS	-0.4432	1	0.0167	-2.363		1	
	2SLR	1	1	1	-4.225	8.369	0.1030	LR
	QR	I	0.5221	0.1078	-6.794	0.304	0.1750	LR
N5	LR	0.3722	0.3722	0.1557	3.541		0.1557	 ↑
	RLR	1	0.4394	I	3.774		0.1651	 ↑
	MK&TS	0.3500	1	0.0649	4.089		1	←
	RCC&TS	0.3590	1	0.0586	4.089		1	←
	MKM&TS	0.3500	1	0.3033	4.089		1	 ↑
	TFPW + MK&TS	0.2190	1	0.2763	2.581		1	 ↑
	TFPW + RCC&TS	0.2093	1	0.2856	2.581		1	 ↑
	2SLR	1	1	I	6.951	-69.301	0.1093	LR
	QR	I	0.4240	0.2758	10.668	-0.411	0.4330	LR
N6	LR	-0.3600	0.3600	0.1571	-3.307		0.1571	↑
	RLR		0.3600	I	-3.307		0.1571	↑
	MK&TS	-0.2794	I	0.1275	-4.398		I	↑
	RCC&TS	-0.2882	I	0.1207	-4.398		I	↑
	MKM&TS	-0.2794	I	0.2626	-4.398		I	↑
	TFPW + MK&TS	-0.3167	1	0.0957	-4.7725		1	
	TFPW + RCC&TS	-0.3382	I	0.0764	-4.772		I	
	2SLR	I	I	I	19.779	-10.186	0.0498	$\uparrow 2001 \downarrow$
	QR		0.6000	0.0452	13.059	-0.969	0.0424	$\uparrow 2003 \downarrow$
								(continued)

Trend Assessment for Groundwater Pollutants: A Brief Review and Some Remarks

		Goodness of fit			Trend estimation			Assessment
Station	Method	r	$\sqrt{R^2}$	<i>p</i> -value	Estimates of para	neters	<i>p</i> -value	$(\uparrow \leftarrow \downarrow)$
N7	LR	-0.9041		0.0000	-9.738		0.0000	
	RLR	1	0.9120		-9.703		0.0000	
	MK&TS	-0.7524	I	0.0001	-9.650		1	
	RCC&TS	-0.7900	I	0.0000	-9.650		1	
	MKM&TS	-0.7524	I	0.0602	-9.650		1	
	TFPW + MK&TS	-0,7582	I	0.0002	-8.483		1	
	TFPW + RCC&TS	-0.8408	1	0.0000	-8.483		1	
	2SLR	1	I	I	-20.198	-3.678	0.0010	↓ 2002 ↓
	QR	I	0.9758	0.0000	-23.944	0.954	0.001	$\downarrow 2009 \uparrow$
N8	LR	0.6271	0.6271	0.0071	2.697		0.0071	 ←
	RLR	1	0.7411	1	3.065		0.008	 ←
	MK&TS	0.5147	I	0.0045	3.248		1	 ←
	RCC&TS	0.5282	1	0.0022	3.248		1	 ←
	2SLR	1	I	I	6.120	-5.134	0.0042	↑ 2007 ↓
	QR	I	0.8125	0.0005	10.512	-0.475	0.0051	↑ 2007 ↓
N9	LR	-0.3733	0.3733	0.2089	-4.536		0.2089	↑
	RLR	I	0.4543	I	-4.488		0.2441	¢
	MK&TS	-0.2527	I	0.2284	-4.037		1	 ↑
	RCC&TS	-0.2599	I	0.2233	-4.037		Ι	Î
	MKM&TS	-0.2527	I	0.5655	-4.037		Ι	↑
	TFPW+MK&TS	-0.0769	I	0.7603	-2.831		Ι	¢
	TFPW+RCC&TS	-0.1010	I	0.6543	-2.831		1	 ↑
	2SLR	I	Ι	Ι	28.337	-17.15	0.0024	$\uparrow 2004 \downarrow$
	QR	1	0.7886	0.0077	46.354	-2.544	0.0051	↑ 2005 ↓

Table 2 (continued)

50

CI	LR	0.0850	0.0850	0.7462	0.381		0.7462	 ↑
	RLR	I	0.2547		0.999		0.3835	Ť
	MK&TS	0.2500	I	0.1740	2.087		I	 ↑
	RCC&TS	0.2501	I	0.1752	2.087		I	 ↑
	MKM&TS	0.2500	1	0.4042	2.087		I	 ↑
	TFPW+MK&TS	-0.0500	1	0.8219	-0.131		I	 ↑
	TFPW+RCC&TS	-0.0348	1	0.8622	-0.131		I	 ↑
	2SLR	1	1		4.3420	-16.363	0.0000	↑ 2008 ↓
	QR	I	0.7718	0.0018	12.514	-0.737	0.0005	↑ 2004 ↓
C2	LR	-0.3530	0.3530	0.1974	-3.057		0.1974	 ↑
	RLR	I	0.3500	1	-3.014		0.2321	 ↑
	MK&TS	-0.1429	I	0.4884	-3.156		I	 ↑
	RCC&TS	-0.1777	I	0.3657	-3.156		I	 ↑
	MKM&TS	-0.1429	1	0.6482	-3.156		1	 ↑
	TFPW+MK&TS	-0.2967	I	0.1546	-3.037		I	 ↑
	TFPW+RCC&TS	-0.3032	I	0.1579	-3.037		I	 ↑
	2SLR	I	1	1	30.090	-9.011	0.0205	↑ 2000 ↓
	QR	I	0.6339	0.0458	13.517	-1.006	0.0361	↑ 2003 ↓
C3	LR	-0.0152	0.0152	0.9553	-0.243		0.9553	↑
	RLR	I	0.0328		0.044		0.9918	 ↑
	MK&TS	-0.1333	I	0.4995	-5.675		I	 ↑
	RCC&TS	-0.1584	1	0.4306	-5.675		I	↑
	MKM&TS	-0.1333	I	0.7862	-5.675		I	 ↑
	TFPW+MK&TS	-0.1810	1	0.3731	-1.497		I	↑
	TFPW+RCC&TS	-0.1891	I	0.3400	-1.497		I	Ŷ
	2SLR	Ι	I		45.157	-20.88	0.0000	↑ 2002 ↓
	QR	I	0.8494	0.0002	47.842	-2.863	0.0001	↑ 2004 ↓
If a headence	t /OCI D) on an inflastion and	nt (OD) is defeat		the act				


not able to detect any trend (N9, C1, C2, C3), or it only detected one trend (an upward trend for station N8). In the case of N7, LR detects the downward trend perfectly, but we cannot identify the slope change. Finally, LR does not take autocorrelation into account, and as previously explained, this fact can affect the significance of the model. In this scenario, we could have applied TFPW to the data; but as we mention earlier and we will return to later, TFPW is a risky method. Another approach would be to apply any of the methodologies that have been published and implemented in a lot of software for the treatment of time series. In short, LR is highly sensitive to outliers and overdispersion; it only detects one linear trend (and therefore it cannot detect a trend reversal) and does not take autocorrelation into account. In general, we advise against the use of LR for trend detection.

RLR has proved to be resistant to extreme values. For the example station N3 (Fig. 4), LR failed to detect an upward trend due to the inclusion of two extreme values; however, RLR found the increasing trend. We suggest it as an alternative to LR, and we are a bit surprised that it has not been more widely recommended in the area of groundwater monitoring. It does still have limitations though: (1) it only works well for a linear trend; (2) it cannot detect trend reversal; and (3) it does not take autocorrelation into account.

MK test and RoCoCo (with TS estimator of the slope): as evident from Table 2, these two methods usually give almost the same final results. RoCoCo, based on fuzzy scorings and more complex than Kendall's tau b, does not improve trend detection. More theoretical and simulation studies are necessary to determine in what situations RoCoCo may become a better method to detect a trend. In particular, perhaps another choice of the fuzzy scoring function could achieve better results. Compared to RLR, the only difference is that MK test and RoCoCo detected a downward trend in N4 and an upward trend in N5. An important point to remember is that MK test and RoCoCo detect monotonic trends but are not helpful in detecting trend reversals, as we can see from the results for stations N9, C1, C2, and C3. Finally, we would like to highlight again that trend estimation with TS estimator, despite being robust, is just linear (Fig. 2).

MKM test for autocorrelated data: as we state above, this has the advantage of not manipulating the original data, but simply changing the variance of the MK S statistic. In our case study, all nine autocorrelations detected were positive, so var*(S) > var(S), and the MKM test offers greater p-values than MK test. As we can see, MKM test becomes a much more conservative test than MK test and only detects a significant trend in station N7. It is difficult to quantify the effect, but it is evident that the incorrect estimate (even spurious) of autocorrelation makes MKM test very conservative. Although we cannot draw definitive conclusions from just a few examples of stations, we are afraid that the MKM test is exceedingly conservative for trend detection.

TFPW with MK test or RoCoCo: as we have discussed previously, it is not clear whether TFPW is a successful technique or leads to involuntary contamination of the original data. It is certainly the latter case when the data present a nonlinear trend. If we examine stations N4 and N6 carefully, we notice a peculiar feature. In both cases, TFPW clearly increases trend detection (in N6, this represents a shift from nonsignificance to significance). The risk due to both the data detrending and the estimate of the autocorrelation can be serious, and TFPW could produce misleading results; therefore, we advise against the blind application of TFPW. In any case, we recommend applying the test without TFPW first. If the hypothesis of no trend is accepted, then do not apply TFPW to the data. If a significant trend is detected, then apply TFPW and redo the test and finally choose the larger *p*-value (this conservative option is suitable if we accept that there is a null or a positive autocorrelation).

2SLR displays a surprisingly high (maybe too high in some cases) capacity to detect significant breakpoints (stations N1, N6, N7, N8, N9, C1, C2, and C3), sometimes even at the end of the time series (Fig. 5). We do not know the reliability of the Davies test (used to test for different slopes and so the significance of the breakpoint) in the case of small data series and autocorrelation. However, a point of change does not necessarily indicate trend reversal: it could simply be a change in the slope, as at station N7. Finally, detecting two significantly different slopes and with different signs does not necessarily imply trend reversal: one of the two sections could represent no trend. There are several R packages that estimate breakpoints (such as SiZer and segmented), and they also calculate the bootstrap confidence intervals of the slopes, but such intervals are completely meaningless for short time series, due to their considerable length. In summary, 2SLR seems to be a versatile method that is suitable for detecting trend (which implies abandoning linear or monotonic methods), but it must be studied more carefully. On the one hand, the Davies test seems to be a bit risky (a tendency toward false positives). On the other, if a breakpoint is detected, we need a good strategy for making a decision regarding the trend: a monotonic trend (slope change detected, but no trend change), no current trend, or a trend reversal. Finally, 2SLR does not take autocorrelation into account.

QR detects non-monotonic trends in the same stations as 2SLR does (Fig. 5), although in some cases the two differ in their estimates of the breakpoint (inflection point in the case of QR). Due to the concavity or convexity of a quadratic function, it sometimes seems to detect the breakpoint too earlier or too late. It does not allow



Fig. 5 Plots showing 2SLR (solid line) and QR (*dot line*) fitted models, for stations N7, N8, N9, C1, C2, and C3

for assessing the trend before and after the inflection point in an easy and automatic manner: how do we assess whether the trend is actually no trend? Finally, it does not take into account autocorrelation. Despite QR exhibiting interesting and valuable behavior, we recommend applying 2SLR to detect breakpoints.

In summary, we regard it absolutely necessary to incorporate methods such as 2SLR in order to detect trend reversal. We believe excessive emphasis has been placed on the detection of monotonic trends, and the broad recommendation of the MK test is not justified. We also consider the application of a 3SLR method (three-section LR) for longtime series (at least 20 years). The question is how to decide whether one or two trend reversals are present; so we have to compare several linear models using the framework of GLM (general linear models) or other criteria such as AIC [43, 44]. In the scenario of a monotonic trend, once we have abandoned the multi-section model and trend reversal, we agree that the MK test and TS slope should be recommended. As an alternative, we suggest robust linear models, which could be a very useful alternative as they can tolerate a relatively large proportion of extreme values and overdispersion.

Autocorrelation is a sensitive and controversial issue. We consider it unresolved, since MKM test seems overly conservative and TFPW is risky. As we have seen, TFPW can lead to incorrect data correction (instead of PW, we may be inducing a spurious trend due to incorrect detrending). We recommend a priori decision criteria for the expert: if it is known that annual data autocorrelation is low, it is better not to consider its existence. If medium or high autocorrelation is possible, we need to use methods that are capable of adequate detrending or a simultaneous estimation of the trend and the autocorrelation. This is not an easy matter, and we also question the reliability (efficiency and robustness) of the estimates in both detrending and the calculation of autocorrelation when time series only contain a few data points.

4.2 Overall GWB Trend Assessment

The two methods assayed produce very different results (Table 3). The method based on the *S*-mean statistic (mean of the *S* statistics from all the stations sampled from a GWB) was able to detect three significant global increasing trends (GWB21, GWB25, and GWB32), but no trend in the other three GWBs. However, the PTA method detected significant upward trends in four GWBs and two GWBs with significant upward and downward trends at the same time.

Obviously, the message sent to the management agents is quite different. See, for example, GWB48: the decision from the *S*-mean method is "no trend" (due to the conjunction of three stations showing upward trends and five showing downward trends), but the message from the PTA method is that we have both stations with significant upward trends and with significant downward trends. So we probably have two sections or areas in the GWB: one with an increasing trend and the other with a decreasing trend.

In our opinion, the S-mean method is only applicable if the overall GWB has the same trend; but evidently we do not know this fact a priori. So to summarize, we advise against using this approach to assess the overall GWB trend.

The PTA method appears to be a simple and effective method for global evaluation of a GWB that takes spatial correlation into account. It is necessary to consider ways to overcome the major weakness of PTA: it does not use the *p*-value of each station, that is to say, it only considers the number of stations with increasing and decreasing trends.

In short, we should abandon methods such as those that consider the mean values of all the stations. The S-mean takes into account spatial correlation, but it could offer a misleading assessment because an implicit assumption in this kind of technique is to consider GWB trends as homogeneous. We recommend an approach such as PTA to deal with overall GWB assessment.

					GWB overall t	rend assessment			
		Trend assessi	ment (# and %)		PTA (significa	nce)	S-mean		
GWB	Stations (#)	←	↑		<i>~</i>		\overline{S}_m	Z	d
GWB06	8	3	4	1	0.0079	0.3028	3.63	0.4513	0.6517
		37.5%	50.0%	12.5%					
GWB10	22	8	12	2	0.0011	0.2446	5.68	0.9178	0.3587
		36.4%	54.5%	9.1%					
GWB21	10	e R	6	1	0.0111	0.3481	17.80	2.7299	0.0063
		30.0%	60.0%	10.0%					
GWB25	25	5	16	4	0.0165	0.0456	10.00	1.7285	0.0839
		20.0%	64.0%	16.0%					
GWB32	13	4	8	1	0.0058	0.4256	14.69	2.0778	0.0377
		30.8%	61.5%	7.7%					
GWB48	15	e	7	5	0.0579	0.0043	-11.20	-1.451	0.1469
		20.0%	46.7%	33.3%					
Column 2 indice	ates the total numbe	r of stations with	thin the GWB. C	Columns 3-5 sho	w the number an	d percentage of	stations with upw	vard trends ↑, no tr	ends \rightarrow ,

Table 3 Overall GWB trend assessment

and downward trends \downarrow , respectively. Overall GWB trend assessment is shown in the second half of the table, for the PTA and S-mean methods assayed; in bold numbers, we highlight significance trends

5 Conclusions and Future Trends

Regarding individual monitoring points, inflection points have to be identified in a proper and efficient manner. In our opinion, this is a key step in assessing ground-water trends. On the one hand, the detection of a breakpoint is necessary to demonstrate trend reversal; on the other, techniques that detect linear or monotonic trends could be considerably affected by trend reversal. It is not true that short data series solve the problem: a breakpoint in the middle of the series could affect the performance of linear or monotonic trend techniques, and it could produce misleading results. In addition, short series imply low test power. In short, we strongly advise applying methods with the capacity to identify breakpoints (such as piecewise LR).

Researchers also need to carefully consider the techniques for dealing with outliers or extreme values. In this concern, the MK test is a good method (if no breakpoint is present); but we think much more work needs to be done in exploring robust models, such as robust regression.

Another issue for future research is autocorrelation. Though much work has dealt with this matter, we consider that it is far from resolved. PW is a risky method and can even distort the data, so we recommend that the approach only be used with great care.

In relation to overall GWB trend assessment, a data aggregation method is needed. We want to emphasize the risks of methods that consider the trend as homogeneous within the GWB, because they could hide the behavior of sets of stations with opposed trends. Instead, we recommend approaches such as PTA.

Groundwater trend assessment is certainly an exciting area of research. To date, much knowledge has been gained regarding the performance of different methods, but not enough to conclude which approach is best in daily practice without analyzing every data time series individually. Nevertheless we must remember that due to the number of GWBs, stations, and pollutants, visual inspection and decisions for each data series are unrealistic. Therefore, an expert agent (software) to make decisions and apply the proper techniques in an automatic manner is absolutely essential. We are currently working on this issue.

References

- EC (2008) European Commission Groundwater Protection in Europe. The new groundwater directive-consolidating the EU regulatory framework, vol 35. doi: 10.2779/84304
- Grath J, Ward R, Scheidleder A, Quevauviller P (2009) General introduction: objectives of groundwater assessment and monitoring. In: Quevauviller P, Fouillac A, Gralh J, Ward R (eds) Groundwater monitoring. Wiley, Chichester, pp 3–22
- EU (2000) European Parliament and Council Directive 2000/60/EC of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy (OJ L 327, 22/12/ 2000, p. 1) as amended by European Parliament and Council Decision 2455/2001/EC (OJ L 331, 15/12/2001, p. 1), European Commission, Brussels

- 4. EU (2006) European Parliament and Council of the European Union European Parliament and Council Directive of 12 December 2006 on the protection of groundwater against pollution and deterioration (2006/118/EC). Offi J Eur Commun L372/19
- Hirsch RM, Slack JR, Smith RA (1982) Techniques of trend analysis for monthly water quality data. Water Resour Res 18:107. doi:10.1029/WR018i001p00107
- 6. Hirsch RM, Slack JR (1984) A nonparametric trend test for seasonal data with serial dependence. Water Resour Res 20:727
- Broers HP, Visser A, Chilton JP, Stuart ME (2009) Assessing and aggregating trends in groundwater quality. In: Quevauviller P, Fouillac A, Gralh J, Ward R (eds) Groundwater monitoring. Wiley, Chichester, pp 189–206
- 8. Grath J, Scheidleder A, Uhlig S et al (2001) The EU water framework directive: statistical aspects of the identification of groundwater pollution trends, and aggregation of monitoring results. Final Report. 63
- 9. EC (2009) European Commission Environment Common implementation strategy guidance for the water framework strategy (2000/60/2006). Guidance Document No 18. Guidance on groundwater status and trend assessment, vol 82
- 10. R Core Team (2014) R: a language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. http://www.r-project.org/
- Lettenmaier DP, Conquest LL, Hughes JP (1982) Routine streams and rivers water quality trend monitoring review. Charles W. Harris Hydraulics Laboratory, Technical Report No. 75. University of Washington
- 12. Van Belle G, Hughes JP (1984) Nonparametric tests for trend in water quality. Water Resour Res 20:127–136
- Helsel DR (1987) Advantages of nonparametric procedures for analysis of water quality data. Hydrol Sci J 32:179–190. doi:10.1080/02626668709491176
- 14. Lettenmaier DP (1988) Multivariate nonparametric tests for trend in water quality. Water Resour Bull 24:505–512. doi:10.1111/j.1752-1688.1988.tb00900.x
- 15. Hirsch RM, Alexander RB, Smith RA (1991) Selection of methods for the detection and estimation of trends in water quality. Water Resour Res 27:803–813
- McLeod AI, Hipel KW, Bodo BA (1991) Trend analysis methodology for water quality time series. Environmetrics 2:169–200. doi:10.1002/env.3770020205
- 17. Esterby SR (1993) Trend analysis methods for environmental data. Environmetrics 4:459-481
- Esterby S (1996) Review of methods for the detection and estimation of trends with emphasis on water quality applications. Hydrol Process 10:127–149
- Reckhow KH, Kepford K, Hicks WW (1993) Statistical methods for the analysis of lake water quality trends. Report 841-R-93-003
- 20. Loftis J (1996) Trends in groundwater quality. Hydrol Process 10:335-355
- Hess A, Iyer H, Malm W (2001) Linear trend analysis: a comparison of methods. Atmos Environ 35:5211–5222. doi:10.1016/S1352-2310(01)00342-9
- 22. Helsel DR, Hirsch RM (2002) Trend analysis. In: Statistical methods in water resources. Techniques of Water Resources Investigations, Book 4, chapter A3. U.S. Geological Survey, pp 323–355
- Kundzewicz ZW, Robson AJ (2004) Change detection in hydrological records—a review of the methodology / Revue méthodologique de la détection de changementsdans les chroniqueshydrologiques. Hydrol Sci J 49:7–19. doi:10.1623/hysj.49.1.7.53993
- Helsel DR, Frans LM (2006) Regional Kendal test for trend. Environ Sci Technol 40(13): 4066–4073
- 25. Chang H (2008) Spatial analysis of water quality trends in the Han River basin, South Korea. Water Res 42:3285–3304. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2008.04.006
- 26. Visser A, Dubus I, Broers HP et al (2009) Comparison of methods for the detection and extrapolation of trends in groundwater quality. J Environ Monit 11:2030–2043. doi:10.1039/ b905926a

- 27. NNPSMP (2011) Statistical analysis for monotonic trends, Tech Notes 6. Office of Water US Environmental Protection Agency
- Machiwal D, Jha MK (2012) Trend and homogeneity in subsurface hydrologic variables: case study in a hard-rock aquifer of western India. In: Machiwal D, Jha MK (eds) Hydrologic time series analysis: theory and practice. Springer, Netherlands, pp 165–180. doi:10.1007/978-94-007-1861-6_8
- 29. Wahlin K, Grimvall A (2010) Roadmap for assessing regional trends in groundwater quality. Environ Monit Assess 165:217–231. doi:10.1007/s10661-009-0940-7
- 30. Devreker D, Lefebvre A (2014) TTAinterfaceTrendAnalysis: an R GUI for routine temporal trend analysis and diagnostics. J Oceanogr Res Data 7:1
- 31. Huber PJ (1981) Robust statistics. Wiley, New York. doi:10.1002/0470010940
- 32. Hampel FR, Rousseuw PJ, Ronchetti E, Stahel W (1986) Robust statistic: the approach based on influence functions. Wiley, New York
- 33. Rousseeuw PJ, Leroy AM (1987) Robust regression and outlier detection. Wiley, New York
- 34. Marazzi A (1993) Algorithms, routines, and S functions for robust statistics. CRC, New York
- Venables WN, Ripley BD (2002) Modern applied statistics with S, 4th edn. Springer, New York. doi:10.2307/2685660
- Bellio R, Ventura L (2005) An introduction to robust estimation with R functions. Proceedings of 1st International Work, pp 1–57
- 37. Huber PJ (1973) Robust regression: asymptotics, conjectures and Monte Carlo. Ann Stat 1: 799–821
- Cleveland WS (1979) Robust locally weighted regression and smoothing scatterplots. J Am Stat Assoc 74:829–836
- 39. Cleveland WS, Devlin SJ, Grosse E (1988) Regression by local fitting. J Econ 37:87-114
- 40. Cleveland WS, Grosse E (1991) Computational methods for local regression. Stat Comput 1:47–62
- Cleveland WS, Devlin SJ (1988) Locally weighted regression: an approach to regression analysis by local fitting. J Am Stat Assoc 83:596–610. doi:10.2307/2289282
- Hurvich CM, Simonoff JS, Tsai CL (1998) Smoothing parameter selection in nonparametric regression using an improved Akaike Information Criterion. J R Stat Soc Ser B 60:271–293
- 43. Akaike H (1973) Information theory and an extension of the maximum likelihood principle. In: Petrov BN, Csáki F (eds) Second international symposium on information theory, Tsahkadsor, Armenia, USSR, September 2–8, 1971, AkadémiaiKiadó, Budapest, pp 267–281
- 44. Akaike H (1974) A new look at the statistical model identification. Autom Contr IEEE Trans 19:716–723. doi:10.1109/TAC.1974.1100705
- Wen F, Chen X (2006) Evaluation of the impact of groundwater irrigation on streamflow in Nebraska. J Hydrol 327:603–617. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2005.12.016
- 46. Hirsch RM (1988) Statistical methods and sampling design for estimating step trends in surface water quality. Water Resour Bull 24:493–503. doi:10.1111/j.1752-1688.1988. tb00899.x
- Hirsch RM, Gilroy EJ (1985) Detectability of step trends in the rate of atmospheric deposition of sulfate. Water Resour Bull 21:773–784. doi:10.1111/j.1752-1688.1985.tb00171.x
- Kundzewicz ZW, Robson AJ (eds) (2000) Detecting trend and other changes in hydrological data. World Climate Programme—Water, World Climate Programme Data and Monitoring, WCDMP-45, WMO/TD no. 1013. World Meteorological Organization, Geneva, Switzerland
- 49. Seber GAF, Wild CJ (1989) Nonlinear regression. Wiley, New York. doi:10.1002/ 0471725315
- Toms JD, Lesperance ML (2003) Piecewise regression: a tool for identifying ecological thresholds. Ecology 84:2034–2041
- Steele TD, Gilroy EJ, Hawkinson RO (1974) Techniques for the assessment of areal and temporal variations in streamflow quality. Open File Report, U.S. Geol. Surv., Washington, D.C.

- 52. Cailas MD, Cavadias G, Gehr R (1986) Application of a nonparametric approach for monitoring and detecting trends in water quality data of the St. Lawrence River. Water Pollut Res J Can 21(2):153–167
- Berryman D, Bobée B, Haemmerli J (1988) Nonparametric tests for trend detection in water quality time series. J Am Water Resour Assoc 24:545–556
- 54. Taylor CH, Loftis JC (1989) Testing for trend in lake and groundwater quality time series. J Am Water Resour Assoc 25:715–726. doi:10.1111/j.1752-1688.1989.tb05385.x
- 55. Zetterqvist L (1991) Statistical estimation and interpretation of trends in water quality time series. Water Resour Res 27(7):1944–7973. doi:10.1029/91WR00478
- Yu Y, Zou S, Whittemore D (1993) Non-parametric trend analysis of water quality data of rivers in Kansas. J Hydrol 150:61–80
- 57. Lettenmaier DP, Wood EF, Wallis JR (1994) Hydro-climatological trends in the continental United States, 1948–88. J Clim 7:586–607. doi:10.1175/1520-0442(1994)007<0586: HCTITC>2.0.CO;2
- Gan TY (1998) Hydroclimatic trends and possible climatic warming in the Canadian Prairies. Water Resour Res 34:3009–3015
- 59. Cun C, Vilagines R (1997) Time series analysis on chlorides, nitrates, ammonium and dissolved oxygen concentrations in the Seine river near Paris. Sci Total Environ 208:59–69
- 60. Douglas E, Vogel R, Kroll C (2000) Trends in floods and low flows in the United States: impact of spatial correlation. J Hydrol 240:90–105
- 61. Burn DH, Hag Elnur MA (2002) Detection of hydrologic trends and variability. J Hydrol 255:107–122. doi:10.1016/S0022-1694(01)00514-5
- Broers HP, van der Grift B (2004) Regional monitoring of temporal changes in groundwater quality. J Hydrol 296:192–220. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2004.03.022
- 63. Mann HB (1945) Non-parametric test against trend. Econometrica 13:245-259
- 64. Kendall MG (1938) A new measure of rank correlation. Biometrika 30:81–93. doi:10.2307/ 2332226
- 65. Kendall MG (1962) Rank correlation methods, 3rd edn. Hafner, New York
- 66. Kendall M (1975) Multivariate methods. Charles Griffin, London
- Hamed KH (2008) Trend detection in hydrologic data: the Mann–Kendall trend test under the scaling hypothesis. J Hydrol 349:350–363. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2007.11.009
- 68. Gan TY (1992) Finding trends in air temperature and precipitation for Canada and Northeastern United States. In: Kite GW, Harvey KD (eds) Using hydrometric data to detect and monitor climatic change. Proceedings of NHRI Workshop No. 8, National Hydrology Research Institute, Saskatoon, SK, pp 57–78
- 69. Kahya E, Kalaycı S (2004) Trend analysis of streamflow in Turkey. J Hydrol 289:128–144. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2003.11.006
- 70. Sneyers R (1990) On the statistical analysis of series of observations. World Meteorological Organization, Technical Note 143, Geneva, Switzerland
- Partal T, Kahya E (2006) Trend analysis in Turkish precipitation data. Hydrol Process 20: 2011–2026. doi:10.1002/hyp.5993
- Shifteh Some'e B, Ezani A, Tabari H (2012) Spatiotemporal trends and change point of precipitation in Iran. Atmos Res 113:1–12. doi:10.1016/j.atmosres.2012.04.016
- Theil H (1950) A rank-invariant method of linear and polynomial regression analysis. NederlAkadWetensch Proc 53:386–392 (Part I), 521–525 (Part II), 1397–1412 (Part III)
- 74. Sen PK (1968) Estimates of the regression coefficient based on Kendall's Tau. J Am Stat Assoc 63:1379–1389
- 75. Hamed KH (2014) The distribution of Spearman's rho trend statistic for persistent hydrologic data. Hydrol Sci J. doi:10.1080/02626667.2014.968573
- 76. Bodenhofer U, Klawonn F (2008) Robust rank correlation coefficients on the basis of fuzzy orderings: initial steps. An overview of rank correlation measures. Mathwa Soft Comput 15:5–20

- Bodenhofer U, Krone M, Klawonn F (2013) Testing noisy numerical data for monotonic association. Inf Sci 245:21–37. doi:10.1016/j.ins.2012.11.026
- 78. Bodenhofer U, Krone M (2013) RoCoCo an R package implementing a robust rank correlation coefficient and a corresponding test, software manual. Institute of Bioinformatics, Johannes Kepler University Linz
- Von Storch H (1995) Misuses of statistical analysis in climate research. In: von Storch H, Navarra A (eds) Analysis of climate variability SE-2. Springer, Berlin, pp 11–26
- Yue S, Pilon P, Phinney B, Cavadias G (2002) The influence of autocorrelation on the ability to detect trend in hydrological series. Hydrol Process 16:1807–1829. doi:10.1002/hyp.1095
- Yue S, Wang CY (2002) The influence of serial correlation on the Mann–Whitney test for detecting a shift in median. Adv Water Resour 25:325–333. doi:10.1016/S0309-1708(01) 00049-5
- Yue S, Pilon P (2004) A comparison of the power of the t test, Mann–Kendall and bootstrap tests for trend detection. Hydrol Sci J 49(1):21–37
- Önöz B, Bayazit M (2011) Block bootstrap for Mann–Kendall trend test of serially dependent data. Hydrol Process 26:1–19
- 84. Yue S, Wang CY (2004) The Mann-Kendall test modified by effective sample size to detect trend in serially correlated hydrological series. Water Resour Manag 18:201–218. doi:10.1023/B:WARM.0000043140.61082.60
- 85. Khaliq MN, Ouarda TBMJ, Gachon P et al (2009) Identification of hydrological trends in the presence of serial and cross correlations: a review of selected methods and their application to annual flow regimes of Canadian rivers. J Hydrol 368:117–130. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2009. 01.035
- Hamed KH (2009) Enhancing the effectiveness of prewhitening in trend analysis of hydrologic data. J Hydrol 368:143–155. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2009.01.040
- Yue S, Wang CY (2002) Applicability of prewhitening to eliminate the influence of serial correlation on the Mann-Kendall test. Water Resour Res 38:4–1–4–7. doi:10.1029/ 2001WR000861
- Miao C, Ni J (2010) Implement of filter to remove the autocorrelation's influence on the Mann-Kendall test: a case in hydrological series. Int J Food Agric 8:1241–1246
- Matalas NC, Sankarasubramanian A (2003) Effect of persistence on trend detection via regression. Water Resour Res 39. doi:10.1029/2003WR002292
- Yue S, Pilon P (2003) Interaction between deterministic trend and autoregressive process. Water Resour Res 39. doi:10.1029/2001WR001210
- Perron P, Yabu T (2009) Estimating deterministic trends with an integrated or stationary noise component. J Econ 151:56–69
- 92. Salmi T, Maatta A, Anttila P, Ruoho-Airola T, Amnell T (2002) Detecting trends of annual values of atmospheric pollutants by the Mann–Kendall test and Sen's slope estimates. Publ Air Qual 31:1–35
- 93. Tabari H, Talaee PH (2011) Analysis of trends in temperature data in arid and semi-arid regions of Iran. Glob Planet Change 79:1–10. doi:10.1016/j.gloplacha.2011.07.008
- 94. U.S. EPA (2009) US Environmental Protection Agency. Statistical analysis of groundwater monitoring data at RCRA facilities. Unified Guidance. Appendix C3. EPA 530/R-09-007
- 95. Arnau J, Bono R (2001) Autocorrelation and bias in short time series: an alternative estimator. Qual Quant 365–387
- 96. Arnau J, Bono R (2002) A program to calculate the empirical bias in autocorrelation estimators. Psicothema 14:669–672
- 97. Kan R, Wang X (2010) On the distribution of the sample autocorrelation coefficients. J Econ 154:101–121. doi:10.1016/j.jeconom.2009.06.010
- Solanas A, Manolov R, Sierra V (2010) Lag-one autocorrelation in short series: estimation and hypotheses testing. Int J Method Exp Psychol 31(2):357–381
- 99. Fuller WA (1976) Introduction to statistical time series. Wiley, New York
- 100. Moran PAP (1948) The interpretation of statistical maps. J R Stat Soc Ser B 3:243–251

- 101. Huitema BE, McKean JW (1991) Autocorrelation estimation and inference with small samples. Psychol Bull 110:291–304. doi:10.1037//0033-2909.110.2.291
- 102. Kendall M, Ord JK (1990) Time series. Edward Arnold, London
- 103. Decarlo LT, Tryon WW (1993) Estimating and testing autocorrelation with small samples: a comparison of the c-statistic to a modified estimator. Behav Res Ther 31:781–788
- 104. Matyas TA, Greenwood KM (1991) Problems in the estimation of autocorrelation in brief time series and some implications for behavioral data. Behav Assess 13:137–157
- 105. Matalas NC, Langbein WB (1962) Information content of the mean. J Geophys Res 67: 3441–3448. doi:10.1029/JZ067i009p03441
- 106. Lettenmaier DP (1976) Detection of trends in water quality data from records with dependent observations. Water Resour Res 12:1037–1046. doi:10.1029/WR012i005p01037
- 107. Hamed KH, Rao AR (1998) A modified Mann-Kendall trend test for autocorrelated data. J Hydrol 204:182–196. doi:10.1016/S0022-1694(97)00125-X
- 108. Bayley G, Hammersley J (1946) The "effective" number of independent observations in an autocorrelated time series. J R Stat Soc 8:184–197
- Yue S, Pilon P, Phinney B (2003) Canadian streamflow trend detection: impacts of serial and cross-correlation. Hydrol Sci J 48:51–63
- 110. Aziz OI, Burn DH (2006) Trends and variability in the hydrological regime of the Mackenzie River Basin. J Hydrol 319:282–294. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2005.06.039
- 111. Novotny EV, Stefan HG (2007) Stream flow in Minnesota: indicator of climate change. J Hydrol 334:319–333. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2006.10.011
- 112. Kumar S, Merwade V, Kam J, Thurner K (2009) Streamflow trends in Indiana: effects of long term persistence, precipitation and subsurface drains. J Hydrol 374:171–183. doi:10.1016/j. jhydrol.2009.06.012
- 113. Oguntunde PG, Abiodun BJ, Lischeid G (2011) Rainfall trends in Nigeria, 1901–2000. J Hydrol 411:207–218. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2011.09.037
- 114. Tabari H, Abghari H, Hosseinzadeh Talaee P (2012) Temporal trends and spatial characteristics of drought and rainfall in arid and semiarid regions of Iran. Hydrol Process 26: 3351–3361. doi:10.1002/hyp.8460
- 115. Bayazit M, Önöz B (2007) To prewhiten or not to prewhiten in trend analysis? Hydrol Sci J 52:611–624. doi:10.1623/hysj.52.4.611
- 116. Hamed KH (2008) Discussion of "To prewhiten or not to prewhiten in trend analysis?.". Hydrol Sci J 53:667–668. doi:10.1623/hysj.53.3.667
- 117. Salas-La Cruz JD (1972) Information content of the regional mean, vol 2. In: Proceedings of the international symposium on uncertainties in hydrologic and water resource systems. University of Arizona, Tucson, pp 646–660
- 118. McLeod AI (2011) Kendall: Kendall rank correlation and Mann-Kendall trend test. R package version 2.2. http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=Kendall
- 119. Komsta L (2013) mblm: Median-Based Linear Models. R package. version 0.12. http:// CRAN.R-project.org/package=mblm
- 120. Sonderegger D (2012) SiZer: SiZer: significant zero crossings. R package version 0.1-4. http://CRAN.R-project.org/package=SiZer
- 121. Davies RB (1987) Hypothesis testing when a nuisance parameter is present only under the alternative. Biometrika 74:33–43
- 122. Muggeo VMR (2008) Segmented: an R package to fit regression models with broken-line relationships. R News 8:20–25

Occurrence of Polar Organic Pollutants in Groundwater Bodies of Catalonia

Cristina Postigo, María Jesús García-Galán, Marianne Köck-Schulmeyer, and Damià Barceló

Abstract Currently, about half of the groundwater bodies in Catalonia present a bad status in terms of water quantity and chemical quality. The latter is linked to land use, since groundwater contamination originates from agricultural, industrial, and urban activities. This chapter reviews the monitoring programs performed in up to 18 groundwater bodies of Catalonia with the common objective of assessing the occurrence and fate of different polar organic contaminants (PolOPs) in the subsurface. They include the evaluation of polar pesticides and the veterinary antibiotics sulfonamides in rural areas and the study of pharmaceuticals, illicit drugs, and UV filters in urban areas. A review of the analytical methodologies used for the analysis of these compounds in groundwater has been provided, and PolOP concentrations measured have been discussed in terms of spatial and temporal variability and linked to potential contamination sources.

Keywords Analysis, Groundwater, Pesticides, Polar organic contaminants, Sulfonamides

C. Postigo (Z), M.J. García-Galán, and M. Köck-Schulmeyer

Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research, IDAEA-CSIC, Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain e-mail: cprqam@cid.csic.es

D. Barceló

Catalan Institute for Water Research (ICRA), Parc Científic i Tecnològic de la Universitat de Girona. Emili Grahit 101, Edifici H₂O, 17003 Girona, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 43: 63–90, DOI 10.1007/698_2015_343, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 27 May 2015

Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research, IDAEA-CSIC, Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

Contents

1	Introduction	64
2	Analysis of Polar Organic Pollutants in Groundwater	66
3	Polar Pesticides in Groundwater of Catalonia	68
	3.1 Occurrence of Individual Pesticides	69
	3.2 Regional Distribution of Pesticides	73
	3.3 Temporal Distribution of Pesticides	74
4	Sulfonamides in Groundwater of Catalonia	75
	4.1 Occurrence of Individual Sulfonamides	76
	4.2 Regional Distribution of Sulfonamides	79
5	Wastewater-Derived Polar Organic Pollutants in Urban Groundwaters	81
6	Conclusions	85
Re	ferences	86

1 Introduction

Aquifers are essential to sustain water demand worldwide. Groundwater bodies are dynamic systems that adjust continually to short-term and long-term changes in climate, withdrawal, and land use. There is a direct connection between ground-water quality deterioration and land use practices and/or inadequate waste management. About 30% of Catalonia's land surface is dedicated to agriculture, which is the activity demanding more water resources (70% of the total water demand), and 6% of the land is urbanized, which is responsible for the remaining water demand [1]. According to data from 2007, up to 454 Hm³ of groundwater are annually extracted for industrial, agricultural, and drinkable water uses in Catalonia [2]. For instance, the average use of water in agriculture equals 197 Hm³, corresponding to 43% of the total groundwater supply [2]. Therefore, groundwater contamination by agricultural, industrial, and urban activities can be expected [3].

But not only is the quality of groundwater affected. Overexploitation of aquifers above their recharge rate is one of the main concerns regarding aquifers status, especially in areas with very high demands in Catalonia (i.e., coastal and touristic areas), which are not necessarily placed in regions with enough groundwater resources. Excessive withdrawal has led to the decrease of the groundwater table and, thus, to the salinization of coastal aquifers, i.e., *Llobregat* and *Tordera*. Some measures are being applied to reverse this situation, such as aquifer recharge with regenerated water and engineered barriers against saline intrusion [1].

The connection between agriculture and groundwater quality has also become a highly relevant issue from a scientific and management point of view. The regular application of pesticides, fertilizers, and organic amendments on very large areas, together with the use of nontreated wastewater or reclaimed wastewater for irrigation in agricultural land, has compromised the quality of this water resource, as infiltration of rainwater and irrigation return flows are the main recharge sources that aquifers feed on [4]. These diffuse contamination sources may lead to the introduction of generally low concentrations of chemicals in the groundwater body over a wide area on a regular basis.

On the other hand, point sources of contamination such as wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) discharges, seepage, or runoff from landfills and that derived from industrial facilities contribute with a wide variety of contaminants to rivers and streams which eventually may also affect groundwater quality, especially where rivers are the main source of groundwater recharge, where groundwater withdrawals induce seepage from streams, and where floods cause stream water to become bank storage [5]. These point sources of contamination can introduce high amounts of chemicals in a relative small area of the aquifer and cause groundwater contamination plumes. It has been extensively demonstrated that pharmaceuticals, illicit drugs, UV filters, and endocrine disruptors are among the most commonly organic pollutants detected in the effluents of WWTPs. Different studies dealing on the efficiency of conventional wastewater treatments (based on conventional activated sludge (CAS)) in the removal of these drugs led to the conclusion that they were not effective enough to completely eliminate these micropollutants [6–9]. This is the main reason why effluents from urban WWTPs are considered one of the main entrance pathways of pharmaceuticals into the environment and, therefore, partly responsible for the contamination of the surface, marine, and groundwater.

The occurrence of chemicals in aquifers, or their leaching potential, is related to their volumes of production and use, the compound physical-chemical properties (log K_{ow} , log K_{oc} , solubility) and biodegradability, and the nature of the aquifer in terms of its geology and hydrogeology [10, 11]. Not only the original compounds can be found in aquifers but also their transformation products generated during photo-transformation and biodegradation processes or as a result of human metabolization after drug administration [12, 13].

Aquifers should be considered as the most vulnerable water reservoirs. Despite presenting a bigger inertia to quality changes, as the soil system above may act as a "protective shield," they are especially vulnerable to pollution because once contaminated, the effects are often irreversible or of difficult and expensive remediation. Groundwater quality protection in European countries started in the 1980s through different EU directives. First, direct and indirect discharges of certain substances, such as organohalogen, organophosphorus, and organotin compounds, were limited and even prohibited, in order to prevent groundwater pollution [14]. Secondly, Directive 91/676/EEC [15], known as the "nitrates directive," was issued to prevent or reduce groundwater and surface water pollution by nitrates due to the intensive use of fertilizers during agricultural practices. As a consequence, ten nitrate vulnerable zones were established in Catalonia following this directive [16]. Increased concentrations of nitrate that result from both nitrification of ammonium and direct introduction from mineral fertilizers are commonly present in both groundwater and surface water associated with amended agricultural lands. Awareness on the potential risks and hazards that the application of plant protection products and biocidal products might pose for human and animal health, and for the environment, especially for groundwater, justified Directives 91/414/EEC [17] and 98/8/EC [18], which regulated the placing on the market of these substances. The drinking water directive [19] set, for the first time, limits for selected chemicals, including metals and organic and inorganic compounds, in waters intended for human consumption. The approval of the Water Framework Directive (WFD) in 2000 [20] was an important milestone in the EU water policy. This directive contained general provisions for the protection and conservation of groundwater. In 2006, the directive on the protection of groundwater against pollution and deterioration [21] complemented the WFD, and groundwater quality standards (GWQS) were established for the presence of nitrates (50 mg/L) and pesticides, including their relevant metabolites and degradation and reaction products (0.1 μ g/L for individual compounds and 0.5 μ g/L for the sum of all pesticides included in a monitoring procedure). Regarding pharmaceuticals and UV filters, there is no legislation so far establishing maximum risk concentrations in groundwater or any other environmental compartment, due mostly to the lack of data regarding their environmental impact (acute/chronic toxicity, stability, etc.).

Compliance with current groundwater policy requires the development of appropriate analytical methodologies to determine pesticides at ppt level. The recent development of highly selective and sensitive techniques has permitted not only to lower the limits of detection for these contaminants but also to confirm the presence of new classes of polar organic pollutants (PolOPs) in groundwater [22, 23]. Research on the environmental fate, toxicity, and behavior of these contaminants is essential to understand the potential risks of exposure and to establish appropriate water quality standards if needed.

In this context, this chapter compiles the most recent works related to the study of PolOPs in groundwaters of Catalonia and reviews the analytical methodologies used for their determination. Special consideration is given to polar pesticides and sulfonamides, as these compounds have been investigated more in depth in the whole region.

2 Analysis of Polar Organic Pollutants in Groundwater

Due to dilution and natural attenuation processes, PolOPs are expected to be at trace level in groundwater. Instrumental sensitivity for detecting such concentrations is currently not an issue with the available analytical technologies. However, false positives and false negatives are of concern. Therefore, the analysis of "blanks," the correct handling of the sample that prevents cross-contamination, and the evaluation performance of the analytical protocol are essential to obtain reliable results [24]. Main characteristics of the analytical methods used to evaluate the occurrence of PolOPs in groundwater of Catalonia are summarized in Table 1.

After collection, groundwater samples were filtered (0.45 μ m) in order to remove suspended solids that may clog the adsorbent bed and subsequently stored in the dark at -20° C until analysis. Isotopically labeled compounds, used for internal standard calibration in the quantification process, were added to the sample before

T aDIC T VIIII AILO		logies to allaryze r UIOFS III	groundwarers of Calan	71114			
	Sample volume		Analyte extraction		Recovery	LOD	
Chemical class	(mL)	Sample pretreatment	and concentration	Analyte detection	(%)	(ng/L)	Reference
Illicit drugs	5	Filtration (0.45 μ m) and	Online SPE (PLRP-s	LC-ESI(+)-MS/MS	>80%	0.4-9.2	[25]
(21 analytes)		IS addition	cartridges)	Mobile phase: ACN/H ₂ O with NH ₄ HCO ₂ /CH ₂ O ₂			
Pharmaceuticals	2.5	Filtration (0.45 µm)	Online SPE	LC-ESI(+/-)-MS/MS	9-179	0.03-78	[27]
(95 analytes)		Na ₂ EDTA addition (0.1%) and IS addition	(HySphere Resin GP)	Mobile phase: ACN/H ₂ O with CH ₂ O ₂ (0.1%) for (+) and MeOH:			
				ACN $(1:1)/H_2O$ for $(-)$			
Pesticides	5	Filtration (0.45 µm) and	Online SPE	LC-ESI(+/-)-MS/MS	50-116	0.1 - 4.4	[26]
(22 analytes)		IS addition	(HySphere Resin GP (-) and PLRP-s (+))	Mobile phase: ACN/H ₂ O			
Sulfonamides	40	Filtration (0.45 µm) and	Online SPE (Oasis	LC-ESI(+)-MS/MS	34-134	0.03-3.3	[28, 29]
(21 analytes)		IS addition	HLB)	Mobile phase: ACN/H ₂ O with CH ₂ O ₂ (0.1%)			
UV filters	5	Filtration (0.45 µm) and	Online SPE PLRP-s	LC-ESI(+/-)-MS/MS	88-114	0.3–3	[30]
(9 analytes)		IS addition		Mobile phase: ACN/H ₂ O with CH ₂ O ₂ (0.1%) for (+) and ACN/H ₂ O with NH ₄ C ₂ H ₃ O ₂ for			
				(-)			
SPE solid phase exionization mode, (+	traction, L	<i>C</i> liquid chromatography, <i>l</i> ionization mode, <i>LOD</i> limit	MS/MS tandem mass sp t of detection	ectrometry, ESI electrospray ionization	n, IS internal	standard, (-	-) negative

analyze DolODs in anoundwaters of Catalonia Table 1 Analytical methodologies to

Occurrence of Polar Organic Pollutants in Groundwater Bodies of Catalonia

analyte extraction and pre-concentration. For pesticide and illicit drug analysis, isotopically labeled analogues were available for almost each target analyte [25, 26].

The achievement of low limits of detection (LODs) requires the extraction and concentration of the target analytes prior to analysis. Solid phase extraction (SPE) was the common technique used in all the studies reviewed dealing with the presence of PolOPs in groundwaters of Catalonia. This technique is easily coupled online with the analytical detector, which allows the development of fully analytical methodologies. Besides automation of the analytical process, online SPE procedures present some clear advantages over off-line SPE methods such as minimal sample handling and low sample-volume requirements that lead to improved reproducibility and accuracy. Moreover, they provide high throughput and they are less time- and labor-consuming. As it can be observed in Table 1, low LODs are achieved in online approaches with ten to hundred times less sample volume than usually is required in off-line methodologies. PolOPs were concentrated onto different reversed-phase hydrophilic-lipophilic polymeric sorbents.

Due to their polar nature, PolOPs are amenable to liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry (LC-MS) analysis. Chromatographic separation was carried out in C_{18} reversed-phase columns. A Purospher Star RP-18 endcapped column (125×2 mm, 5 µm of particle size) (Merck) was used for the analysis of pesticides, drugs, UV filters, and pharmaceuticals, and an Atlantis C_{18} (150×2.1 mm, 3 µm of particle size) (Waters) was used for the separation of sulfonamides [28, 29]. Mobile phases used in each case are shown in Table 1. Acidified mobile phases were occasionally used in order to improve ionization of the compounds monitored in the positive mode [25, 27–30].

Ionization of target PolOPs was done by means of an electrospray source. Despite the fact that one of the main disadvantages of this type of ionization is the derived matrix effects that may enhance or suppress the MS analyte signal and consequently affect the analyte recoveries, these are not so pronounced in ground-water because it is one of the cleanest environmental aqueous matrices. Nevertheless, internal standard calibration was carried out in order to correct these potential matrix effects. However, due to the compromise on the analytical conditions that has to be adopted in multiresidue methods, especially in multi-class methods, some analytes were unavoidably poorly recovered [25, 27]. Low analyte extraction recoveries can be corrected with the addition of the corresponding isotopically labeled analogues at the beginning of the analytical procedure in order to generate reliable results.

3 Polar Pesticides in Groundwater of Catalonia

Spain is one of the major pesticide consuming countries in Europe. Insecticides are the main pesticide class used in Spain (31.2% of the total), followed by herbicides (30.2%) and fungicides (22.4%) [31]. Pesticide use in Spain has slightly decreased

during the last decade, after an increasing trend since the mid-1990s. However, 2.7 kg of active ingredient per hectare was still used on average in 2011 [31]. The presence of these chemicals in groundwater has been investigated in different regions of Spain since 1997, and according to the reported results, their concentrations ranged from the low ppt to the ppb level [32].

Catalonia, with slightly more than 10 kg of pesticides applied per hectare [31], is among the regions with the highest use of pesticides in Spain, and consequently, aquifers in this region are vulnerable to pesticide pollution. As an implementation to the different surveillance and operational monitoring programs carried out regularly by the Catalan Water Agency (ACA) in compliance with the WFD, selected polar pesticides were monitored in 18 groundwater bodies of Catalonia subjected to significant agricultural pressure. The analyzed samples (265 in total) were collected at 112 sampling stations (wells, wellsprings, and piezometers) during four consecutive years: 2007 (June-November), 2008 (June-November), 2009 (May-October), and 2010 (April-September). Location of the investigated groundwater bodies and the amount of sampling sites investigated in each one are shown in Fig. 1. This figure also shows the status of groundwater bodies in terms of quantity and chemical quality as estimated by ACA [33]. As it can be observed in the figure, most of the sampling stations were located in aquifers featuring a bad status. Twelve out of the 18 investigated groundwater bodies were in bad chemical status, and five of these also showed a bad quantitative status (i.e., B14, B32, B33, B38, and B39). Most of the sampled aquifers were unconfined aquifers with medium to high porosity and permeability due to their sandy and gravel composition. Groundwater samples were collected in wells used for agricultural and drinking water purposes, at the minimum flow rate possible and after stabilization of the water physical-chemical parameters (i.e., temperature, pH and conductivity). More details on groundwater samples and sampling locations have been provided elsewhere [26, 34].

3.1 Occurrence of Individual Pesticides

The investigated polar pesticides, mostly herbicides, belong to seven different chemical classes. They include acidic herbicides such as phenoxy acids (2,4-D, bentazone, MCPA, and mecoprop), anilides (propanil), and chloroacetanilides (alachlor and metolachlor); organophosphate insecticides (diazinon, dimethoate, fenitrothion, and malathion); phenylureas (chlortoluron, diuron, isoproturon, and linuron); thiocarbamates (molinate); and triazine herbicides (atrazine, cyanazine, simazine, terbuthylazine, and two transformation products desisopropyl atrazine (DIA) and desethyl atrazine (DEA)) [26, 34].

All target pesticides were detected in at least four of the investigated samples. Their frequency of detection and their occurrence in groundwater are summarized in Fig. 2. With the exception of cyanazine that was detected only in 2% of the samples, triazine herbicides were among the most ubiquitous pesticides in the



Fig. 1 Location of the groundwater bodies sampled between 2007 and 2010 to investigate polar pesticides (*black color*) and sulfonamides (*red color*) in groundwaters of Catalonia, number of sampling sites analyzed in each one, and status of the groundwater bodies, as estimated by the Catalan Water Agency (ACA) with data from 2007 to 2012 (http://goo.gl/NQqdEE)

investigated groundwater bodies (see Fig. 2a). They were not only very ubiquitous but also abundant. Besides the fact that the statistical distribution of triazine concentrations indicates that simazine, atrazine, and DEA were present on average in slightly higher concentrations than other pesticides, compounds belonging to this pesticide class were also above the GWQS of 100 ng/L set for individual pesticides in groundwater in a large number of samples (see Fig. 2a). The atrazine transformation product desethyl atrazine (DEA) was indeed the pesticide with the largest number of noncompliances, followed by atrazine and terbuthylazine. In this respect, note that some pesticide transformation products were found at higher frequencies of detection and at higher concentrations than their corresponding parent compounds in groundwater surveys carried out worldwide [35, 36]. In fact, transformation products derived from the triazine herbicides atrazine and



Fig. 2 Occurrence of individual pesticides in the investigated groundwater bodies: (a) frequency of detection and percentage of cases with concentration above the GWQS of 100 ng/L; (b) boxplots of the concentrations found for each individual pesticide in different samples (0.01 and 0.1 ng/L were assigned to those cases where pesticide concentrations were < LOD or < LOQ). *Outliers* (*): those values that are out of the 95% interval of confidence of the data distribution. *Maximum and minimum* indicate the highest and the lowest concentrations (outliers not included). *Upper and lower quartiles*: concentrations that leave one quarter of the data above and below these values, respectively. *Median*: concentration that falls in the middle of the dataset (outliers not included)

terbuthylazine; the chloroacetanilide herbicides acetochlor, alachlor, and metolachlor; and the herbicides chloridazon and dichlobenil could be considered as relevant polar pollutants in groundwater [11]. Taking this into account, pesticide distribution in groundwaters of Catalonia also evidences the relevance of

monitoring pesticide transformation products in order not to underestimate pesticide occurrence in this environmental compartment.

Other relevant pesticides in groundwater bodies of Catalonia were the phenylurea herbicide diuron and the organophosphate insecticide diazinon, both present in about half of the investigated samples. Whereas the measured median concentration was slightly higher for diazinon than for diuron, the opposite was observed for their maximum concentrations. All investigated phenylurea herbicides but isoproturon, i.e., linuron, chlortoluron, and diuron, presented similar levels and were detected above 100 ng/L in one or two samples.

Some of the investigated pesticides were not as spread as the aforementioned chemicals in groundwater, but they were occasionally detected at maximum concentrations in the μ g/L range. This was the case for the chloroacetanilide herbicide alachlor (9.9 μ g/L), the phenylurea herbicide linuron (1.0 μ g/L), and the organophosphate insecticide dimethoate (2.3 μ g/L). Maximum concentrations of dimethoate in the μ g/L range were also found in other regions of Spain due to its intensive use in agriculture [37, 38].

Alachlor, atrazine, diuron, isoproturon, and simazine are considered as priority substances in surface waters in the field of water policy [39]. All of them but isoproturon were among the most ubiquitous and/or abundant compounds in the investigated groundwater bodies. This is especially surprising for the triazines atrazine and simazine, pesticides that have been banned in the European market since 2004. These pesticides were also reported to be among the most commonly detected and abundant pesticides in European groundwaters [40]. This fact could be attributed to their long residence time in the subsurface or their slow release from the soil. Besides atrazine and simazine, other pesticides, e.g., alachlor, cyanazine, chlorfenvinphos, diazinon, fenitrothion, metolachlor, propanil, and simazine, are actually banned in the EU.

According to their GUS index (Groundwater Ubiquity Score index) [41], parameter that predicts pesticide leachability according to its K_{oc} (organic carbon-water partitioning coefficient) and T_{1/2} (half-life time), high leachability could be expected for triazine herbicides (GUS index value > 3) [26]. This is in agreement with pesticide occurrence in groundwaters of Catalonia, where simazine, atrazine, terbuthylazine, and DEA, with GUS index values of 3.35, 3.75, 3.07, and 3.54, respectively, were detected in more than 44% of the investigated samples. The GUS index of those pesticides detected in less than 10% of the samples predicts a "low leachability" for fenitrothion, malathion, and dimethoate (GUS index values of 0.64, -1.24, and 1.05, respectively) or a "transition state" for cyanazine, alachlor, MCPA, mecoprop, and molinate (GUS index values of 2.07, 2.19, 2.51, 2.29, and 2.49, respectively). Although the GUS index has been commonly used to predict the behavior of pesticides in the subsurface, it indicates only the intrinsic mobility of pesticides in the water-soil system. However, pesticide occurrence in groundwater is also linked to pesticide application (nature and rate), weather, and soil properties. These are indeed decisive factors in the leachability of "transition state" pesticides.

3.2 Regional Distribution of Pesticides

Total pesticide concentration found on average in groundwater bodies of Catalonia are shown in Fig. 3a. The highest mean total pesticide concentrations were observed in groundwater bodies B33, B48, and B52 that presented 536, 621, and 452 ng/L, respectively. Total pesticide concentrations above the GWQS of 500 ng/L [21] were occasionally found in samples collected in these groundwater bodies and also in aquifers belonging to B32 and B35. However, mean total pesticide concentrations were in general below 100 ng/L, with the lowest values being found in groundwater bodies B18 (15 ng/L), B34 (3 ng/L), and B53 (0.4 ng/L).

Irrigation is one of the main factors that contribute to the presence of pesticides in groundwater, as it facilitates the transport of applied pesticides from the plant and the soil into groundwater. It also may be a source of pesticides and other contaminants when reclaimed water is used to irrigate. In this regard, high pesticide concentrations in WWTP effluents, even after tertiary treatment, have been reported elsewhere [42]. The proportion of agricultural land with and without irrigation in each investigated groundwater body is shown in Fig. 3b. More than 75% of the land above groundwater bodies B14, B21, B25, B32, B33, B47, B48, B52, and B53 is dedicated to agriculture. However, the agricultural land in B21 and B25 is mainly occupied by nonirrigated crops, e.g., vineyards, olives, and almonds,



Fig. 3 Pesticide profile in the investigated groundwater bodies: (**a**) mean concentration for total pesticides and nitrates; (**b**) percentage of the groundwater body land used for agricultural purposes (%), differentiating irrigated and nonirrigated lands. *GWQS* groundwater quality standard

whereas continuous irrigation is required in most of the agricultural land in B33, B47, B48, B52, and B53, e.g., corn and fruit trees. With the exception of B53, for which only one sample was available, the amount of irrigated land is in agreement with the high pesticide levels observed (see B33, B35, B47, B48, and B52 in Fig. 3). The absence of pesticides in B53 could be attributed to a high dilution factor of pesticide concentrations occurring in the sampled aquifer due to its superficial character (1 m of unsaturated zone) and marine water intrusion. Besides B53, the lowest pesticide levels were observed in those areas with less agricultural land use and/or less irrigated surface, i.e., B21, B18, B34, and B06. Based on these results, the occurrence of pesticides in groundwater can be linked to the type of activity carried out in the area. In fact, the highest pesticide concentrations were found in groundwater bodies located in Lleida (B46, B47, and B48) and in Empordà (Girona) (B32, B33), areas known for their intensive agricultural activity.

Overall, samples containing the highest total pesticide concentrations were exclusively collected in shallow wells (up to 10 m in depth) from aquifers belonging to inland groundwater bodies, i.e., B33, B35, B47, and B48. In this case, slightly higher pesticide concentrations are expected close to the soil surface than at greater aquifer depth.

Nitrate concentration in groundwater is an indicator of agriculture activity and livestock practices in the area. Besides showing mean and maximum total pesticide concentrations, Fig. 3a also shows nitrate content in the investigated groundwater bodies as a means of evaluating their chemical status at a glance. The GWQS for nitrate concentration in groundwater is set to 50 mg/L [21]. Nitrate concentration was above this limit in 38% of the groundwater samples collected between 2007 and 2010. High nitrate concentrations (above 200 mg/L) were observed in groundwater bodies with low total pesticide concentrations B14, B16, B18, B21, B24, B25, and B32. This finding can be attributed to the fact that nonirrigated crops dominate the agricultural land in the area sampled (e.g., B14, B16, B21, B24, B25, and B32) or that there exists an additional source of nitrates other than agricultural activity (e.g., B18). High nitrate and pesticide concentrations were present in B48. Note that most of the investigated groundwater bodies (74%) include at least one municipality declared as a nitrate vulnerable zone in Catalonia [16, 43].

3.3 Temporal Distribution of Pesticides

The evaluation of groundwater pesticide pollution trends in time is not straightforward, since concentrations observed strongly depend on the amount of water abstracted and on the artificial and/or natural aquifer recharge.

The evolution of mean total pesticide concentrations in the investigated groundwater bodies of Catalonia is depicted in Fig. 4. Pesticide concentrations were observed to decrease over time in highly polluted groundwater bodies with high proportion of irrigated land, e.g., B33, B46, B47, and B48. This decrease could be attributed to a gradual implementation of good agricultural practices, the ban of



Fig. 4 Pesticide profile throughout the monitoring program. Groundwater body analyzed only in (a) 3, (b) 2, or (c) 1 year

several persistent pesticides in the EU in the last decade (i.e., simazine, diazinon, fenitrothion, atrazine, and alachlor), and/or an increase of the aquifer recharge.

Reduction of pesticide concentrations is the general trend observed throughout the monitoring program. However, groundwater bodies B32 and B35 experienced an increase in total pesticide concentrations. In some areas, pesticides levels were shown not to vary throughout the time. This is the case for groundwater bodies B16 and B21.

4 Sulfonamides in Groundwater of Catalonia

The global use of veterinary antibiotics in intensive animal husbandry has led to the widespread presence of these compounds in the environment, which has been extensively documented during the last two decades [44, 45]. Scientific interest has focused not only in their impact on bacteria and the spread of bacterial resistance but also in their environmental fate [46]. Sulfonamides (SAs) are one of the most important families of veterinary antibiotics, being used mainly in pig production worldwide, although they are also regularly applied in human medicine. After tetracyclines, they are the second family of antibiotics most frequently consumed, with average sales of approximately 23% in countries such as Denmark, United Kingdom, and Germany [44]. SAs are poorly absorbed by the organism, so they are excreted in varying unmetabolized amounts or as metabolites primarily via the urine and feces; still other portions are excreted as conjugates. It is a common practice to use liquid manure from livestock in agriculture with the objective of producing sustainable nutrient recycling, since nitrogen in its different species (organic, ammonium, nitrite, and nitrate) is a major constituent of manure. This

application may imply the entrance of SAs and their metabolites to the soil ecosystem, together with other veterinary antibiotics contained in the manure [47–50]. Therefore, hundreds of grams of SAs per hectare may be annually spread on agricultural soils. Grazing animals can also contribute to their environmental occurrence, through direct depositions. It should not be forgotten that sewage sludge from WWTPs is also commonly applied in agricultural fields as nutrient amendment, with the corresponding loads of pollutants that have not been fully eliminated during treatment. SAs of human use such as sulfamethoxazole, sulfadiazine, or sulfapyridine have been detected in WWTP effluents in several studies [51–54]. Taking into consideration that their sorption to soil is weak and that SAs are hydrophilic compounds, it is expected that surface runoff and leaching into deeper soil layers will lead SAs to different environmental waters including groundwater.

The common origin of SAs and nitrates from cattle operations and their similar physical-chemical properties regarding polarity and solubility could lead to think that vulnerable areas with high concentration of nitrates could also be polluted by SA antibiotics. On this basis, García et al. [28, 29] investigated the presence of up to 16 SAs and five of their acetylated metabolites in nine different groundwater bodies of Catalonia. Following the WFD, all the aquifers investigated were considered vulnerable in terms of contamination derived from agricultural practices, as they were all under a significant farming pressure. In fact, most of them were located in the so-called vulnerable zones by nitrate contamination, according to the provisions of the Directive 91/676/EEC [15]. Two sampling campaigns were carried out in 2008 and 2009, and a total of 39 groundwater samples were taken each year from surveillance and operative controls including monitoring wells and natural springs. The location of the investigated groundwater bodies, as well as the number of samples collected in each one, is summarized in Fig. 1. Further details on the individual samples have been provided elsewhere [28, 29]. Despite the fact that a very poor correlation was found between SAs and nitrate occurrence [28, 29], SA antibiotics were detected in all groundwater bodies under study.

4.1 Occurrence of Individual Sulfonamides

A total of 16 SAs of both veterinary and human use and five of their acetylated metabolites were investigated. The list included SAs of human consumption frequently considered in pharmaceutical multiresidue studies, such as sulfamethoxazole and sulfapyridine, as well as other veterinary SAs such as sulfadiazine and sulfamethazine. Table 2 summarizes the results obtained for each individual SA investigated. It should be mentioned that, with the exception of N⁴-acetylsulfamethazine, the other four acetylated metabolites were investigated in all the groundwater bodies with the exception of B10 (*Plana de Vic*) and B14 (*La Selva*); on the contrary, sulfaguanidine and sulfacetamide were only investigated in these two groundwater bodies.

		Frequency detection ^b	of	Mean	Maximum
Target sulfonamides and		Number		concentration	concentration
metabolites	Use ^a	of hits	(%)	$(ng/L) \pm STD$	(ng/L)
Sulfadimethoxine	V	56	71.8	7.2 ± 16.2	91.5
Sulfamethoxazole	Н	55	70.5	13.5 ± 48.2	312.2
Sulfaquinoxaline	V	42	53.8	13.1 ± 47.8	274.0
Sulfamethazine	V	42	53.8	7.2 ± 17.3	13.4
Sulfamerazine	V	37	47.4	42.7 ± 121.5	744.7
N ⁴ -acetylsulfamethazine	V	36	46.2	8.9 ± 5.7	56.9
Sulfadoxine	H–V	35	44.9	5.9 ± 12	53.6
Sulfisomidine	V	34	43.6	9.5 ± 14.4	64.4
Sulfapyridine	H–V	30	38.5	4.9 ± 13.3	72.5
Sulfathiazole	V	26	33.3	3.8 ± 5.1	16.8
Sulfamethoxypyridazine	V	19	24.4	7.4 ± 17.2	68.7
Sulfabenzamide	V	19	24.4	1.7 ± 2.5	10.3
Sulfanitran	V	19	24.4	42.5 ± 124.7	568.7
Sulfisoxazole	V	13	16.7	3.8 ± 4.8	17.1
Sulfadiazine	H–V	12	15.4	1.9 ± 2.8	8.9
Sulfamethizole	V	7	9.0	2.2 ± 4.0	9.3
Succinylsulfathiazole	V	1	1.3	2.1*	2.1
N ⁴ -acetylsulfamerazine*	V	14	35.9	5.0±5.3	18.0
N ⁴ -acetylsulfamethoxazole*	Н	10	25.6	1.4 ± 1.7	5.5
N ⁴ -acetylsulfapyridine*	H–V	9	23.1	1.6 ± 2.0	6.0
Sulfacetamide*	V	9	23.1	$631.8 \pm 1,205.1$	3,460.4
Sulfaguanidine*	V	9	23.1	22.6 ± 29.8	91.8
N ⁴ -acetylsulfadiazine*	H–V	3	7.7	0.9±0.3	1.0

Table 2 Uses (human (H) or veterinary (V)), frequencies of detection (given as number of hitsand relative frequency of detection (%)), and mean and maximum concentrations for each of thesulfonamides studied in groundwaters of Catalonia

^aH: human use/V: veterinary use

^bAnalytes were investigated in n = 78 samples, except those marked with * that were investigated in only n = 39 samples

Sulfadimethoxine and sulfamethoxazole were detected in more than 70% of all the samples investigated (71.8% and 70.5%, respectively). The high frequency of detection of the latter should be highlighted, as it is an antibiotic mostly used in human therapies and usually detected in urban wastewaters. On the contrary, the least frequently detected SAs, with detection frequencies below 10%, were succinylsulfathiazole, sulfamethizole, and the metabolite N⁴-acetylsulfadiazine that were present in one, seven, and three of the investigated samples, respectively. In terms of abundance, sulfacetamide, sulfamerazine, and sulfanitran, of veterinary

use exclusively, were detected at the highest concentrations (3,460.4, 744.7, and 568.7 ng/L, respectively).

Regarding the acetylated metabolites studied, N⁴-acetylsulfamethazine and N⁴acetylsulfamerazine were the most frequently detected, as they are derivates of veterinary SAs. The former was detected in 46.2% of the samples, only slightly less frequently than the corresponding parent compound, sulfamethazine (53.8%), with mean and maximum concentrations (8.9 and 56.9 ng/L, respectively) higher than those of sulfamethazine (7.2 and 13.4 ng/L). N⁴-acetylsulfamerazine was detected in 35.9% of the samples, with a mean concentration of 5 ng/L and a maximum concentration of 18 ng/L. These values are below those observed for its parent compound, sulfamerazine. N⁴-acetylsulfamethoxazole and N⁴-acetylsulfapyridine, both of human origin, were detected in 25.6% and 23.1% of the samples, respectively. Similarly as for N⁴-acetylsulfamerazine, they were less frequently detected than their corresponding parent compounds and at lower concentrations.

In the sampling campaign carried out during 2009, it was observed that the number of positive findings of SAs was bigger in samples taken down to 40 m depth (89% of the investigated samples) than in those taken between 80 and 130 m [28]. The findings down to 40 m showed that most of all the SAs detected were of common veterinary use and, consequently, derived from farming and agriculture activities. However, sulfamethoxazole and sulfapyridine, used mostly in human therapies and therefore indicative of WWTP impact in groundwaters, were also present at those depths. In fact, the highest mean concentrations at 40 m corresponded to sulfamethoxazole together with N⁴-acetylsulfamerazine. It should also be mentioned that the frequency of detection of the acetylated metabolites was higher than that of parent compounds at depths between 80 and 90 m, due probably to their higher solubility and mobility in the subsurface. This particular data, together with the frequencies of detection of the acetylated metabolites in the whole study, usually very similar to those of the corresponding parent compounds, highlights the importance of including the different metabolites of SAs within the scope of groundwater monitoring studies. Similarly as for pesticides, their inclusion is crucial to get a complete picture of the occurrence and fate of these PolOPs in the subsurface.

The amount of metabolized SAs released to the environment is compound dependent, and information on their stability in the different environmental compartments is lacking. For instance, it has been demonstrated through numerical models that the acetylated metabolite of sulfadiazine degrades to sulfadiazine in soil after manure application within 4 days [55] and that both compounds are highly mobile in this matrix [56]. Similar results were observed for N⁴-acetylsulfapyridine, which reverted back into sulfapyridine in aerated wastewater [57] and N⁴-sulfamethoxazole [52].

4.2 Regional Distribution of Sulfonamides

Figure 5 summarizes the SA findings in each groundwater body individually, in terms of the mean and maximum total SA concentrations. The SAs presenting the highest contribution to total SA concentrations in each groundwater body are shown in Table 3. The highest mean total concentration of SAs corresponded to B10 (Plana de Vic) and B14 (La Selva) with 131.40 and 481.20 ng/L, respectively. *Plana de Vic* comprises 740 km² and one of the areas with the most important cattle farming activity in the whole of Catalonia. There is no application of biosolids in this area. As expected, the highest contributions in this location corresponded to two veterinary SAs, sulfacetamide and sulfamerazine. The most frequently detected here, despite not at the highest concentrations, were again veterinary SA, sulfadimethoxine, and sulfamethazine (88.5% of the sampling sites in this groundwater body). On the contrary, La Selva has an extension of 291 km², with a moderate cattle farming activity but with regular biosolid application near different cities. Nevertheless, the data obtained are quite similar to those of B10; the highest contribution in La Selva corresponded also to sulfacetamide and sulfamerazine, and the highest frequencies of detection corresponded again to sulfadimethoxine and sulfamethazine. However, in both groundwater bodies the high contribution of sulfacetamide was due to an outlier value in only one of the samples; for instance, the contribution of sulfamerazine in Plana de Vic was much regular over the extension of the groundwater body, as it was detected in 84% of the samples, whereas sulfacetamide was detected only in 16% of the samples [29]. The situation was similar in La Selva, with sulfamerazine detected more frequently (54% of the samples) than sulfacetamide (23%). However, it should be mentioned that sulfamethoxazole was present in 46% of the samples in La Selva, and was one of the main contributors to total SA concentrations.



Fig. 5 Mean and maximum concentration of total sulfonamides (ng/L) in the investigated groundwater bodies

Groundwater body	SA with the highest contribution	Most frequently detected SAs
B10 – Plana de Vic	Sulfacetamide (4%)	Sulfadimethoxine (89%)
	Sulfamerazine (17%)	Sulfamethazine (89%)
		Sulfamerazine (85%)
B14 – La Selva	Sulfacetamide (52%)	Sulfadimethoxine (86%)
	Sulfamerazine (14%)	Sulfamethazine (86%)
B16 – Al·luvials del Vallès	Sulfamethoxazole (64%)	Sulfadimethoxine (83%)
	Sulfisoxazole (21%)	Sulfamethoxazole (83%)
B21 – Detrític neògen del Baix Penedès	N ⁴ -acetylsulfamerazine (42%)	Sulfamethoxazole (80%)
	Sulfamethoxazole (29%)	N ⁴ -acetylsulfamerazine (60%)
		Sulfisomidine (60%)
B24 – Baix Francolí	Sulfisoxazole (43%)	Sulfadimethoxine (100%)
	N ⁴ -acetylsulfamerazine (37%)	Sulfaquinoxaline (75%)
B25 – Alt Camp	Sulfamethoxazole (56%)	Sulfamethoxazole (83%)
	N ⁴ -acetylsulfamerazine	Sulfamerazine (67%)
	(24%)	Sulfadimethoxine (67%)
B33 – Fluviodeltaic del Ter	N ⁴ -acetylsulfamerazine (45%)	Sulfadimethoxine (50%)
	Sulfamethazine (19%)	Sulfamethazine (50%)
		N ⁴ -acetylsulfamerazine (50%)
B47 – Al·luvial del baix Segre	Sulfaquinoxaline (73%)	Sulfadimethoxine (50%)
	Sulfamerazine (27%)	Sulfamethoxazole (50%)
B48 – Al·luvial d'Urgell	N ⁴ -acetylsulfamethoxazole (37%)	N ⁴ -acetylsulfamethoxazole (67%)
	N ⁴ -acetylsulfapyridine (28%)	N ⁴ -acetylsulfadiazine (50%)
		Sulfamethoxazole (50%)

 Table 3
 Sulfonamides presenting the highest contribution to total sulfonamide loads and the most frequently detected sulfonamides in the groundwater bodies investigated

High mean total SA concentrations were detected also in B47 ($Al \cdot luvials del baix Segre$) (94.50 ng/L). The investigated aquifer in this groundwater body consists mainly of loose gravel within a matrix of thin components and is therefore very permeable. This aquifer was located below a flat area scarcely covered with vegetation, where the unsaturated zone was not very relevant, favoring the infiltration of surface waters. Pressures exerted by livestock waste and intensive agriculture (as indicated also in the pesticide section) were also high in this area, which explains the highest contribution to the total concentration of two veterinary SAs, sulfaquinoxaline (72.5%) and sulfamerazine (27.2%).

SAs of human use have frequently been reported in effluent wastewaters as they are not well removed in WWTPs based on CAS processes [58, 59]. In this regard,

three of the nine investigated groundwater bodies showed a higher impact from urban activities than from intensive cattle farming activities. This was reflected in higher contributions from SAs of human consumption to the total loads. This was the case of B16 ($Al \cdot luvials \ del \ Valles$) and B25 ($Alt \ Camp$), in which the contribution of sulfamethoxazole accounted for the 63.5% and 56.1% of the total, respectively, and also from B21 ($Detrific \ neogen \ del \ Baix \ Penedes$), with a contribution from sulfamethoxazole of 28.5%. In all cases, the frequency of detection for this SA was also the highest (80–84%). The three groundwater bodies presented a high impact derived from WWTP effluents discharge and, in the case of B21, from the regular application of biosolids. However, except for B25, in which pressure derived from livestock waste is low, both intensive cattle farming and WWTP discharges are exerting a high pressure on the groundwater quality in these aquifers, and it would be complex to say which activity is the main contributor to the ubiquity of SAs in these groundwater bodies.

Again, SA contamination from urban origin was demonstrated in $Al \cdot luvial d'Urgell$, B48, but in this occasion, two acetylated metabolites were the most relevant compounds in terms of contribution to the total concentration detected: N⁴-acetylsulfamethoxazole, which was detected in four out of the six samples at concentrations between 0.88 and 5.52 ng/L, and N⁴-acetylsulfapyridine, detected in two samples at concentrations of 1.41 and 6.03 ng/L, respectively. This higher occurrence of the acetylated metabolites compared to the parent compounds could be explained in terms of their solubility (as metabolites are usually more soluble in order to be excreted more easily by the organisms; this increased mobility may persist once they reach the natural media). A higher persistence of the acetylated compound could also explain this fact, although information regarding environmental half-lives is still lacking. Sulfamethoxazole and its metabolite were the two compounds detected most frequently (50% and 66.7%, respectively).

All in all, as it can be observed in Table 3, compared to the levels detected for pesticides, SA pollution in the investigated groundwater bodies was not very relevant (mean loads per sample generally < 100 ng/L except for B10 and B14), despite the geological conditions of some of the investigated aquifers that are favorable for SAs leaching to the groundwater table, e.g., sandy lithology of the unsaturated zone together with the gravel materials of the saturated zone (i.e., alluvial materials in B16, B33, B47, and B48).

5 Wastewater-Derived Polar Organic Pollutants in Urban Groundwaters

A wide range of PolOPs, such as pharmaceuticals, illicit drugs, hormones, surfactants, and personal care products, have been detected in municipal wastewaters. Consequently, untreated wastewaters and WWTP effluents are considered the main source of these compounds into the aquatic environment [60, 61]. This type of compounds may enter aquifers after water leakage from sewer and septic systems, river seepage, or aquifer recharge with reclaimed water [32, 62]. Taking this into consideration, the impact that high population density of urban areas has on water demand and waste generation makes urban aquifers extremely vulnerable to PolOP pollution. In this regard, several monitoring programs were carried out in urban groundwater of Barcelona, which is the second largest city in Spain, to evaluate the occurrence and fate of several classes of PolOPs [25, 27, 30].

The area of study included the city of Barcelona and some towns of the metropolitan area (136 km²) and covered 2.2 million people. Samples were collected from three different aquifers within groundwater body B36. Figure 6 shows the areas where groundwater samples were collected. These sampling areas were established according to the main aquifer recharge sources, as it has been summarized in Table 4. Samples within MS and PS zones were collected from the Barcelona plain aquifer that consists of carbonated clays from Pleistocene (Quaternary) and from the underlying aquifer that consists of sandstones, marls, and sands from Miocene (Tertiary), respectively. Samples belonging to the BRD zone were collected from the superficial unconfined aquifer under the Besòs River delta that consists of gravels, sands, silts, and clays from Holocene (Quaternary). Further details on sample collection have been provided elsewhere [25, 27, 30].

The investigated families of PolOPs in urban groundwaters were pharmaceuticals (PHA) [27], drugs of abuse (DRG) [25], and UV filters (UVF) [30]. As for the target compounds analyzed, a total of 125 compounds were surveyed. This list included 34 drug transformation products. Compounds belonging to ten, six, and three different chemical classes of PHA, DRG, and UVF, respectively, were included. Occurrence in terms of mean frequency of detection of each PolOP family and mean concentration of each chemical class within the different PolOP families investigated in the zones of study is summarized in Fig. 7.

Overall, mean frequencies of detection for all investigated PolOP families were slightly higher in the BRD zone than in the MS and PS zones. The Besòs River is strongly impacted by WWTP effluents, and therefore, these compounds are expected to be continuously entering into its waters. Taking into account that aquifers underlying BRD zone are mainly recharged by natural river water bank filtration (91% of the recharge), it is not surprising that these PolOPs are frequently detected in this zone. As for the PolOPs families, PHA and DRG were more frequently detected in all zones of study than UVF.

Regarding concentrations, the same pattern, i.e., higher mean concentrations in the BRD zone than in the MS and PS zones, was also observed. Mean total concentrations of PHA were one order and two orders of magnitude higher than those measured for DRG and UVF, respectively.

Overall, the most abundant PHA classes were analgesics and antiinflammatories and antibiotics with maximum concentrations above 100 ng/L. Macrolide antibiotics like spiramycin and azithromycin were indeed measured at concentrations higher than 1 μ g/L. Despite the fact that the investigated PHA transformation products presented concentrations in general lower than their parent compounds, they significantly contributed to overall levels of PHA in



Fig. 6 Maps showing (a) the location of the groundwater body M36 and (b) sampling zones where urban groundwater samples were collected in Barcelona. © Digital map property of the Institut Cartogràfic i Geològic de Catalunya, available at www.icc.cat

Zone	Aquifer recharge sources	Aquifer redox conditions
-1-BDR	91% river infiltration	Reducing
	9% sewage system + water supply losses	
-2-MS	60% rainfall infiltration	Oxidizing
	31% sewage system losses	
	9% water supply losses	
-3-PS	4% rainfall infiltration	Oxidizing
	50% sewage system losses	
	46% water supply losses	

 Table 4
 Characteristics of the zones sampled to investigate PolOPs in urban groundwaters of Barcelona



Fig. 7 Organic contaminants in groundwater bodies of Barcelona. (a) Mean frequency of detection of the investigated families (i.e., *DRG* drugs, *UVF* UV filters, *PHA* pharmaceuticals), in the three sampling zones, and (b) mean concentration of the investigated chemical classes within each PolOP family

groundwaters. The active transformation products 4-hydroxy-propanolol and enalaprilat were found at concentrations seven and three times, respectively, higher than their parent compounds. Despite the fact that the sum of the mean concentrations of each PHA class was only 180 ng/L in BRD zone, most samples collected in this zone showed total concentrations of PHA above 1,000 ng/L. In fact, the most superficial and nearest samples to the Besòs River bed presented similar concentrations to those observed in the river itself. On the contrary, samples collected in the low part of the aquifer presented lower concentrations. This could be attributed to natural attenuation of PolOP concentrations in the subsurface. However, since reducing conditions prevail in BRD zone and due to the fact that the aquifer material presents a limited sorption capacity, PolOP depletion is mainly driven by biological degradation and/or dilution effect. Oxidizing redox conditions are present in MS and PS zones; therefore, besides the aforementioned processes chemical transformation by the soil components should also contribute to natural attenuation of PolOP concentrations. However, unlike in BRD, attenuation in depth was not obvious in MS and PS zones, and measured PHA concentrations were occasionally higher in deeper sampling sites than in more superficial ones. This finding could be attributed to the presence of leaking sewage pipes in the locations with high PHA concentrations, since sewage system losses are important contributions to aquifer recharge in this MS (30%) and PS (50%) zones.

A similar situation was also observed for DRG and UVF, i.e., higher overall concentrations in BRD zone than in MS and PS zones and depletion of DRG and UVF concentrations in deeper zones of the BRD aquifer. As for DRG, the main detected compounds were MDMA or ecstasy (amphetamine-like class) and methadone and its main metabolite EDDP (opioid class). In the case of UVF, the most ubiquitous compounds in the investigated samples were benzophenone-3 (BP3) and 4-methylbenzylidenecamphor (4MBC). Individual DRG and UVF concentrations were in most cases below 10 ng/L. Mean concentrations above this level were only found for cocaine in MS zone (13 ng/L) and methadone (20 ng/L) and diazepam (16 ng/L) in BDR zone. According to the expected dilution factors, the latter may be less affected by removal processes in the subsurface. The most abundant UVF in urban groundwaters of Barcelona were the benzophenone derivatives benzophenone-1, BP3, and benzophenone-4, all of them present at maximum concentrations of 19 ng/L.

6 Conclusions

PolOPs such as polar pesticides, SA antibiotics, pharmaceuticals, illicit drugs, and UV filters have reached the water table in groundwater bodies of Catalonia. Pesticide contamination is more relevant than SA antibiotics in rural areas in terms of pollutant loads. Levels of individual and total pesticides were observed to be occasionally above the GWQS established in the regulation (100 and 500 ng/L, respectively), whereas total SA levels rarely surpassed 100 ng/L. However, a

widespread presence for both pesticides and SAs was observed in the subsurface in the investigated groundwater bodies due to the extended and intensive agriculture and farming practices in Catalonia. Besides farming, SA antibiotics of human use can also reach aquifers after wastewater effluent discharges or biosolid application. Wastewater-derived PolOPs such as pharmaceuticals, illicit drugs, and UV filters are indeed commonly found in urban groundwaters of Barcelona, mainly in those areas recharged by a river highly impacted by WWTP effluents. Overall, pharmaceuticals, specifically analgesics, anti-inflammatories, and antibiotics, were the compounds most frequently detected in urban groundwaters, occasionally surpassing 100 ng/L, followed by illicit drugs and UV filters, always below that value. The monitoring studies of PolOPs carried out in groundwater bodies of Catalonia have revealed the importance of considering also the presence of their metabolites and transformation products in order to correctly assess their behavior, persistence, and fate in the subsurface. On the other hand, the main sources of PolOPs to groundwater and the main pollution hot spots, as well as the mobility of the investigated compounds within the aquifers, are crucial to understand the data. All the gathered information is very valuable in order to perform effective future monitoring studies of PolOPs in groundwaters and propose or establish prevention and correction measurements to improve groundwater quality.

Acknowledgments This work has been financially supported by the Generalitat de Catalunya (Consolidated Research Groups "2014 SGR 418 - Water and Soil Quality Unit" and 2014 SGR 291 – ICRA).

References

- 1. ACA Catalan Water Agency (2008) Water in Catalonia. http://goo.gl/HQcrgV. Accessed Oct 2014
- ACA Catalan Water Agency (2010) Pla de gestió del districte de conca fluvial de Catalunya Annex XII: Recursos subterranis en règim d'explotació. http://goo.gl/PAASn2. Accessed Oct 2014
- Ibañez J, Burriel JA (2010) Ocupació del sòl a Catalunya: 3a edició del Mapa de Cobertes (MCSC-3). Centre de Recerca Ecològica i Aplicacions Forestals (CREAF). http://goo.gl/ w1mzDY. Accessed Oct 2014
- 4. Candela-Lledó L (1998) Conferencia N.1.2: La contaminación de las aguas subterráneas por las actividades agrarias en España: visión desde la investigación. Jornadas sobre la contaminación de las aguas subterráneas: un problema pendiente. Valencia. AIH-GE. http:// goo.gl/jlVi0G. Accessed Oct 2014
- Winter TC, Harvey JW, Franke OL, Alley WM (1998) Effects of human activities on the interaction of ground water and surface water. In: Groundwater and surface water: a single resource. U.S. Geological Survey Circular 113. http://goo.gl/Dwg8AX. Accessed Oct 2014
- Gros M, Petrović M, Ginebreda A, Barceló D (2010) Removal of pharmaceuticals during wastewater treatment and environmental risk assessment using hazard indexes. Environ Int 36:15–26

- Kolpin DW, Skopec M, Meyer MT, Furlong ET, Zaugg SD (2004) Urban contribution of pharmaceuticals and other organic wastewater contaminants to streams during differing flow conditions. Sci Total Environ 328:119–130
- 8. Pedrouzo M, Borrull F, Pocurull E, Marcé RM (2011) Presence of pharmaceuticals and hormones in waters from sewage treatment plants. Water Air Soil Pollut 217:267–281
- 9. Postigo C, Lòpez de Alda MJ, Barceló D (2010) Drugs of abuse and their metabolites in the Ebro River basin: occurrence in sewage and surface water, sewage treatment plants removal efficiency, and collective drug usage estimation. Environ Int 36:75–84
- Lapworth DJ, Baran N, Stuart ME, Ward RS (2012) Emerging organic contaminants in groundwater: a review of sources, fate and occurrence. Environ Pollut 163:287–303
- 11. Postigo C, Barceló D (2015) Synthetic organic compounds and their transformation products in groundwater: occurrence, fate and mitigation. Sci Total Environ 503:32–47
- Jurado A, López-Serna R, Vázquez-Suné E, Carrera J, Pujades E, Petrovic M, Barceló D (2014) Occurrence of carbamazepine and five metabolites in an urban aquifer. Chemosphere 115:47–53
- Reh R, Licha T, Geyer T, Nödler K, Sauter M (2013) Occurrence and spatial distribution of organic micro-pollutants in a complex hydrogeological karst system during low flow and high flow periods, results of a two-year study. Sci Total Environ 443:438–445
- Directive 80/68/EEC. Council Directive of 17 December 1979 on the protection of groundwater against pollution caused by certain dangerous substances. OJ L 20, p 43, 26 Jan 1980. http://goo.gl/khSjGQ. Accessed Oct 2014
- Directive 91/676/EEC. Council Directive of 12 December 1991 concerning the protection of waters against pollution caused by nitrates from agricultural sources. OJ L 375, p 1, 31 Dec 1991. http://goo.gl/jFai76. Accessed Oct 2014
- 16. GOV/128/2009, de 28 de juliol, de revisió i designació de noves zones vulnerables en relació amb la contaminació per nitrats procedents de fonts agràries. Diari Oficial de la Generalitat de Catalunya 5435, pp 61692–61695, 4 Aug 2009. http://goo.gl/YDXRII. Accessed Oct 2014
- 17. Council Directive 91/414/ EEC of 15 July 1991 concerning the placing of plant protection products on the market. OJ EC. No L 230/1, pp 1–32, 19 Aug 1991. http://goo.gl/g83QUd. Accessed Oct 2014
- Directive 98/8/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 February 1998 concerning the placing of biocidal products on the market. OJ EC L123/1, pp 1–63, 24 April 1998. http://goo.gl/mjWwq7. Accessed Oct 2014
- Council Directive 98/83/EC of 3 November 1998 on the quality of water intended for human consumption. OJ EC L330/32, pp 32–54, 5 Dec 1998. http://goo.gl/Z8g5hr. Accessed Oct 2014
- 20. Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy. OJ EC L 327/1, pp 1–71, 22 Dec 2000. http://goo.gl/kc6Ptg. Accessed Oct 2014
- Directive 2006/118/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 December 2006 on the protection of groundwater against pollution and deterioration. OJ L 372, pp 19–31, 27 Dec 2006. http://goo.gl/ZL86v2. Accessed Oct 2014
- 22. Richardson SD, Ternes TA (2011) Water analysis: emerging contaminants and current issues. Anal Chem 83:4616–4648
- Richardson SD, Ternes TA (2014) Water analysis: emerging contaminants and current issues. Anal Chem 86:2813–2848
- Capdeville MJ, Budzinski H (2011) Trace-level analysis of organic contaminants in drinking waters and groundwaters. TrAC Trends Anal Chem 30:586–606
- 25. Jurado A, Mastroianni N, Vàzquez-Suñé E, Carrera J, Tubau I, Pujades E, Postigo C, de Alda ML, Barceló D (2012) Drugs of abuse in urban groundwater. A case study: Barcelona. Sci Total Environ 424:280–288
- 26. Köck-Schulmeyer M, Ginebreda A, Postigo C, Garrido T, Fraile J, López de Alda M, Barceló D (2014) Four-year advanced monitoring program of polar pesticides in groundwater of Catalonia (NE-Spain). Sci Total Environ 470–471:1087–1098
- López-Serna R, Jurado A, Vázquez-Suñé E, Carrera J, Petrović M, Barceló D (2013) Occurrence of 95 pharmaceuticals and transformation products in urban groundwaters underlying the metropolis of Barcelona, Spain. Environ Pollut 174:305–315
- 28. García-Galán MJ, Garrido T, Fraile J, Ginebreda A, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barceló D (2011) Application of fully automated online solid phase extraction-liquid chromatographyelectrospray-tandem mass spectrometry for the determination of sulfonamides and their acetylated metabolites in groundwater. Anal Bioanal Chem 399:795–806
- García-Galán MJ, Garrido T, Fraile J, Ginebreda A, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barceló D (2010) Simultaneous occurrence of nitrates and sulfonamide antibiotics in two ground water bodies of Catalonia (Spain). J Hydrol 383:93–101
- 30. Jurado A, Gago-Ferrero P, Vàzquez-Suñé E, Carrera J, Pujades E, Díaz-Cruz M, Barceló D (2014) Urban groundwater contamination by residues of UV filters. J Hazard Mater 271:141–149
- MAGRAMA Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Environment (2012) Environmental profile of Spain - chapter 2.9. Agriculture. http://goo.gl/2FNmDk. Accessed Oct 2014
- 32. Jurado A, Vàzquez-Suñé E, Carrera J, López de Alda M, Pujades E, Barceló D (2012) Emerging organic contaminants in groundwater in Spain: a review of sources, recent occurrence and fate in a European context. Sci Total Environ 440:82–94
- ACA Catalan Water Agency (2014) ACA website Data consultation. http://goo.gl/PksAzM. Accessed Oct 2014
- 34. Postigo C, López de Alda MJ, Barceló D, Ginebreda A, Garrido T, Fraile J (2010) Analysis and occurrence of selected medium to highly polar pesticides in groundwater of Catalonia (NE Spain): an approach based on on-line solid phase extraction-liquid chromatographyelectrospray-tandem mass spectrometry detection. J Hydrol 383:83–92
- 35. Kolpin DW, Battaglin WA, Conn KE, Furlong ET, Glassmeyer ST, Kalkhoff SJ, Meyer MT, Schnoebelen DJ (2009) Occurrence of transformation products in the environment. In: Boxall ABA (ed) Transformation Products of Synthetic Chemicals in the Environment, Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, Volume 2P. Springer, Berlin, pp 83–100
- 36. Reemtsma T, Alder L, Banasiak U (2013) Emerging pesticide metabolites in groundwater and surface water as determined by the application of a multimethod for 150 pesticide metabolites. Water Res 47:5535–5545
- Herrero-Hernández E, Andrades MS, Álvarez-Martín A, Pose-Juan E, Rodríguez-Cruz MS, Sánchez-Martín MJ (2013) Occurrence of pesticides and some of their degradation products in waters in a Spanish wine region. J Hydrol 486:234–245
- 38. Sánchez-González S, Pose-Juan E, Herrero-Hernández E, Álvarez-Martín A, Sánchez-Martín MJ, Rodríguez-Cruz S (2013) Pesticide residues in groundwaters and soils of agricultural areas in the Águeda River Basin from Spain and Portugal. Int J Environ Anal Chem 93:1585–1601
- 39. Directive 2013/39/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 12 August 2013 amending Directives 2000/60/EC and 2008/105/EC as regards priority substances in the field of water policy. OJ EU L226/1. http://goo.gl/YzXrQM. Accessed Oct 2014
- 40. Loos R, Locoro G, Comero S, Contini S, Schwesig D, Werres F, Balsaa P, Gans O, Weiss S, Blaha L, Bolchi M, Gawlik BM (2010) Pan-European survey on the occurrence of selected polar organic persistent pollutants in ground water. Water Res 44:4115–4126
- Gustafson DI (1989) Groundwater ubiquity score: a simple method for assessing pesticide leachability. Environ Toxicol Chem 8:339–357
- 42. Köck-Schulmeyer M, Villagrasa M, López de Alda M, Céspedes-Sánchez R, Ventura F, Barceló D (2013) Occurrence and behavior of pesticides in wastewater treatment plants and their environmental impact. Sci Total Environ 458–460:466–476
- 43. ACA Catalan Water Agency (2004) Files on initial characterization, pressures and impacts on groundwater bodies. http://goo.gl/IGF5Ec. Accessed Oct 2014
- 44. Sarmah AK, Meyer MT, Boxall ABA (2006) A global perspective on the use, sales, exposure pathways, occurrence, fate and effects of veterinary antibiotics (VAs) in the environment. Chemosphere 65:725–759

- 45. Kools SAE, Boxall ABA, Moltmann JF, Bryning G, Koschorreck J, Knacker T (2008) A ranking of European veterinary medicines based on environmental risks. Integr Environ Assess Manag 4:399–408
- 46. Baran W, Sochacka J, Wardas W (2006) Toxicity and biodegradability of sulfonamides and products of their photocatalytic degradation in aqueous solutions. Chemosphere 65:1295–1299
- Dolliver H, Gupta S (2008) Antibiotic losses in leaching and surface runoff from manureamended agricultural land. J Environ Qual 37:1227–1237
- 48. Hamscher G, Pawelzick HT, Höper H, Nau H (2005) Different behavior of tetracyclines and sulfonamides in sandy soils after repeated fertilization with liquid manure. Environ Toxicol Chem 24:861–868
- 49. Lee LS, Carmosini N, Sassman SA, Dion HM, Sepúlveda MS (2007) Agricultural contributions of antimicrobials and hormones on soil and water quality. In: Donald LS (ed) Advances in agronomy, vol 93. Academic Press, San Diego, pp 1–68
- Schmitt H, Haapakangas H, Van Beelen P (2005) Effects of antibiotics on soil microorganisms: time and nutrients influence pollution-induced community tolerance. Soil Biol Biochem 37:1882–1892
- 51. Gros M, Petrović M, Barceló D (2007) Wastewater treatment plants as a pathway for aquatic contamination by pharmaceuticals in the Ebro river basin (northeast Spain). Environ Toxicol Chem 26:1553–1562
- 52. Göbel A, McArdell CS, Joss A, Siegrist H, Giger W (2007) Fate of sulfonamides, macrolides, and trimethoprim in different wastewater treatment technologies. Sci Total Environ 372:361–371
- 53. Díaz-Cruz MS, García-Galán MJ, Barceló D (2008) Highly sensitive simultaneous determination of sulfonamide antibiotics and one metabolite in environmental waters by liquid chromatography-quadrupole linear ion trap-mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 1193:50–59
- Batt AL, Snow DD, Aga DS (2006) Occurrence of sulfonamide antimicrobials in private water wells in Washington County, Idaho, USA. Chemosphere 64:1963–1971
- 55. Zarfl C, Klasmeier J, Matthies M (2009) A conceptual model describing the fate of sulfadiazine and its metabolites observed in manure-amended soils. Chemosphere 77:720–726
- 56. Unold M, Šimůnek J, Kasteel R, Groeneweg J, Vereecken H (2009) Transport of manurebased applied sulfadiazine and its main transformation products in soil columns. Vadose Zone J 8:677–689
- 57. García-Galán MJ, Frömel T, Müller J, Peschka M, Knepper T, Díaz-Cruz S, Barceló D (2012) Biodegradation studies of N4-acetylsulfapyridine and N4-acetylsulfamethazine in environmental water by applying mass spectrometry techniques. Anal Bioanal Chem 402:2885–2896
- García-Galán MJ, Díaz-Cruz MS, Barceló D (2011) Occurrence of sulfonamide residues along the Ebro river basin. Removal in wastewater treatment plants and environmental impact assessment. Environ Int 37:462–473
- 59. García-Galán MJ, González Blanco S, López Roldán R, Díaz-Cruz S, Barceló D (2012) Ecotoxicity evaluation and removal of sulfonamides and their acetylated metabolites during conventional wastewater treatment. Sci Total Environ 437:403–412
- 60. Loos R, Carvalho R, António DC, Comero S, Locoro G, Tavazzi S, Paracchini B, Ghiani M, Lettieri T, Blaha L, Jarosova B, Voorspoels S, Servaes K, Haglund P, Fick J, Lindberg RH, Schwesig D, Gawlik BM (2013) EU-wide monitoring survey on emerging polar organic contaminants in wastewater treatment plant effluents. Water Res 47:6475–6487
- 61. Pal A, Gin KYH, Lin AYC, Reinhard M (2010) Impacts of emerging organic contaminants on freshwater resources: review of recent occurrences, sources, fate and effects. Sci Total Environ 408:6062–6069
- 62. Focazio MJ, Kolpin DW, Barnes KK, Furlong ET, Meyer MT, Zaugg SD, Barber LB, Thurman ME (2008) A national reconnaissance for pharmaceuticals and other organic wastewater contaminants in the United States - II) Untreated drinking water sources. Sci Total Environ 402:201–216

GIS-Based Software Platform for Managing Hydrogeochemical Data

Violeta Velasco, Enric Vázquez-Suñé, Mar Alcaraz, Alejandro Serrano-Juan, Isabel Tubau, Xavier Sánchez-Vila, Daniel Fernàndez-Garcia, Teresa Garrido, and Josep Fraile

Abstract A GIS-based software platform was developed to arrange all the available hydrogeochemical data into a comprehensive structure and provide support for its proper storage, management, analysis and interpretation. This platform is composed of a geospatial database and a set of analytical instruments integrated in a graphical user interface that coordinates its activities with several software. The geospatial database was specifically developed to store and manage organic and inorganic chemical records, as well as other physical parameters. The analytical tools cover a great range of methodologies for querying, comparing and interpreting groundwater quality parameters. This tools enable us to obtain automatically several calculations such as charge balance error and ionic ratios as well as calculations of various common hydrogeochemical diagrams (e.g. Schöeller-Berkaloff, Piper, Stiff) to which the spatial components are added. Moreover, it allows performing a complete statistical analysis of the data (e.g. generation of correlation matrix and bivariate analysis). Finally, this platform allows handling

V. Velasco (🖂), E. Vázquez-Suñé, and I. Tubau

e-mail: viogeo@cid.csic.es

M. Alcaraz and A. Serrano-Juan GHS, Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research (IDAEA-CSIC), Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

Department of Geotechnical Engineering and Geosciences, GHS, Universitat Politecnica de Catalunya (UPC-Barcelona Tech), Jordi Girona 1-3, 080034 Barcelona, Spain

X. Sánchez-Vila and D. Fernàndez-Garcia Department of Geotechnical Engineering and Geosciences, GHS, Universitat Politecnica de Catalunya (UPC-Barcelona Tech), Jordi Girona 1-3, 080034 Barcelona, Spain

T. Garrido and J. Fraile ACA, Agència Catalana de l'Aigua, Provença 204, Barcelona, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 43: 91–116, DOI 10.1007/698_2015_368, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 26 June 2015

GHS, Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research (IDAEA-CSIC), Jordi Girona 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

relevant auxiliary information in an efficient way, and it is coupled to a number of technologies such as hydrogeochemical modelling or geostatistical analysis. The software platform was used in a case study involving several urban aquifers located into the metropolitan area of Barcelona (Spain) to illustrate its performance.

Keywords Catalonia, Geospatial database, GIS, Groundwater management, Hydrogeochemical data, Metropolitan area of Barcelona

Contents

1	Introduction	92		
2	Background: Existing Software Instruments for Hydrogeochemical Analysis			
3	The Software Platform			
	3.1 Design Specifications	95		
	3.2 General Description	96		
4	Application to the Metropolitan Area of Barcelona (Spain)	106		
5	Conclusions and Discussion			
Re	ferences	112		

1 Introduction

The availability and accessibility of water must be addressed from both qualitative and quantitative standpoints. A large number of factors may deteriorate the groundwater quality, including among others the expansion of the irrigation activities, industrialisation and urbanisation [1, 2]. A thorough and comprehensive evaluation of the negative impacts of all potentially hazardous activities is of paramount importance for the protection of groundwater bodies and ecosystems associated [3]. Compliance with standard regulatory normatives such as the European Water Framework Directive (WFD) requires continuous and intensive monitoring, thus resulting in large data sets of many potential physico-chemical parameters. Such data sets need to be routinely evaluated and interpreted by water agencies, stakeholders and assessors to provide answers to questions such as (a) the processes controlling the chemical composition of groundwater and the corresponding spatiotemporal distribution, including the delineation of the recharge area; (b) the water quality signature and how it may relate to the geological and hydrogeological setup along the travel path, as well as the soil use; and (c) the regional background composition of groundwater [4].

Water managers, stakeholders and decision-makers that are assigned with these tasks may face several difficulties. These may arise from (i) having to deal with large data sets, spanning many years; (ii) integrating data from different sources, gathered with different data access techniques and of eventually different formats; (iii) managing data with various degrees of accuracy and with different temporal and spatial extent; (iv) correlating groundwater quality information with other relevant information (e.g. geology, geophysics) so as to further investigate the

underlying hydrogeochemical processes involved; and (v) integrating into the database the resulting interpretations and modelling efforts with the necessary documentation to be potentially used by third parties [5].

Handling and analysing such large amount of spatio-temporal information call for a unified database combined with a number of efficient technologies and methodologies capable of comparing, classifying and interpreting large data sets. Conventional methodologies, including preparation of hydrogeochemical diagrams, spatio-temporal representation of the data as well as uni- and multivariate analysis, are convenient tools for this purpose [6]. Nevertheless, the selection of the proper methodology for efficient chemical data handling is not straightforward and cannot be easily determined a priori because it depends on the type, quality, spatial distribution and potential use of data [7, 8]. Furthermore, the complexity and variety of processes associated with the vast amount of chemical species monitored hinder the analysis.

We present a software platform developed in a GIS environment for a comprehensive hydrogeochemical data analysis. It integrates a geospatial database that arranges all the available spatio-temporal dependent data into a coherent and logical structure and incorporates a set of analytical instruments that cover a wide range of methodologies for querying, interpreting and comparing groundwater quality parameters. It allows handling relevant auxiliary information (hydrology, geology, climate, etc.) in an efficient way, and it is coupled to a number of technologies such as hydrogeochemical modelling or geostatistical analysis. The software platform is here illustrated with a case study of the metropolitan area of Barcelona (Spain).

2 Background: Existing Software Instruments for Hydrogeochemical Analysis

Commercial and research instruments that assist the storage, handling, analysis and interpretation of hydrogeochemical data are found in different software packages. A short review of some of these existing packages is here presented.

Existing software that provide tools for correlation analysis, trend analysis and statistical analysis that enable the user to classify water samples include, without being exhaustive, SSPS [9] STATISTICA [10], SAS/STAT software [11] Stata [12], Minitab [13], Systat [14] or Microsoft Excel and MS Excel add-ins like BiPlot 1.1 [15].

Specific software packages include several methodologies to analyse and interpret hydrogeochemical data by means of the creation of classical diagrams and other calculations for ionic balance or ionic ratios. These include free software codes such as GW-Chart [16], EasyQuim [17], Piper SpreadSheet [18] or INAQUAS [19]. The last one also facilitates the classification of chemical species according to water quality norms. In particular, AqQA [20], apart from diagrams and ionic ratios, allows the comparison of samples to laboratory standards or regulatory limits. In the same line, Logicels [21] is a free software that performs convectional hydrogeochemical diagrams, calculation of ionic balance and statistical analysis but also includes additional features such as isotopic calculations and is linked to hydrogeochemical modelling software such as PHREEQC [22].

Other software includes tools and methodologies to manage and visualise hydrogeochemical data. Some examples are AQUACHEM [23], ChemPoint Professional Edition [24] and HyCA [25]. The last one includes a database and a map manager (visualisation aid) and facilitates the creation of diagrams, time series analysis and the creation of 3D and 2D maps (planar and cross sections) for all physico-chemical parameters included in the database. AQUACHEM has a fully customisable parameter database and a complete set of analysis, calculation and modelling tools. Additionally, it allows generating standard graphical plots and data visualisation by means of a combination of geological and hydrogeological maps; furthermore, it is coupled to PHREEQC. Finally, ChemPoint includes a variety of tools for entering the hydrochemical data in a structured database and allows the user to obtain different hydrochemical graphs and to obtain contour parameter concentration maps.

The need for a comprehensive management, visualisation and retrieval of spatiotemporal data has triggered the development of geographical information systems (GIS) applications to hydrogeology [26]. Due to advances in computer capabilities and data availability, a number of GIS-based applications have been developed since the turn of the century for hydrogeological analysis (e.g. [27–29]). In two recent applications, both developed in a GIS environment [8] presented a method to map groundwater contaminant concentration distribution based on different interpolation techniques and [30] developed a spatial multi-criteria decision analysis software tool to select suitable sites for managed aquifer recharge (MAR). Another example of GIS-based application is ArcHydro Groundwater tools [31], coupling the ArcHydro Groundwater data model [32] with an ArcGIS [33] platform for managing, archiving and visualising hydrogeological information.

3 The Software Platform

The software platform was intended to perform a conventional hydrogeochemical analysis, including data check, diagrams and ionic ratios, and facilitate the visualisation, processing and interpretation of the hydrogeochemical data, including a number of capabilities: (1) all tools are directly programmed in a GIS environment as in-built utilities to allow for efficiency, and (2) it incorporates new instruments for hydrochemical analysis to combine diagrams, specific queries and calculations. We first present the technical requirements and specifications and in subsequent subsections how these specifications were implemented in the final software.

3.1 Design Specifications

- I. Management and storage of spatial features and time-dependent data on a geospatial database, supporting:
 - 1. Management of different data derived from both field data, analysis of water samples at the laboratory and groundwater models (also representative scales are quite different)
 - 2. Integration of different types of information (e.g. geological, meteorological, hydrological)
 - 3. Standardisation and harmonisation of data, including specific mechanisms for facilitating data transcription, managing different formats, editing data and dealing with unit conversion
 - 4. Exportation of archived hydrochemical data to be used as input in external software
- II. Data processing and analysis using:
 - 1. GIS environment which provides tools to (1) estimate/validate the spatial distribution of the chemical/physical components; (2) generate spatio-temporal queries and calculations; (3) visualise and operate with different types of data settings; (4) create interactive mapping; (5) perform an effective assessment of the legitimacy, consistency and correlation of the input data; (6) apply index overlay techniques; and (7) allow for further analytical tools for spatial analysis, geostatistical analysis, etc.
 - 2. Specific tools that facilitate the hydrogeochemical analysis by using data quality control and conventional graphical analysis techniques
 - 3. Statistical tools to preprocess (e.g. detection and visualisation of outliers) and validate data (e.g. deletion of obvious transcription errors and of duplicates)
- III. Interaction with external software for further analysis:
 - 1. Geostatistical software packages such as SGeMs [34] and GSLIB code [35]
 - Groundwater modelling packages such as TRANSIN [36, 37] and Visual TRANSIN [38]
 - 3. Hydrogeochemical modelling packages such as PHREEQC, NETPATH [39] and MIX [40]
- IV. Post-processing instruments to facilitate the integration of the results obtained from analysing and interpreting the hydrogeochemical data included in the database in the same GIS environment or in an external platform



Fig. 1 Graphical user interface (GUI) of the software platform. It is composed of two main modules: ArcGIS Tools and Statistical Tools. *Lower right inset* shows a sketch representing the toolbar implemented in ArcMap (ArcGIS Tools) and its principal commands. *Lower left inset* shows the query form created to query the hydrogeochemical data of the HYDOR database for performing statistical analysis

3.2 General Description

The requirements enumerated in the foregoing section were adopted as guidelines during the design of the present software platform. This platform is composed of a geospatial database (termed HYDOR) and a set of tools allowing graphical and statistical analysis of hydrogeochemical parameters divided into two modules (ArcGIS Tools and Statistical Tools) integrated in a graphical user interface (GUI) that coordinates its activities with several external software (ArcGIS, MS Excel, MS Access). A sketch of the graphical interface is shown in Fig. 1

3.2.1 Geospatial Database

The database HYDOR represents geospatial information based on the Personal Geodatabase structure provided by ArcGIS [7]. This is a MS Access database that

can store, query and manage a vast multiformity of attribute data, geographical features, raster data, CAD data, surface modelling or 3D data, utility and transportation network systems, GPS coordinates and survey measurements [41].

This framework offers a comprehensive interface for geospatial data management and the possibility of exchanging geospatial data through XML, thus extending its interoperability [42]. Moreover, although the data model of the hydrogeological database described here was implemented within ArcGIS, most of these concepts are flexible enough to enable implementation into other platforms.

Description of Data Contained

The hydrogeological database is composed of different data sets that store a variety of spatial and nonspatial data necessary for a complete hydrogeological study. The data model of HYDOR is conceptualised in 8 main components: Geology (e.g. borehole lithological description, stratigraphic units, depth to bedrock), Geophysics (e.g. diagraphies), Hydrogeology (e.g. well descriptions, springs, pump rates, hydrogeochemical data), Hydrology (e.g. rivers, lakes, sea), Hydrometeorology (e.g. precipitation, temperature), Environment (e.g. protection zones), Regional Geography (e.g. topography) and Water Management Administration (e.g. River Basin Districts). Each of these components is represented in the geospatial database by a feature data set composed of a group of feature classes (points, lines and polygons). In addition, several tables are used to represent and store the feature attributes and the measurements obtained. A complete description of this database can be found in [43-45]; nevertheless a summary of the database components and their main structural characteristics is given below for illustration purposes. A sketch of some of the components of the database related with the management of hydrochemical data can be visualised in Fig. 2.

In HYDOR, each sample is associated to a point-type entity included in the feature class termed *DB_Points*. The main attributes of each point are the geographical coordinates with a description of the different names used to identify those points (potential different sources of data), the type of sampling point (e.g. well, spring, surface water body), point accessibility and other administrative information (e.g. owner).

Physico-chemical parameters together with its measured units are listed in a permissible value list (DB_LibChemParam). Organic and inorganic compounds, as well as isotopes, can be entered into the database. In addition, parameters, such as temperature, Eh, pH, electrical conductivity, alkalinity, etc., are correctly registered. Further information about existing standard normative (e.g. Water Framework Directive, Groundwater Directive, Nitrate Directive) is also included to allow classifying hydrogeochemical data according to given thresholds in the attribute tables *DB_LibNorm* and *DB_LibchemParamNorm*. Each sample is included in accordance with sampling date, campaign and depth in the table *DB_ChemSample*. Thereafter, hydrogeochemical measurements for each sample are stratified in



Fig. 2 Sketch showing the simplified conceptual diagram representing some contents of the HYDOR database related with hydrogeochemical data. The 1 and 1*. represent the cardinality of the relationship between tables

accordance with sampling data analysis, parameter and value and are included as a table in *DB* ChemMeasurements.

Besides, other relevant information such as sampling methodology, the characteristics of the measurement site (e.g. well properties), analysis protocol, classification and detection limits for different laboratories can be readily included in the database. Finally, information about the campaign ($DB_Campaign$), the project ($DB_Project$) and the original source of information references ($DB_References$) are structured and stored in the database.

Incorporating Data to the Database

The management system of the geodatabase enables importing information from different spatial or nonspatial databases or spreadsheets and in different formats. Massive digital data can be transferred to the geospatial database through the use of intermediate conversion tables or existing wizards of ArcGIS following an established entry protocol. If the data are handwritten, they should be introduced manually using assisted menus.

In order to avoid errors when introducing data and to improve data harmonisation, data control procedures were developed. For instance, several permissible value lists were introduced to facilitate encoding, following recommendations of the existing standards and directives such as geological data specifications of the European Directive INSPIRE [46], the OneGeology project [47], the

Australian National Groundwater Data Transfer Standard [48], the Common Implementation Strategy for the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC) [49], GeoSciML [50], Water ML.2.0 [51] and the Observations and Measurements standard [52]. In addition, some classes and their attributes provided by those standards were imported to guarantee future data exchanges.

Besides, some validation checks can be performed to ensure consistency of the hydrochemical data, allowing the detection of erroneous data. Furthermore, the platform allows the visualisation and manipulation of censored values (concentrations of some compounds reported as 'non-detected', 'less than' or 'greater than' [6]). The user has the option to readily substitute the censored values by 0.5 times the detection limit (following [53]). It is noted that this procedure is not automatic and that the user can choose other methodologies to deal with censored values. Also, other utilities to facilitate the conversion of measurement units were developed to avoid inconsistencies among different data sets.

Querying the Spatio-temporal Data

To facilitate data retrieval and expedite the spatio-temporal data analysis, a set of GIS-based tools and other specific instruments were developed (see Sects. 3.2.2 and 3.2.3). Other spatial and nonspatial queries may also be generated from the geodatabase by employing the standardised MS Access query builder and/or by using the inherent capabilities of ArcGIS. Interested readers are referred to further documentation of ArcGIS and MS Access to make other queries.

3.2.2 GIS Tools

This set of analysis tools was developed as an extension of the ArcMap environment (ArcGIS; ESRI). They were created with ArcObjects, which is a developer kit for ArcGIS, based on Component Object Model (COM), and programmed in Visual Basic using the Visual Studio (Microsoft) environment (see [43–45). They were intended to manage, visualise, analyse, interpret and pre- and post-process the hydrochemical data stored in the spatial database.

The toolkit has the form of a toolbar integrated into the ArcMap environment (see Fig. 1) and consists of five instruments: (I) *Hydrogeochemical Calculator Tools*, (II) *Hydrogeochemical Diagram Tools*, (III) *Hydrogeochemical Data Analysis Tools*, (IV) *Normative Analysis Tool*, (V) *MIX Tools*, (VI) *EasyQuim Tools* and (V) *Hydrogeochemical Data Editor Tools*. In addition, ArcGIS inherent commands such as add data and select together with the full menu of the extension of *Geostatistical Analyst* are integrated into the same customised toolbar. The reported tools are presented next.

Hydrogeochemical Calculator Tools

This application consists of a query form that allows the user to perform the following operations for a preselected data set:

- (a) Calculates charge balance error (CBE) for each sample stored in the database. If one of the major ions is not available for a given sample, this computation cannot be done. Nevertheless, some conventions and assumptions can be used in balancing the analysis such as the estimation of HCO3 concentration from alkalinity values.
- (b) Calculates ionic ratios: Mg/Ca, Na/K, SO4/Cl and Cl/HCO3, icb index (disequilibrium chlorides and alkaline index) and SAR index (sodium adsorption ratio).
- (c) Automatically converts all units to meq/L and calculates the relative percentage of a cation or anion.
- (d) Displays the results of queries in a customisable table in ArcMap, containing all the aforementioned calculations, available for being exported for further analysis into MS Word or MS Excel.

The selection of the hydrogeochemical data to be analysed is made in two steps. The first one involves selecting a set of points on the screen that represents water sampling locations (points from *DB_Points*). This can be done by using any of the available select commands (e.g. select by location, by attributes, etc.) provided by ArcGIS or else the command already integrated into the toolbar (select by rectangle). In the second step the user selects the sampling period or periods to be included in the query form.

Hydrogeochemical Diagram Tools

The graphical methods are designed to simultaneously represent the total dissolved solid concentration and the relative proportion of certain major ionic species. This set of instruments (represented by different buttons in the toolbar) was designed to facilitate the creation of standard hydrogeochemical diagrams for groundwater chemical analysis and interpretation. Piper, Schöeller-Berkaloff, salinity and modified Stiff diagrams can be created automatically for the selected data set (only if the data necessary for the creation of each diagram are available).

As with the *Hydrogeochemical Calculator Tools*, the selection of the data is done by clicking several points in the map for a given interval of time or else a given point and different periods of time. The resulting diagrams and the attached information (well, data and concentration values expressed in meq/L) can be visualised on the screen in a customisable table or exported as a text file (MS Word) or into MS Excel:



Fig. 3 Map representing the Stiff diagrams obtained for several aquifers located in the metropolitan area of Barcelona (Spain) for the samples collected during 2006–2007 (see also Sect. 4 for further explanations). This map was obtained with the aid of the Hydrochemical Diagram Tools. The base map was provided by IGC (Geological Survey of Catalonia). Coordinates are in Universal Transverse Mercator (UTM), zone 31

- (a) Stiff diagram command
 - This command enables generating individual diagrams for a water sample or Stiff diagram distribution on maps (Fig. 3). The Stiff diagram [54] is widely used to display the variation of several ions in the same map. However, when high variability in major ion concentrations exists, a tool to harmonise the size displayed in the map is necessary [55]. Taking this into



Fig. 4 Piper diagrams obtained by using Hydrochemical Diagram Tools for the samples collected during 2006–2007 and corresponding to the different study areas (see also Sect. 4 for further explanations): (a) BESOS, (b) BCNCENTER, (c) BCNLLOB, (d) COLL and (e) BDN

account, the representation of the Stiff diagram in the map can be customised by selecting diverse concentration scales.

(b) Piper diagram tool

This command enables us to obtain automatically Piper [56] diagrams for the selected samples (Fig. 4). The Piper diagram is a most widely graphical form and displays relative concentration of the major anions and cations on two separate trilinear plots, together with a central diamond plot where the points from the two trilinear plots are projected [6].

(c) Schöeller-Berkaloff diagram

This tool allows us to generate the Schöeller-Berkaloff logarithmic diagram (Fig. 5) for the selected samples. This diagram allows the major ions of many samples to be represented on a single graph, in which samples with similar trends can be detected.

- (d) Salinity diagram
 - This command generates automatically salinity diagrams. This diagram joins the calculated values of SAR index with the electrical conductivity and represents them in a single graph on a logarithmic scale.



Fig. 5 Schöeller-Berkaloff diagrams obtained by using Hydrochemical Diagram Tools for the samples collected during 2006–2007 and corresponding to the different study areas (see also Sect. 4 for further explanations): (a) BESÒS, (b) BCNCENTER, (c) BCNLLOB, (d) COLL and (e) BDN

Hydrogeochemical Data Analysis Tools

This tool allows using a set of methodologies for querying, interpreting and comparing physico-chemical parameters measured for the selected samples:

- (a) Analysing data. The query form enables the user to apply one or several query criteria (sampling point, sample, campaign, time interval, physico-chemical parameter) and to combine them for advanced queries on the data stored in the HYDOR geospatial database. Results of the query are shown in a list form where the user can also select the desired data for further queries (see following paragraphs) or else can be exported for further calculations or reporting into MS Excel or MS Word.
- (b) Generating maps. This command allows us to obtain the minimum, maximum, average and standard deviation for each selected parameter, for a given interval of time and for a point or a group of selected sampling points, and to represent these values in a map in *shapefile* format. The number of samples used to compute the statistics is also displayed in the map. Results can be used for further statistical and geostatistical analyses in the same ArcMap environment (using *Geostatistical Analyst menu* already integrated into the toolbar) or

can be exported to other external platforms. Additionally, further useful representations such as maps of *Pie* diagram or *Stacked* charts for the selected parameters can be obtained by using the inherent commands of ArcMap.

(c) *Plotting graphs.* This tool enables the user to explore whether correlations exist between two or more physico-chemical parameters, generating graphs where the temporal component is also added.

Normative Analysis Tool

This allows the user to obtain thematic maps for the queried parameters, classified according to the threshold approach established by a given guideline (e.g. Water Framework Directive). This enables identifying areas where some chemical species exceed a prespecified limit.

MIX Tool

MIX is an external code that allows the evaluation of mixing ratios using the concentration of samples assuming that these come from a mixing of recharge sources (known as end members) in an unknown proportion and fully accounting for data uncertainty.

The tool command allows obtaining the necessary information for the selected points and time intervals and transfers automatically all the required information to the MIX software (see Fig. 6). The selection of hydrogeochemical data to be analysed by this software is performed in three steps: (1) point(s), (2) sampling campaigns and (3) end members.

EasyQuim Tool

This command enables retrieving the information and exporting data into program EasyQuim, which is a free software developed as a plug-in in MS Excel (thus offering a great portability) to draw convectional graphical methods (Piper, salinity, Schöeller-Berkaloff and modified Stiff diagrams) as well as tables for CBE, icb index, SAR index and ionic ratios. Finally, the code supplies input data exportable to other GIS platforms to visualise Stiff diagrams.

Hydrogeochemical Data Editor Tools

This instrument enables visualising and editing information corresponding to a given sampling point by selecting it in the map. As a result, the user can consult and edit the type of sampling site (well, spring, river, etc.), the characteristics of the campaign (e.g. date, observations) and the measurements available at this point

idt View Bookmarks Insert	Selection Geoprocessing	Customize Windo	ows Help			
D Large Borel-lole Diagram BHD	Medium BoreHole Diagram B	HD Small BoreHole Die	ogram 🔬 😝 LAL SubUnits I	Labels Edit XSection XSection	S XSection Projected XSection Projects	ed Without Profile
DALLARYIN	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1			12282	the set was an an easy - (Ching	ABI
BO FEE CAL	. I & . I comment					o so as B
		10	वराणमहारू			
・トトリアアない後日	SIF車×す(直層)	E 8				
Contants	0 × 1		AND THE PART OF A DESCRIPTION OF A DESCR	THE R. P. LEWIS CO., NAME OF TAXABLE		
승 🐥 🖆					/ \×	A RA CAR
AYERS	and the second	TO Const	atistical Analysta		🗷 🖳 🧑 M 🤒 Holo 🖉	
DB_Foints			austical Analyst.	-7 m 🖸 🚾 🚾 🗸	Help a telp	and the second second
•		A PROPERTY	AT I DE CONTRA	al service states		
8 Servider Raster KGC						
Query	THE PERSON NO	C - BOOM			Contraction of the Contraction o	
Tere Query				13 Marcos	CT-MONT	
Choose your line interval				1000	General Data	
Depindeter Agree .01	l de enero de 1200 • Ded e	tele: Lores . 15 de dicient	ten de 2014 + Su	Amit State	A New of Ford Members	
Farameter Query				10.6	Hait of the Periods	Load the template
Choose parameters					Num. of Samples 4	-
Patani	* [a]	Carlos Sod		343	Num. of Species 2	Add Colc. Add Sid. De
PLAND		ec.]		1884) 1		
Skots				1543	Selected Data for MD	Canalysis
						A Real Property of the second s
[TAC	+				d E Add Restrictions	Change sample name
TAC. Mix With Selection	•				Add Bestingtons	
196. Mar Wels Sciences Subscripted to be a Mar David Device	· ·				Add Bestin Control	Update / Refresh
LAC We Wish Selector Select Viells for Ma Canel Report	. Ma Solucion				Cod Menter Pat	Update / Refresh
LAC Mr With Selector Select Viells for Ne Carol Report Gary Resds	- Ma Selector				Add Instal Couldres	Update / Refresh Update
LAC Mr With Selector Select Viells for Ne Carol Report Gary Result Select AL Developt AL	• Ma Solucion				Cuttering Pot ADRICA_020 Yes	Update / Refresh Sanule / Rot KFR, CUPOL Yes Ky: 10, 2012 Yes Sod Yes
Lik: We Web Selector Select Wells for Ne Carol Report Garry Result Select Mill Develop Mill Select Mill Carol	• Ma Solucion	ie Ha Sanuje			C Of C Add Electric Country of C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C	Update / Refresh Update / Refresh KMPR_COPM Tes hysts-2007 Tes Solida, (20 Tes
IX: He With Selector Select Hells for Mix Eard Report Gamy Results Select All Develop All U. Viel Core V. ADVIN Selector All Core Selector	His Solution	te Ha Sanu/e 5/2005			Add Henter Coulder	Update / Refresh Update / Refresh KMR (2004) Tes by 16 2012 Yes by 16 2012 Yes Sed Yes KNIG4_020 Yes
Link: We With Selector Select Viells for Me David Report Gary Result Deselect MI Deselect MI M. Phol Viel ACVIT Viel ACVIT Viel ACVIT Viel ACVIT	Ha Solution	te Ha Sanyle 1/2006 • 5/2007 •		-	And Bester Courses	Update / Refresh Update / Refresh Brote Pol Sprote Fiel Obury Pol Solo Yes William Solo Yes Exercised 200 Yes
Link Min With Sciences Selectivities for Min Earch Report Garry Result Generativities Deminstration Generativities Deminstration V ADVR V ADVR V ADVR V ADVR V ADVR	Hitz Solection	te Illa Sarqie 5/2007 1/2008 5/2007 1/2008 5/2007		-	And Sector Contractions	Uddet / Rcfresh Innie Piol. Second Piol.
List: No Thirds Selector Select Viellis for Mis Earch Report Garry Result Select All	His Solecton	te Ha Sanyle 1/2006 • • 1/2007 (v) 1 Hand to 1/2008 Sanyle 1/2008 • •		-	Add Sends to the Send Sector S	Output and mini- Update / Afresh Danke Mini- March 10, 2010 Yes Status Mini-
List: No. Whith Selection Selectivities for Mix Eard Report Comp Review Selectivities Develocities	Ites Selector Hite Selector ADPR_CUPRED ADP	te Ha Senute 1/2006 ••• 1/2007 •• 1/2008 Senute 1/2008 ••• 1/2008 ••• 1/2008 ••• 1/2008 •••			Add Resholding Add Resholding	Object and served Operation Usedist / Refresh Service Field Straight Service Field Service Straight Service Service Field Yes Straight Service Service Service Yes Straight Service Service New Yes Straight Service M New Yes
Link: Link: Solution No Hittle Solution Externition for Mile Data Report Gamy Heads Connected Mile Solution Address Connected Mile M. M. Mark Connected Mile M. Mark Connected Mile M. Mark Connected Mile M. M. Mark Connected Mile	His Selection.	r Ha Serule 1/2000			And inside Section 1	Update / Afresh Danke Million
Link: Mail Schenbarn Marchina Schenbarn Schenbarn Schenbarn Schenbarn Schenbarn Schenbarn Schenbarn Schenbarn Schenbarn Schenbarn Schenbarn March Schenbarn Schenbarn Schenbarn March Schenbarn Schenbarn March Schenbarn Schenbarn March Schenbarn Schenbarn March Schenbarn Schenbarn March Schenbarn Schenbarn March Schenbarn Schenbarn March Schenbarn Schenbarn March Schenbarn Schenbarn March Schenbarn Schenbarn	Its Selection Aper, Sumph En Aper, Sumph Market Aper, Sum Market	is Ho Service 1/2006 • • • 1/2007 • • • 1/2008 • • •			Add Reshetory Add Re	Coup arange area Coup arange area Coupler / Refresh
Link: Barting Sciences Martine Martine Science Martine Science Martine Science Martine Science Martine Science Martine Science Martine Science Martine V Martine Science Martine V Martine Science	Item Sender Dec exten - Sender Dec adere, cysreten In Adere, cysreten In adere, cysreten In In In In adere, cysreten In In In In In adere, cysreen In	e Ba Sevula 1/2000 • • 5/2007 • 1/2008 • • 1/2008 • • 1/2008 • • 2/2009 • • 2/2009 • • 2/2009 • • 2/2009 • • 2/2009 • •			And least solars	Update / Affresh Update / Affresh Bander Pipel Mill (Marcold (
Link Host Schnam Selectivitis fur Mik Sand Reper Selectivitis fur Mik Sand Reper Selectivitis fur Mik Sand Reper Mik Selectivitis fur Mik Sand Reper Selectivitis fur Mik Sand Reper Mik Selectivitis fur Mik Selectivitis fur Mik Selectivitis fur Mik Selectivitis fur Mik Selectivities Mik Selectivities Mik Selectivities Mik Selectivities Mik Selectivities Mik S	Ites Solution Hits Solution Addre, Carrello Addre, Carrello <td< td=""><td>r BL Sanyle 12006 T 2009 T 2009 T 2000 T 200</td><td></td><td>i</td><td>Add Seniertanse Add Se</td><td>Cooperation and a constraint of the constra</td></td<>	r BL Sanyle 12006 T 2009 T 2009 T 2000 T 200		i	Add Seniertanse Add Se	Cooperation and a constraint of the constra
Link: Description More This Advance Select vehicles for all a face of figures Courty House Select Advance Select Advance Select Advance Select Advance Select Advance V Advance	ніп - Беній Силонія ніп - Беній Силонія ін Анга, Силенія ін Ан	is 16.5em/s 10007 0007 00007 0000 0000 0000 0000 0		MT	Add Instantons	Output and many Update / Affresh Bandy Pipe Affresh Bandy Bandy Pipe Affresh Bandy Bandy Pipe
Line Description Mart Think Schware Extended in the Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report March Add Martin Add Schware Select Add in the Mar Doub Report V Add Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report V Add Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report V Add Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report V Add Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report V Add Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report V Add Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report V Add Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report V Add Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report V Add Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report V Add Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report V Add Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report V Add Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report V Add Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report V Add Mar Doub Report Select Add in the Mar Doub Report <td< td=""><td>Introduction Sector sign 6 mesh for Artific COVIND 10 Artific CovIND Artific CovIND 10 Artific CovIND</td><td>Ko Service Ko Service Servic</td><td></td><td>Mi</td><td>Check files Check files Check files</td><td>Cooperation and a constraint of the constra</td></td<>	Introduction Sector sign 6 mesh for Artific COVIND 10 Artific CovIND	Ko Service Ko Service Servic		Mi	Check files Check files Check files	Cooperation and a constraint of the constra
UK Desc Mo Tilles Schotzen Schotzen Schotzen Schotzen Ourry Huns Schotzen Schotzen Schotzen M. Weiter Schotzen V. Weiter Schotzen V. Antrop Schotzen V. Antrop<	Kit Sidestan Kit Sidestan Ker - Sande Dr. Aren, Cortes 1 Aren, Corte	* He Sanje 10006	Mir Janifesta	Mi	Add Interferences	Comparison research C
Line Line Mar Thin Schemen Extern Velich In: Ma Dual Report Garry Mach Schema All Service All Development All March KAPM V Adversion	Introduction Interview Interview Mark Editorities Addres, Carriero	k Saw/x V200 V20	No žedyna 🛛	Mj	Check files Check fil	Comparison form C
UK Description More This Science Science of the	Kit Sidekter Kerner, Sorreiter Arren, Corrent III Arren, Corrent IIII Arren, Corrent IIII Arren, Corrent IIII	te Bu Sanja 10000	Ma Jandyana 🛛 🗍	MJ MJ	Add Interferences	Conje instant reme Under / Artersh Provider / Artersh Provi

Fig. 6 Sketch showing the query form of the command MIX Tools

(data of sampling, parameters, etc.). The user can add new campaigns and new measurements associated to this sampling point using the same query form. The introduction of these data can be done massively using CVS files or 'one by one'.

3.2.3 Statistical Tools

This set of tools enables the user to perform a complete statistical data analysis. Again, it offers a query form that allows choosing a time interval and a set of parameters or else an entire time series for one or more parameters (Fig. 1). The result of this query is automatically exported to an MS Excel spreadsheet. By using a set of commands, the following calculations can be generated for the selected data set:

- (a) Standard statistical analysis. This command provides a statistical univariate analysis: mean, standard deviation, minimum, maximum, variance, quartiles, kurtosis and skewness coefficient. It also creates histogram, scatter plots and box plots.
- (b) *Parameter correlation matrix*. This creates the R2 correlation coefficient as well as the covariance and correlation matrices of the selected parameters analysed two by two.

(c) *Bivariate statistical analysis.* This generates correlation graphics for each pair of selected parameters.

Although this module operates independently (even though this module can be accessed directly from ArcMap using the tool termed *Link to Statistical Tools* included in the toolbar), the results obtained here can be exported to ArcGIS to perform additional analyses. Moreover, all the output from the *Hydrochemical Data Analysis Tools* and exported to MS Excel can be processed here for a more complete statistical analysis.

4 Application to the Metropolitan Area of Barcelona (Spain)

This software platform was used for the management and evaluation of the quality of groundwater in several study areas (e.g. [44, 45]) located in the metropolitan area of Barcelona (MAB), which is on the Mediterranean coast in NE Spain (Fig. 7). Geologically, MAB is formed by a coastal plain bounded by two deltaic formations and an elevated area, the Catalan Coastal Ranges. The Catalan Coastal Ranges (mainly Palaeozoic rocks) in this area display a NE-SW direction and are limited by NE-SW and NW-SE normal and directional faults [57].

The actual plain mainly consists of Quaternary formations that overlie the Pliocene series, mainly composed of marine blue marls and sandy marls [58, 59]. The Quaternary formation can be divided into lower Quaternary (locally termed *tricicle*) and upper Quaternary. The *tricicle* is made up of three cycles, from bottom to top, red clays, yellow silts and calcareous muds and calcrete [60]. The upper Quaternary is mainly constituted of torrential, alluvial and foothill deposits, where gravels and sands with a high proportion of clay matrix are present. Hydrogeologically, the Barcelona Coastal Plain can be regarded as an aquifer with a high vertical heterogeneity.

The Barcelona Coastal Plain separates the two deltaic formations (corresponding to rivers Besòs and Llobregat), which consist of two Holocene depositional systems that were also active during the Pleistocene [61–63]. In general, these deltaic formations consist of Quaternary materials and have similar characteristics consisting of several aquifer units separated by less permeable units. Quaternary materials in the Besòs Delta overlie a substratum formed by rocks of Palaeozoic (slates and granite) and Tertiary (matrix-rich gravels and sandstones of Miocene age and massive grey marls attributed to the Pliocene) age. The Quaternary of the Llobregat Delta River mainly rests unconformably on Paleozoic to Pliocene deposits [62].

The aquifers of the MAB have been used for irrigation and for industrial purposes in recent decades, posing a serious threat to the quantity and quality of the groundwater resources of the study area. Moreover, this region presents a large



Fig. 7 Orthophotograph of the northeastern Mediterranean coast of Spain covering the extent of the study area (see *red point* in *upper left inset* for general location). The different sampled areas are also shown in the map together with the sampling points. Coordinates are in Universal Transverse Mercator (UTM), zone 31

number of underground infrastructures which compromises the quantity and quality of groundwater resources.

As an illustration of the potential of this software platform, a general analysis of the quality of the aquifers located in the MAB such as the Barcelona Plain, Badalona and Besòs Delta (see Fig. 7 for location) was chosen, based on a larger study funded by the Catalan Water Agency [64]. The application includes 56 samples (51 obtained from groundwater points) collected during 2006–2007 and

distributed over the aforementioned study area. The sampling points can be grouped into five zones attending to its location in the aquifers of the study area as shown in Fig. 7: (1) Barcelona Llobregat (BCNLLOB), (2) Barcelona Ter (BCNTER), (3) Collserola (COLL), (4) Besòs (BESÒS) and (5) Badalona (BDN).

Among the 110 hydrogeochemical variables in the compiled database (physical parameters, organic and inorganic species), we selected only those with the highest frequency for a detailed evaluation (EC, pH, major ions—Ca, Mg, Na, K, Cl, SO4, HCO3, PO4, NO3, NH4—and some minor compounds). In addition, the geospatial database includes information on head measurements, pumping test results, geological description and meteorological and hydrological information.

The first step was to test the chemical analysis for charge balance error (CBE) by using the *Hydrogeochemical Calculator Tools*. In 95% of the samples, CBE was less than or equal to $\pm 10\%$, an error found acceptable for the purpose of this study. Indexes such as SAR, icb and ion ratios were also calculated for each selected point by using this command.

The next step was to analyse the hydrogeochemical data by using geochemical techniques including spatio-temporal representation of the data, correlations of different species and graphical diagrams (Piper, Stiff, Schöeller-Berkaloff). This was accomplished by using the different commands of the *Hydrogeochemical Diagram Tools* and of the *Hydrogeochemical Data Analysis Tools*. The Stiff map (Fig. 3) shows that the samples present similar characteristics according to the hydrogeological zonation. Additionally, this map shows that in general terms the mineralisation of the water increases seawards.

From the analysis of the Schöeller-Berkaloff and Piper diagrams corresponding to the different zones (see Figs. 4 and 5), it can be concluded that:

- The groundwater samples collected from springs and wells located at the high topographies (COLL) are low mineralised and present low contents of most compounds, due to the proximity of the recharge area and the possible contact with soils with low Mg and Ca content (see Figs. 4d and 5d).
- The groundwater from the Barcelona Plain (grouped into BCNTER and BCNLLOB) can be classified as Cl-SO4-Na and becomes of Ca-Mg type, probably as a result of the interaction with the different geological formations (see Figs. 4b, c and 5b, c).
- The samples from the Badalona area (BDN) are less mineralised in the higher areas. In the northern part of Badalona, mainly constituted by granite, the water can be classified as HCO3-Ca type. In the southern and central areas, the water can be classified as HCO3/Cl-Ca/Na type, probably as a result of cation exchange between sodium and calcium in the finer Quaternary alluvial deposits and an enrichment in Na in the granitic structures (see Figs. 4e and 5e).
- The water from the wells located in the Besòs Delta (BESÒS) can be classified as Cl-SO4-Na. The samples collected from wells located near the sea show the highest content in Cl and Na, suggesting seawater intrusion (see Figs. 4a and 5a).

In order to evaluate the groundwater quality of the study area and to detect possible sources of contamination, several spatial distribution maps of a number of



Fig. 8 Map of nitrates concentration for the period 2006–2007

parameters were obtained by using other command of GIS Tools (see Fig. 8). They show that the concentrations in residual water contamination markers, such as nitrate and phosphate, are higher in the urbanised areas except for samples collected from deeper aquifers or in the proximity of the Besòs Delta, suggesting biodegradation in a reducing environment.

Additionally, further maps of minor compounds such as sum of pesticide concentrations or LAS (compounds found in detergents) were obtained (see Fig. 9). Pesticides were only detected in the proximity of Besòs Delta and in one sample in the Barcelona Plain area. Despite of the sum of pesticide concentrations not exceeding the limit established by the Water Framework Directive in any of the observed points, that of terbuthylazine exceeded the limits established for an individual substance in one point close to the river and in another sample collected directly from the river (for further information, see [65]).



Fig. 9 Map of pesticides concentration for the period 2006–2007

In contrast with pesticides, LAS were detected in the majority of the samples analysed, including those collected from non-urban or high topographic areas, where the maximum detected was 0.8 μ g/L. On the other hand, in the urban area the maximum value detected was 5.06 μ g/L. Additionally, the values of LAS measured in the Besòs River (48 μ g/L) and in the water treatment plant (from 147.34 to 117.62 μ g/L) are even higher, suggesting that (1) aquifer recharge comes mainly from losses in the sewage system and the influence of the river and (2) the degradation process of these compounds is quite significant.

5 Conclusions and Discussion

The GIS-based software platform presented in this chapter offers a user-friendly environment with a wide range of automatic tools designed especially for the management, analysis and interpretation of hydrogeochemical data.

A key element of this platform is the HYDOR geospatial database that provides the following advantages: (1) a comprehensive storage and management of different types of hydrogeological spatio-temporal data, (2) the possibility of querying and visualising data simultaneously and (3) an efficient preprocessing of the hydrogeochemical data. The design of the database offers considerable flexibility since it may be extended and customised to other environments.

Despite the capacity of the database to store a vast amount of data, its consultation is made simple by using different multi-criteria query forms (ArcGIS Tools and Statistical Tools), which enhances the visualisation and analysis of hydrogeochemical data. The ArcGIS Tools module integrates a wide range of specific methodologies for hydrogeochemical analysis into a single GIS integrated framework. This includes: (1) multiple queries for comparing temporal and spatial groundwater parameters, (2) tools for calculating useful hydrogeochemical parameters, (3) instruments that enable the user to generate thematic maps for the parameters measured in the queried area classified according to the threshold values provided in a given guideline, (4) generation of plots with temporal evolution of preselected data for further geostatistical analysis and (5) creation of traditional hydrogeochemical diagrams, adding the spatio-temporal component, thus allowing the combined analysis of sampling points and campaigns.

These tools were implemented in the same ArcGIS software package, and their analysis potentially makes the most of the additional in-built instruments of this platform (e.g. geostatistical analyst tools, spatial analysis tools). Furthermore, ArcGIS fosters a shallow learning curve, easy maintenance and interoperability among different tools owing to its widespread adoption.

The platform integrates Statistical Tools that offer the possibility of performing a complete statistical analysis of data, including descriptive statistical analysis, bivariate analysis, generation of correlation matrix and correlation graphics. It also offers interoperability with external platforms such as EasyQuim or MIX. Moreover, with adequate adjustments this software platform could be easily linked to other programs such as PHREEQC or SGeMs, considerably increasing the variety of hydrogeochemical calculations.

The application of the database model (HYDOR) for the urban environment of Barcelona together with the hydrogeochemical analysis tools proved to be an efficient framework for groundwater studies, which can be easily updated and downscaled.

References

- 1. Foster SSD (2001) The interdependence of groundwater and urbanization in rapidly developing cities. Urban Water 3(3):185–192
- Ketata M, Hamzaoui F, Gueddari M, Bouhlila R, Ribeiro L (2011) Hydrochemical and statistical study of groundwaters in Gabes-south deep aquifer (south-eastern Tunisia). Phys Chem Earth Parts A/B/C 36(5–6):187–196. doi:10.1016/j.pce.2010.02.006
- 3. Navarro-Ortega A, Acuña V, Batalla RJ, Blasco J, Conde C, Elorza FJ, Elosegi A, Francés F, La-Roca F, Muñoz I, Petrovic M, Picó Y, Sabater S, Sanchez-Vila X, Schuhmacher M, Barceló D (2012) Assessing and forecasting the impacts of global change on Mediterranean rivers. The SCARCE Consolider project on Iberian basins. Environ Sci Pollut Res 19(4):918–933
- Mendizabal I, Stuyfzand PJ (2009) Guidelines for interpreting hydrochemical patterns in data from public supply well fields and their value for natural background groundwater quality determination. J Hydrol 379(1–2):151–163. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2009.10.001
- Refsgaard J, Hojberg A, Moller I, Hansen M, Sondergaard V (2010) Groundwater modeling in integrated water resources management-visions for 2020. Ground Water 48:633–648
- Güler C, Thyne G, McCray J, Turner A (2002) Evaluation of graphical and multivariate statistical methods for classification of water chemistry data. Hydrogeol J 10(4):455–474
- 7. Zaporozec A (1972) Graphical interpretation of water quality data. Ground Water 10:32-43
- Morio M, Finkel M, Martac E (2010) Flow guided interpolation a GIS-based method to represent contaminant concentration distributions in groundwater. Environ Model Software 25 (12):1769–1780. doi:10.1016/j.envsoft.2010.05.018
- IBM (2015) SPSS software, IBM corporation. http://www-01.ibm.com/software/es/analytics/ spss/products/statistics/. Accessed 20 Mar 2015
- 10. Statsoft (2015) STATISTICA software. http://www.statsoft.com. Accessed 20 Mar 2015
- 11. SAS (2015) SAS/STAT software, SAS Institute Inc. http://www.sas.com/en_us/software/ana lytics/stat.html. Accessed 20 Mar 2015
- 12. StataCorpoLP (2015) STATA data analysis and statistical software, StataCorpoLP. www. stata.com. Accessed 20 Mar 2015
- Minitab (2015) Minitab 16 statistical software, Minitab Inc. http://www.minitab.com/es-mx/. Accessed 20 Mar 2015
- Systac (2008) Systat 13, Systact Software, a subsidiary of Cranes Software International Ltd. http://www.systat.com/. Accessed 20 Mar 2015
- Udina F (2005) XLS-BiPlot 1.1a User's Manual (version 1.1a). Departament d'Economia i Empresa. Universitat Pompeu Fabra, Spain. http://tukey.upf.es/xls-biplot/users-manual/index. html. Accessed 20 Mar 2015
- USGS (2013) U.S. Geological Survey GW Chart version 1.25.3.0. http://water.usgs.gov/nrp/ gwsoftware/GW_Chart/GW_Chart.html. Accessed 20 Dec 2014
- 17. GHS (2013a) EASYQUIM. Developed in the Department of Geotechnical Engineering and Geosciences y Grupo de Hidrologia Subterránea (ETCG), UPC-CSIC, Barcelona. http://www. h2ogeo.upc.es/castellano/software.htm. Accessed 18 Sept 2013
- Molano (2011) Piper hydrogeochemical diagrams spreadsheets. https://sites.google.com/a/ hidrogeocol.com.co/carlos_molano/. Accessed 19 Mar 2015
- ICOG (2011) INAQUAS, Ilustre Colegio Oficial de Geologos. http://www.icog.es/_portal/ noticias/noticias.asp?bid=1133. Accessed 20 Dec 2014
- 20. Rockware (2015) AqQA, Rockware Inc. http://www.rockware.com/product/overview.php? id=150. Accessed 19 Mar 2015
- 21. LHA (2013) Logicels, Laboratoire d'Hydrogéologie d'Avignon, Université d'Avignon et des Pays de Vaucluse, France. http://www.lha.univ-avignon.fr/. Accessed 19 Mar 2015
- Parkhurst DL, Appelo CAJ (2013) Description of input and examples for PHREEQC version
 A computer program for speciation, batch-reaction, one-dimensional transport, and inverse geochemical calculations: U.S. Geological Survey Techniques and Methods. U.S. Geological Survey, Denver, 497 pp

- Schlumberger (2014) AQUACHEM, Schlumberger Limited. http://www.swstechnology.com. Accessed 20 Dec 2012
- StartPoint (2015) StartPoint Software Inc., 2015. http://www.pointstar.com/ChemPoint/ default.aspx. Accessed 19 Mar 2015
- KWR (2011) HyCA KWR Watercycle Research Institute (Holland). http://www.kwrwater.nl/ HyCA/. Accessed 20 Dec 2014
- 26. Martin PH, Leboeuf EJ, Dobbins JP, Daniel EB, Abkowitz MD (2005) Interfacing GIS with water resource models: a state-of-the-art review. J Am Water Resour Assoc 41(6):1471–1487. doi:10.1111/j.1752-1688.2005.tb03813.x
- 27. Gogu R, Carabin G, Hallet V, Peters V, Dassargues A (2001) GIS-based hydrogeological databases and groundwater modelling. Hydrogeol J 9(6):555–569. doi:10.1007/s10040-001-01673
- Gemitzi A, Tolikas D (2007) HYDRA model: simulation of salt intrusion in coastal aquifers using Visual Basic and GIS. Environ Model Software 22(7):924–936. doi:10.1016/j.envsoft. 2006.03.007
- 29. Steward D, Bernard E (2006) The synergistic powers of AEM and GIS geodatabase models in water resources studies. Ground Water 44(1):56–61
- Rahman MA, Rusteberg B, Gogu RC, Lobo-Ferreira JP, Sauter M (2012) A new spatial multicriteria decision support tool for site selection for implementation of managed aquifer recharge. J Environ Manage 99:61–75. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2012.01.003.Aquaveo
- ArcHydro Groundwater tools Aquaveo LLC (2014). http://www.aquaveo.com/archydrogroundwater. Accessed 20 Dec 2014
- Strassberg G, Maidment DR, Jones NL (2007) A geographic data model for representing ground water systems. Ground Water 45(4):515–518. doi:10.1111/j.1745-6584.2007.00324.x
- ESRI (2013) ArcGIS 10x Environmental Systems Research Institute, Redlands, United States of America. http://www.esri.com/software/arcgis/arcgis-for-desktop. Accessed 03 June 2013
- 34. Remy N, Boucher A, Wu J (2009) Applied geostatistic with SGems. Cambridge University Press, New York
- Deutsch C, Journel A (1998) GSLIB geostatistical software library and user's guide, 2nd edn. Oxford University Press, New York
- Medina A, Carrera J (2003) Computational different type of data geostatistical inversion of coupled problems: dealing with computational burden and different types of data. J Hydrol 281 (4):251–264
- 37. Medina A, Alcolea A, Carrera J, Castro LF (2000) Flow and transport modelling in the geosphere: the code TRANSIN IV. IV Jornadas de Investigación y Desarrollo Tecnológico de Gestión de Residuos Redioactivos de ENRESA. Technical publication 9 (2000): 195–200
- 38. GHS (2013b) Visual Transin. Developed in the Department of Geotechnical Engineering and Geosciences y Grupo de Hidrologia Subterránea (ETCG), UPC-CSIC, Barcelona. http://www. h2ogeo.upc.es/castellano/software.htm. Accessed 18 Sept 2013
- 39. Plummer LN, Prestemon EC, Parkhurst DL (1994) An interactive code (NETPATH) for modeling NET geochemical reactions along a flow PATH version 2.0. U.S. Geological Survey Water-Resources Investigations report 94-4169
- 40. GHS (2013c) MIX. Developed in the Department of Geotechnical Engineering and Geosciences y Grupo de Hidrologia Subterránea (ETCG), UPC-CSIC, Barcelona. http:// www.h2ogeo.upc.es/castellano/software.htm. Accessed 18 Sept 2013
- Ormsby T, Napoleon EJ, Robert B, Groess C (2010) Getting to know ArcGIS desktop. Esri, Redlands, USA, 592 pp
- Wojda P, Brouyère S (2013) An object-oriented hydrogeological data model for groundwater projects. Environ Model Software 43:109–123. doi:10.1016/j.envsoft.2013.01.015
- 43. Velasco V, Gogu R, Vázquez-Suñè E, Garriga A, Ramos E, Riera J, Alcaraz M (2012a) The use of GIS-based 3D geological tools to improve hydrogeological models of sedimentary media in an urban environment. Environ Earth Sci. doi:10.1007/s12665-012-1898-2

- 44. Velasco V (2013) GIS-based hydrogeological platform for sedimentary media. Ph.D. thesis, Universitat Politecnica de Catalunya, Barcelona
- 45. Velasco V, Tubau I, Vázquez-Suñè E, Gogu R, Gaitanaru D, Alcaraz M, Serrano-Juan A, Fernàndez-Garcia D, Garrido T, Fraile J, Sanchez-Vila X (2014) GIS-based hydrogeochemical analysis tools (QUIMET). Comput Geosci 70:164–180
- 46. INSPIRE (2013) Infrastructure for spatial information in Europe. D.2.8.11.4. Data specification on Geology-Draft Technical Guidelines
- 47. ONEGeology (2013) ONEGeology project. www.onegeology.org. Accessed 11 Oct 2013
- 48. National Groundwater Committee Working Group on National Groundwater Data Standards (1999) The Australian National Groundwater Data Transfer Standard Release 1.0. Camberra
- 49. WFD (2009) Commission, E. (n.d.). Common implementation strategy for the water framework directive (2000/60/EC). Guidance document n°22. Update guidance on implementing the geographical information system (GIS) elements of the EU Water Policy. Technical report-2009-028
- Sen M, Duffy T (2005) GeoSciML: development of a generic geoscience markup language. Comput Geosci 31:1095–1103
- 51. OGC (2012) OGC Water ML 2.0: part 1-timeseries.10-126r3
- 52. INSPIRE (2011) Infrastructure for spatial information in Europe. D2.9_V1.0. Guidelines for the use of observations & measurements and sensor web enablement-related standards in INSPIRE Annex II and III data specification development. http://inspire.ec.europa.eu/docu ments/Data_Specifications/D2.9_O&M_Guidelines_V1.0.pdf. Accessed 24 Apr 2015
- 53. Farnham IM, Singh AK, Stetzenbach KJ, Johannesson KH (2002) Treatment of nondetects in multivariate analysis of groundwater geochemistry data. Chemom Intell Lab Syst 60 (1–2):265–281. doi:10.1016/S0169-7439(01)00201-5
- 54. Stiff HA Jr (1951) The interpretation of chemical water analysis by means of patterns. J Petrol Tech 3(10):15. doi:10.2118/951376-G
- 55. Lee TC (1998) A program for normalized stiff diagrams and quantification of grouping hydrochemical data. Comput Geosci 24(6):523–529
- Piper AM (1944) A graphic procedure in the geochemical interpretation of water-analyses. Eos Trans Am Geophys Union 25(6):914–928
- 57. Casas JM, Gratacós O, Liesa M, Muñoz JA, Sàbat F, Santanach P, Aranda J, Vàzquez E, Carrera J, Font-Capó J, Martínez A, Céspedes A, Riba O (2006) Doing geology in an urban area: Barcelona hills. In: Proceedings of the 5th European congress on regional geoscientific cartography and earth information and systems water, Barcelona, 13–16 Junio 2006, p 562
- Pujades E, López A, Carrera J, Vázquez-Suñe E, Jurado A (2012) Barrier effect of underground structures on aquifers. Eng Geol 145–146:41–49. doi:10.1016/j.enggeo.2012.07.004
- Riba O, Colombo F (2009) Barcelona: La Ciutat Vella i el Poblenou. Assaig de geologia urbana. Barcelona, Institut d'Estudis Catalans i Reial Acadèmia de Ciències i Arts de Barcelona, 278pp
- 60. Casassas L, y Riba O (1992) Morfologia de la rambla Barcelonina. Treballs de la Societat Catalana de Geografia 33–34 (VII): 9–23
- 61. Velasco V, Cabello P, Vázquez-Suñè E, López-Blanco M, Ramos E, Tubau I (2012) A sequence stratigraphic based geological model for constraining hydrogeological modeling in the urbanized area of the Quaternary Besòs delta (NW Mediterranean coast, Spain). Geol Acta 10:373–394. doi:10.1344/105.000001757
- 62. Gàmez D (2007) Sequence stratigraphy as a tool for water resources management in alluvial coastal aquifers: application to the Llobregat delta (Barcelona, Spain). Doctoral thesis, Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya (UPC), Barcelona, 177pp
- 63. Gámez D, Simó JA, Lobo FJ, Barnolas A, Carrera J, Vázquez-Suñé E (2009) Onshore-offshore correlation of the Llobregat deltaic system, Spain: development of deltaic geometries under different relative sea-level and growth fault influences. Sediment Geol 217:65–84

- 64. ACA (2008) Desenvolupament d'un modelo hidrogeològic al Pla de Barcelona i Delta del Besòs per l'obtenció d'alternatives d'aprofitament per a la producción d'aigua de consum. (GHS;UPC-CSIC).Agència Catalana de l'Aigua, Provença 204, Barcelona, Spain
- 65. Tubau I, Vázquez-Suñé E, Carrera J, Gonzalez S, Petrovic M, Lopez de Alda M, Barceló D (2010) Occurrence and fate of alkylphenol polyethoxylate degradation products and linear alkylbenzene sulfonate surfactants in urban ground water: Barcelona case study. J Hydrol 383:102–110

Groundwater Vulnerability Mapping Assessment Using Overlay and the DRASTIC Method in Catalonia

Xavier Carreras, Josep Fraile, Teresa Garrido, and Carles Cardona

Abstract There are different vulnerability methods to evaluate groundwater potential pollution. One of them is the DRASTIC model, a well-known and widely used parametric method based in the analysis of seven hydrogeological factors. The applicability of the DRASTIC method was tested in the area of Catalonia, covering all territory (more than 31,000 km²). Available information related to groundwater characteristics was selected and taken from geological and hydrogeological cartographies, groundwater database, and bibliography. A cartography of 199 aquifers were used to group and to extrapolate the information when only spared data were available. Afterwards, data were processed in order to be adapted to the DRASTIC parameters. The outcome of the vulnerability map was a raster file with a 100 \times 100 m pixel resolution. Two different coverages of vulnerability were calculated from different weightings according to the DRASTIC parameters: generic pollutants and pesticides. This analysis was made both in confined and non-confined aquifers. Resulting maps were considered very satisfactory, and they were compared with other existing vulnerability works in more local areas with high similar results. These vulnerability layers have constituted different groundwater management tools. In this project, we applied this approach in order to assess the risk of non-achievement of the Water Framework Directive's (WFD) objectives for Catalan groundwater. Pressure and subsequent risk analyses were carried out from overlaying human activity areas with groundwater chemical data. For instance, nitrogen load from agriculture sources, contaminated soil areas, or sewage sludge application was overlaid with vulnerability map in order to obtain the global pressure.

Keywords Catalonia, DRASTIC, Groundwater, Vulnerability

X. Carreras (🖂), J. Fraile, T. Garrido, and C. Cardona

Catalan Water Agency (ACA), c/Provença 204-208, 08036 Barcelona, Spain e-mail: xvibanez@gencat.cat

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water* 117 *Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 43: 117–134, DOI 10.1007/698_2015_441, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 7 October 2015

Contents

1	Intro	duction	118	
2	DRASTIC Methodology Applied at Groundwater of Catalonia			
	2.1	Depth of Water (D)	121	
	2.2	Net Recharge (R)	122	
	2.3	Aquifer Media (A)	123	
	2.4	Soil Type (S)	124	
	2.5	Topography (T)	125	
	2.6	Impact of the Vadose Zone (I)	126	
	2.7	Hydraulic Conductivity of the Aquifer (C)	127	
3	Resu	Its of DRASTIC Methodology in Catalonia	128	
4	Applications and Discussion			
Re	ferenc	ves	132	

Abbreviations

ACA	Catalan Water Agency
ICGC	Cartographic and Geological Institute of Catalonia
IMPRESS	Impact and human pressure analysis
WFD	Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC)

1 Introduction

One of the earliest definitions of groundwater vulnerability came from Albinet and Margat [1, 2] as the possibility of percolation and diffusion of contaminants from the ground surface into water table reservoirs under natural conditions. Subsequent proposals defined vulnerability as an intrinsic property of a groundwater system that depends on the sensibility of that system to human and/or natural impacts [3]. Vulnerability could be considered a relative characteristic that indicates where contamination is most likely to occur, but cannot be directly measured in the field. The assessment of groundwater vulnerability is not always an easy task, and difficulties in obtaining reliable field data constitute usually an important limitation. However, it is an effective tool to delimitate areas affected by groundwater diffuse contamination, such as intensive fertilizer application, defining a control network, and also applying vulnerability maps as a management tool.

There are several methodologies for the evaluation of groundwater vulnerability. Most of them use overlays and index methods consisting in algebraic operations of hydrogeological parameters. The DRASTIC method, developed by Aller et al. (1987) [4] for the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), is one of the most widely and contrasted tools used in several countries for this purpose. DRASTIC and other simplified methods such as GOD [5], EPIK [6], COP [7], SINTACS [8], or CRIPTAS [9] are also used to assess groundwater vulnerability.

2 DRASTIC Methodology Applied at Groundwater of Catalonia

DRASTIC methodology was developed with the purpose of creating a systematic regional evaluation using major hydrogeological factors to infer the potential for contaminants to enter groundwater. DRASTIC was initially designed to use existing information available from a variety of sources. It was initially applied to evaluate potential groundwater pollution in different locations of the United States and requires a high degree of information, which often entails great difficulties of application. DRASTIC methodology was developed in other countries, but usually in a more reduced scale [10–13].

The DRASTIC method has four main assumptions: (1) the pollutant is introduced into the ground surface; (2) the contaminant is transported throughout the saturated zone by precipitation recharge; (3) the contaminant has the mobility of water; (4) and the minimum study area required is about 40 km². This system is used to estimate the intrinsic vulnerability basically in granular porosity media, although in karst and fractured environments, a modified DRASTIC has been used [7, 14, 15]. This is a parametric method, based on weighting and sorting. The DRASTIC Index considers seven hydrogeological properties (acronym of DRASTIC): D, depth to water; R, net recharge; A, aquifer media; S, soil type; T, topography of the terrain; I, impact of the vadose zone; and C, hydraulic conductivity of the aquifer. Ratings for each DRASTIC variable are assigned to a value that ranges from one to ten in an increasing order of impact to vulnerability and a weighting value from one to five (Eq. 1):

$$DRASTIC Index = Dr *Dw + Rr * Rw + Ar * Aw + Sr * Sw + Tr *Tw + Ir * Iw + Cr *Cw$$
(1)

where r = rating and w = weight.

The applicability of DRASTIC method was tested in order to assess the ground-water vulnerability in Catalonia (Fig. 1), covering a total area over 31,000 km².

The main effort in this regional work was the compilation and interpretation of all parameters and their extrapolation into areas with less information. A direct transposition was done when information covered all the territory, whereas if sparse information was available, it was just necessary to aggregate it. In this last case, the reference cartography was the "Aquifers map of Catalonia" [16], where a total of 199 aquifers were defined (see reference map in Fig. 2a). Among these, 13 confined aquifers are differentiated, mainly in delta areas where a silt and clay formations are clearly acting as an aquitard, differentiating two aquifers in the same vertical.

A second challenge was the transposition of selected information into DRASTIC parameters. As a general rule, classification of parameters has followed the proposal defined by Aller et al. [4]. Despite this, a specific conversion from this initial rating was applied to the vadose zone (I) and soil media (S) parameters according to



Fig. 1 Location of Catalonia



Fig. 2 Groundwater level data available (ACA); *star figures* represent points included in the monthly piezometric monitoring network. Reference map: aquifer delimitation in Catalonia (*left*). Depth to water (D) ranges according to DRASTIC method in Catalonia (*right*)

the information available in Catalonia and following the maximum accuracy possible.

Information to elaborate the seven DRASTIC hydrogeological factors came from a great variety of sources, specifically from geological and hydrogeological cartographies, from different groundwater database, and from local studies. As a result, each DRASTIC parameter was finally aggregated in layers set at different scales depending on the information source: 100×100 m cells, hydrographical basin, 199 aquifers previously defined, geological 1:50,000, and hydrogeological 1:250,000 or soil-type parcel. In order to create, treat, and overlay all these layers of information, an important development of geographic information system (GIS) tool was required. A schematic summary of the ranges and ratings finally used is showed in Table 1, while a brief description for each DRASTIC parameter is explained.

2.1 Depth of Water (D)

Depth of water (D) refers to the distance from the surface to the water table, which corresponds to the depth of material through which a contaminant must travel before reaching the aquifer. This parameter is related to the transit time of the contaminant in the unsaturated zone. It is assumed that the shallower the depth, the more vulnerable is the aquifer pollution.

Background information of water levels came mainly from the ACA hydrogeological database. It has more than 60,000 points, among which more than 3,000 have information about groundwater level. Besides, 510 points are included in the quantity monitoring network (some data from the 1970s) [17], with a monthly sampling that provides knowledge on potential variations of annual levels (Fig. 2a). Additionally, bibliographic information, mathematical models available, and other local studies (some of them inedited) [18, 19] were used in this analysis, especially in areas where groundwater level information is not so extensive. The ranges and ratings applied follow the approach defined by Aller et al. [4]. Despite that from a hydrogeological point of view it is important to know precisely the value of water level, the DRASTIC range values (Table 1) show that the influence of this parameter is relevant up to 30 m, because far from these depths the DRASTIC value was set to 1. Finally, (D) parameter was mapped, with range values grouped by each aquifer. In unconfined aquifers, this parameter corresponds to the water table, while in confined aquifers the depth to the top of the aquifer was estimated. In these cases, the knowledge of the structure and aquifer thickness was absolutely necessary. Results are showed in Fig. 2b.

	0	e			
D (m)		R (mm)		Α	
0-1.5)-1.5 10 0-51		1	Gravels, sands (alluvial and deltaic fm.)	6-8
1.5–5 9 51–102		3	Massive conglomerates and sands		
5-10	7	102–178	6	Massive limestone and dolomite	6–9
10–15	5	178–254	8	Marl and detrital limestone	4–7
15-20	3	>254	9	Conglomerates, sands, and marl	3-5
20-30	2			Marl and evaporate formations	3-5
> 30	1]		Metamorphic formation	4
				Granite formation	5-7
				Mixed formation and Neocene basins	4-8
S				T (%)	
Urban and ir	ndustrial zo	ones	1	0-2	10
Forest land,	meadows,	bushes	4	2-6	9
Urban soils			6	6–12	5
Riparian forests			5	12–18	3
Non-riparian forests			7	> 18	1
Beach			9		
Rocks, round dish			10		
Agricultural land (depending slope value)		2-8			
Ι			C (m/day)		
Silt, clay, gypsum, and sales			1	0.04-4	1
Shale			3	4-12	2
Igneous rocks and local shale			4	12–28	4
Marl/silty limestone			4	28–40	6
Dolomite			5	40-80	8
Limestone, sand, and conglomerate			6	> 80	10
Travertine and reef limestone			7		
Sand, gravel, travertine, and carbon- ated roof			8		
Basalts			9		

 Table 1
 Range and rating of the DRASTIC parameters

D depth to water, R net recharge, A aquifer media, S soil type, T topography of the terrain, I impact of the vadose zone, C hydraulic conductivity of the aquifer

2.2 Net Recharge (R)

Considering the precipitation as the most important source of recharge in groundwater, this parameter refers to the total quantity of precipitation (per unit area), which infiltrates and percolates to the water table. This recharge of water is the main vehicle to leach and transport a contaminant vertically to the water table and horizontally within the aquifer. Therefore, the vulnerability to pollution is enhanced by high recharge rates. Practices like irrigation or artificial recharges could be other sources that may enhance net recharge and could be taken into account, but they haven't been considered in this project.



Fig. 3 Average groundwater recharge (mm) for hydrographical subbasin defined in Catalonia (506) with the hydrometeorological Sacramento model (*left*). Net recharge (R) ranges according to DRASTIC method in Catalonia (*right*)

Information used for this parameter came from an estimation of groundwater recharge in Catalonia [20]. This subterranean recharge was calculated from a hydrometeorological model named "Sacramento Soil Moisture Accounting (SAC-SMA)," from the US National Weather Service and California Department of Water Resources [21, 22]. It's a contrasted model applied in several countries and used also in ACA to assess the total water resources and as a water management tool. The work scale in this project was 506 hydrographical basins defined, with an average area of 91 km² (minimum 1.3 km², maximum 1,650 km²). With a monthly discretization, the model was finished and calibrated with flow data from gauging stations (more than 70). The analyzed period ranges from 1940 to 2002, with an average groundwater recharge calculated near 130 mm, which represents 16% of the rain (between 10 and 20%) and around 60% of total water contribution. This average value calculated in all 506 basins was the value adopted for the calculation of this DRAS-TIC parameter (Table 1 and Fig. 3a). In unconfined aquifers, the ranges and ratings applied follow the proposal defined by Aller et al. [4]. In confined aquifers, a value between 0 to 3 points was subtracted to the parameter value from the upper aquifer, based on expert criteria and knowledge of the depth to the top of the aquifer and the aquitard developed. The resulting map is showed in Fig.3b, where a clear relation between the upper basin areas and the groundwater recharge is observed. Also the areas of limestone and karstification formations have a high groundwater recharge.

2.3 Aquifer Media (A)

This parameter refers to the properties of the rock which serves as an aquifer. That includes basically the degree of consolidation of the subsurface environment and also the lithology and the structure of the aquifer, the nature of porosity, and the



Fig. 4 Map of hydro-areas of Catalonia 1:250.000 (*left*). Aquifer media (A) ranges according to DRASTIC method in Catalonia (*right*)

potential karstification (porosity secondary). These properties control the transport of pollutants within the aquifer. In general, the larger the grain size and the more fractures or openings within the aquifer, the higher the permeability and the lower the attenuation capacity and, consequently, the greater is the potential pollution. The two hydrogeological parameters that are related to this property are the permeability (property of a rock to be pervaded by a fluid) and the porosity (fraction of void space in the material). Therefore, some authors [11] decide to join together this DRASTIC parameter with the "C" DRASTIC parameter (conductivity) and treat them as a single parameter.

In this project, it was opted to use the available cartography of the "Map of hydro-areas of Catalonia 1:250,000" [23] (Fig. 4a). DRASTIC ranges of Aller et al. [4] were adapted from the hydrogeological classification of defined geological formations in this cartography (lithology type and geological ages) (Table 1). Also, an expert criteria allowed to differentiate in each hydrogeological class some aquifers with different behaviors (knowledge of the dominant lithologies, karstification, etc.), being able to associate different DRASTIC values. The resulting map is showed in Fig. 4b. The same methodology was applied in unconfined and confined aquifers.

2.4 Soil Type (S)

Soil type (S) refers to the uppermost portion of the vadose zone, commonly considered the first 1.5 m, which has a significant biological activity. Soil has a significant importance because it is related with the amount of recharge that can infiltrate. Also, where soil zones are well developed, the first attenuation processes of filtration, sorption, volatilization, or biodegradation can be done before the

contaminant penetrates into the vadose zone. The amount of clay, granulometry, and organic matter are the relevant parameters associated to the soil zone that control the pollutant infiltration. In general, the presence of clay and small grain size, along with the potential presence of organic matter, reduces the vulnerability of the groundwater to pollution.

Information about soil characteristics is in general difficult to obtain; hence, this is the most difficult DRASTIC parameter to assess. Due to the lack of a soil map at regional scale, this DRASTIC setting was assessed with the "Land cover map of Catalonia 1:250,000, v. 4" [24] (Fig. 5a). The land cover classification (level 2) (further information can be found in [25]) was used for the assessment of the potential development of soil. Then, the DRASTIC ranges were defined taking into account the lithological soil classification of the land cover map and adopting the proposal of Aller et al. [4] (Table 1). For example, rock areas have a value of 10, while urban and industrial zones, which have lost most of their natural soil and have been replaced by all sorts of artificial covers, have a value of 1. On agricultural land zones, a specific analysis was undertaken. The slope, as well as the lower proportion of fine material in deltaic areas, was taken into account (see more information in [26]). Then, depending on the slope percentage, the range of the adopted values was 2 if the slope was less than 2%, 3 if the slope ranged between 2 and 5%, 5 if the slope ranged between 5 and 10%, 7 if the slope ranged between 10 and 20%, and 8 if the slope was higher than 20%. Additionally, in deltaic areas, S DRASTIC value had an increase of 2 points. The same methodology was applied in unconfined and confined aquifers. The resulting map is showed in Fig. 5b, where urban areas (metropolitan area of Barcelona) and agricultural zones with a low slope (in general with a soil zone well developed) can be differentiated from forest areas with higher rating values. An exhaustive analysis of the proposed values in these forests areas and in agricultural areas is clearly one of the main improvements to develop.

2.5 Topography (T)

Topography (T) refers to the slope of the land surface. This parameter has an influence on the runoff capacity of the media; so, typically, vulnerability to contamination is reduced as the slope increases.

Information of slope values was determined directly from the Topographic map of Catalonia 1:50,000, v. 1 [27] generating a slope map raster 100×100 m (Fig. 6a). Then, the ranges and ratings applied are exactly to those proposed for Aller et al. [4] (Table 1). The same methodology was applied in unconfined and confined aquifers. The resulting map is showed in Fig. 6b where clearly defined mountainous areas with a general range of 1 are differentiated from plain areas with DRASTIC ranges around 9 and 10.


Fig. 5 Land cover map of Catalonia 1:250.000, v. 4 (CREAF, 2009) (*left*). Soil type (S) ranges according to DRASTIC method in Catalonia (*right*)



Fig. 6 Digital model topography (raster 30×30 m) (ICGC) (*left*). Topography of the terrain (T) ranges according to DRASTIC method in Catalonia (*right*)

2.6 Impact of the Vadose Zone (I)

Impact of the vadose zone (I) refers to the unsaturated zone above the water table. Although usually it could be considered the upper layer from which the soil is derived, it also must take into account other formations that can interfere when the upper layers are thin and the groundwater levels are deep. The characteristic of the vadose zone determines the attenuation processes that could occur, such as biodegradation, chemical reactions, and volatilization. Like soil type, the analysis of this parameter depends on granulometry, organic matter, and primary or secondary porosity.



Fig. 7 Geologic map of Catalonia 1:250.000 (ICGC, 2010; legend consultable at www.icgc.cat) (*left*). Impact of the vadose zone (I) ranges according to DRASTIC method in Catalonia (*right*)

The information used to evaluate this parameter came from the "Geologic map of Catalonia 1:50,000" [28]. Figure 7a shows the geological map at a scale of 1:250,000 [29]. DRASTIC ranges provided by Aller et al. [4] were adapted from the lithological classification of this cartography (Table 1). In confined aquifers, the assessment of this parameter was extended to include the vadose zone and any saturated zone which overlie the aquifer. In this case, it was adopted that up to 3 points have been subtracted to the parameter value from the non-confined aquifer, depending if a clay/silt aquitard formation was developed (mainly deltaic aquifers). The resulting map is showed in Fig. 7b. Limestone and granular-sized lithologic units, with ratings of 7–9, are well defined and highly differentiated from zones associated to clay, silt, and shale formations, with range values of 1–2 (Oligocene central area and some Miocene formations).

2.7 Hydraulic Conductivity of the Aquifer (C)

Hydraulic conductivity of the aquifer (C) refers to the ability of aquifer materials to transmit water. The rate at which the groundwater flows is directly related with the rate that a contaminant moves into saturated zones. Hydraulic conductivity is an intrinsic aquifer characteristic that depends on intergranular porosity, fracturing, and bedding planes. As mentioned, this DRASTIC setting is treated sometimes together with the aquifer media (A) because these data are normally scarce and have a large spatial variability (especially in limestone aquifers). Thus, the analysis of this parameter is supported with bibliographic information, such those provided by Davis [30] and Freeze and Cherry [31], that relates conductivity values to aquifer lithology.



Fig. 8 Groundwater exploitation density map of Catalonia (ACA) (*left*). Hydraulic conductivity of the aquifer (C) ranges according to DRASTIC method in Catalonia (*right*)

A range of hydraulic conductivity was estimated for each of the 199 confined and unconfined aquifers defined in Catalonia, taking into account information about aquifer lithology and bibliographic information from local studies [18, 32] that include sometimes some data pumping tests and expert criteria. Additionally, information of groundwater exploitation in some cases was contrasted to decide some range values. As a general view, Fig. 8a shows the density of exploitation of groundwater (hm³/year × km²) and how the almost 570 hm³/year total of groundwater extraction estimated in Catalonia is distributed. Although the effect of demographic distribution and water uses is evident, this information reveals the importance of an aquifer and consequently their hydraulic conductivity. The ranges and ratings applied were defined by Aller et al. [4] (Table 1). In Fig. 8b, the resulting map shows that the most relevant aquifers are in deltaic and limestone formations, where the density of groundwater exploitation is also significant.

3 Results of DRASTIC Methodology in Catalonia

Vulnerability maps were obtained, transposing on a fine mesh with a grid spacing of 100 m, by overlaying each individual maps under a GIS environment. Two different coverages of vulnerability were calculated according to different weightings exposed by Aller et al. [4]: for generic pollutants and for aquifer exposed to pesticide pollution. DRASTIC weights finally adopted are shown in Table 2.

For each grid cell, the two indices (generic and pesticide pollution) were calculated. With the ranges defined in Table 2, pesticide values are higher than generic, with maximum values that reach 234, while the maximum value of generic vulnerability is 204. Statistics analysis for generic and pesticide DRASTIC results is shown in Table 3.

Table 2 DRASTIC weights by Aller et al. [4]	Feature	Generic	Pesticide
	Depth to water	5	5
	Net recharge	4	4
	Aquifer media	3	3
	Soil media	2	5
	Topography	1	3
	Impact of the vadose zone	5	4
	Hydraulic conductivity	3	2
Table 3 Statistics parameter	Statistics	Generic	Pesticides

values for generic and pesticide DRASTIC analysis

1,185 32	3,181,185 35
32	35
204	1
204	234
93	109
28	26
71	90
111	127
	204 93 28 71 111

After an analysis of the statistical parameters and taking into account different bibliography and some local works [4, 10, 33], values were finally distributed among five classes, which are attributed to a qualitative degree of vulnerability, ranging from "very low" to "very high." These range values were defined in order to evaluate several pressures that could affect groundwater quality. For this reason, one should consider that range values of the indices could not be compared directly with other groundwater vulnerability analyses. Resulting maps with range values are shown in Figs. 9 and 10 for generic and pesticide analysis, respectively.

Results from the generic vulnerability map are very satisfactory. The highest values were calculated in alluvial aquifers, with high permeability, and where the groundwater level is near the surface. Also, high values were shown in main header basin aquifers associated with aquifer media made up of calcareous and karstified limestone, while the lower values were associated to tertiary (Oligocene) silt and clay units, with a flat topography and a soil generally well developed. In other cases like sedimentary Miocene basins and shale or igneous areas, a moderate or low vulnerability was assessed.

Comparing generic versus pesticide indices (Table 2), in the pesticide case, the specific hydrogeological settings (hydraulic conductivity and aquifer media) do not have a significant importance, whereas soil media parameter has the most influence. Also the topography parameter has a different weight between the two indices. The results shown in Figs. 9 and 10, considering the range scale difference, are considered quite similar, and only with a detailed analysis some differences could be assessed. Then, in areas with a well-developed soil, DRASTIC values from pesticide analysis are lower than the generic values: central-west area (Lleida Plain) and south area (Plana de la Galera) of Catalonia. On the contrary, only in local areas in



Fig. 9 Generic groundwater vulnerability result of Catalonia: non-confined aquifers (*left*) and confined aquifers (*right*)



Fig. 10 Pesticide groundwater vulnerability result of Catalonia: non-confined aquifers (*left*) and confined aquifers (*right*)

alluvial aquifers, with a very flat topography and soil development assessed as very low, values from pesticides are higher (local alluvial in north and northeast of Catalonia).

Comparing these results with other local works in Catalonia such as the vulnerability map included in the published "Hydrogeological Maps 1:25,000 of Catalonia" [33], they have a significant similarity. Figure 11 shows an example of this comparison, although with a different map scale, the results are clearly concordant always taking into account the differences in range values (note the difference range adopted especially in moderate, high, and very high values). Currently, in order to improve this 1:25,000 groundwater vulnerability map, a review of the



Fig. 11 Comparison between groundwater vulnerability results in local area of "Sarrià de Ter." Hydrogeological map Sarrià de Ter (ICGC, 1:25.000) (*left*). Groundwater generic vulnerability results in same area (*right*)

source of the information and methodological aspect of the DRASTIC parameter assessment has been done by ICGC.

4 Applications and Discussion

These groundwater vulnerability maps constitute a helpful groundwater management tool in a regional scale. As an example, they were applied in order to assess the risk of non-achievement of the WFD's [34] objectives for Catalan groundwater. In detail, groundwater vulnerability maps were applied to groundwater bodies pressures analysis, included in the IMPRESS document [35]. It has to be pointed that although the vulnerability map covers all the Catalan territory, the Catalan River Basin Management Plan is restricted in a half part of Catalonia (where the Catalan Government has full competence on water planning). One of the main objectives of the IMPRESS work was to evaluate the principal human activities that affect the chemical status in groundwater bodies, according to the European methodological guide [36]. In particular, with the aim to assess a pollution pressure, vulnerability maps were overlaid with several groundwater driving forces: contaminated soils, agricultural livestock, urban discharges, sewage sludge application, linear infrastructure (pipelines), gas station locations, etc. Figure 12 shows the example of nitrogen load from agriculture sources that have been overlaid with vulnerability map in order to obtain the pressure to agricultural activities. A subsequent risk analysis was carried out from overlaying each pressure with the results of chemical data. In addition, another direct application of these maps is the impact assessment where potential contaminant activities are being developed (agricultural activity areas, potentially dangerous industrial sites, sewage, water recharge, etc.).

Groundwater vulnerability maps are the result of treating and aggregating information related to hydrogeological properties. Finally, this information is



Fig. 12 Example of overlaying maps: nitrogen load in groundwater in Catalonia (*left*); generic groundwater vulnerability result of Catalonia (*central*); potential pressure for N application in groundwater bodies in Catalan Fluvial District

summarized in seven DRASTIC parameters. Some of these layers of information could be applied easily to other sectorial projects. In this sense, it could be considered that the final result is as important as the partial results of each parameter.

The results displayed represent an initial assessment of vulnerability. The analysis carried out could have some limitations that might influence the results obtained. A major restriction could be the absence of information of some DRAS-TIC parameters in cases where a local-scale analysis of the groundwater vulnerability is needed. Especially important is obtaining detailed groundwater levels that could corroborate vulnerability "D" parameter value, which has a very high influence in the DRASTIC method (Table 2). Similarly, a comprehensive analysis of the development and type of soil could be a very useful task to calibrate and improve the vulnerability results. In this sense, from the ICGC is planned to develop a cover of soil map at a scale of 1:250,000 that could be published by the year 2016. Finally, a more exhaustive validation of the vulnerability map with some impacts measured can be done (e.g., nitrates and pesticides).

References

- 1. Albinet M, Margat J (1970) Cartographie de la vulnérabilité a la pollution des nappes d'eau souterraine, Bull. BRGM 2me Series 3(4)
- Margat J (1968) Vulnerabilite des nappes d'eau souterraine a la pollution [Ground water vulnerability to contamination]. Bases de la cartographic, (Doc.) BRGM, 68 SGL 198 HYD, Orleans, France

- 3. Vrba J, Zaporozec A (1994) Guidebook on mapping groundwater vulnerability. International Association of Hydrogeologists. International contributions to hydrogeology, vol 16. Heise, Hannover
- Aller L, Bennet T, Lehr JH, Petty RJ, Hackett G (1987) DRASTIC: a standardized system for evaluating ground water pollution potential using hydrogeologic settings. EPA/600/2–87/035, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Ada, Oklahoma, 641 pp
- Foster SSD (1987) Fundamental concepts in aquifer vulnerability, pollution risk and protection strategy. In: Duijvenbooden W, Waegeningh HG (eds) Vulnerability of soil and groundwater to pollutants, vol 38, Proceedings and information. TNO Committee on Hydrological Research, The Hague, pp 69–86
- Doerfliger N, Zwahlen F (1995) EPIK: a new method for the delineation of protection areas in karstic environment. International symposium on Karst waters and environmental impacts, Antalya, Turkey, Sept 1995
- Vias JM, Andreo B, Perles MJ, Carrasco F, Vadillo I, Jimenez P (2006) Proposed method for groundwater vulnerability mapping in carbonate (karstic) aquifers: the COP method. Hydrogeol J 14:912–925
- 8. Civita M, de Maio M (1997) SINTACS Un sistema parametrico per la valutazione e la cartografia della vulnerabilità degli acquiferi all'inquinamento. Metodologia e automazione. Pitagora Editrice, Bologna, 191 pp
- 9. IGME (Instituto Geólogico y Minero de España) (1991) Evaluación de la vulnerabilidad de los acuíferos a la contaminación por plaguicidas. Ejemplo aplicación en província de Castellón. Guía Metodológica para la elaboración de perímetros de protección de captaciones de aguas subterráneas.p 290. web http://aguas.igme.es/igme/publica/libro28/pdf/lib28/6_eva.pdf. Accessed 19 Dec 14
- 10. Andorra Government (2007) The Ministry of tourism and the environment "Les aigües subterrànies del principat d'Andorra" Document: doc 4. Vulnerabilitat intrínseca. Innedited
- Stitgter TY, Ribeiro L, Carvalho AMM (2006) Evaluation of an intrinsic and specific vulnerability assessment method in comparison with groundwater Stalinization and nitrate contamination levels in two agricultural regions in the south of Portugal. Hydrogeol J 14:79–99
- Panagopoulos GP, Antonakos AK, Lambrakis NJ (2006) Optimization of the DRASTIC method for groundwater vulnerability assessment via the use of simple statistical methods and GIS. Hydrogeol J 14:894–911
- Gogu RC, Dassargues A (2000) Current trends and future challenges in groundwater vulnerability assessment using overlay and index methods. Environ Geol 39(6):549–559
- Tiwari RN, Dwivedi U (2006) Evaluation of pollution susceptibility of Karst aquifers of Rewa Town (Madhya Pradesh) using "DRASTIC" approach. J Environ Sci Eng 48(2):113–118
- Mimi ZA, Mahmoud N, Madi MA (2011) Modified DRASTIC assessment for intrinsic vulnerability mapping of karst aquifers: a case study. Environmental Earth Sciences 66 (2):447–456
- 16. ACA (Catalan Water Agency) (2013) Aquifers cartography of Catalonia. http://aca-gencat.cat/ aca/appmanager/aca/aca?_nfpb=true&_pageLabel=P41800277491338804707154. Accessed 19 Dec 14
- ACA (Catalan Water Agency) (2014) Control network of Catalonia base data. http://aca-web. gencat.cat/aca/appmanager/aca/aca?_nfpb=true&_pageLabel=P1222154461208201295903. Accessed 19 Dec 14
- ACA (Catalan Water Agency) (2007) Files on initial characterisation of and pressures and impacts on bodies of groundwater (IMPRESS, 2004). http://aca-web.gencat.cat/aca/appmanager/aca/ aca?_nfpb=true&_pageLabel=P25400181961268046736218&profileLocale=en.
- FCIHS (Fundación Centro Internacional de Hidrologia Subterrània) Practical projects (1951– 2014). http://www.fcihs.org/pub2/esp/. Accessed 19 Dec 14
- ACA (Catalan Water Agency) (2009) Estimation of groundwater recharge in Catalonia, 47 pp. Inedited

- Burnash RJC, Ferral RL, McGuire RA (1973) A generalized stream flow simulation system conceptual modeling for digital computers, Technical Report, Joint Federal and State River Forecast Center, U.S. National Weather Service and California Department of Water Resources, Sacramento, California, 204 pp
- 22. Burnash R, Ferral L (1996) Conceptualization of the sacramento soil moisture accounting model. California-Nevada River Forecast Center, Sacramento
- Cartographic and Geological Institute of Catalonia (ICGC) (1992) Map of hydro-areas of Catalonia 1:250,000. http://www.igc.cat/web/ca/igc_cataleg.html. Accessed 19 Dec 14
- 24. Center for ecological research and forestry applications (CREAF) (2009) Land cover map of Catalonia 1:250,000. 4a edition (2009). http://www.creaf.uab.es/mcsc/usa/index.htm. Accessed 19 Dec14
- 25. Center for ecological research and forestry applications (CREAF) (2009) Legend of land cover map of Catalonia 1:250,000. 4a edition (2009). http://www.creaf.uab.es/mcsc/descriptiu. htm#llegenda. Accessed 19 Dec 14
- 26. Cartographic and Geological Institute of Catalonia (ICGC) (2010–2014). Catalogue of soils. Geotreballs V. Hydrogeologic maps 1:25,000. Soil map 1:25.000. http://www.igc.cat/web/ca/ sols_cataleg.php. Accessed 19 Dec 14
- 27. Cartographic and Geological Institute of Catalonia (ICGC) (2000) Topographic map 1:50,000 v.1.
- Cartographic and Geological Institute of Catalonia (ICGC) (2010) Geologic map of Catalonia 1:50,000. http://www.igc.cat/web/ca/igc_cataleg.html. Accessed 19 Dec 14
- 29. Cartographic and Geological Institute of Catalonia (ICGC) (2010) Geologic map of Catalonia 1:250,000 http://www1.igc.cat/bd/mapes/igc_MG250M_v2g.pdf. Accessed 19 Dec 14
- 30. Davis SN (1969) Porosity and permeability of natural materials: flow through porous materials. Academic, New York
- 31. Freeze RA, Cherry JA (1979) Groundwater. Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, 604 pp
- 32. Ministerio de Obras Públicas (MOP) (1971) Estudio de los Recursos Hidraulicos totales del Pirineo Oriental
- 33. Cartographic and Geological Institute of Catalonia (ICGC) (2010–2014). Serial geological maps of Catalonia. Geotreballs V. Hydrogeologic maps 1:25,000. http://www.igc.cat/web/ca/ igc_cataleg.html. Accessed 19 Dec 14
- 34. European commission (2000) Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for Community action in the field of water policy. Official Journal L 327, 22/12/2000 P. 0001 – 0073
- 35. ACA (Catalan Water Agency) (2013) Característiques de la demarcació, anàlisi d'impactes i pressions de l'activitat humana, i anàlisi econòmica de l'ús de l'aigua a les masses d'aigua del districte de conca fluvial de Catalunya. (Document IMPRESS 2013). https://aca-web.gencat.cat/aca/appmanager/aca/aca?_nfpb=true&_pageLabel=P46600176421381934582085. Accessed 19 Dec 14
- 36. European Commission (2003) CIS Guidance Document No. 3: Analysis of pressures and impacts. Report from the WFD Common Implementation Strategy

Pros and Cons of Biological Quality Element Phytoplankton as a Water-Quality Indicator in the NW Mediterranean Sea

Jordi Camp, Eva Flo, Magda Vila, Laura Arin, Albert Reñé, Nagore Sampedro, Marta Manzanera, and Esther Garcés

Abstract The Water Framework Directive (WFD) mandates the use of biological quality element (BOE) phytoplankton to assess the ecological status of coastal and transitional water bodies (WB). Here, we present (i) a critique of the general ecological assumptions of the WFD, (ii) a review of the ecological features of coastal phytoplankton dynamics, (iii) several approaches to establish a methodology to assess water-quality along the Catalan coast (NW Mediterranean Sea) based on BOE phytoplankton, and (iv) a critical examination of the use of phytoplankton as a BOE. Since 2005, we have followed several approaches aimed at assessing water-quality based on BOE phytoplankton and linking this indicator to a proxy to a costal pressure index. We have therefore studied phytoplankton communities at three different levels: as potentially harmful species, as functional or taxonomic groups, and with respect to their bloom frequency. Despite intense efforts, none of these fulfilled the WFD's management requirements, which in this context were found to contain several inherent flaws. As an alternative, we propose a methodology to assess water-quality based on the use of chlorophyll-a (Chl-a), as a proxy of phytoplankton biomass. The Chl-a concentration offers a very simple and representative measure of the phytoplankton community, and, importantly, it is used worldwide in water-quality studies, thus allowing not only regional but also crosscountry comparisons. Moreover, because Chl-a concentrations clearly respond to nutrient enrichment, we were able to establish a BQE-specific typology for water bodies based on salinity, which is linked to nutrient loads. Using a newly developed

M. Manzanera

J. Camp, E. Flo, M. Vila, L. Arin, A. Reñé, N. Sampedro, and E. Garcés (⊠) Grup Processos Biològics Litorals, Departament de Biologia Marina i Oceanografia, Institut de Ciències del Mar, CSIC, Pg. Marítim de la Barceloneta, 37-49, E08003 Barcelona, Spain e-mail: esther@icm.csic.es

Department of Monitoring and Aquatic Ecosystem Improvement, Catalan Water Agency, c/ Provença 204-208, 08036 Barcelona, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water* 135 *Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 43: 135–160, DOI 10.1007/698_2015_392, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 9 July 2015

coastal pressure index (Land Use Simplified Index, LUSI) that also reflects nutrient inputs, we demonstrated a significant pressure–impact relationship, as required by the WFD for management purposes. Based on this relationship, we were able to define reference conditions and water-quality boundaries for each type. We conclude our discussion with a consideration of the pros and cons of the use of phytoplankton as a BQE.

Keywords Biological quality element, Chlorophyll-*a*, Coastal waters, Continental pressures, NW Mediterranean Sea, Phytoplankton, Pressure–impact relationship, Water-quality assessment

Contents

1	Ecol	ogical Systems, Biological Communities, and the Water Framework Directive	136
2	Is Ph	ytoplankton an Adequate Bioindicator?	138
	2.1	Causes of Variability in Phytoplankton Communities	138
	2.2	Phytoplankton Communities: An Indicator Without Memory	139
	2.3	Phytoplankton Species as a Bioindicator	140
	2.4	Phytoplankton Biomass as a Bioindicator	140
3	The	Mediterranean Sea and the Catalan Coast as a Case Study	141
	3.1	Water-Quality Surveys at the Catalan Coast	142
	3.2	WFD Implementation at the Catalan Coast	143
4	Susta	ainability of the BQE Phytoplankton to Assess the Water-Quality at Catalan Coast	145
	4.1	Database	149
	4.2	Pressure–Impact Relationships	150
	4.3	Reference Conditions	151
	4.4	Boundaries Between Water-Quality Categories	152
	4.5	Water-Quality Based on Phytoplankton Biomass of the Catalan Coast	153
5	Final	Discussion on the Use of Phytoplankton as a BQE	155
Re	ferenc	es	157

1 Ecological Systems, Biological Communities, and the Water Framework Directive

Coastal waters are the most productive and diverse areas of the global ocean. Their unique structural properties include continental shelves, benthic–pelagic coupling, strong gradients, terrestrial inputs, geomorphic effects, and the broad spectrum of oceanographic conditions. Moreover, coastal waters are also strongly influenced by human activities, which result in the enrichment of coastal areas with organic and inorganic nutrients, such as carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus, and therefore in unprecedented increases in eutrophication. Indeed, the deterioration of water-quality, understood as the loss of desirable (near pristine) conditions, has mainly been due to anthropogenic pressures, most of which originate on land. Identification of the causal links between these pressures and ecosystem status is therefore a fundamental step in any policy aimed at improving the environmental quality of coastal waters.

The purpose of the Water Framework Directive (WFD) is to establish a framework for the protection of freshwaters, marine waters, and groundwater. The main environmental objective of the WFD is the achievement by all European water bodies (WBs) of a Good Ecological Status (GES) by 2015. The ecological status is used to define the water-quality of a WB and is based on hydromorphological and physico-chemical criteria as well as biological quality elements (BQEs) and quantified by an ecological quality ratio (EQR). The EQR is a relative measure that compares the structural and compositional features of an ecosystem with those of a reference system characterized by a low level of anthropogenic pressure and therefore with good water-quality. Any deterioration or improvement in ecological status, and hence in water-quality, is reflected in the responses of these BQEs in the EQR. In the case of coastal and transitional waters, BQEs are presumed to respond to the effects of the main pressures, especially eutrophication. For example, the WFD recognizes that nutrient enrichment and changes in the stoichiometry of nutrient elements can give rise to shifts in the composition and biomass of phytoplankton species and to increases in the frequency, magnitude, and duration of phytoplankton blooms. It has therefore included phytoplankton as a BOE and mandated determinations of its taxonomic composition, abundance, biomass, and bloom frequency to assess water-quality.

While the WFD emphasizes sustainable use, its GES criteria assume that a manageable relationship exists between the structure and function of ecological systems that can be evaluated by quantifying the designated BOEs. However, questions regarding the validity of this assumption and whether a BQE-based approach is robust enough to support the goals of the WFD have generated intense controversy within the scientific community. A major concern is that the proposed methodology for the achievement of GES relies on an outdated interpretation of ecology and on a highly idealized pristine state free of any type of human impact [1]. In addition, the WFD's goals are based on the concept of a balanced (or climax) community and what nowadays is recognized as an overly simplistic view of the equilibrium of biological communities. That line of thinking was developed by Clements [2], who defined a climax community as "a biological community of plants and animals which, through the process of ecological succession has reached an equilibrium in response to climate, soil and other environmental factors. In the absence of human interference, this state is self-maintaining." The directive has adopted this view even though the recent scientific literature contains strong evidences that it is an inappropriate model for ecosystem management [1].

The WFD is also founded on several other assumptions, which can be summarized as follows: (1) ecological systems have a clear identity; they are recognizable and spatially clearly delimited. (2) In the absence of pressures, ecological systems achieve a steady state and are both temporally and spatially stable. (3) Ecological systems have "memory" and undergo structural changes in response to sustained pressure. (4) Changes caused by anthropogenic pressures can be distinguished from those resulting from natural causes, which in turn imply known pressure–impact relationships. (5) Ecological systems will return to an initial reference state if the pressures ceased. (6) Any changes in an ecosystem will be reflected by corresponding changes in each of its components or at least, per their definition, in its BQEs.

However, the WFD's assumptions are highly contestable and largely outdated, such that today none would withstand rigorous scientific evaluation. Consequently, the validity of the entire WFD regarding its reliance on BQEs must be questioned. It is beyond the scope of this chapter to discuss the weaknesses of each of the abovelisted assumptions in detail. A summary of the opposing arguments would show that the WFD's assumptions are valid only if we impose appropriate spatiotemporal restrictions on the use of a particular BQE. This approach requires in-depth knowledge of the BQE's function in the target ecosystem and a recognition of the limitations and potential artifacts of the various methods used to sample BQEs, neither of which has been sufficiently evaluated.

In the following, we examine the limitations of phytoplankton as a BQE. We begin with a review of the ecological features of coastal phytoplankton and its dynamics. We then present some of the findings of our 10-year experience in the use of BQE phytoplankton to assess the water-quality of the Catalan coast (NW Mediterranean Sea) - as required by the WFD - which illustrate several of the problems inherent to the directive. As will become apparent in this chapter, for BQE phytoplankton, none of the tested parameters, i.e., taxonomic composition, abundance, biomass, and bloom frequency, are sufficiently reliable to establish ecological status when used on their own, as they do not fulfill the management requirements demanded by the directive. Instead, we show that the chlorophyll-a (Chl-a) concentration, which serves as a proxy measure for phytoplankton biomass, clearly responds to nutrient enrichment. Accordingly, we were able to establish a positive pressure-impact relationship between a coastal pressure index (Land Uses Simplified Index, LUSI) and Chl-a. Based on this relationship, we developed a methodology, discussed herein, in which water-quality can be determined by measuring phytoplankton biomass. Moreover, our approach complies with the WFD's requirements regarding ecosystem management applications.

2 Is Phytoplankton an Adequate Bioindicator?

2.1 Causes of Variability in Phytoplankton Communities

The growth and distribution of phytoplankton species follow seasonal cycles that depend on latitude and on the distance of the respective community to the coast. The fundamental causes of this variability have been well studied and include nutrient availability [3–8]. Nutrient elements are essential for the growth and maintenance of photoautotrophic organisms, which use light to fix carbon dioxide, and are responsible for the vast majority of primary production in the ocean.

Phytoplankton and other microbes take up nutrients and assimilate them into macromolecules, resulting in the formation of particulate organic matter which is then integrated into food webs and, thus, into higher trophic levels. Along with nutrients and their stoichiometry, several chemical and physical factors affect the phytoplankton community, including salinity, turbulence, the stability of the water column, the degree of water confinement, water residence time, temperature, tidal mixing, and the availability of light [3, 9-12]. Additionally, the phytoplankton community is composed of many different species, whose survival is favored by differences in their ecological requirements and by their distinct life strategies based on nutritional diversity (autotrophy vs. mixotrophy), different modes of competition, adapted life cycles, and differences in growth rates [13–15]. These processes account for the highly dynamic nature of phytoplankton, their rapid response to changes in environmental conditions, and their ability to inhabit a geographically broad range of coastal environments. However, they also underlie the complex relationship between environmental conditions and both the abundance of phytoplankton [16, 17] and the unpredictable structure of their communities. Thus, one of the main drawbacks of the WFD in its designation of phytoplankton as a BQE can be summarized as follows: phytoplankton communities are highly diverse and well adapted not only to nutrient fluctuations but also to physical parameters that change over time, all of which preclude the identification of clear-cut relationships between BOE phytoplankton and environmental pressures.

2.2 Phytoplankton Communities: An Indicator Without Memory

To establish reference conditions, as mandated by the WFD, phytoplankton communities must be described based on their state under completely or nearly completely undisturbed conditions, with little or no impact from human activities. The WFD also assumes that the nature of phytoplankton communities reflects the "memory" of sustained pressure. However, as noted above, even in the absence of anthropogenic pressure, phytoplankton communities are highly dynamic. Marine phytoplankton communities respond to the physico-chemical properties of their environment and, therefore, do not temporally integrate environmental changes. Indeed, even within a single seasonal cycle, phytoplankton communities will be highly variable [18, 19] and will not give rise to a climax community. An effective and accurate assessment of the status of marine ecosystems and the disturbances to them requires recognition of the dynamic nature not only of phytoplankton but also of ecosystems and their communities in general. In other words, the status of a phytoplankton community should not, and cannot, be evaluated by comparing its composition and relative abundances with a static "reference" assemblage of species that, even if it existed, would by no means be representative.

2.3 Phytoplankton Species as a Bioindicator

Among the various methods for evaluating the effects of human perturbations on coastal ecosystems, the use of specific species, rather than assemblages, as indicators of ecological status has been proposed. However, in the context of eutrophication, the proliferation of a particular species of phytoplankton in direct response to a disturbance in the balance of an aquatic ecosystem is by no means certain [20]. For example, species belonging to the genus *Phaeocystis* are regarded as a nuisance in the coastal waters of the North Sea. Yet, following anthropogenically derived nutrient enrichments of Belgian coastal waters, there was little change in the respective ecosystem despite a considerable increase in *Phaeocystis* spp. [21] In the Mediterranean Sea, there is no evidence of opportunistic phytoplankton species or of a significant indicator species in the sense relied upon by the WFD in its definition of a BQE. Similar conclusions have been reached in studies conducted in other European regions.

2.4 Phytoplankton Biomass as a Bioindicator

The immediate biological response to nutrient inputs is an increase in primary production, which manifests as an increase in phytoplankton and/or macroalgal abundances [22–25]. Accordingly, Chl-*a* is commonly accepted as a proxy for phytoplankton biomass, and extensive literature supports its use as an indicator of eutrophication in coastal waters [26–34]. In relation to the WFD, this assertion supports the mandatory inclusion of a pressure–impact relationship in each methodology used to assess water-quality.

There is general agreement on the relationship between the mean concentrations of nutrients and Chl-*a* in coastal waters. However, to assess this pressure–impact relationship, Chl-*a* data must be statistically integrated with respect to time, due to the highly dynamic behavior of phytoplankton communities. Therefore, a suitable temporal database is necessary, which in turn implies the need for sufficiently frequent sampling over an adequate period of time. Thus, the WFD mandates a 6-year period to assess the ecological status of a WB. Nonetheless, in some cases and in certain places, there will be no obvious relationship between the concentrations of nutrients and Chl-*a*. This could be due to a temporal or spatial mismatch of nutrients and Chl-*a*. For example, nutrients reach coastal waters at a certain time, and some time later, Chl-*a* will be generated but it also may be the case that the nutrients are further transported before Chl-*a* can be generated. Therefore, the physical and biological processes that modulate Chl-*a* production in turbulent and dynamic environments, such as coastal waters, may also disrupt its relationship to nutrient levels.

3 The Mediterranean Sea and the Catalan Coast as a Case Study

The Mediterranean Sea is a valuable paradigm to assess anthropic pressure, because of the contrasting nature of its offshore and coastal areas. The offshore waters of the Mediterranean Sea are among the most oligotrophic areas of the world. In these waters, nutrient availability is low and inorganic phosphorus concentrations limit primary production [35]. Consequently, large areas of the sea's surface waters are characterized by low amounts of phytoplankton biomass. Modest late-winter/earlyspring increases of biomass are observed in some areas, such as in the northwest basin, associated with increasing daily irradiances and a greater stability of the surface layers after winter mixing brings nutrients to the surface. Relatively highbiomass peaks also occur in fronts, upwellings, and cyclonic gyres. By contrast, coastal areas are nutrient rich, as they receive river discharges, runoff from populated areas, and submarine groundwater, but they are also influenced by offshore oceanographic conditions. The coastal marine zone is therefore a transitional area characterized by strong physical, chemical, and biological gradients that extend from land to sea. Here, biological production is closely coupled to processes that deliver nutrients to surface waters. Anthropogenic forcing clearly influences the absolute availability of these nutrients and their stoichiometry, both of which impact phytoplankton productivity and species composition.

The Catalan coast is representative of the NW Mediterranean coast in terms of its geography, demographics, and socio-economic activity [36]. The climate in this area is typically Mediterranean, with moderate temperatures and irregular precipitation throughout the year. The continental topography ranges from rocky and steep to sandy and flat, with deltaic areas, the most important of which is the Ebro delta. The tidal range is small. The sea weather is typically mild but occasionally rough or very rough, with most storms occurring during autumn and winter. Catalan watersheds consist of ephemeral streams, nine medium to small rivers, and the Ebro River in the south, all of which feed directly into the Mediterranean Sea. The Ebro River drains a watershed of 84,230 km², with a mean water discharge at the river's mouth of 416 m^3/s [37]. Other major rivers in the region drain an area of 13,400 km² and have a mean water discharge of 0.3-16.3 m³/s [38]. Land use differs along the river basins, with agriculture accounting for 9.6-51%, forests for 18.5-56.6%, and urban areas for 1-19.1%. Agricultural land use is relatively important in southern river basins and urbanization in central ones. In terms of surface area, 10.7% of the total coastal zone is urbanized with 3.9 milions inhabitants [39]. However, the population density along the coast is highly variable, with only 33 inhabitants/km² in the Ebro basin but 1,425 habitants/km² in Metropolitan Barcelona. During the tourist season, the population density in some areas increases by up to tenfold.



Fig. 1 Map of the Catalan coast. The coastline and main rivers are shown, together with the sampling stations and water bodies

3.1 Water-Quality Surveys at the Catalan Coast

Two time series were carried out along the Catalan coast with the aim of assessing water-quality with respect to phytoplankton: a physico-chemical and biological survey and a survey to monitor phytoplankton. Both were the result of several agreements between the Catalan Water Agency (ACA) and the Institut de Ciències del Mar (ICM-CSIC).

The physico-chemical and biological survey of Catalan coastal waters was initiated in 1990 and is ongoing. It consists of the sampling of 252 stations at specific distances from the shoreline: 35 stations at 5,000 m from the shore, 81 stations at 1,500 m, and 136 stations between 0 and 200 m, depending on the water depth (Fig. 1). The stations nearest to the coast, which are located within the sea, are representative of coastal nearshore waters (CNW) and coastal inshore waters (CIW) [36]. CNW stations are sampled every 3 months and CIW stations every 3 months, monthly, or weekly, depending on the season. At each of these

stations, in situ salinity and chemical (inorganic nutrients) and biological (Chl-*a*) parameters are measured in surface waters. Dissolved inorganic nutrient (nitrate, nitrite, ammonia, phosphate, and silicate) concentrations are determined using colorimetric techniques [40] and total Chl-*a* by a fluorometric method [41].

In parallel with the above-described survey, phytoplankton monitoring was initiated in 2000 and is also ongoing. Water samples are obtained weekly, fort-nightly, or monthly from 14 to 20 stations, depending on the station and year. The Utermöhl method is used to identify and count phytoplankton species [42].

3.2 WFD Implementation at the Catalan Coast

Implementation of the WFD along the Catalan coast is based on several procedures:

- i. Adaptation of surveys. Catalan coastal water time series were modified in 2004 to fulfill the requirements of the WFD. Several stations were added to the surveys and sampling frequencies were in some cases adjusted. The most important change with respect to phytoplankton monitoring was to record the main taxonomic groups and not only the potentially harmful species, as was done at the beginning of the survey.
- ii. WB delimitation. Thirty-six WBs located along the coast were defined: 34 coastal waters and two transitional waters (the northern and southern bays of the Ebro delta). The coastal lengths of these WBs and thus the number of stations per WB differ considerably. In the physico-chemical survey, there are between 2 and 30 stations per WB, such that all WBs are covered. For phytoplankton monitoring, 13 WBs are covered, with 1–2 stations per WB.
- iii. Definition of a specific typology for BQE phytoplankton. The standard typology of Mediterranean WBs is based on the nature of the bottom substrate and the depth, which are irrelevant for BQE phytoplankton. As an alternative, a specific typology was proposed and subsequently accepted by the Mediterranean Geographical Intercalibration Group (Med-GIG). This typology is based on the degree of freshwater influence that the WB receives from land and is therefore related to nutrient loads. The three WB types are described in Table 1. Their freshwater influences are determined by the annual mean salinity.

These types can also be subdivided into subtypes to differentiate among biogeographic areas with similar freshwater influence. For example, type II is subdivided into type II-A and type II-B to differentiate the moderate influence

Туре	Description	Annual mean salinity
Ι	Highly influenced by freshwater inputs	<34.5
II	Moderately influenced by freshwater inputs	\geq 34.5 and < 37.5
III	Not affected by freshwater inputs	≥37.5

 Table 1
 Specific WB typologies relevant for BQE phytoplankton and their annual mean salinity

of freshwater due to continental inputs from inputs coming from the Atlantic Ocean; and type III is subdivided into western (W) or eastern (E) basins of the Mediterranean Sea. More detailed information can be found in the European technical reports [43].

iv. Establishment of a method to assess continental pressures on coastal waters. Every methodology to assess water-quality must be supported by a clearly defined pressure-impact relationship whose underlying mechanisms are known. The establishment of such relationships, and therefore the assessment of anthropogenic pressures, is crucial for the development of the River Basin Management Plans required by the WFD. In coastal systems, these assessments must be focused on inland pressures, as the directive requires the assessment of pressures outside the WBs. However, while human activities are known to cause multiple pressures on different components of the marine ecosystem [44], their quantification and proof of their impacts required sophisticated, integrated tools that currently are not available. Instead, several indices have been proposed to estimate the quantity and distribution of anthropogenic pressures and their potential impacts, including BiPo [45, 46], BSPI, and BSII [47], but their use is either very complicated or requires large amounts of data. We therefore developed the Land Use Simplified Index (LUSI) [48] to simply and cost-effectively assess continental pressures on coastal waters. The rationale for the LUSI is based on the following assumptions: (1) Coastal waters receive pressures only from continental fluxes. (2) Coastal land uses determine the amount and the nutrient richness of continental fluxes. (3) An area of coastal water receiving river flows is therefore influenced by the respective watershed. (4) Coastal morphology has an effect on coastal water confinement and therefore on received pressures. LUSI integrates information regarding the specific continental pressures that influence a WB with information about the morphology of the coastal region involved, which can enhance or diminish those pressures once they reach the coast. The nature of these continentally derived inputs reflects the main characteristics of the land and its uses: urban, industrial, or agricultural. The intensity of the effects of each one on a given WB depends on the amount of land involved, which can be estimated using land use maps. The degree of riverine pressure is estimated based on the specific WB typology for BQE phytoplankton, as described in Table 1. Depending on these characteristics, a score is assigned to each WB and then combined within an algorithm to obtain a unique unitless LUSI value. A low LUSI value indicates that the coastal water is not or only slightly influenced by continental pressures, whereas a high LUSI value indicates a very strong influence of continental pressures on coastal waters. This distinction was validated by measurements of dissolved inorganic nutrient concentrations in coastal waters of the Catalan coast. All these characteristics make LUSI an important tool not only within the WFD but also within the context of DPSIR (driving forces-pressures-statesimpacts-responses) models in general. To demonstrate a significant pressureimpact relationship for BQE phytoplankton within the Catalan coast, LUSI values were calculated for the entire WB by using the CORINE land cover map from 2006.

4 Sustainability of the BQE Phytoplankton to Assess the Water-Quality at Catalan Coast

We tested four different phytoplankton-related approaches to evaluate the waterquality of the Catalan coast: (i) the harmful algal bloom (HAB) index; (ii) the diatom/dinoflagellate ratio; (iii) the bloom frequency index; and (iv) measurement of Chl-*a* concentrations. These approaches meet the WFD's requirements with respect to the taxonomic composition and abundance (i and ii), bloom frequency (iii), and biomass (iv) of phytoplankton.

Each approach complied with the WFD's intercalibration process (IC), the aim of which is to ensure the comparability of biological monitoring results obtained by the member states, as required by the directive. Our group was assigned to the Med-GIG from 2005 to 2015. All four approaches were statistically tested following the guideline of the WFD and the directions of the Joint Research Centre. The statistical tests were carried out by selecting several subsets of the two Catalan coastal water time series databases, depending on the BQE parameter. One of the subsets belonged to the common dataset from Med-GIG, which was used to establish a method to assess water-quality based on Chl-a (iv). To test the sustainability of the diatom/dinoflagellate ratio (ii), selected stations were classified into two groups, impacted and reference stations (sites with undisturbed conditions), depending on the degree of human disturbance. All the approaches were tested against LUSI values.

i. HAB index. As previously discussed, the assumption that the presence and/or abundances of a particular species of phytoplankton can be used as an indicator of water-quality has been strongly questioned [20]. However, because HAB species are toxin producers or cause other harmful environmental effects, their presence is considered as an environmental disturbance. The HAB index [49] integrates data on the taxonomic composition and abundances of HAB species. In a study conducted at 17 stations sampled monthly during two annual cycles (2005–2006) and covering 13 WBs along the Catalan coast, HAB species were grouped into six different categories based on their toxicity and harmful effects: paralytic shellfish poisoning, diarrheic shellfish poisoning, amnesic shellfish poisoning producers, benthic species, bloom-forming microplankton, and bloom-forming nanoflagellates. Depending on the cellular abundances of these species, they were assigned a score of 0, 1, or 2 such that the cumulative scores ranged from 0 to 12 for each sample. The HAB index was then calculated for each station according to the following formula:



Fig. 2 HAB index and LUSI relationship for the 17 stations studied. *Triangles* represent stations with riverine influences (types I and II in Table 1) and *dots* represent type III stations (as defined in Table 1)

HAB index (%) = [Sum of scores/(Number of samples \times F)] \times 100

where F = 12, which is the maximum potential score for each sample. Next, the water-quality of each WB was assigned a value according to its HAB index. To confirm the accuracy of the classification, HAB index results were compared with the anthropogenic pressures defined by LUSI for each WB (Fig. 2).

The correlation between the HAB index and LUSI was significant $(R^2 = 0.5366; p < 0.001)$ when all of the data were included. Stations with higher LUSI values were those affected by river inputs (types I and II), which in turn were prone to developing high-biomass blooms. However, because these stations clearly dominated the HAB index vs. LUSI relationship, it was no longer significant when they were excluded. These results clearly demonstrated that the HAB index is not an accurate indicator of eutrophication, given that the presence and abundances of toxic species were not significantly related to the degree of anthropogenic pressures. In fact, the proliferative potential of a harmful-producing species depends not only on the eutrophication of the WB in which that species resides but also on the species' physiological characteristics, its life cycle, the presence of its competitors and predators, and the properties of the WB itself, such as water motion, the stability of the water column, and the water residence time.

Similar conclusions were reached by other authors [50], who in devising a quality index removed the cell counts of harmful species as they did not provide any relevant information about the study area (Basque coast, NEA region). Other authors have similarly concluded that "HABs are not related to eutrophication of the Mediterranean zone" given that some toxic species are mixotrophic and can bloom even in areas with nutrient limitations [51].

ii. Diatom/dinoflagellate ratio. A second approach was based on the taxonomic composition of phytoplankton, specifically, on the ratio of the two main groups of phytoplankton: diatoms and dinoflagellates. This ratio was expected to be



Fig. 3 Diatoms and dinoflagellates percentage at eight undisturbed (median LUSI = 1) and six impacted (median LUSI = 4) stations during (a) winter, (b) spring, (c) summer, and (d) fall. These stations were sampled monthly during a period of 2 years

responsive to changes in nutrient ratios induced by human eutrophication, as reported by some authors [52]. Anthropogenic activities increase nitrogen and phosphorous inputs into coastal waters but have little impact or even diminish silicate levels. Nitrogen and phosphorous are inorganic nutrients essential to the growth of all phytoplankton groups, whereas silicate is required by diatoms for the elaboration of their frustules. Accordingly, the growth of diatoms, but not dinoflagellates, is limited when silicate is deficient. We calculated the diatom/ dinoflagellate ratio for a total of 14 stations previously evaluated using LUSI. Thus, eight of the stations were undisturbed (little or no impact from human activities; median LUSI = 1) and six were strongly impacted (high pressure from human activities; median LUSI = 4). Our hypothesis was that their LUSIdefined differences would be reflected in the diatom/dinoflagellate ratio. However, despite the clear difference in their LUSI values, there were no differences in the diatom/dinoflagellate ratios of the undisturbed vs. impacted stations (Fig. 3).

Instead, the changes in the diatom/dinoflagellate ratio mainly indicated the seasonal pattern of phytoplankton that is typical of the NW Mediterranean [53]. Therefore, the presence of diatoms and dinoflagellates depends not only on anthropogenic pressures related to nutrient inputs into WBs but also on the hydrographic characteristics of the respective water column and the general patterns of the seasonal succession of phytoplankton [3]. The inability of the diatom/dinoflagellate ratio to serve as a measurement tool of water-quality is consistent with published reports on similar problems encountered during attempts to implement other taxonomic-based indicators specified by the WFD [54–58].



iii. Bloom frequency index. We measured phytoplankton bloom frequency at ten selected stations subject to different levels of anthropogenic pressure. Abundance thresholds were defined for the major phytoplankton groups (diatoms, dinoflagellates, coccolithophorids, and nanoflagellates) to estimate bloom frequency as a percentage of the total number of samples. These percentages were then used to assign water-quality categories. The correlation between the bloom frequency index and LUSI was significant ($R^2 = 0.795$; p < 0.001) when all of the data were included (Fig. 4). As in the case of the HAB index, the stations with higher LUSI values were those affected by river inputs, which in turn gave rise to high-biomass blooms. This sequence of events dominated the relationship such that when the respective data were excluded, the relationship was no longer significant. These results clearly demonstrate a nonlinear relationship between bloom frequency and anthropogenic pressures as well as an as-yet undefined pressure–impact relationship. Therefore, the bloom frequency index is not a good indicator of eutrophication.

In summary, the first three BQE-based approaches, which considered phytoplankton community composition and bloom frequency, are inadequate in terms of achieving the objectives of the WFD. Moreover, they reflect the broader problems regarding the use of phytoplankton indexes that rely on phytoplankton composition (whether of species or of functional groups) to classify water-quality in terms of eutrophication pressure. The absence of a direct relationship between blooms or HABs and eutrophication is in line with the current view of the scientific community, that algal blooms, including those that are toxic, can also be natural phenomena [59]. Our findings are also concordant with those reported by researchers in other European Union member states, in which national indices were developed to comply with the WFD but failed to demonstrate a relationship between BQE phytoplankton and waterquality [31, 50, 60].

iv. Chlorophyll-a. We followed several approaches to establish and test a methodology to assess water-quality using Chl-a as a proxy of phytoplankton biomass. All of them were based on the same assessment concept, in which nutrient concentrations are linked with those of Chl-a, which are higher in coastal areas that receive freshwater discharges of nutrients than in those that do not receive continental nutrient loads. On a practical level, this assumption is translated using the BQE-specific typology based on salinity, which recognizes at least three possible degrees of riverine influence on a WB. Thus, a WB with high river influence (type I) will have higher Chl-*a* concentrations than a WB without riverine influence (type III). In addition, all of the methodologies tested determine whether the water-quality of a WB is acceptable by comparing its Chl-*a* concentrations with a reference level, taking into account the typology. Thus, the water-quality of a WB with a Chl-*a* concentration similar to its reference, which in turn implies similarity with respect to salinity and nutrient concentrations, will be acceptable. Conversely, the water-quality of a WB with a Chl-*a* concentration that is much higher than the reference level will be unacceptable. In the latter, the difference between the measured WB and the reference WB is presumably due to an extra nutrient load related to human activities, i.e., eutrophication. In such cases, actions should be implemented to achieve the GES of that WB.

The following section provides a description of our methodology to assess water-quality based on Chl-*a*. The method was accepted by the European Commission in 2015, within the third phase of the WFD IC. After a description of the characteristics of the database, we describe the three steps that comprise the methodology: (i) establishment of the pressure–impact relationships, (ii) calculation of the reference conditions, and (iii) setting of the boundaries between water-quality categories. Finally, we provide an example by applying this approach to the Catalan coast.

4.1 Database

The methodology was developed using a subset of the common dataset from the Med-GIG, specifically, data from the NW Mediterranean (the coastal waters of France and Spain). As Spain has data from both CIW and CNW, all CIW data were transformed to CNW data, according to the first IC Med-GIG Technical Report, Section 3 Annex I Spain (Mediterranean Geographical Intercalibration Group, 2007), as shown in Eq. (1):

$$CNW Chl-a = 1/2*CIW Chl-a \tag{1}$$

The subset contained information from 71 WBs (23 of type II-A and 51 of type III-W). Type I was omitted from the subset as it was only present in Spanish waters, which prevented its intercalibration with similar data from France. The subset included information from each WB regarding estimated anthropogenic pressures (LUSI), their potential impacts (90th percentile of Chl-*a* values, in μ g/L), and salinity (annual mean values), in order to specify its typology. Chl-*a* and salinity statistics were calculated over a 2 to 6-year period depending on the region and are representative of the CNW of each WB. As Chl-*a* values do not show a normal distribution, they were transformed according to Eq. (2):

$$v' = \log 10(v+1)$$
(2)

More detailed information on the sampling and analytical methods and on the common data set can be found in European technical reports [43].

4.2 Pressure–Impact Relationships

This is the first step in obtaining a valid methodology to assess water-quality, as stated by the WFD. Thus, a linear model was fit for each WB type, using a data doubling step and the *R* software package [61]. Due to the data doubling step, the goodness of fit values, but not the *p*-values, was reliable. The linear models for type II-A and type III-W are described by Eqs. (3) and (4):

Type II-A : Chl-*a* Transformed =
$$0.05*LUSI + 0.26$$
 (3)

Type III-W : Chl-*a* Transformed =
$$0.06*LUSI + 0.19$$
 (4)

Both show a positive relationship between LUSI and Chl-a, indicating that the greater the continental anthropogenic pressure received by a WB, the higher the Chl-a concentration, and therefore the stronger the impact on that WB (Fig. 5). Differences between the linear model coefficients of both types are consistent with



Fig. 5 Relationship between pressure (LUSI) and impact (transformed Chl-*a*) for type III-W, type II-A, and type I WBs. Linear models for type III-W and type II-A were obtained from the Med-GIG data subset. The *dots* represent data from Catalan WBs

Туре		Type III-W	Type II-A	Type I
Reference conditions (90th percentile Chl-a, µg/L)		0.79	1.28	4.13
Boundaries (90th percentile Chl-a, µg/L)	H/G	1.18	1.92	6.19
	G/M	1.89	3.5	13.01
	Failed	>1.89	>3.50	>13.01
Boundaries (EQR)	H/G	0.67	0.67	0.67
	G/M	0.42	0.37	0.32
	Failed	<0.42	< 0.37	< 0.32

 Table 2
 Reference conditions and boundaries for the assessment of water-quality based on Chl-a determinations along the Catalan coast

Note that type II-A and type III-W also apply to the NW Mediterranean

the assessment concept. Thus, type III-W WBs have a higher slope and lower intercept than type II-A. In other words, for the same amount of pressure, a type III-W WB generates more Chl-*a* than a type II-A WB and is therefore more sensitive to pressures and will be impacted more rapidly. The intercepts provide information about the lowest Chl-*a* concentrations in the absence of pressures (theoretical value of LUSI = 0, which in practice does not exist) in type III-W WBs but not in type II-A WBs, since the latter are naturally affected by freshwater inputs and will, therefore, have a higher Chl-*a* concentration. Goodness of fit values (R^2) are 0.25 and 0.40 for type II-A and type III-W, respectively. These values are not high but they are acceptable, as they reflect the variability of the NW Mediterranean coast.

4.3 Reference Conditions

According to the WFD CIS Guidance Document No. 5, the reference condition must be derived from an undisturbed site or a site with only very minor disturbances. In accordance with this rule and considering that pressure is measured by means of the LUSI values, the minimum LUSI values for each type were selected to calculate the corresponding reference condition by using the previously established pressure–impact relationship. For a type II-A WB, the minimum LUSI value is 2 (regardless of the shape of the coastline); thus, the reference condition for this type is 1.28 μ g Chl-*a*/L, expressed as a 90th percentile value. For a type III-W WB, the minimum LUSI value is 1 (regardless of the shape of the coastline), and its reference condition is therefore 0.79 μ g Chl-*a*/L (Table 2).

The reference conditions for type II-A and type III-W WBs are similar to those measured in WBs of the Catalan coast that receive less continental pressure, that is, WBs located within a marine and terrestrial natural park, in the NE of Catalonia. Regarding type III-W, the Cap Norfeu WB has a LUSI value of 0.75 and its 90th percentile Chl-*a* concentration is 0.80 μ g/L. For type II-A, the Cap de Creus WB has a LUSI value of 1.50 and its 90th percentile of Chl-*a* concentration is 1.09 μ g/L.

This agreement between the calculated and real natural minimum values of Chl-*a* supports the validity of both the previously determined linear models and the reference conditions of the methodology.

4.4 Boundaries Between Water-Quality Categories

The final step of the methodology is to establish the boundaries between waterquality categories. As water-quality shifts from high to nonacceptable, the boundaries should reflect an increase in the difference between the Chl-*a* concentration and the reference condition. The WFD proposes five water-quality categories, but for management reasons, only the boundaries between two of them are of practical interest: between high and good (H–G) and between good and moderate (G–M). The latter defines the limit between an acceptable and a nonacceptable waterquality.

The H–G boundaries and G–M boundaries were established taking into account the variability within each WB type in the dataset. Thus, for a type II-A WB, 50% of the reference condition was added to the same reference condition to establish the H–G boundary and 82% of the H–G boundary was added to this boundary to obtain the G–M boundary. For a type III-W WB, the H–G boundary was obtained following the same procedure as for type II-A, but the G–M boundary was obtained by the addition of 60% of the H–G boundary. Once these boundaries in terms of the 90th percentile of the Chl-*a* concentration (μ g/L) were established, boundaries in terms of the EQR could be defined by applying Eq. (5):

$$EQR = \frac{Chl-a \quad reference}{Chl-a \quad WB}$$
(5)

The boundaries set in terms of the 90th percentile of Chl-a (µg/L) and EQR are shown in Table 2.

In summary, to assess the water-quality of a WB based on phytoplankton biomass requires data on the annual mean salinity and on the 90th percentile of Chl-*a* (μ g/L). First, the typology of the WB is established according to Table 1. Second, the WB's reference condition is selected depending on its typology, as shown in Table 2. Third, the EQR of the WB is calculated using Eq. (5). And finally, the WB is assigned to a water-quality category with respect to the boundaries, defined in terms of the EQR (Table 2).

Regarding the IC, when a methodology is established, Member States can compare and harmonize boundaries. For the NW Mediterranean, the results show that France and Spain can use the H–G and G–M boundaries to assess the quality of their type III-W and type II-A WBs. In the case of Spain, this assessment can be made directly, without the need for specific correction coefficients. More information on the comparison and harmonization of boundaries between France and Spain

can be found in their third phase IC Working Document regarding BQE phytoplankton, presented to the European Commission in 2014.

4.5 Water-Quality Based on Phytoplankton Biomass of the Catalan Coast

The quality of Catalan coastal waters, based on Chl-*a*, was assessed using the above-described methodology and Med-GIG dataset. Concretely, we used the subset corresponding to the Catalan coast since 2007 to 2010. Since with this intercalibrated methodology only type II-A and type III-W WBs can be assessed, the same procedure was applied to the data corresponding to a type I coastal WB of the Catalan coast. First, a linear model was established. Its goodness of fit (R^2) value was 0.81 and its linear equation was described by Eq. (6):

Type I: Chl-*a* transformed =
$$0.03*LUSI + 0.62$$
 (6)

The slope and intercept of this linear model were congruent with those of the linear models of type III-W and type II-A WBs (Fig. 5). The slope of the type I linear model was the lowest of the three linear models; thus, as an indicator of the magnitude of the pressure on Chl-*a*, a type I WB is the least sensitive to pressure. Since the value of the intercept of the type I linear model will be the highest of the three linear models, then in type I WBs the theoretical Chl-*a* concentration in the absence of pressures will also be the highest, consistent with this type being the one most influenced by freshwater inputs. Second, type I reference conditions were calculated. For this type, the minimum LUSI value is 3; therefore, the reference condition for this type is $4.13 \ \mu g \ Chl-a/L$ for the H–G boundary and $13.01 \ \mu g \ Chl-a/L$ for the G–M boundary, taking into account that 110% of the H–G boundary and the G–M boundary, respectively. These boundaries were in agreement with those of type III-W and type II-A WBs.

All WBs from the Catalan coast, including transitional waters, were assessed by assigning each one a typology using Table 1 and a water-quality category following Eq. (5) and by applying the reference conditions and boundaries listed in Table 2. The results are shown in Fig. 6.

Our assessment of all Catalan WBs showed that 89% have an acceptable (high or good) water-quality based on their Chl-*a* concentrations, with 47% having a high water-quality. By typology, the water-quality of 81% of the type III-W WBs is high or good, whereas for type II-A and type I WBs, this percentage is 100%. Only four WBs failed to achieve an acceptable water-quality (Barcelona, El Prat de Llobregat-Castelldefels, Vilanova i la Geltrú, and Tarragona-Vilaseca). Our results are in agreement both with previous assessments of Catalan coastal waters carried



Fig. 6 Maps of the Catalan coast showing the typology of each water body (**a**) and its waterquality based on phytoplankton biomass (Chl-a) (**b**). Water bodies that correspond to harbors were not assessed and are indicated in *grey*

out before the implementation of the WFD and with parallel studies. Therefore, our linear models, selected reference conditions, and boundaries are appropriate and the methodology is valid. With this water-quality assessment approach based on BQE phytoplankton, the ecological status of Catalan WBs will be assessed and included within the third River Basin Management Plan.

5 Final Discussion on the Use of Phytoplankton as a BQE

We conclude this chapter by again addressing the general assumptions of the WFD and by considering the knowledge gained by the use of BQE phytoplankton to assess water-quality.

Ecological systems usually exist as a continuum such that their spatial delimitations are difficult, if not impossible, to recognize. This is the first challenge in the implementation of the WFD because its basic management unit is the WB, whose spatial delimitation is an artificial condition that must be fulfilled by Member States. As defined by the WFD, coastal waters are those within "a distance of one nautical mile on the seaward side from the nearest point of the baseline from which the breadth of territorial waters is measured." The absence of clear hydromorphological quality elements makes the definition of a marine WB much more challenging than is the case for other surface waters, such as rivers or lakes. For BOE phytoplankton, the establishment of the offshore limits of the WB is crucial, because phytoplankton communities are present and can be sampled within the whole WB and not only along the coast, as is the case for other BQE such as macroalgae or phanerogams. The results of the first attempt to define Catalan coastal WBs are now available, and the definitions have been used within the first and second River Basin Management Plans; however, a revision of the limits of those WBs should be considered.

Other weaknesses in the implementation of the WFD became apparent during the testing of the phytoplankton-related approaches to evaluate the water-quality here, in the Catalan coast, and elsewhere. These were linked to the temporal and spatial samplings of the WBs. The directive allows Member States to select sampling sites and sampling frequencies within each WB. However, coastal WBs are characterized by spatial heterogeneity and asymmetry, with continental anthropogenic pressures being most obvious near the coastline, especially in the tideless Mediterranean Sea. To adequately characterize Mediterranean WBs, they must be sampled at different distances from the coastline. The failure to include sampling points near the coastline will result in values that are not representative and therefore in large biases regarding spatial heterogeneity. But even before the WFD, water-quality surveys in the Catalan coast included sampling sites at different distances from the coastline [36]. Regarding the time frame for sampling, the directive allows the assessment of water-quality based on BQE phytoplankton with a minimum of two samples per year. Yet, as pointed out in this chapter, because phytoplankton communities are highly dynamic, a higher sampling frequency is necessary to define the temporal heterogeneity of a given WB. Moreover, only a wide dataset will allow the necessary statistical integration needed to reveal changes in parameters of interest, such as Chl-*a*. For the water-quality surveys conducted along the Catalan coast, sampling is carried out weekly, fortnightly, monthly, and quarterly, depending on the degree of variability of the sampling point. As is the case for phytoplankton, the inadequate sampling of Chl-*a* could lead to a misrepresentation of the spatio-temporal heterogeneity of the respective WB and therefore to erroneous quality assessments based on BQE phytoplankton.

The WFD assumes that changes caused by anthropogenic pressures can be distinguished from those resulting from natural causes, which in turn implies known pressure-impact relationships. However, current scientific knowledge, including our own efforts to relate anthropogenic pressures to the parameters proposed for BQE phytoplankton, is too limited to reveal the nature of this relationship; consequently, its translation into management actions is not possible. Nonetheless, Chl-a is widely used as a bioindicator of eutrophication in coastal waters. At the management level, some insight has been gained regarding the changes in Chl-*a* caused by anthropogenic pressures (in the form of nutrient inputs), but distinguishing them from changes resulting from natural causes is often difficult. For the purpose of defining and implementing management actions, waterquality assessments based on phytoplankton biomass should be evaluated with respect to the general conditions defined by the WFD. These conditions are defined by physical and chemical quality elements, which in the case of the Catalan coast include dissolved inorganic nutrient concentrations. An evaluation of this type could provide insights into the origin of the detected nutrients, i.e., whether they are due to anthropogenic activity inputs into coastal waters, and thus of Chl-a. The results will allow decisions to be made regarding the need for management actions, since naturally high levels of Chl-a may not warrant external correction. Along the Catalan coast, these evaluations have already been conducted and the findings taken into account within River Basin Management Plans.

Finally, a much better understanding of nutrient-phytoplankton relationships is needed before the effects of eutrophication based on BQE phytoplankton can be fully understood and the appropriate measures taken. The complexity of the interactions between physical, chemical, and biological factors and phytoplankton hinders the establishment of well-defined impact-pressure relationships, and therefore effective management strategies. Until these challenges are overcome, we recommend the implementation of good practices aimed at nutrient load reduction in coastal areas in order to achieve the GES of all European water bodies, which is the main goal of the WFD.

Acknowledgments This study was funded by several contracts between Agència Catalana de l'Aigua and the Institut de Ciències del Mar, CSIC, and the DEVOTES project, DEVelopment Of innovative Tools for understanding marine biodiversity and assessing Good Environmental Status, grant agreement no. 308392. The Nutrient Analyses Service at the ICM-CSIC performed the nutrient analyses. We acknowledge all contributions to the Med-GIG database.

References

- 1. Josefsson H, Baaner L (2011) The water framework directive a directive for the twenty-first century? J Environ Law 23:463–486
- 2. Clements FE (1916) Plant succession: an analysis of the development of vegetation. Carnegie Institution of Washington, Washington DC, p 658
- 3. Margalef R (1978) Life-forms of phytoplankton as survival alternatives in an unstable environment. Oceanol Acta 1(4):493–509
- Kilham P, Kilham SS (1980) The evolutionary ecology of phytoplankton. In: Morris I (ed) The physiological ecology of phytoplankton. Blackwell, Oxford, pp 571–598
- 5. Harris GP (1984) Phytoplankton productivity and growth measurements: past, present and future. J Plankton Res 6(2):219
- 6. Huisman J, Weissing FJ (1999) Biodiversity of plankton by species oscillations and chaos. Nature (Lond) 402(6760):407–410
- Reynolds CS, Smayda TJ (1998) Principles of species selection and community assembly in the phytoplankton: further explorations of the Mandala. In: Reguera B, Blanco J, Fernandez ML, Wyatt T (eds) Harmful algae. Xunta de Galicia and Intergovernmental Oceanographic Commission of UNESCO, Santiago De Compostela, Spain, pp 8–10
- 8. Smayda TJ (1980) Phytoplankton species succession. In: Morris I (ed) The physiological ecology of phytoplankton, Studies in ecology. Blackwell, Oxford, pp 493–570
- 9. Justic D, Rabalais NN, Turner RE (1995) Stoichiometric nutrient balance and origin of coastal eutrophication. Mar Pollut Bull 30(1):41–46
- Vila M, Masó M (2005) Phytoplankton functional groups and harmful algal species in anthropogenically impacted waters of the NW Mediterranean Sea. Sci Mar 69(1):31–45
- Arin L, Guillén J, Segura-Noguera M, Estrada M (2013) Open sea hydrographic forcing of nutrient and phytoplankton dynamics in a Mediterranean coastal ecosystem. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 133:116–128
- 12. Ribera d'Alcalà M, Conversano F, Corato F, Licandro P, Mangoni O, Marino D, Mazzocchi MG, Modigh M, Montresor M, Nardella M, Saggiomo V, Sarno D, Zingone A (2004) Seasonal patterns in plankton communities in a pluriannual time series at a coastal Mediterranean site (Gulf of Naples): an attempt to discern recurrences and trends. Sci Mar 67(1):65–83
- Garcés E, Masó M (2001) Phytoplankton potential growth rate versus increase in cell numbers: estimation of cell lysis. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 212:297–300
- Steidinger KA, Garcés E (2006) Importance of life cycles in the ecology of harmful microalgae. In: Graneli E, Turner JT (eds) Ecology of harmful algae, vol 189. Springer, Berlin, pp 37–49
- Stolte W, Garcés E (2006) Ecological aspects of harmful algal in situ population growth rates. In: Graneli E, Turner JT (eds) Ecology of harmful algae, vol 189. Springer, Berlin, pp 139–152
- Cloern JE, Jassby AD (2008) Complex seasonal patterns of primary producers at the land-sea interface. Ecol Lett 11(12):1294–1303
- Cloern JE, Jassby AD (2010) Patterns and scales of phytoplankton variability in estuarinecoastal ecosystems. Estuar Coasts 33(2):230–241
- Garmendia M, Borja Á, Franco J, Revilla M (2013) Phytoplankton composition indicators for the assessment of eutrophication in marine waters: present state and challenges within the European directives. Mar Pollut Bull 66(1–2):7–16
- 19. Borja Á, Dauer DM, Grémare A (2012) The importance of setting targets and reference conditions in assessing marine ecosystem quality. Ecol Indic 12(1):1–7
- Gowen RJ, Tett P, Smayda TJ (2012) Phytoplankton and the balance of nature: an opinion. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 113:317–323
- Lancelot C, Rousseau V, Gypens N (2009) Ecologically based indicators for *Phaeocystis* disturbance in eutrophied Belgian coastal waters (Southern North Sea) based on field observations and ecological modelling. J Sea Res 61(1–2):44–49

- 22. Ferreira JG, Vale C, Soares CV, Salas F, Stacey PE, Bricker SB, Silva MC, Marques JC (2007) Monitoring of coastal and transitional waters under the E.U. water framework directive. Environ Monit Assess 135(1–3):195–216
- 23. Nixon SW (2009) Eutrophication and the macroscope. Hydrobiologia 629(1):5-19
- 24. OSPAR (2008) Second OSPAR integrated report on the eutrophication status of the OSPAR maritime area, 2008–372. OSPAR, London, p 107
- 25. HELCOM (2009) Eutrophication in the Baltic Sea. An integrated thematic assessment of the effects of nutrient enrichment and eutrophication in the Baltic Sea region. Baltic Sea Environment Proceedings No. 115A
- 26. Bricker SB, Longstaff B, Dennison W, Jones A, Boicourt K, Wicks C, Woerner J (2008) Effects of nutrient enrichment in the nation's estuaries: a decade of change. Harmful Algae 8 (1):21–32
- 27. Bricker SB, Ferreira JG, Simas T (2003) An integrated methodology for assessment of estuarine trophic status. Ecol Model 169(1):39–60
- 28. Ferreira JG, Andersen JH, Borja A, Bricker SB, Camp J, Cardoso da Silva M, Garcés E, Heiskanen A-S, Humborg C, Ignatiades L, Lancelot C, Menesguen A, Tett P, Hoepffner N, Claussen U (2011) Overview of eutrophication indicators to assess environmental status within the European Marine Strategy Framework Directive. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 93(2):117–131
- Borja A, Bricker SB, Dauer DM, Demetriades NT, Ferreira JG, Forbes AT, Hutchings P, Jia X, Kenchington R, Marques JC, Zhu CJ (2008) Overview of integrative tools and methods in assessing ecological integrity in estuarine and coastal systems worldwide. Mar Pollut Bull 56 (9):1519–1537
- 30. Carstensen J, Henriksen P (2009) Phytoplankton biomass response to nitrogen inputs: a method for WFD boundary setting applied to Danish coastal waters. Hydrobiologia 633 (1):137–149
- Devlin MJ, Best M, Coates D, Bresnan E, O'Boyle S, Park R, Silke J, Cusack C, Skeats J (2007) Establishing boundary classes for the classification of UK marine waters using phytoplankton communities. Mar Pollut Bull 55(1–6):91–103
- 32. Devlin MJ, Barry J, Painting SJ, Best M (2009) Extending the phytoplankton tool kit for the UK water framework directive: indicators of phytoplankton community structure. Hydrobiologia 633(1):151–168
- 33. Claussen U, Zevenboom W, Brockmann U, Topcu D, Bot P (2009) Assessment of the eutrophication status of transitional, coastal and marine waters within OSPAR. Hydrobiologia 629(1):49–58
- 34. Garmendia M, Revilla M, Bald J, Franco J, Laza-Martínez A, Orive E, Seoane S, Valencia V, Borja Á (2011) Phytoplankton communities and biomass size structure (fractionated chlorophyll "a"), along trophic gradients of the Basque coast (northern Spain). Biogeochemistry 106 (2):243–263
- 35. Ribera d'Alcalà M, Civitarese G, Conversano F, Lavezza R (2003) Nutrient ratios and fluxes hint at overlooked processes in the Mediterranean Sea. J Geophys Res Ocean 108(C9):8106
- 36. Flo E, Garcés E, Manzanera M, Camp J (2011) Coastal inshore waters in the NW Mediterranean: physico-chemical and biological. characterization and management implications. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 93:279–289
- 37. Ludwig W, Dumont E, Meybeck M, Heussner S (2009) River discharges of water and nutrients to the Mediterranean and Black sea: major drivers for ecosystem changes during past and future decades? Prog Oceanog 80(3–4):199–217
- Liquete C, Canals M, Ludwig W, Arnau P (2009) Sediment discharge of the rivers of Catalonia, NE Spain, and the influence of human impacts. J Hydrol 366(1–4):76–88
- IDESCAT (1996) (Institut d'Estadística de Catalunya) Padró d'habitants 1996. WWW Page. http://www.idescat.es/. Accessed 06 Sept 2010
- 40. Grasshoff K, Ehrhardt M, Kremling K (1983) Methods of sea water analysis. Verlag Chemie, Germany

- Yentsch CS, Menzel DW (1963) A method for the determination of phytoplankton chlorophyll and phaeophytin by fluorescence. Deep-Sea Res 10:221–231
- 42. Utermöhl H (1958) Zur vervollkommnung der quantitativen Phytoplankton-Methodik. Mitteilungen Internationale Vereinigung Theoretische und Angewandte Limnologie 9:1–38
- Carletti A, Heiskanen A-S (2009) Water framework directive intercalibration technical report. Part 3: Coastal and Transitional waters. JRC Scientific and Technical Reports. EUR 23838 EN/ 3. Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg, 240 pp. ISBN 978-92-79-12568-3
- 44. Halpern BS, Walbridge S, Selkoe KA, Kappel CV, Micheli F, D'Agrosa C, Bruno JF, Casey KS, Ebert C, Fox HE, Fujita R, Heinemann D, Lenihan HS, Madin EMP, Perry MT, Selig ER, Spalding M, Steneck R, Watson R (2008) A global map of human impact on marine ecosystems. Science 319(5865):948–952
- 45. Lopez y Royo C, Casazza G, Pergent-Martini C, Pergent G (2010) A biotic index using the seagrass Posidonia oceanica (BiPo), to evaluate ecological status of coastal waters. Ecol Indic 10(2):380–389
- 46. Lopez y Royo C, Silvestri C, Pergent G, Casazza G (2009) Assessing human-induced pressures on coastal areas with publicly available data. J Environ Manag 90(3):1494–1501
- 47. HELCOM (2010) Ecosystem health of the Baltic sea. 2003e2007: HELCOM Initial Holistic Assessment Baltic Sea Environment Proceedings No 122
- 48. Flo E, Camp J, Garcés E (2011) Assessment of pressure methodology for biological quality element phytoplankton in Catalonia, Spain: Land Uses Simplified Index (LUSI). Working document of the Water Framework Directive Intercalibration
- 49. Reñé A, Vila M, Arin L, Sampedro N, Flo E, Camp J (2007) ¿Es la frecuencia e intensidad de proliferaciones algales nocivas un buen indicador ecológico de la calidad de aguas marinas costeras? IX Reunión Ibérica sobre Fitoplancton Tóxico y Biotoxinas
- 50. Revilla M, Franco J, Bald J, Borja A, Laza A, Seoane S, Valencia V (2009) Assessment of the phytoplankton ecological status in the Basque coast (northern Spain) according to the European Water Framework Directive. J Sea Res 61(1–2):60–67
- 51. Collos Y, Bec B, Jauzein C, Abadie E, Laugier T, Lautier J, Pastoureaud A, Souchu P, Vaquer A (2009) Oligotrophication and emergence of picocyanobacteria and a toxic dinoflagellate in Thau lagoon, southern France. J Sea Res 61(1–2):68–75
- 52. Marasovic I, Nincevic Z, Kuspilic G, Marinovic S, Marinov S (2005) Long-term changes of basic biological and chemical parameters at two stations in the middle Adriatic. J Sea Res 54:3–14
- Margalef R, Castellví J (1967) Fitoplancton y produccion primaria de la costa catalana, de julio de 1966 a julio de 1967. Investigaciones Pesqueras 31(3):491–502
- 54. Mouillot D, Spatharis S, Reizopoulou S, Laugier T, Sabetta L, Basset A, Do Chi T (2006) Alternatives to taxonomic-based approaches to assess changes in transitional water communities. Aquat Conserv Mar Freshwat Ecosyst 16(5):469–482
- 55. Carletti A, Heiskanen A-S (2009) Water Framework Directive intercalibration technical report. Part 3: Coastal and Transitional waters. European Commission, Joint Research Centre, Institute for Environment and Sustainability, JRC Scientific and Technical Reports
- 56. Degerlund M, Eilertsen HC (2010) Main species characteristics of phytoplankton spring blooms in NE Atlantic and Arctic Waters (68–80° N). Estuar Coasts 33(2):242–269
- 57. Seoane S, Garmendia M, Revilla M, Borja A, Franco J, Orive E, Valencia V (2011) Phytoplankton pigments and epifluorescence microscopy as tools for ecological status assessment in coastal and estuarine waters, within the water framework directive. Mar Pollut Bull 62 (7):1484–1497
- Domingues RB, Barbosa A, Galvão H (2008) Constraints on the use of phytoplankton as a biological quality element within the water framework directive in Portuguese waters. Mar Pollut Bull 56:1389–1395

- 59. Garcés E, Camp J (2012) Habitat changes in the Mediterranean Sea and the consequences for harmful algal blooms formation. In: Stambler N (ed) Life in the Mediterranean Sea: a look at habitat changes. Nova Science, New York, pp 519–541. ISBN 978-1-61209-644-5
- 60. Spatharis S, Tsirtsis G (2010) Ecological quality scales based on phytoplankton for the implementation of water framework directive in the Eastern Mediterranean. Ecol Indic 10 (4):840–847
- 61. StatSoft, Inc (2001) STATISTICA (data analysis software system), version 6. www.statsoft. com

Bioindicators, Monitoring, and Management Using Mediterranean Seagrasses: What Have We Learned from the Implementation of the EU Water Framework Directive?

Javier Romero, Teresa Alcoverro, Guillem Roca, and Marta Pérez

Abstract Seagrasses are flowering plants that inhabit coastal and transitional waters. They colonize sedimentary seabeds (and to a lesser extent rocky substrates) and present unique adaptations to the marine environment. Seagrasses are especially sensitive to environmental deterioration and live in a world that is particularly threatened by human activity. The response of the plants and their associated communities to disturbances is relatively well known. This has facilitated the development of a large number of seagrass bioindicators based on biochemical, physiological, morphological, structural, demographic, and community measures, especially after the deployment of the EU Water Framework Directive (WFD) and to a lesser extent the implementation of the Marine Strategy Framework Directive.

Bioindicators are at the interface between science and policy. In order for their use by managers for different purposes (monitoring, water quality assessment, longterm changes, etc.) to be robust and consistent, a clear definition of management goals is needed. The development of bioindicators must also be based on careful

J. Romero (🖂) and M. Pérez

e-mail: jromero@ub.edu

G. Roca

Department of Ecology, University of Barcelona, Avgda. Diagonal 643, 08028 Barcelona, Spain

T. Alcoverro Centre d'Estudis Avançats de Blanes [CEAB-CSIC], Accés a la cala Sant Francesc 14, 17300 Blanes, Girona, Spain

Nature Conservation Foundation, 3076/5, 4th Cross, Gokulam Park, Mysore 570 002, Karnataka, India

Department of Ecology, University of Barcelona, Avgda. Diagonal 643, 08028 Barcelona, Spain

Centre d'Estudis Avançats de Blanes [CEAB-CSIC], Accés a la cala Sant Francesc 14, 17300 Blanes, Girona, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water* 161 *Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 43: 161–182, DOI 10.1007/698_2015_437, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 25 August 2015
evaluation together with rigorous and transparent selection processes to ensure their scientific credibility.

Here, we present bioindicator indices based on seagrasses that were developed with the context of the implementation of the WFD in Catalonia, NE Spain, to assess the ecological status of coastal and transitional water bodies. Ecological status includes aspects concerning both the quality of the biological community and the hydrological and chemical characteristics of the environment. For this reason, and to develop a WFD-compliant system for ecological status assessment based on Mediterranean seagrasses, we used multivariate techniques to combine different bioindicators, gathered from different levels within the biological organization, into single biotic indices (POMI and CYMOX, based on the species *Posidonia oceanica* and *Cymodocea nodosa*, respectively). We report how this was achieved and how the robustness and reliability of those indices were assessed through correlation with human pressures, uncertainty analysis, and intercalibration. Finally, besides their applicability, we discuss their shortcomings and what we, as seagrass biologists, have learned overall from responding to the challenges posed by the WFD and specifically by the part dealing with seagrasses.

Keywords Coastal waters, *Cymodocea nodosa*, Ecological status, Human pressures, *Posidonia oceanica*

Contents

1	The Concept of Bioindicator and Its Development at the Interface Between Science	
	and Management	163
2	Seagrasses: Flowering Plants on the Seabed	164
3	Digging Through Seagrasses in Search of Bioindicators	165
	3.1 Screening for Candidate Variables	166
	3.2 Validation Over an Environmental Gradient	166
	3.3 Detecting Redundancies and Selection of Variables	167
4	Integrating Time Scales: Multivariate Biotic Indices	169
	4.1 Integrating Selected Variables	169
	4.2 Setting Reference Conditions	171
	4.3 Defining the Indices	171
	4.4 Assessing Pressure-Impact Relationships	173
5	Evaluating Uncertainty Associated with Ecological Status Classification	175
6	Harmonizing Indices: Making Sure the Indices of Different Member States Compare	
	Across the EU	177
7	Conclusions: What Have We Learned and Questions That Remain Open	178
Re	ferences	180

Acronyms

ACA	Catalan Water Agency
BQEs	Biological quality elements
EQR	Ecological quality ratio

ICCM	Intercalibration Common Metric
WB	Water body
WFD	Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC)

1 The Concept of Bioindicator and Its Development at the Interface Between Science and Management

In a broad sense, "indicators" are signals that capture complex information in a simple but effective way. Although indicators are used in very different fields, including social sciences, marketing, economics, and business, they are particularly useful in environmental assessment and planning. Environmental indicators are at the interface between science and policy [1], and thus, to be helpful, both sides of that interface should adapt to, or at least understand, the constraints of the other. Specifically, managers should clearly define the problem under consideration [2], while scientists should make every effort to design indicators that are not only helpful in solving the problem but are also easy to understand and communicate [3].

Biological indicators or "bioindicators" are a subset of environmental indicators that rely on measurements of biological entities. Their use is highly recommended, because organisms provide an integrated response to environmental stress. The measurements on which bioindicators rely can be gathered from several levels of biological organization, from the subcellular to the community level. Measurements at lower levels (from molecular to individual, e.g., biochemical, genetic, or morphological traits) are usually more specific to stressors and respond faster than those at higher levels (from population to community, e.g., abundance, biomass, or taxonomic composition), which are more relevant to concepts such as ecological integrity [4]. Consequently, measurements at the molecular, cellular, or individual level present rapid time responses and great specificity, making them excellent early warning indicators, while measurements at the population or community level present longer response times, tend to be more integrative, and consequently are more relevant to assess conditions at the level of the ecosystem [5].

When bioindicators are selected for use in environmental assessment programs, managers should, first of all, clearly define the problem to be addressed and what kind of information is needed. For example, there could be an interest in assessing the actual condition of a system or in evaluating trends over time, or in evaluating the effects of a given coastal development (harbor construction, beach nourishment, etc.), or in establishing the causes behind an observed deterioration of the ecosystems [6]. In any of these scenarios, scientists should face the challenge of choosing from the literature or specifically designing robust and reliable bio-indicators that are suitable for each specific goal. In all cases, the development of sets of bioindicators implies a step-by-step process in which the selection of adequate measurements and eventually their aggregation in the form of simple and readable indices are crucial milestones. The development of bioindicator sets

must be based in a rigorous and transparent selection process to ensure scientific credibility and adequacy with respect to the needs of managers [7].

Success in the use of biological indicators to solve environmental problems relies on the identification of an effective set of variables¹ to be measured. Some criteria these variables should meet are [6] easy to understand, simple to measure and cost effective, sensitive to stresses, predictable response to stress, low natural variability, and the provision of relevant information on environmental issues. Similarly, some additional requirements to be met by variables to be used as bioindicators are [8] relevance to ecological integrity, broad-scale applicability, early-detection capacity, feasibility of implementation, interpretability against reference conditions, and capacity to link ecosystem degradation with its causative stressors. The challenge is, therefore, to choose from among the hundreds of bioindicators proposed so far, or among the thousands of measurements that can be performed on biological entities, those that best fulfill the criteria mentioned above.

Recently, there has been a rapid increase in the development and application of ecological indicators. For instance, governments in the United States, Canada, Europe, and Australia are developing programs for routine reporting based on ecological indicators [3]. In Europe, the European Water Framework Directive establishes a framework for the protection of groundwater, inland surface waters, estuarine waters, and coastal waters. The WFD represents a challenge for water resource management in Europe, because, for the first time, water management is based on biological assessment of ecosystem status or health [9]. In coastal and transitional waters, the biological elements to be considered include phytoplankton, macrophytes (macroalgae and seagrasses), zoobenthos, and fish (only in transitional waters). The WFD and its implementation have generated a considerable amount of research on bioindicators and specifically on indicators based on seagrasses.

2 Seagrasses: Flowering Plants on the Seabed

Seagrasses are flowering plants which, after evolving in the terrestrial environment, have secondarily (and "recently," i.e., about 100 million years ago: the end of the Cretaceous) colonized coastal marine waters. As a result of this somewhat atypical history that parallels that of whales and other marine mammals, seagrasses present unique adaptations to marine conditions, including roots (and modified underground stems, called rhizomes), hydrophilic pollination, an internal gas circulation system (aerenchyma), and basal leaf meristems, among others. Despite their

¹As explained, indicators are variables measured for biological entities. These variables are sometimes referred to as *descriptors*, *attributes*, or *traits*. In the Water Framework Directive, they are often called *metrics*.

worldwide distribution (except Antarctica), seagrasses constitute a group poorly diversified and includes only ca. 70 species [10].

Unlike algae, seagrasses can colonize sedimentary bottoms, where they can attach (and from which they can take up nutrients), thanks to their roots. This capability to colonize sedimentary bottoms has allowed seagrasses to extend over thousands of square kilometers, constructing a habitat (called "meadow") of high primary production which harbors hundreds of species that find food, substrate, or shelter there, with a global importance. Seagrass meadows are remarkable for the ecosystem services and goods they provide, including, among many others, beneficial effects on fisheries (playing a nursery role), shore protection, providing biodiversity hotspots, nutrient cycling, and constituting carbon sinks [11]. However, seagrasses are especially sensitive to environmental deterioration, and they are threatened by human activity. In recent decades, this has become a matter of concern, as seagrass meadows seem to be suffering worldwide regression [12]. This has generated a considerable amount on research on how seagrasses and their associated communities respond to man-made disturbances [13–16].

In the Mediterranean Sea, we find only five seagrass species (excluding the genus *Ruppia*). Of these five, one is an introduced species (*Halophila stipulacea*, a Lessepsian migrant), for the most part present in the Eastern basin, and two, belonging to the genus *Zostera* (*Z. noltii* and *Z. marina*), are relatively rare, with discontinuous distributions, mostly associated with brackish or extremely calm waters. The other two (*Posidonia oceanica* and *Cymodocea nodosa*) are much more abundant by far, and they extend over large coastal stretches.

P. oceanica and *C. nodosa* are both sensitive to environmental deterioration, just as other seagrasses are [17], although the former is more sensitive than the later, and their responses to specific disturbances (e.g., hypersalinity, trawling, eutrophication, coastal works, fish farming, etc.) have repeatedly been studied [18–23]. All these results, along with extensive knowledge of their biology and ecology [24], represent an excellent starting point for the identification of variables or descriptors whose association with given disturbances is well known and unequivocal, thereby providing a solid base for defining reliable bioindicators.

3 Digging Through Seagrasses in Search of Bioindicators

A number of variables (biological traits, attributes, etc.) associated with seagrasses and seagrass ecosystems have been reported in the literature to respond to environmental alterations. As outlined in Sect. 1, sensitivity to environmental stress is a necessary but not a sufficient condition for a variable to be used as a reliable bioindicator. Perhaps most critically, indicator responses must match the spatial and temporal scales that are appropriate for the specific management needs. In addition, a useful indicator would help identify the specific pressures (eutrophication, coastal development, fish farming, etc.) affecting the system, to allow managers to remedy the problem at its source. Consequently, before a bioindicator is employed, it is essential to understand how it behaves and to determine if it fits the specific management goals. This may often require a specific validation process which, although time-consuming, will serve to ensure that the bioindicators chosen are reliable, sensitive, and managerially effective.

During the implementation of the WFD along the coast of Catalonia in NE Spain, the behavior of measurements based on both *P. oceanica* and *C. nodosa* was carefully assessed [25, 26]. For both species, the process followed included (1) screening for variables, (2) validation over an environmental gradient of stress, and (3) detection of potential redundancies among variables.

3.1 Screening for Candidate Variables

The most relevant variables (or metrics, following the WFD) were selected from a suite of measurements obtained from in-depth screening of the literature. The entire suite of candidate variables showed, in accordance with the published evidence, a clear response to stressors, although through a great variety of methods and spatial and temporal scales. A total of 59 and 54 candidate seagrass variables were selected for *P. oceanica* and *C. nodosa*, respectively, following the criteria given above. The complete lists of variables selected are in Table 1 of Martínez-Crego et al. [8] for *P. oceanica* and Oliva et al. [26] for *C. nodosa*.

3.2 Validation Over an Environmental Gradient

We assessed the behavior of the candidate variables over environmental quality gradients at spatial scales appropriate for the management objectives, i.e., the deployment of the WFD along the coast of Catalonia (approximately 700 km; see Fig. 1) for *P. oceanica* and within the transitional waters (approximately 100 km²; see Fig. 2) for *C. nodosa*.

For *P. oceanica*, we chose nine sites encompassing the maximum range of environmental quality in the area. A similar design was used for *C. nodosa* within the transitional waters. In both cases, every effort was made to capture the maximum spread of random spatial variability, performing nested sampling (scales of replication, 10 and 100 m). Seagrass samples were taken at a single depth (15 m for *P. oceanica*, 1 m for *C. nodosa*; see more on potential confounding effects of depth in Sect. 5) and within the shortest possible time (to avoid confounding effects of seasonality). In parallel, the environmental gradients were assessed using water column information (chlorophyll a, water transparency, salinity, and ammonium concentration in the water), sediment data (total phosphorus, ammonium concentration in pore water, and Hg and Pb content), and information obtained independently from other bioindicators (macroalgae [28]). Based on these environmental data, we attributed an environmental quality category (healthy, intermediate,



Fig. 1 Map of the Catalan coast including sampling sites for the POMI index and the seagrass (*Posidonia oceanica*) monitoring network (from Romero et al. [27])

unhealthy) to each of the sites, and we performed nested ANOVA (fixed factor, environmental quality; random factor, sites) for each of the candidate variables. We retained only those variables that displayed significant differences between the different environmental qualities. An initial remarkable fact was that only 22–24 (depending on the depth) of the potential 59 variables selected showed significant variability in accordance with the environmental status (in the case of *P. oceanica*) and 37 (out of 54) for *C. nodosa*. This indicates that a field evaluation at spatial scales that match those that are relevant for management is an unavoidable step in the selection of metrics.

3.3 Detecting Redundancies and Selection of Variables

Once the field validation was completed, we dropped the nonresponsive variables and performed a principal components analysis (PCA [29]) with the rest to identify common trends of variability within them, potential redundancies, and their correlation with environmental status. Based on this, and taking other aspects into account (cost, expertise needed, etc.), we selected a set of variables as biological indicators for WFD implementation (metrics). The variables selected for



Fig. 2 Map of the study area and sampling sites where the CYMOX index based on the seagrass *Cymodocea nodosa* was applied (from Oliva et al. [26])

P. oceanica were phosphorus, nitrogen, and sucrose content in rhizomes, δ^{15} N and δ^{34} S isotopic ratios in rhizomes, percentage of leaves with necrosis, shoot size, meadow cover, shoot density, percentage of plagiotropic rhizomes, nitrogen content of epiphytes, and copper, lead, and zinc content of rhizomes. For *C. nodosa*, they were root weight ratio (ratio between root and roots plus leaves weight), shoot size, epiphyte load, and N, δ^{15} N, P, δ^{34} S, Cd, Cu, and Zn content of rhizomes (Table 1).

Biological organization level	POMI metrics	CYMOX metrics
Sub-individual	P, N, and sucrose content in rhizomes	N and P content in rhizomes
	δ^{15} N and δ^{34} S isotopic ratios in rhizomes	$\delta^{15}N$ and $\delta^{34}S$ isotopic ratios in rhizomes
	Pb, Cu, and Zn content in rhizomes	Cd, Cu, and Zn content in rhizomes
Individual	Percentage of leaves with necrosis	Shoot size
	Shoot size	
Population	Meadow cover	Root weight ratio (ratio between root and
	Shoot density	roots plus leaves biomass)
	Percent of plagiotropic rhizomes	
Community	N content in epiphytes	Epiphyte load

 Table 1
 List of selected metrics to construct the POMI and CYMOX indices (from Oliva et al. [26] and Romero et al. [27])

4 Integrating Time Scales: Multivariate Biotic Indices

In the preceding sections, we have stressed the requirements that a "perfect" bioindicator should meet. Unfortunately, there is no single variable (plant trait, ecosystem attribute) that adequately meets all those requirements. A reasonable alternative, always keeping in mind the management objectives, is the combined use of different variables; this approach has a number of advantages. On the one hand, the results for these variables can be presented independently and their values interpreted individually. If the set has been chosen properly, all the needs regarding sensitivity to and specificity for different environmental stressors will be covered. On the other hand, the set of variables can be numerically aggregated into a single index. Such aggregated indices are usually called multimetric indices or multivariate indices if multivariate statistical techniques are used for the aggregation. For the WFD we developed multivariate indices for both seagrass species by (1) integrating the variables, (2) setting reference conditions, and (3) assessing the relationship between pressures and impacts.

4.1 Integrating Selected Variables

The integration of the different variables was based on PCA. As all the metrics selected were correlated to environmental quality (see preceding sections), there was substantial common variability, which was clearly reflected in the clustering of the variables along the first axis [26, 27] (see Figs. 3 and 4, for *P. oceanica* and *C. nodosa*, respectively). The scores of the sites for the first component were then



Fig. 3 Factor loading of the different metrics used to construct the *Posidonia oceanica*-based POMI index including the variability explained (%). The factors include shoot surface, percent of necrosis in leaves, nitrogen content in rhizomes, phosphorus content in rhizomes, sucrose in rhizomes, δ^{15} N isotopic ratio in rhizomes, δ^{15} S isotopic ratio in rhizomes, trace metals in rhizomes (zinc, lead, and copper), meadow cover, shoot density, percent of plagiotropic rhizomes, and epiphyte nitrogen content (from Romero et al. [27])



Fig. 4 Factor loading of the different metrics used to construct the *Cymodocea nodosa*-based CYMOX index including the variability explained (%). The factors include root weight ratio, shoot size, nitrogen content in rhizomes, phosphorus content in rhizomes, δ^{15} N isotopic ratio in rhizomes, trace metals in rhizomes (zinc, cadmium, and copper), and epiphyte load (from Oliva et al. [26])

taken as an expression of their ecological status and in order to fulfill the WFD requirements, scaled to the interval 0–1 (ecological quality ratio, EQR) using reference conditions (see below).

4.2 Setting Reference Conditions

Reference conditions are usually understood as those corresponding to undisturbed, near-pristine sites; therefore, they present the optimal value for a given bioindicator. Reference conditions are commonly used (and specifically in the WFD) as a kind of benchmark against which actual conditions are compared, and the difference (or distance) between reference and actual conditions is used to express the status of the system under analysis. Therefore, defining adequate reference conditions is a critical step and often represents a challenge, because in most coastal regions (at least in Europe), areas that are unambiguously devoid of all anthropogenic impact are extremely scarce.

In the case of the Western Mediterranean, potential reference sites can be found in zones far from human pressures, such as some island areas (e.g., Corsica, Sardinia, and the Balearic archipelago). However, the problem of the lack of comparability between ultraoligotrophic insular waters and the oligo-mesotrophic waters of continental coasts is a serious drawback of this approach. Other possible reference areas are marine reserves [30]; however, communities within marine reserves, although protected from major human impacts, can be subjected to drivers of change beyond the protective regulations (eutrophication, climate change, invasive species, changes in land uses, etc. [31]). To overcome these constraints, and for the seagrass-based indices developed for the coast of Catalonia, a reference frame was constructed using a modeling type of approach. For each variable, data from all the sites were pooled and ranked from best to worse, which were increasing or decreasing values depending of the variable under consideration. The average of the values above the 90th percentile was considered the reference (optimal) value for each specific variable, while the average of the values below the 10th percentile was considered the worst possible value. This strategy agrees with the modeling approach proposed in the WFD [32]. Arguments supporting it are given in Romero et al. [27].

4.3 Defining the Indices

We included the optimal (reference) and worst sites in the PCA described in Sect. 4.1 as passive objects (software used: CANOCO v 4.5 [33]), and their scores on the first axis (Figs. 5 and 6, for *P. oceanica* and *C. nodosa*, respectively) represented the two extreme conditions of the system. We calculated the EQR (following the WFD, comprised between 1 and 0, as mentioned above) as

$$EQR_x = (CI_x - CI_{worst}) / (CI_{optimal} - CI_{worst})$$
(1)

where EQR_x is the EQR of the site x and CI_x , $CI_{optimal}$, and CI_{worst} are the scores on the first axis of the PCA of sites x, optimal and worst, respectively.



Fig. 5 PCA ordination of the studied sites (factor scores) along the Catalan coast for POMI, showing the optimal and worst sites. The sites are those depicted in Fig. 1 (from Romero et al. [27])



Fig. 6 PCA ordination of the studied sites in transitional waters for CYMOX (factor scores) showing the optimal and worst sites as supplementary objects. The sites are those depicted in Fig. 2 (from Oliva et al. [26])

As the WFD requires classifying the ecological status into one of five classes, from high to bad, the boundaries between classes have to be set within the 1 to 0 EQR scale. Since the relationship between pressures and the EQR was found to be linear, we simply divided the scale 0 to 1 into five equal classes (Table 2A, for *C. nodosa*, the CYMOX index). However, considering that *P. oceanica* is highly sensitive to anthropogenic disturbances, we constructed a slightly different index called POMI. This is based on the assumption that meadow disappearance has been reported in environmental conditions under which other biological assemblages persist [34, 35]. According to that we defined the bad class for the POMI index as the ecological status in which *P. oceanica* cannot survive. In other words, wherever and whenever a *P. oceanica* bed is able to survive, even heavily degraded, the ecological status is above bad. We arbitrarily assigned the range from 0 to 0.099 to this bad ecological status. The other EQR boundaries were obtained by dividing the remaining scale (from 0.1 to 1) into four categories of equal amplitude (0.225 each;

Table 2 Boundaries between	EQR (CYMOX)	Ecological status	Colour code
the different ecological status	A: CYMOX		
and Romero et al. [27])	1.00-0.80	High	Blue
	0.79–0.60	Good	Green
	0.59–0.40	Moderate	Yellow
	0.39-0.20	Poor	Orange
	0.19-0.00	Bad	Red
	B: POMI		
	1.000-0.775	High	Blue
	0.774-0.550	Good	Green
	0.549-0.325	Moderate	Yellow
	0.324-0.100	Poor	Orange
	0.099-0.000	Bad	Red

see Table 2B). Therefore, when P. *oceanica* exists, the EQR is computed as follows:

$$EQR'_{x} = (EQR_{x} + 0.11)/(1 + 0.10)$$

being EQR'_x the EQR for site x (where living *P*. *oceanica* exists) and EQR_x obtained from formula (1).

4.4 Assessing Pressure-Impact Relationships

Human activities (or drivers of change) that can potentially and adversely affect the status of ecosystems are considered pressures. When such an adverse effect actually occurs and produces a change in the status of the ecosystem, it is considered that an impact has taken place. This causal chain, known as DPSIR (Driver-Pressure-Status-Impact-Response) approach [36], has been established as an analytical framework for the determination of pressures and impacts under the WFD. In the context of European coasts, population density, tourism, industries, shipping activities, agriculture, fishing, and aquaculture are highlighted as the main drivers causing pressures on coastal ecosystems [37]. As a part of the WFD deployment, biotic indices used to assess ecological status under the WFD should be able to reflect the pressures acting on the water bodies. Therefore, we tested the sensitivity of the two seagrass-based indices (POMI and CYMOX) to pressures, in order to ensure their suitability for monitoring programs. For the analysis of the POMI index, pressures on coastal waters were estimated based on the document [38]. The main pressures considered were urban sewage discharge (kg/day/km coast), urban soil surface (ha/km coast), tourism pressure (rooms/km of coast), and harbor pressure (number of moorings/km of coast). All the pressures were normalized and reduced and then summed to estimate an aggregate pressure for each water



Fig. 7 Relationship between the CYMOX index (a) and the POMI index (b) and anthropogenic pressures. For the CYMOX index, anthropogenic pressure is represented by the salinity gradient, which decreases with increasing pressure. For the POMI index anthropogenic pressures are represented by a sum of significant pressures including sewage, urban use, tourism, and the presence of harbors

body where *P. oceanica* is currently present (n = 17, covering >80% of the coastline). POMI and the aggregate pressure were significant and negatively associated (Fig. 7b, $R^2 = 0.617$, p < 0.05). In the case of CYMOX, we considered that the main drivers of pressures affecting transitional waters were freshwater loadings (carrying nutrients, organic matter, and other pollutants). Accordingly, to test the CYMOX index, we assessed the correlation between the index values and salinity, which showed a positive and significant correlation (Fig. 7a, $R^2 = 0.588$ and p < 0.05).

To further assess the sensitivity of our indices to pressures, we explored the relationship between land uses and the POMI index [39]. Land uses were quantified from public databases in SIG format (*Mapa de Cobertes del Sòl de Catalunya*, http://www.creaf.uab.es/mcsc/) for coastal stretches corresponding to each water

body and extending 1.5 km inland. The three main land use categories considered were urban, natural, or nonirrigated agricultural and irrigated agricultural. Significant correlations between land use categories and ecological status, as estimated by POMI, were found. The category "natural or nonirrigated agricultural" was positively correlated with POMI values ($R^2 = 0.668$, p < 0.01). The surface occupied by the categories "urban" and "agricultural irrigated" correlated negatively with POMI ($R^2 = 0.679$ and $R^2 = 0.446$, respectively; p from 0.01 to 0.05). The direct relationship between land uses and coastal water status has profound implications for management and stresses the fact that to a large degree coastal water quality depends on human activity on land.

5 Evaluating Uncertainty Associated with Ecological Status Classification

A common concern of those involved in the use and design of bioindicators is the natural variability (i.e., not related to human impacts) of the variables measured. For example, most seagrass attributes exhibit marked seasonality and/or strong bathymetric dependence, which can potentially confound the interpretation of values. In these cases, the problem can be easily fixed, sampling at a specific time of year and at a fixed depth. However, seagrass attributes (such as those included in the POMI and CYMOX indices) also show variability at different spatial scales (e.g., clonal integration, microhabitat, sediment patchiness, etc.), which is not always obvious to the researcher. This variability can result in unintentionally misclassifying water bodies and wrong management decisions, both in terms of action and inaction, which may in turn have high associated social and economic costs. Obviously, as in any sampling, this (random) variability should be taken into account through adequate replication. However, it is not always straightforward how to deal with this variability. Indices aggregating different attributes are common in most WFD approaches, including the examples reported here (i.e., CYMOX and POMI). In these cases, while the variability of each individual indicator (metric) can be easily assessed through replication, and expressed using the usual statistics means (standard deviation, confidence interval, etc.), the variability of the composite index cannot be directly evaluated. To address this problem, a number of techniques can be applied (bootstrapping, uncertainty assessment, error propagation techniques, etc.). Here we briefly describe one particular exercise that we conducted with POMI in order to evaluate different sources that contribute to the variability of the final index, as reported in Bennett et al. [40]. We identified relevant factors that could introduce uncertainty into the ecological status classification: small-scale (tens of meters) spatial variability, medium-scale (hundreds of meters) spatial variability, large-scale (tens of kilometers, but always within the same water body, i.e., a zone considered homogeneous from the point of view of the ecological status) spatial variability, depth (5 and 15 m), interannual variability (variability between consecutive years within the 4-year period over which samples can be measured according to the WFD), and surveyor error (variability between surveyors, as some of the attributes such as density and cover are estimated directly in situ by divers). The main source of variability was, as expected, depth, which accounted for more than 60% of variability, leading to the conclusion that depth should remain fixed or be controlled in monitoring programs based on *P. oceanica*. In contrast, the variability in POMI scores between different surveyors was extremely low, explaining less than 1% of total variability, while interannual variability accounted for approximately 5% of the total. Additionally, variability at medium and large spatial scales did not differ from variability at the small spatial scale, which suggest that replication within scales of tens of meters is enough to capture most spatial variability.

Based on the results of this variability assessment, we evaluated the probability of misclassification of a given water body, as a function of the value of the POMI index obtained (EQR). Without entering into excessive detail (see [40, 41]), it has to be noted that the risk of misclassification, provided the design is controlled (e.g., fixed depth, fixed season, etc.), is low (as low as <0.1%) for values far from the thresholds between classes, but increases significantly (up to 50%) for values within an interval of ± 0.1 EQR from the threshold value or with uncontrolled designs (Fig. 8). The issue of how to deal with this risk of misclassification remains an open question. It would seem reasonable, when this risk is high and before assigning a



Fig. 8 Uncertainty analyses applied to establish the probability of misclassifying the ecological status class among EQR values calculated within a water body (WB) with a controlled design (fixed depth, fixed sites, fixed years, fixed zones, fixed surveyors) and an uncontrolled design where these variables are not fixed. *Full* and *open circles* represent the actual probability of misclassification for 17 Catalonian WB (in *numbers*) (from Bennett et al. [40])

water body status (and especially if the uncertainty is between the moderate and good classes), to obtain additional data on environmental conditions from independent sources (additional seagrass variables, physicochemical variables, etc.). The same kind of analysis was performed with CYMOX, with quite similar results [42].

6 Harmonizing Indices: Making Sure the Indices of Different Member States Compare Across the EU

A critical component of the WFD is the aim of ensuring the methods employed by different member states are intrinsically comparable, so that ecological status categories have the same meaning across the EU. This has required a process of careful intercalibration between assessment methods, which has proven to be extremely hard, as the first choice for intercalibration (applying different methods to the same set of sites) was ruled out due to budgetary constraints (however, see below). The intercalibration exercise was led by the EU and its main aim was to guarantee that the five classes required by the WFD represented equal levels of environmental health/deterioration across all EU member states, independently of the assessment method used. When complete, this will eventually result in the harmonization of all the different methods used by member states so that the definition of ecological status will not vary across water bodies and will be independent of the method used for its assessment. In the case of Mediterranean seagrasses, several assessment methods based on different indices (all related to the seagrass P. oceanica) were compared against each other. Specifically three methods were presented and intercalibration was successfully completed on them: POMI (Spain—Catalonia, Balearic Islands, Murcia, Andalusia, and Croatia [27]), Valencian CS (Spain, Valencia [43]), and PREI (France, Italy, Cyprus [44]). The methods were all multimetric, but differed in two aspects: (1) the individual indicators (i.e., metrics) used and (2) how the individual indicators were aggregated or combined to produce values on a unique EQR 0 to 1 scale. The more the two aspects differ, the more difficult it is to compare the indices, especially in the absence of a common experimental approach. However, as most of the methods included, as a metric or at least as complementary observations, values on leaf length, shoot density, and lower limit typology [45], an ICCM (intercalibration common metric) was constructed based on these three variables. Then, the relationship of the ICCM to (1) human pressures and (2) each one of the different methods assessed was evaluated using linear regression. The fitted linear models were used to detect whether the boundaries good/moderate and high/good corresponded, for all the methods, to the same level of human pressure. Although some methods needed some fine tuning, finally all of them were successfully intercalibrated, despite their differences.

This comparability between methods was confirmed by the experimental exercise performed by Spanish, French, and Italian teams and reported in Lopez y Royo



Fig. 9 EQR values and classification of sites according to the POMI index, BiPo index, and PoSte index, all three based on the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* and applied in Catalonia (Spain), Corsica (France), and Campania (Italy) (from Lopez y Royo et al. [46])

et al. [46]. Joint sampling was performed in different areas of the Western Mediterranean at sites that encompass a gradient of human pressure. From the simultaneous data collection, three indices (POMI, BiPo, and PoSte; see references in [46]) were computed for each site, and then each one was compared to the others. Two of the indices, POMI and BiPo, showed a very good relationship with human pressures and were in almost complete agreement ($R^2 = 0.987$). In contrast, one of the methods, the PoSte index, clearly diverged from the other two as it was based on a different rationale for defining reference conditions and used a different response scale (Fig. 9). Taken altogether, this intercalibration approach highlights two main points: (1) indices with very different metrics can still provide completely reliable and comparable results; (2) indices that are based on different conceptual approaches (e.g., in their definition of what is near-pristine status) may diverge considerably.

7 Conclusions: What Have We Learned and Questions That Remain Open

The implementation of the WFD for the coastal waters of Catalonia stimulated a considerable amount of work and specifically a huge effort in building, validating, and analyzing seagrass-based bioindicators. From all this effort, summarized in the present document, a few basic conclusions emerge: (1) it is necessary to validate the response of individual metrics to human pressures at spatial and temporal scales suitable for the monitoring programs; (2) it can be extremely useful to use different metrics simultaneously, to cover different requirements of monitoring programs (early detection, specificity to stressors, relevance to ecosystem integrity, etc.); (3) it is a crucial careful assessment of the variability of such metrics and, based on

this, a careful sampling design; (4) in-depth knowledge of the behavior of each individual indicator (e.g., response time, potential hysteretic properties, etc.) is necessary; and (5) PCA has a great potential as an optimal method not only to aggregate different metrics into a single index objectively but also to reveal redundancy among metrics.

The indices based on seagrasses reported here (POMI and CYMOX) have a number of advantages as detailed below:

- The individual metrics selected to construct the indices are gathered from several levels of biological organization and encompass different time responses to stress and different specificity to stressors. Thus, they represent a good integrated measure of ecosystem status. Specifically, biochemical and physiological measurements are typically not influenced by hysteretic properties, making them much better candidate bioindicators to detect recovery in environmental conditions over time scales relevant for management.
- 2. Under the WFD, individual metrics are aggregated to construct a single indicator expressing the distance between the present status and an ideal status of the system. In our indices, we use multivariate statistical techniques based on PCA to extract a common variability (associated with ecosystem status). This not only takes into account redundancy among individual metrics, but it probably introduces less bias than expert judgment scoring, a common practice in implementing multimetric indices.
- 3. Both indices (POMI and CYMOX) show good correlation to human pressures and, therefore, seem to be good indicators as required by the WFD for management purposes.

However, some open questions remain. We would like to stress three of them.

First, the application of multivariate indices that incorporate a large number of metrics, such as CYMOX and POMI, is time and resource consuming and could require some degree of expertise. Of course, this is an unavoidable counterpart to the strengths of the indices reported above. However, and following the needs of managers and the objectives of specific monitoring programs, the multivariate nature of POMI and CYMOX allows for simplification; for example, if there is no need for great precision or robustness, in this respect, we tested the reliability of POMI-9 (using only nine metrics, instead of 14) with good results [43]. Further simplifications, tailored to manager needs and budgets, could be explored in the future.

Second, a crucial aspect of the classification of water bodies based on their ecological status is the reference frame used. Bad or incorrect references can lead to misclassifications with undesired consequences for managers. The issue of how to define reference conditions is not a closed discussion, especially in the case of indices based on *P. oceanica*, for which some of the metrics used show very slow recovery. More research is needed, with inputs from different fields (paleoecology, modeling, etc.) to refine this crucial aspect.

Third, we have shown how large the uncertainty is in close to the boundary values between classes. Once this uncertainty has been recognized and properly

quantified, how it should be incorporated into the decision-making process associated with environmental monitoring remains an open question.

Overall, bioindicators have proved to be stimulating and fertile ground for research, at the interface between science and management, where research into ecology finds considerable social utility.

Acknowledgments Most of the research on whose results this chapter is based has been promoted and supported by ACA (*Agència Catalana de l'Aigua*, the Catalan water authority), from which Marta Manzanera, Antoni Munné, and Mariona de Torres deserve a special mention.

References

- 1. Turnhout E, Hisschemöller M, Eijsackers H (2007) Ecological indicators: between the two fires of science and policy. Ecol Indic 7:215–228
- Heink U, Kowarik I (2010) What are indicators? On the definition of indicators in ecology and environmental planning. Ecol Indic 10:584–593
- 3. Niemi GJ, McDonald ME (2004) Application of ecological indicators. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 35:89–111
- Adams SM, Greeley MS (2000) Ecotoxicological indicators of water quality: using multiresponse indicators to assess the health of aquatic ecosystems. Water Air Soil Pollut 123: 103–115
- Roca G, Alcoverro T, de Torres M, Manzanera M, Martínez-Crego B, Bennett S, Farina S, Pérez M, Romero J (2015) Detecting water quality improvement along the Catalan coast (Spain) using stress-specific biochemical seagrass indicators. Ecol Indic 54:161–170
- 6. Dale VH, Beyeler SC (2001) Challenges in the development and use of ecological indicators. Ecol Indic 1:3–10
- 7. Niemeijer D, de Groot RS (2008) A conceptual framework for selecting environmental indicator sets. Ecol Indic 8:14–25
- Martínez-Crego B, Alcoverro T, Romero J (2010) Biotic indices for assessing the status of coastal waters: a review of strengths and weaknesses. J Environ Monit 12:1013–1028
- 9. Borja A (2005) The European water framework directive (WFD): a challenge for nearshore, coastal and continental shelf research. Cont Shelf Res 25:1768–1783
- Short F, Carruthers T, Dennison W, Waycott M (2007) Global seagrass distribution and diversity: a bioregional model. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 350:3–20
- 11. Barbier EB, Hacker SD, Kennedy C, Koch EW, Stier AC, Silliman BR (2011) The value of estuarine and coastal ecosystem services. Ecol Monogr 81:169–193
- Waycott M, Duarte CM, Carruthers TJB, Orth RJ, Dennison WC, Olyarnik S et al (2009) Accelerating loss of seagrasses across the globe threatens coastal ecosystems. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106:12377–12381
- 13. Erftemeijer PLA, Robin Lewis RR (2006) Environmental impacts of dredging on seagrasses: a review. Mar Pollut Bull 52:1553–1572
- 14. Lee KS, Park SR, Kim YK (2007) Effects of irradiance, temperature, and nutrients on growth dynamics of seagrasses: a review. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 350:144–175
- McMahon K, Collier C, Lavery PS (2013) Identifying robust bioindicators of light stress in seagrasses: a meta-analysis. Ecol Indic 30:7–15
- 16. Short FT, Coles R, Fortes MD, Victor S, Salik M, Isnain I et al (2014) Monitoring in the Western Pacific region shows evidence of seagrass decline in line with global trends. Mar Pollut Bull 83:408–416

- 17. Orth RJ, Carruthers TJB, Dennison WC, Duarte CM, Fourqurean JW, Heck KL Jr et al (2006) A global crisis for seagrass ecosystems. Bioscience 56:987–996
- González-Correa JM, Fernández-Torquemada Y, Sánchez-Lizaso JL (2009) Short-term effect of beach replenishment on a shallow *Posidonia oceanica* meadow. Mar Environ Res 68: 143–150
- González-Correa JM, Bayle JT, Sánchez-Lizaso JL, Valle C, Sánchez-Jerez P, Ruiz JM (2005) Recovery of deep *Posidonia oceanica* meadows degraded by trawling. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 320:65–76
- 20. Holmer M, Argyrou M, Dalsgaard T, Danovaro R, Diaz-Almela E, Duarte CM et al (2008) Effects of fish farm waste on *Posidonia oceanica* meadows: synthesis and provision of monitoring and management tools. Mar Pollut Bull 56:1618–1629
- 21. Pérez M, Invers O, Ruiz JM, Frederiksen MS, Holmer M, Manuel J et al (2007) Physiological responses of the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* to elevated organic matter content in sediments: an experimental assessment. J Exp Mar Bio Ecol 344:149–160
- 22. Ruiz JM, Romero J (2003) Effects of disturbances caused by coastal constructions on spatial structure, growth dynamics and photosynthesis of the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica*. Mar Pollut Bull 46:1523–1533
- 23. Fernández-Torquemada Y, Gónzalez-Correa JM, Loya A, Ferrero LM, Díaz-Valdés M, Sánchez-Lizaso JL (2009) Dispersion of brine discharge from seawater reverse osmosis desalination plants. Desalin Water Treat 5:137–145
- 24. Larkum AWD, Orth RJ, Duarte C (2006) Seagrasses: biology, ecology and conservation. Springer, Dordrecht
- Martínez-Crego B, Vergès A, Alcoverro T, Romero J (2008) Selection of multiple seagrass indicators for environmental biomonitoring. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 361:93–109
- 26. Oliva S, Mascaró O, Llagostera I, Pérez M, Romero J (2012) Selection of metrics based on the seagrass *Cymodocea nodosa* and development of a biotic index (CYMOX) for assessing ecological status of coastal and transitional waters. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 114:7–17
- 27. Romero J, Martínez-Crego B, Alcoverro T, Pérez M (2007) A multivariate index based on the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* (POMI) to assess ecological status of coastal waters under the Water Framework Directive (WFD). Mar Pollut Bull 55:196–204
- 28. Ballesteros E, Torras X, Pinedo S, García M, Mangialajo L, de Torres M (2007) A new methodology based on littoral community cartography dominated by macroalgae for the implementation of the European Water Framework Directive. Mar Pollut Bull 55:172–180
- 29. Hotelling H (1933) Analysis of a complex of statistical variables into principal components. J Educ Psychol 24(6):417–441
- 30. Casazza G, López y Royo C, Silvestri C (2004) Implementation of the 2000/60/EC Directive, for coastal waters, in the Mediterranean ecoregion. The importance of biological elements and of an ecoregional co-shared application. Biol Mar Medit 11:12–24
- Josefsson H, Baaner L (2011) The Water Framework Directive a directive for the twenty-first century? J Environ Law 23:463–486
- 32. ECOSTAT (2005) Overall approach to the classification of ecological status and ecological potential. WFD CIS Guidance Document No. 13
- ter Braak CJ (1994) Canonical community ordination. Part I: basic theory and linear models. Ecoscience 1:127–140
- 34. Delgado O, Grau A, Pou S, Riera F, Massuti C, Zabala M et al (1997) Seagrass regression caused by fish cultures in Fornells Bay (Menorca, Western Mediterranean). Oceanol Acta 20: 557–563
- 35. Delgado O, Ruiz J, Pérez M, Romero J, Ballesteros E (1999) Effects of fish farming on seagrass (*Posidonia oceanica*) in a Mediterranean bay: seagrass decline after organic loading cessation. Oceanol Acta 22:109–117
- 36. Borja A, Elliott M, Carstensen J, Heiskanen A-S, van de Bund W (2010) Marine management towards an integrated implementation of the European Marine Strategy Framework and the Water Framework Directives. Mar Pollut Bull 60:2175–2186

- 37. Borja A, Galparsoro I, Solaun O, Muxika I, Tello EM, Uriarte A et al (2006) The European Water Framework Directive and the DPSIR, a methodological approach to assess the risk of failing to achieve good ecological status. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 66:84–96
- 38. IMPRESS (2013) Característiques de la demarcació, anàlisi d'impactes i pressions de l'activitat humana, i anàlisi econòmica de l'ús de l'aigua a les masses d'aigua del districte de conca fluvial de Catalunya. Agència Catalana de l'Aigua. Generalitat de Catalunya
- 39. Liza I (2011) Análisis de la influencia de los usos del suelo sobre la calidad de las aguas costeras: el ejemplo de la costa catalana. Tesis de master. Universidad de Barcelona
- 40. Bennett S, Roca G, Romero J, Alcoverro T (2011) Ecological status of seagrass ecosystems: an uncertainty analysis of the meadow classification based on the *Posidonia oceanica* multivariate index (POMI). Mar Pollut Bull 62:1616–1621
- 41. Mascaró O, Bennett S, Marbà N, Nikolić V, Romero J, Duarte CM et al (2012) Uncertainty analysis along the ecological quality status of water bodies: the response of the *Posidonia* oceanica multivariate index (POMI) in three Mediterranean regions. Mar Pollut Bull 64: 926–931
- 42. Mascaró O, Alcoverro T, Dencheva K, Díez I, Gorostiaga JM, Krause-Jensen D et al (2013) Exploring the robustness of macrophyte-based classification methods to assess the ecological status of coastal and transitional ecosystems under the Water Framework Directive. Hydrobiologia 704:279–291
- 43. Fernández-Torquemada Y, Díaz-Valdés M, Colilla F, Luna B, Sánchez-Lizaso JL, Ramos-Esplá A (2008) Descriptors from *Posidonia oceanica* (L.) Delile meadows in coastal waters of Valencia, Spain, in the context of the EU Water Framework Directive. ICES J Mar Sci 65: 1492–1497
- 44. Gobert S, Sartoretto S, Rico-Raimondino V, Andral B, Chery A, Lejeune P et al (2009) Assessment of the ecological status of Mediterranean French coastal waters as required by the Water Framework Directive using the *Posidonia oceanica* Rapid Easy Index: PREI. Mar Pollut Bull 58:1727–1733
- 45. Pergent G, Pergent-Martini C, Boudouresque C (1995) Utilisation de l'herbier à Posidonia oceanica comme indicateur biologique de la qualité du milieu littoral en Méditerranée: état des connaissances. Mésogée 54:3–27
- 46. Lopez y Royo C, Pergent G, Alcoverro T, Buia MC, Casazza G, Martínez-Crego B et al (2011) The seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* as indicator of coastal water quality: experimental intercalibration of classification systems. Ecol Indic 11:557–563

Environmental Quality of Catalan Coastal Waters Based on Macroalgae: The Interannual Variability of CARLIT Index and Its Ability to Detect Changes in Anthropogenic Pressures over Time

Xavier Torras, Susana Pinedo, María García, Boris Weitzmann, and Enric Ballesteros

Abstract CARLIT is a Water Framework Directive-compliant methodology permitting a rapid assessment of water quality using rocky-shore macroalgae as biological quality elements. Here we present the water quality assessment of 32 coastal water bodies of Catalonia (Northwestern Mediterranean) during a period of 14 years (1999-2012) applying CARLIT. The averaged ecological status of the water bodies ranges between high and poor and the Ecological Quality Ratio shows a significant negative relationship with a modified LUSI index, thus providing further evidence on the utility of CARLIT to detect anthropogenic pressures. The lowest interannual variability in water quality was found in water bodies having most of their shore covered by natural rocks, while the highest variability was observed in water bodies situated in semi-confined environments or located close to freshwater discharges. In spite of the multiple advantages of CARLIT as a monitoring methodology, it can show strong disagreements in water quality assessment with other methodologies using other biological quality elements (i.e., macroinvertebrates). These discrepancies mainly occur in water bodies with reduced extension of rocky shores, questioning the use of CARLIT in these situations.

Keywords CARLIT, Ecological status (ES), Macroalgae, Rocky-shore assemblages, Water Framework Directive (WFD)

Centre d'Estudis Avançats de Blanes-CSIC, Acc. Cala Sant Francesc 14, 17300 Blanes, Girona, Spain

e-mail: xtorras@ceab.csic.es

B. Weitzmann C/Suïssa 17, 17258 l'Estartit, Girona, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II), Hdb Env Chem (2016) 43: 183-200, DOI 10.1007/698 2015 370, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 7 July 2015

183

X. Torras (🖂), S. Pinedo, M. García, and E. Ballesteros

Contents

1	Introduction	184
2	Material and Methods	185
3	Results	188
4	Discussion	189
Re	ferences	196

Abbreviations

BQE	Biological quality elements
CARLIT	Cartografia Litoral (Littoral Cartography)
CFR	Quality of Rocky Bottoms
EEIc	Ecological Evaluation Index continuous formula
EQ	Environmental quality
ES	Ecological status
LUSI	Land Uses Simplified Index
MA-LUSI-WB	Modified LUSI index
MEDOCC	MEDiterranean OCCidental
RSL	Reduced species list
WB	Water body
WFD	Water Framework Directive

1 Introduction

The main objective of the Water Framework Directive (WFD; European Commission 2000/60/EC) is to achieve the good ecological status (ES) in all the surface water bodies (WBs) by 2015 and to prevent its deterioration in the subsequent years. Different biological quality elements (BQE) have been proposed to assess the ecological status in coastal water bodies: phytoplankton, macrophytes (macroalgae and seagrasses), and macroinvertebrates.

Macroalgae have been frequently used to assess the environmental quality in the implementation of the WFD [1–11]. Species of the brown algal genus *Cystoseira* (Fucales, Cystoseiraceae) usually dominate the upper infralittoral levels from non-polluted environments in the Mediterranean Sea [12–18] but they are replaced by other species when nutrient or heavy metal concentrations increase [3, 4, 11, 16, 19–22]. In non-polluted Mediterranean environments, the upper infralittoral algal beds thriving in moderately exposed to highly exposed rocky shores are dominated whether by *Cystoseira mediterranea* or by *Cystoseira stricta* (*C. amentacea* v. *stricta*) [3, 4, 12, 23–26]. When pollution or the frequency of any other kind of disturbance increases, *Cystoseira* spp. populations are first replaced by beds of the red alga *Corallina elongata* and the mussel *Mytilus galloprovincialis* [11, 13, 21, 23, 25, 27, 28]. Green ephemeral algae (*Ulva* spp., *Cladophora* spp.) and

cyanobacteria replace *Corallina* and *Mytilus* in highly disturbed environments and near freshwater discharges [11, 13, 25, 29–32].

Several methodologies based on macroalgae (EEIc [2], CARLIT [3], RSL [5], CFR [7]) have been developed to assess the ES of water bodies. CARLIT is based in the cartography of littoral and upper infralittoral rocky-shore assemblages and was developed to assess the water quality in the coast of Catalonia (Northwestern Mediterranean). Afterward, it has been officially used for the implementation of the WFD in most of the Mediterranean coasts of Spain, France, and Italy [33, 34]. CARLIT has been applied to the coast of Catalonia (Northwestern Mediterranean) during 14 years, continually from 1999 to 2012, and has provided enough data to explore its interannual variability and its possible utility to detect long-term changes in the environmental quality of coastal WBs.

2 Material and Methods

The sampling surveys consisted in a run of the entire coast with a small boat kept as close as possible to the shoreline [3]. Littoral and upper sublittoral assemblages were identified (Table 1) and directly annotated in a graphic display (aerial photographs, nautical charts, or ortho-photographs at a scale of 1:5000). Highly humanmodified WBs such as the inner part of harbors and marinas were not sampled, as they do not reflect the environmental quality of the adjacent coast. The final result of each survey was a partition of the rocky shoreline in several sectors – at least 50 m long - characterized by an assemblage category (corresponding to a single assemblage or a combination of assemblages). The sectors harboring Cystoseira species were assigned to Cystoseira categories taking into account also the coverage in a semiquantitative scale [3]. When more than one species were present in a sector (i.e., Corallina elongata and Mytilus galloprovincialis), the assignment was given to the most visually abundant one, but scoring the presence of both species (i.e., Coelo+Mgal or Mgal+Coelo; Table 1). Each category was assigned to a sensitivity level (SL) regarding their vulnerability to any environmental stress based on literature and expert judgment (Table 1; [3]).

The environmental quality (EQ) assessment of a WB was calculated as

$$EQ = \frac{\sum l_i * SL_i}{\sum l_i}$$
(1)

where l_i is the length of the coastline occupied by the community category *i* and SL_i is the sensitivity level of the assemblage category *i*.

The Ecological Quality Ratio (EQR) is defined as the ratio between the EQ calculated in the study region and the EQ calculated at reference sites [35]. Reference sites were located in Corsica and in the Balearic Islands [3]. In the reference sites the abundance and relative cover of each category of assemblages depend on

Category	Description	Sensitivity
Cymed continuous	Continuous belt of C. mediterranea	19–20
Cymed dense	Abundant patches of dense stands of C. mediterranea	15
Cymed rare	Abundant scattered plants of C. mediterranea	10-12
Other Cy spp.	Populations of Cystoseira spp. in sheltered environments	15
Cymed+Cycom	C. compressa and C. mediterranea populations in exposed or	12–15
	sheltered environments	
Cycom	C. compressa populations in exposed or sheltered	12
	environments	
Coelo	Belt of Corallina elongata, devoid of Cystoseira	8
Т	Buildups of Lithophyllum byssoides (Trottoir)	20
Mgal	Mussel (Mytilus galloprovincialis) beds, without Cystoseira	6
Green algae	Belts of Ulva and Cladophora species	3
Cyano	Communities dominated by cyanobacteria and Derbesia	1
	tenuissima	
Photophilic algae	Communities dominated by Padina/Dictyota/Dictyopteris/	10
	Halopteris	

 Table 1
 Summarized description and sensitivity levels of the main assemblage categories distinguished in the Catalan coast

Table 2 Environmental quality (EQ) values calculated for the six geomorphological relevantsituations in reference sites

Geomorphological relevant situation (i)	Coastal morphology	N/A	EQi
1	Decimetric blocks	Artificial	12.1
2	Low coast	Artificial	11.9
3	High coast	Artificial	8.0
4	Decimetric blocks	Natural	12.2
5	Low coast	Natural	16.6
6	High coast	Natural	15.3

coastline geomorphology and on the kind of substrate (artificial versus natural) [3]. Thus, different geomorphological situations potentially influencing the establishment and the abundance of the littoral and upper sublittoral assemblages were defined (Table 2).

The EQR of a sector of coast is calculated as

$$EQR = \frac{\sum \frac{EQs_i * l_i}{EQrs_i}}{\sum l_i}$$
(2)

where *i* is the situation, EQss_{*i*} is the EQ in the study site for the situation *i*, EQrs_{*i*} is the EQ in the reference sites for the situation *i*, and l_i is the coastal length in the study coast for the situation *i*. The EQR values range from 0 (bad ES) to 1 (high ES). Five ESs (high, good, moderate, poor, and bad) are considered. According to

Table 3 Correspondence	EQR	ES
ratio (EOR) intervals and	>0.75-1	High
ecological status (ES)	>0.60-0.75	Good
5	>0.40-0.60	Moderate
	>0.25-0.40	Poor
	0–0.25	Bad

the normative definitions of the ecological classes in the WFD and the expert judgment, a correspondence between the EQRs and ESs was obtained ([3] Table 3).

CARLIT methodology was applied to the whole Catalan coast, which extends for more than 400 lineal km, yearly from 1999 to 2012. Sampling was always performed during spring (from May to June) in coincidence with the highest development of littoral assemblages [14]. Although the Catalan coast is divided into 34 coastal WBs defined according to anthropogenic pressures and typology, the CARLIT index was calculated for 32 WBs since two WBs (C33 and C34) are completely devoid of rocky shores.

The information obtained on the surveys was transcribed into a GIS system and the yearly ES for the different WBs was calculated. There is not a minimum percentage of rocky coast or natural rocky coast to be considered for the calculation of the CARLIT index on a WB [3], and therefore, despite the existence of several WBs with a low percentage of natural rocky coasts (Fig. 1), EQRs were calculated for all WBs where some sector of rocky shore was present.

A Nonmetric Multidimensional Scaling (NMDS) ordination was performed to visualize the similarities of the 32 WBs according to the EQR values. A modified version of the Land Uses Simplified Index (LUSI) [36] was used to analyze the relationship of anthropogenic pressures and CARLIT results. LUSI is based on a combination of factors that reflect the continental influence in the coastal WBs: (1) land uses (urban, industrial, and agricultural), (2) the vicinity and the typology of a river, and finally (3) the shape of the coast (concave, convex, or straight). The scores were calculated taking into account 1.5 km inland between the limits of each WB on a Corine Land Cover map based on 2006 data. Two new factors were added to the original LUSI based on (1) the density of population and (2) the artificialization of the total population in the littoral municipalities divided by the length of each WB. The artificialization of the coastline was calculated as the relative length, from 0 to 1, of artificial structures in the total rocky coastline sampled at each WB. The modified LUSI index (MA-LUSI-WB) was thus calculated as

$$MA - LUSI - WB = LUSI + log\left(\frac{Inhabitants}{Coastline length}\right) + \left(\frac{Length artificial}{Total rocky length}\right) (3)$$

The relationship between the scores of MA-LUSI-WB and the mean EQR value at each WB was obtained by means of Pearson correlation analysis.



Fig. 1 The 34 coastal water bodies of Catalonia (Northwestern Mediterranean) delimited according to its typology and anthropogenic pressures. Completely sandy shores, water bodies without natural rocky coast or with a percentage lower than 10% of natural rocky coast are shown on a red scale

3 Results

Water bodies are ordinated in the MDS plot following a gradient of water quality, with the WBs having the highest EQR (C14, C10) situated at the right side of the plot and those having the worst water quality situated at the left side (C21, C22) (Fig. 2). The EQR values and the ES at each WB change over time (Table 4). The lowest variability is found in WB C14 with only 5% of variability in the 14-year period. The highest variability is found in WB C21 with 82%. The SD oscillates between 0.01 (C14) and 0.13 (C02 and C21) (Table 5). The values of EQR usually range between rather restricted intervals in most water bodies, as summarized in Fig. 3. The highest values are obtained in the northern shores, medium values in the southern shores, and the lowest values in the central sector of the coast. Seven WBs



register a high averaged ES; of these, both high and good ES have been assessed for WBs C01, C03, C06, and C26, while WBs C05, C10, and C14 have always been rated high. Good averaged ES has been assessed at seven WBs. Moderate averaged ES has been obtained at seventeen WBs, mainly in Barcelona coastline, where good or poor ES has also been obtained during some surveys. Finally, one WB (C22) sampled only from 2005 to 2010 has been evaluated with a poor averaged ES. A significant negative relationship between MA-LUSI-WB scores and EQR mean values was obtained ($R^2 = 0.5033$; p < 0.001) (Fig. 4).

4 Discussion

After sampling the Catalan coast using CARLIT for 14 years, we feel confident to reinforce some its advantages when compared with other WFD-compliant methodologies based on macroalgae [1, 2, 5–8]. First, CARLIT is a nondestructive methodology. Second, there is almost no laboratory work, therefore saving time and money. Third, sampling is fast, being possible to survey a coast length of 400 km in no more than 6 weeks, minimizing the seasonal variability on the composition and development of the assemblages. And, fourth, it takes into account the totality of the coast, avoiding the misclassification of a WB due to special features of the sampling stations chosen to evaluate the WB. Moreover, the ES assessment of the WBs agrees with the intensity of the anthropogenic pressures as previously reported [18, 37–39]. The good negative relationship between the averaged EQR values and the modified LUSI index used here (Fig. 4) provides new evidence on the utility of CARLIT to detect anthropogenic pressures.

Our data shows a low to high interannual variability in the values of the CARLIT index for the same WB. One of the factors that may explain this variability is the subjectivity of the observers as reported in other studies [40, 41]. This is especially critical in CARLIT where the assignment of a category to a sector of coastline depends on the identification skills of the observer. However, this is not a cause of

Table 4 EQR	s and ESs f	for the 32	water bo	dies assess	sed in Ca	talan coas	tal waters	from 199	99 to 2013	2 with C/	ARLIT me	ethodolog	y		
	WB	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012
EQR															
Girona	C01	0.82	0.68	0.75	0.81	0.93	0.83	0.85	0.75	0.70	0.74	0.77	06.0	0.89	0.95
	C02	0.73	0.50	0.50	0.70	0.75	0.92	0.71	0.84	0.60	0.69	0.82	0.85	0.53	0.73
	C03	0.81	0.72	0.76	0.82	0.87	0.88	0.68	0.87	0.83	0.89	0.95	0.96	0.96	0.99
	C04	0.51	0.49	0.59	0.55	0.40	0.68	0.43	0.55	0.54	0.57	0.64	0.73	0.59	0.72
	C05	0.94	0.80	0.91	0.86	0.94	0.95	0.88	0.98	0.91	0.92	96.0	96.0	0.96	0.98
	C06	0.68	0.64	0.78	0.70	0.80	0.82	06.0	0.95	0.71	0.75	96.0	0.86	0.85	0.88
	C07*	0.43	0.50	0.62	0.65	0.58	0.38	0.55	0.55	0.49	0.56	0.54	0.55	0.52	0.50
	C08*	0.43	0.36	0.59	0.51	0.67	0.59	0.59	0.45	0.67	0.67	0.56	0.47	0.48	0.59
	C09	0.57	0.55	0.68	0.56	0.64	0.66	0.65	0.67	0.65	0.71	0.75	0.66	0.80	0.74
	C10	0.99	0.94	0.96	0.93	0.97	0.96	0.86	1.00	0.97	0.97	0.99	96.0	0.96	1.00
	C11*	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.60	0.58	0.51	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.67	0.63	0.65	0.65
	C12	0.56	0.55	0.60	0.47		0.58	0.27	0.68	0.58	0.61	0.61	0.77	0.75	0.69
	C14	0.99	0.94	0.98	0.98	0.98	0.98	96.0	0.99	0.99	0.99	0.99	66.0	0.99	0.98
Barcelona	C15*	0.22	0.31	0.36	0.49	0.51	0.46	0.60	0.46	0.53	0.47	0.41	0.64	0.54	0.63
	C16**	0.54	0.56	0.48	0.55	0.56	0.56	0.59	0.58	0.64	0.54	0.57	0.60	0.55	0.59
	C17**	0.45	0.49	0.50	0.54	0.66	0.48	0.54	0.41	0.51	0.49	0.46	0.38	0.55	0.53
	C18**	0.56	0.51	0.47	0.45	0.51	0.57	0.48	0.45	0.46	0.59	0.31	0.46	0.45	0.47
	C19**	0.46	0.49	0.52	0.41	0.33	0.57	0.46	0.41	0.52	0.47	0.49	0.50	0.52	0.52
	C20*	0.34	0.50	0.56	0.44	0.52	0.63	0.57	0.62	0.59	0.59	0.63	0.55	0.58	0.56
	C21*					0.10	0.40	0.39	0.51	0.55	0.39	0.50	0.40	0.51	0.49
	C22*							0.25	0.24	0.23	0.26	0.33	0.31		
	C23	0.54	0.52	0.54	0.53	0.57	0.49	0.53	0.51	0.52	0.58	0.58	0.55	0.50	0.51
	C24	0.53	0.49	0.50	0.48	0.52	0.51	0.49	0.47	0.52	0.56	0.57	0.51	0.51	0.52
Tarragona	C25	0.61	0.57	0.57	0.54	0.63	0.59	0.57	0.55	0.58	0.63	0.62	0.58	0.59	0.57
	C26	0.72	0.59	0.72	0.73	0.70	0.75	0.72	0.68	0.78	0.78	0.75	0.85	0.81	0.93
	C27**	0.64	0.57	0.61	0.64	0.65	0.66	0.46	0.47	0.57	0.55	0.59	0.51	0.56	0.55

190

C29 0.47 C30** 0.67 C31 0.62 C31 0.62 C32 0.52 C35 0.57	0.45	0 52	0							010			
C30** 0.67 C31 0.63 C32 0.52 C32 0.52		1000	cc.0	0.53	0.51	0.49	0.40	0.50	0.49	70.0	0.47	0.50	0.43
C31 0.63 C32 0.52 C35 0.52	0.60	0.63	0.60	0.64	0.62	0.66	0.62	0.60	0.67	0.63	0.64	0.58	0.61
C32 0.52	0.55	0.57	0.60	0.74	0.73	0.74	0.76	0.75	0.71	0.69	0.79	0.74	0.74
735 0 5/	0.47	0.47	0.52	0.58	0.58	0.63	0.60	0.63	0.57	0.59	0.70	0.67	0.61
	0.30	0.59	0.63	0.54	0.49	0.53	0.44	0.52	0.51	0.54	0.54	0.55	0.57
-													
201 H	U	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	U	U	Н	Н	Н	Н
C02 G	Σ	M	IJ	H	Н	IJ	Н	IJ	IJ	Н	Н	Σ	IJ
C03 H	IJ	Н	Н	н	Н	IJ	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	H	Н
C04 M	Σ	M	M	X	IJ	М	М	Μ	N	IJ	U	N	IJ
C05 H	H	Н	Н	н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	H	Н
C06 G	IJ	H	IJ	Н	H	Н	Н	IJ	H	H	Н	H	H
C07* M	Σ	IJ	IJ	X	Ч	М	Σ	M	М	M	M	X	M
208* M	Ъ	M	M	IJ	N	M	М	IJ	IJ	M	M	X	Σ
M 600	Σ	IJ	M	IJ	IJ	IJ	IJ	IJ	IJ	Н	U	Н	IJ
10 H	H	H	H	H	Н	Н	Н	H	H	H	Н	H	H
C11* G	ט	U	G	IJ	М	М	IJ	U	U	U	U	U	IJ
C12 M	Σ	IJ	M		M	Ь	U	Μ	IJ	IJ	Н	H	IJ
C14 H	H	Н	Н	н	Н	Н	Н	Н	H	Н	Н	H	Н
C15* B	Ъ	Ь	M	M	M	IJ	М	M	M	M	IJ	X	IJ
C16** M	Σ	M	M	Z	X	X	М	IJ	Σ	N	IJ	X	Σ
017** M	Σ	M	M	IJ	M	M	М	M	M	M	Ь	X	Σ
18** M	Σ	M	M	Z	X	X	М	N	X	Ь	M	X	Σ
219** M	Σ	M	M	Ь	M	М	М	Μ	N	Μ	M	X	Σ
220* P	Σ	Μ	M	M	IJ	М	IJ	Μ	Μ	IJ	Μ	M	М
21*				в	M	Ь	М	Μ	Ь	Μ	M	X	Σ
22*						Ь	В	В	Р	Р	Ρ		
223 M	Μ	Μ	Μ	W	M	Μ	Μ	M	Μ	M	Μ	Μ	Μ
224 M	Σ	M	X	Z	X	M	M	N	Σ	N	M	Σ	Σ

191

2012	M	Н	Μ	ט	Μ	ט	ט	ט	Μ
2011	Μ	Н	М	ט	М	Μ	U	ט	М
2010	M	Н	M	U	M	U	Н	U	Μ
2009	U	Η	М	U	М	U	U	Μ	М
2008	U	Н	Μ	Μ	Μ	ט	ט	Μ	М
2007	M	Н	М	ט	М	ט	Н	ט	М
2006	Μ	IJ	Μ	Μ	Μ	IJ	Н	IJ	Μ
2005	M	U	М	U	М	U	U	U	М
2004	M	Н	U	U	M	U	U	M	М
2003	IJ	U	U	U	M	U	U	M	М
2002	Μ	U	C	U	M	U	C	M	G
2001	Μ	U	U	U	Μ	U	Μ	Μ	М
2000	Μ	M	M	U	M	U	M	M	Ρ
1999	ט	U	C	M	M	U	C	M	Μ
WB	C25	C26	C27**	C28	C29	C30**	C31	C32	C35
	Tarragona								

Water bodies without natural rocky sectors are indicated with a single asterisk, while those with less than 10% of natural rocky coast are indicated with a double asterisk H high ES, G good ES, M moderate ES, P poor ES, B bad ES

Table 4 (continued)

		Total					(TD		MA-		
	WD	length (Km)	Evaluated (\mathcal{O}_{-})	Artificial	Natural	(EOP)	SD (EOP)	Mean (ES)	LUSI-		
	W D	(KIII)	(%)	(%)	(%)	(LQK)	(EQK)	(ES)	WB		
6	CO1	48.0	02	5	05	0.91	0.08	II	2.55		
	C01	48.9	92	3	95	0.81	0.08	П	2.55		
	C02	4.0	/8	9	91	0.71	0.13	U U	2.59		
	C03	89.4	98	20	100	0.80	0.09	Н	1.50		
	C04	2.7	/5	28	100	0.57	0.10	M	2.80		
	C05	32.4	89	4	100	0.93	0.05	H	0.75		
	C06	10.6	89	4	96	0.81	0.10	H	2.04		
	<u>C07</u>	13.5	1/	100		0.53	0.07	M	7.48		
	C08	7.9	6	100		0.55	0.10	M	1.25		
	C09	11.1	79	34	66	0.66	0.07	G	4.09		
	C10	31.5	98	1	99	0.96	0.04	Н	1.01		
	CII	6.0	12	100		0.64	0.05	G	6.06		
	C12	5.2	29	6	94	0.59	0.13	G	5.06		
	C14	179.8	88	4	96	0.98	0.01	H	1.04		
B	arcelor	ia	-		1						
	C15	11.6	2	100		0.47	0.12	M	4.51		
	C16	27.0	22	91	9	0.57	0.04	M	4.60		
	C17	13.4	18	94	6	0.50	0.07	M	4.47		
	C18	5.9	8	72	28	0.48	0.07	M	5.03		
	C19	14.7	67	97	3	0.48	0.06	M	5.52		
	C20	13.4	86	100		0.55	0.08	M	5.57		
	C21	4.0	15	100		0.42	0.13	M	7.61		
	C22	15.1	2	100		0.27	0.04	Р	6.14		
	C23	19.4	77	39	61	0.53	0.03	M	2.39		
	C24	15.7	56	60	40	0.51	0.03	M	3.19		
Tarragona											
	C25	35.5	28	83	17	0.59	0.03	М	3.18		
	C26	12.2	56		100	0.75	0.08	Н	2.74		
	C27	14.2	68	94	6	0.57	0.06	М	5.48		
	C28	3.0	96		100	0.62	0.06	G	1.50		
	C29	10.0	35	26	74	0.49	0.04	М	4.59		
	C30	15.5	28	99	1	0.63	0.03	G	2.56		
	C31	23.2	49	38	62	0.70	0.07	G	1.38		
	C32	26.4	90	7	93	0.58	0.07	М	1.07		
	C35	9.4	54	44	56	0.52	0.08	M	4.44		

 Table 5
 Mean and standard deviation (SD) of EQRs assessed with CARLIT methodology from 1999 to 2012, ES (mean value), and MA-LUSI-WB scores for the different water bodies

H high ES, G good ES, M moderate ES, P poor ES, B bad ES

great concern here because all surveys have been performed by the same pool of observers. Another factor that can account for interannual differences is the period of the year when the survey is made, but as stated above, surveys were always performed in May to June, dismissing this possibility.



Fig. 3 Box plot showing the average (*black line*), SE value (*box*), SD value (*vertical line*), and outlier values (*circles*) of the EQRs at the Catalan water bodies sampled during a period of 14 years (1999–2012). *Horizontal lines* show boundaries between the different ecological statuses (ESs). *Blue line*, limit between high and good ESs; *green line*, limit between good and moderate ESs; *yellow line*, limit between moderate and poor ESs; *orange line*: limit between poor and bad ESs



Fig. 4 Relationship between the EQR mean values obtained by CARLIT and the anthropogenic pressures measured according to MA-LUSI-WB index (see Table 2)

Another factor that can account for an interannual shift in the EQR could be a sudden change in coastal geomorphology due to a natural disaster or to a humaninduced coastal modification. It is not usual that a human-induced coastal modification encompasses a sector big enough to have an incidence on a WB as a whole. However, we report here one case that fits into this situation. The coastline of the sector C21 was completely modified due to an enlargement of the Barcelona harbor and a deviation of the Llobregat river mouth. The building up of new rocky substrata (breakwaters and quays) changed a big sector of the coast from sandy to rocky and from assemblages dominated by microbes (2003) – typical of bad ecological quality – to assemblages dominated by ephemeral algae (2004) and later to a turf of *Corallina elongata* accompanied by populations of *Mytilus* galloprovincialis (year 2005 and beyond), assemblages that indicate a moderate water quality [3].

Other factors that can lead to changes in ES assessment are natural variabilities or changes in human pressures. Natural variability is inevitably associated to ecological systems and we contend here that this should be the major cause of variability in our data, mainly in those WBs where there is not a significant trend of change during the surveyed period. The highest interannual variability corresponds to WBs situated inside little bays (C02, C04) or to WBs located southward of river mouths (C08, C12, C15, and C21). Differences in river discharges associated to rainy periods [42–44] can modify the assemblages close to the inflows. Unexpected strong storms [45–47], differences in nutrients by upwelling processes and river discharges [43, 48, 49], salinity changes [50, 51], temperature variability [50, 52], and hydroclimatic variability [53–55], among other factors, have also been reported as major drivers for Mediterranean marine ecosystems and may be also affecting the interannual variability on the composition and development of upper infralittoral assemblages on rocky shores, and thus, they may be shaping the assessment of the water quality using CARLIT.

Changes in human pressures should revert into changes on indexes based on biological indicators if these indexes are appropriate, irrespectively of the natural variability intrinsically associated to natural assemblages. We have observed an increase in the ES of three WBs that are probably related to an improvement in the water quality at the level of the whole basin. In C09 and C12 the ES has shifted from moderate to good or high, and in C15 it has changed from bad-poor to moderate-high. These three WBs are placed just south of the mouth of three rivers (Fluvià, Ter, and Tordera) whose water quality may have improved [56]. Because the general coastal water circulation in Catalonia is moving southward [57], an improvement on the water quality from these rivers may also imply an increase on the CARLIT values of the coastal water body situated south of the water mouth.

Another example that could be related to water improvement is the shifting from bad to moderate in WB C21. In this WB the water treatment was highly improved, and from 2006 there is a special treatment to reduce nutrient loading [58]. However, and as stated above, the improvement from bad to moderate ES seems to be related to the succession patterns of the assemblages since hard bottoms evaluated in this WB were build up in 2003.

The values of ES obtained with the CARLIT methodology show sometimes striking differences with the ES obtained using other BQEs such as macroinvertebrate assemblages thriving in fine sands (MEDOCC; [56]). For instance, most WBs from Barcelona are rated as moderate and most WBs from Tarragona are rated between moderate and good, using CARLIT; however, they are rated from good to high using the MEDOCC methodology [56]. These differences mainly occur in shores where rocky substrates at the littoral level are mainly artificial and are surrounded by large sandy beaches. Assemblages developing in these artificial substrates are usually dominated by stress-resistant species (*Corallina elongata* and *Mytilus galloprovincialis*) and in some cases by opportunists (green algae and cyanobacteria). *Cystoseira mediterranea* is never encountered in these littoral

rocks surrounded by sand. In fact, C. mediterranea has been observed growing in artificial breakwaters (authors' pers. obs.) but only when placed around rocky shores with widespread populations of C. mediterranea nearby. This is partially to be explained by the low dispersion of C. mediterranea zygotes [59], which impairs colonization on sites that are far away from well-developed populations. Another factor that seems to account for the lack of colonization by C. mediterranea in these environments is the inhibition of Cystoseira recruits by C. elongata turfs and M. galloprovincialis populations. There is no chance for Cvstoseira colonization if these stress-resistance space occupiers are not removed [60], a problem that is not only faced by artificial structures but also by degraded natural rocks. Moreover artificial structures are always close to zones with a high human pressure like harbors, whose environmental conditions and water quality do not represent WBs as a whole. For instance, C. mediterranea is present on natural rocks in WB C16, but it is completely absent on breakwaters that make up the 90% of the rocky shore in this WB. Thus, results obtained using CARLIT methodology in WBs with a low percentage of rocky shores, mainly when they are not natural, have to be questioned.

Acknowledgments This study has been financially supported by the Agència Catalana de l'Aigua (Departament de Medi Ambient i Habitatge, Generalitat de Catalunya) and INTRAMURAL-CSIC project (reference 201330E065). We specially thank Esther Jordana, Maria Paola Satta, Raquel Arévalo, Paula López, Maria Elena Cefalì, Marianna Cavalli, and Elisabetta Giannini who assisted us in the field. We also acknowledge Mariona de Torres for her constant support.

References

- 1. Orfanidis S, Panayotidis P, Stamatis N (2001) Ecological evaluation of transitional and coastal waters: a marine benthic macrophytes-based model. Mediterr Mar Sci 2:46–65
- 2. Orfanidis S, Panayotidis P, Ugland K (2011) Ecological Evaluation Index continuous formula (EEI-c) application: a step forward for functional groups, the formula and reference condition values. Mediterr Mar Sci 12:199–231
- 3. Ballesteros E, Torras X, Pinedo S et al (2007) A new methodology based on littoral community cartography dominated by macroalgae for the implementation of the European Water Framework Directive. Mar Pollut Bull 55:172–180
- 4. Pinedo S, García M, Satta MP et al (2007) Rocky-shore communities as indicators of water quality: a case study in the Northwestern Mediterranean. Mar Pollut Bull 55:126–135
- 5. Wells E, Wilkinson M, Wood P et al (2007) The use of macroalgal species richness and composition on intertidal rocky seashores in the assessment of the ecological quality under the European Water Framework Directive. Mar Pollut Bull 55:151–161
- Guinda X, Juanes JA, Puente A et al (2008) Comparison of two methods for quality assessment of macroalgae assemblages, under different pollution types. Ecol Indic 8:743–753
- 7. Juanes JA, Guinda X, Puente A et al (2008) Macroalgae, a suitable indicator of the ecological status of coastal rocky communities in the NE Atlantic. Ecol Indic 8:351–359
- 8. NEA GIG (2011) WFD intercalibration phase 2: coastal waters North-East Atlantic Ocean GIG Macroalgae. Milestone 6 report

- Díez I, Bustamante M, Santolaria A et al (2012) Development of a tool for assessing the ecological quality status of intertidal coastal rocky assemblages, within Atlantic Iberian coasts. Ecol Indic 12:58–71
- Neto JM, Gaspar R, Pereira L et al (2012) Marine Macroalgae Assessment Tool (MarMAT) for intertidal rocky shores. Quality assessment under the scope of the European Water Framework Directive. Ecol Indic 19:39–47
- 11. Pinedo S, Zabala M, Ballesteros E (2013) Long-term changes in sublittoral macroalgal assemblages related to water quality improvement. Bot Mar 56:461–469
- Feldmann J (1937) Recherches sur la végétation marine de la Méditerranée: la côte des Albères. Rev Algol 10:1–339
- Bellan G, Bellan-Santini D (1972) Influence de la pollution sur les peuplements marins de la région de Marseille. In: Ruivo M (ed) Marine pollution and sea life. Fishing News, Survey, pp 396–401
- 14. Ballesteros E (1992) Els vegetals i la zonació litoral: espècies, comunitats i factors que influeixen en la seva distribució. Arx Secc Ciències IEC 101:1–616
- 15. Boudouresque CF (2004) Marine biodiversity in the Mediterranean: status of species, population and communities. Sci Rep Port-Cros Nat Park 20: 97–146
- 16. Sales E, Ballesteros E (2009) Shallow Cystoseira (Fucales: Ochrophyta) assemblages thriving in sheltered areas from Menorca (NW Mediterranean): relationships with environmental factors and anthropogenic pressures. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 84:476–482
- Sales M, Ballesteros E, Anderson MJ et al (2012) Biogeographical patterns of algal communities in the Mediterranean Sea: *Cystoseira crinita*-dominated assemblages as a case study. J Biogeogr 39:140–152
- Nikolić V, Žuljević A, Mangialajo L et al (2013) Cartography of littoral rocky-shore communities (CARLIT) as a tool for ecological quality assessment of coastal waters in the Eastern Adriatic Sea. Ecol Indic 34:87–93
- Giaccone G (1978) Effects on phytobenthos of marine domestic wastewater disposal. Progr Water Technol 4:51–58
- 20. Soltan D, Verlaque M, Boudouresque CF et al (2001) Changes in macroalgal communities in the vicinity of a mediterranean sewage outfall after the setting up of a treatment plant. Mar Pollut Bull 42:59–70
- 21. Arévalo R, Pinedo S, Ballesteros E (2007) Changes in the composition and structure of Mediterranean rocky-shore communities following a gradient of nutrient enrichment: descriptive study and test of proposed methods to assess water quality regarding macroalgae. Mar Pollut Bull 55:104–113
- 22. Sales M, Cebrian E, Tomas F et al (2011) Pollution impacts and recovery potential in three species of the genus *Cystoseira* (Fucales, Heterokontophyta). Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 92: 347–357
- Bellan-Santini D (1968) Influence de la pollution sur les peuplements benthiques. Rev Int Oceanogr Med 10:27–53
- 24. Boudouresque CF (1969) Étude qualitative et quantitative d'un peuplement algal à *Cystoseira mediterranea* dans la région de Banyuls sur Mer. Vie Milieu 20:437–452
- 25. Ballesteros E, Pérez M, Zabala M (1984) Aproximación al conocimiento de las comunidades algales de la zona infralitoral superior en la costa catalana. Collect Bot 15:69–100
- 26. Ballesteros E (1988) Estructura y dinámica de la comunidad de *Cystoseira mediterranea* Sauvageau en el Mediterráneo noroccidental. Invest Pesq 52:313–334
- 27. Bellan-Santini D (1965) Étude quantitative du peuplement à *Mytilus galloprovincialis* Lamarck en eau moyennement pollueé. Rapp Comm Int Mer Médit 18:85–89
- 28. Giaccone G (1993) The vertical zonation along the phytal system in the Mediterranean Sea and the effects of municipal and industrial wastewater disposal on phytobenthos communities. In: Proceedings of the fifth optima meeting, Istanbul 5, pp 47–56
- 29. Golubic S (1970) Effect of organic pollution on benthic communities. Mar Pollut Bull 1:56-57
- 30. Belsher T (1977) Analyse des répercussions de pollutions urbaines sur le macrophytobenthos de Méditerranée (Marseille, Port-Vendres, Port-Cros). Thèse Doctorat, Université d'Aix-Marseille II, Marseille, p 287
- 31. Kadari-Meziane Y (1994) Contribution à l'étude de l'impact de la pollution sur la distribution spatio-temporelle des peuplements phytobenthiques dans la baie de Bou-Ismail (Algérie). Thèse de Magister. École Normale Supérieure, Algérie, p 226
- 32. Rodríguez-Prieto C, Polo L (1996) Effects of sewage pollution in the structure and dynamics of the community of *Cystoseira mediterranea* (Fucales, Phaeophyceae). Sci Mar 60:253–263
- 33. Asnaghi V, Chiantore M, Bertolotto RM et al (2009) Implementation of the European Framework Directive: natural variability associated with the CARLIT method on the rocky shores of the Ligurian Sea (Italy). Mar Ecol 30:505–513
- 34. MED GIG (2013) WFD intercalibration phase 2. Coastal waters. Mediterranean Sea. Final technical report
- 35. European Commission (2000) Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a framework for community action in the field of water policy. Off J Eur Commun, L 327, 22 Dec 2000
- Flo E, Garcés E, Camp J (2011) Assessment pressure methodology Land Uses Simplified Index (LUSI) BQE phytoplankton. Spain – Catalonia. Work document
- Mangialajo L, Ruggieri N, Asnaghi V et al (2007) Ecological status in the Ligurian Sea: the effect of coastline urbanisation and the importance of proper reference sites. Mar Pollut Bull 55:30–41
- Bermejo R, de la Fuente G, Vergara J et al (2013) Application of the CARLIT index along a biogeographical gradient in the Alboran Sea (European Coast). Mar Pollut Bull 72:107–118
- 39. Bermejo R, Mangialajo L, Vergara J et al (2014) Comparison of two indices based on macrophyte assemblages to assess the ecological status of coastal waters in the transition between the Atlantic and Mediterranean eco-regions. J Appl Phycol 26:1899–1909
- 40. Sales M, Ballesteros E (2010) Long-term comparison of algal assemblages dominated by *Cystoseira crinita* (Fucales, Heterokontophyta) from Cap Corse (Corsica, North Western Mediterranean). Eur J Phycol 45:404–412
- 41. Bennett S, Roca G, Romero J et al (2011) Ecological status of seagrass ecosystems: an uncertainty analysis of the meadow classification based on the *Posidonia oceanica* multivariate index (POMI). Mar Pollut Bull 62:1616–1621
- 42. Sánchez-Vidal A, Higueras M, Marti E et al (2013) Riverine transport of terrestrial organic matter to the north Catalan margin, NW Mediterranean Sea. Prog Oceanogr 118:71–80
- 43. Arin L, Guillen J, Segura-Noguera M et al (2013) Open sea hydrographic forcing of nutrient and phytoplankton dynamics in a Mediterranean coastal ecosystem. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 133:116–128
- 44. Higueras M, Kerherve P, Sánchez-Vidal A et al (2014) Biogeochemical characterization of the riverine particulate organic matter transferred to the NW Mediterranean Sea. Biogeosciences 11:157–172
- 45. Navarro L, Ballesteros E, Linares C et al (2011) Spatial and temporal variability of deep-water algal assemblages in the Northwestern Mediterranean: the effects of an exceptional storm. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 95:52–58
- 46. Sánchez-Vidal A, Canals M, Calafat AM et al (2012) Impacts on the deep-sea ecosystem by a severe coastal storm. PLoS One 7(1):e30395
- 47. Pages JF, Gera A, Romero J et al (2013) The Mediterranean benthic herbivores show diverse responses to extreme storm disturbances. PLoS One 8(5):e62719
- 48. Fernández de Puelles ML, Alemany F, Jansá J (2007) Zooplankton time series in the Balearic Sea (Western Mediterranean): variability during the decade 1994–2003. Prog Oceanogr 74:329–354
- 49. Ludwig W, Dumont E, Meybeck M et al (2009) River discharges of water and nutrients to the Mediterranean and Black Sea: major drivers for ecosystem changes during past and future decades? Prog Oceanogr 80:199–217

- 50. Fernández de Puelles ML, Valencia J, Vicente L (2004) Zooplankton variability and climatic anomalies from 1994 to 2001 in the Balearic Sea (Western Mediterranean). ICES J Mar Sci 61:492–500
- Marty JC, Chiaverini J (2010) Hydrological changes in the Ligurian Sea (NW Mediterranean, DYFAMED site) during 1995–2007 and biogeochemical consequences. Biogeosciences 7: 2117–2128
- 52. Grbec B, Morovic M, Paklar GB et al (2009) The relationship between the atmospheric variability and productivity in the Adriatic Sea area. J Mar Biol Assoc UK 89:1549–1558
- 53. Katara I, Illian J, Pierce GJ et al (2008) Atmospheric forcing on chlorophyll concentration in the Mediterranean. Hydrobiologia 612:5–20
- 54. Jordi A, Basterretxea G, Angles S (2009) Influence of ocean circulation on phytoplankton biomass distribution in the Balearic Sea: study based on sea-viewing wide field-of-view sensor and altimetry satellite data. J Geophys Res Oceans 114:C11005
- 55. Quetglas A, Ordines F, Hidalgo M et al (2013) Synchronous combined effects of fishing and climate change within a demersal community. ICES J Mar Sci 70:319–328
- 56. Pinedo S, Jordana E, Manzanera M et al (2015) Using MEDOCC index to evaluate the Ecological Status of Catalan coastal waters (Northwestern Mediterranean Sea) over time and depths. This volume
- 57. Font J, Garcialadona E, Gorriz EG (1995) The seasonality of mesoscale motion in the northern current of the western Mediterranean several years of evidence. Oceanol Acta 18: 207–219
- 58. Ortuno F, Molinero J, Garrido T et al (2012) Seawater injection barrier recharge with advanced reclaimed water at Llobregat delta aquifer (Spain). Water Sci Technol 66: 2083–2089
- 59. Chapman ARO (1995) Functional ecology of fucoid algae: twenty three years of progress. Phycologia 34:1–32
- 60. Perkol-Finkel S, Airoldi L (2010) Loss and recovery potential of marine habitats: an experimental study of factors maintaining resilience in subtidal algal forests at the Adriatic Sea. PLoS One 5(5), e10791

Using MEDOCC (MEDiterranean **OCCidental)** Index to Evaluate the Ecological Status of Catalan Coastal Waters (Northwestern Mediterranean Sea) Over **Time and Depths**

Susana Pinedo, Esther Jordana, Marta Manzanera, and Enric Ballesteros

Abstract The Ecological Status (ES) of littoral coastal waters from Catalonia (Northwestern Mediterranean Sea) has been evaluated between 2002 and 2010 using MEDOCC (MEDiterranean OCCidental) index. Macroinvertebrate assemblages inhabiting both littoral fine sands (<20 m depth) and littoral sandy muds (25–35 m depth) have been sampled. The relative abundance of four Ecological Groups (e.g., sensitive, indifferent, tolerant, and opportunistic taxa) has been studied along a disturbance gradient. Sensitive taxa are often present in disturbed situations, and tolerant species are usually associated with the presence of opportunistic taxa, both in fine sands and muddy sediments. Sensitive species dominate in sandy habitats, while tolerant species dominate in muddy bottoms. The ES of Catalan coastal waters measured with the samples collected in littoral fine sands has improved since 2002, and all locations rated above a good ES in 2010. The ES measured with the samples collected in littoral sandy muds was above a good ES although the Ecological Quality Ratio (EQR) was always lower than in littoral fine sands. Consequently, the ES of all water bodies was rated as good or high ES in 2010, and no water body was at risk of noncompliance of Water Framework Directive (WFD) requirements.

e-mail: pinedo@ceab.csic.es

M. Manzanera

A. Munné et al. (eds.), Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II), Hdb Env Chem (2016) 43: 201–226, DOI 10.1007/698 2015 375, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 22 July 2015

201

S. Pinedo (🖂), E. Jordana, and E. Ballesteros

Centre d'Estudis Avançats de Blanes-CSIC, Accés Cala Sant Francesc 14, 17300 Blanes, Girona, Spain

Departament de Medi Ambient i Habitatge, Agència Catalana de l'Aigua, Generalitat de Catalunya, C/Provença 204-208, 08036 Barcelona, Spain

Keywords Catalonia, Littoral fine sands, Littoral sandy muds, Macroinvertebrates, Mediterranean Sea, MEDOCC, Water bodies (WBs), WFD

Contents

1	Introduction	202			
2	Materials and Methods				
	2.1 Data Series	204			
	2.2 MEDOCC (MEDiterranean OCCidental) Index	206			
3	Results	210			
	3.1 Sedimentological Variables	210			
	3.2 Ecological Status	210			
4	Discussion	215			
Re	ferences	220			

Abbreviations

EG	Ecological Group
EGI	Sensitive taxa
EGII	Indifferent taxa
EGIII	Tolerant taxa
EGIV	Opportunistic taxa
EQR	Ecological Quality Ratio
ES	Ecological Status
LUSI	Land Uses Simplified Index
MEDOCC	MEDiterranean OCCidental
MPD	Median Particle Diameter
OM	Organic Matter
SC	Percentage of Silt-Clay
WB	Water Body
WFD	Water Framework Directive

1 Introduction

The main objective of the European Water Framework Directive (WFD [1]) is to achieve "good ecological and chemical status" for all European water bodies (WBs) by 2015. According to the WFD the Ecological Status (ES) should be calculated taking into account at least one of the biological elements listed in the WFD. Softbottom macroinvertebrates from coastal waters respond in a predictable and relatively rapid manner to a wide array of natural and anthropogenic stressors [2–7] and include a variety of species with a wide range of feeding modes, stress tolerances, and abilities to withstand disturbances [8, 9].

Several biotic indices have been proposed to measure the ecological quality in coastal waters using macroinvertebrates [10]. Most of them use indicator species or Ecological Groups (EGs) according to their sensitivity/tolerance to stress and are rooted in the model of Pearson and Rosenberg [2] and Rhoads et al. [11], which predict a succession of species along an organic matter gradient [12]. Some authors [13, 14] accept that a biotic index is unlikely to be universally applicable. Moreover, species requirements, preferred habitat, and ecological significance can differ between eco-regions as they depend on environmental conditions and species interactions [15–19]. Therefore, the use of species-specific sensitivity/tolerance values adopted for one region (i.e., the North Atlantic) is not necessarily valid in other regions (i.e., the Northwestern Mediterranean [20-22]). Thus, it is advised that the used methodologies should allow experts of every region to modify the species assignments according to their criteria [18, 23]. Another common problematic issue is to assume that the abundance patterns of the EGs along the disturbance gradient respond in the same way everywhere. Thus, the thresholds between ecological classes assigned for each index when based on the EG patterns could not be always appropriate [24, 25] and may differ from region to region. Here, we will use the index MEDOCC (MEDiterranean OCCidental [22]), a methodology compliant to WFD requirements and based on soft-bottom macroinvertebrate assemblages, which overcomes the two main drawbacks cited above [22].

Several benthic soft-bottom communities have been described at the lower infralittoral and upper circalittoral zones in the Northwestern Mediterranean Sea. Following Guille [26], five benthic communities can be identified along the Catalan coast: (1) the Spisula subtruncata community associated with fine sands, (2) the Nephtys hombergii community associated with muddy sands, (3) the Scoloplos armiger community associated with sandy muds, (4) the Nucula sulcata community associated with pure muds, and (5) the Venus ovata community inhabiting heterogeneous muds. However, Picard [27] had already proposed a different classification for the Provençal coast: (1) well-sorted fine sand community associated with fine sands, (2) coastal detritic and muddy detritic communities associated with muddy sands, and (3) terrigenous coastal mud community associated with pure muds. Most recently Labrune et al. [28] accomplished the correspondence between the communities identified by Guille [26] and the ones described by Picard [27], together with the communities found during another study carried out between the French-Spanish border and the mouth of the Rhône River. They concluded that there were three different polychaete assemblages associated with depth and sediment granulometry in the Gulf of Lion (Northwestern Mediterranean): (1) littoral fine sand assemblages at 10-20 m depth, (2) littoral sandy mud assemblages at 30 m depth, and (3) terrigenous coastal mud assemblages at 40-50 m depth. In accordance with the knowledge on assemblages' composition in Catalonia [29-32], the last classification was adopted in the present study.

The Catalan coast is a densely populated area where tourism, agricultural, urban development, and industrial activities are the most important land uses [33, http://www.creaf.uab.es; http://www.gencat.net]. The major sources of pollution currently affecting the Catalan coasts are (1) wastewater effluents derived from the

increasing population and urban settlements [34], (2) discharges of nutrients and organic matter coming from agriculture and aquaculture activities [35–38], and (3) pollutants coming from industrial development [39–41] mainly associated with big cities (Barcelona and Tarragona). All of these pollution factors discharge close to the coastline deteriorating water quality and changing assemblages' composition. Although the most affected assemblages should be those found at shallow bottoms (littoral fine sands), because of the hydrodynamic conditions and hydromorphological features, the most confined sediments are located at deeper depths (littoral sandy muds) where fine sediments, organic matter, and pollutants accumulate [42–48].

The main objectives of this study were (1) to assess the ES of Catalan coastal waters using MEDOCC applied to macroinvertebrate assemblages inhabiting both littoral fine sand (shallow) and littoral sandy mud (deep) sediments, (2) to explore the temporal quality changes from 2002 to 2010 in shallow assemblages and from 2007 to 2009 in deepwater assemblages, and (3) to compare the ES results based on shallow and deepwater habitats.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Data Series

Sediment samples for biological and sedimentological analysis were collected along the Catalan coast (Fig. 1) in June–July at 57 (2002), 19 (2003), 54 (2007), and 44 (2010) locations as a part of an environmental monitoring program to accomplish WFD requirements. The selection of sites in 2002 was made according to a design devoted to assess the ES of coastal WBs following WFD requirements. Samples collected in 2003 were focused in the most disturbed areas (hotspots) of Catalonia such as the mouth of Besòs and Llobregat rivers, the shores of Barcelona and Tarragona, and surrounding areas. The information provided by the samples of these 2 years was used to create a preliminary monitoring network in 2007 and a definitive network of locations composed of 44 sites sampled in 2010. All samples (174) were collected in shallow (less than 20 m depth) soft bottoms corresponding to the littoral fine sand habitat [28]. However, aiming both to assess the ES in areas where littoral fine sands were not present and to compare the ES of a WB at different depths, two supplementary surveys were carried out in 2007 and 2009 in deeper sediments (20–35 m depth), corresponding to the littoral sandy mud habitat [28]: 29 sites in 2007 and 7 sites in 2009. Geographical coordinates and sampling depth were recorded at each site.

Two replicate samples were collected at each location with a van Veen grab (600 cm^2) . Sediments were sieved through a 0.5 mm sized mesh and preserved in a 4% buffered formaldehyde solution with Rose Bengal. The fauna was sorted and identified to species level (or higher taxonomic ranks if not possible) at the



Fig. 1 Locations assessed with MEDOCC index along the Catalan coast (Northwestern Mediterranean) belonging to fine sediments of littoral fine sand (\bullet) and littoral sandy mud (\star) assemblages

laboratory. Abundances (number of individuals) were estimated for each taxa to characterize the assemblages and to assess the ES. MEDOCC index was applied at each sample, but mean values were used to assess the ES both at each site and WBs in every period.

For each grab, two additional subsamples were obtained: one for determination of grain particles size and organic matter content and the other to analyze heavy metal concentrations. The subsamples were stored at -20° C until processing. Sediment was submitted to the standard dry-sediment procedure for granulometric analysis [49]. Seven classes were considered [50]: mud (<63 µm), very fine sand (63–125 µm), fine sand (125–250 µm), medium sand (250–500 µm), coarse sand (500–750 µm), very coarse sand (750–1,000 µm), and gravel (>1,000 µm). Median Particle Diameter (MPD) and percentage of Silt-Clay (SC, sediment <63 µm) were used to characterize the sediments. Organic Matter (OM) content of sediment was

estimated as loss of weight after ashing for 5 h at 450°C. Heavy metals analyzed in both habitats were Al, Cd, Cu, Hg, Pb, V, and Zn. Arsenic, Cr, Fe, Ni, and Se were also analyzed in deep habitats. Under the WFD's requirements [51], Cd, Cu, Hg, Ni, and Pb are considered priority substances. Metals concentrations were determined weighing amounts of about 0.1 g of freeze dried sediment following the method-ological procedure described in Pinedo et al. [41].

2.2 MEDOCC (MEDiterranean OCCidental) Index

MEDOCC index [22] was developed for Western Mediterranean soft-bottom macroinvertebrate assemblages aiming at avoiding the drawbacks of other indices. Although MEDOCC was inspired by AMBI [52], discrepancies with this index arose in the number of EGs, the assignment of species to an EG and the different abundance patterns of the EGs along the disturbance gradient in the study area. MEDOCC is based on the degree of sensitivity/tolerance of species to organic enrichment and was summarized into four categories or EGs: sensitive, indifferent, tolerant, and opportunistic. Assignments of every taxa to an EG is based on knowledge available in literature [e.g., 30, 53–56] and expert judgment. Assignments of taxa to EGs provided in AMBI (http://ambi.azti.es) and Bentix (http://www.hcmr.gr) indices have been also taken into account and incorporated or changed according to expert judgment.

MEDOCC index is calculated as following:

 $MEDOCC = (0 \times \%EGI + 2 \times \%EGII + 4 \times \%EGIII + 6 \times \%EGIV)/100 \quad (1)$

where EGI, EGII, EGIII, and EGIV correspond to sensitive, indifferent, tolerant, and opportunistic taxa, respectively.

Index values can vary between 0 (only sensitive taxa are present) and 6 (only opportunistic taxa are present).

2.2.1 Boundaries

Boundaries between ES are not predefined in MEDOCC as their selection depends on the distribution pattern of the four EGs along the increasing values of the index itself [22]. The response of EGs along increasing values of MEDOCC index for littoral fine sands was analyzed with samples from 2002, 2003, 2007, and 2010 (Fig. 2) obtaining a result very similar to that obtained by the authors during the development of the index [22]. Moreover, the comparison between this figure and the pattern described by Borja et al. [52] for Atlantic waters shows the same differences observed in Pinedo et al. [22], being the most remarkable the position of EGIII with respect to the curves of the rest of EGs. Sensitive taxa (EGI) were present throughout all the values of MEDOCC, indifferent taxa (EGII) always



Fig. 2 MEDOCC values according to the percentages of the different Ecological Groups (EGs) for the littoral fine sand assemblages in Catalonia. Data from 2002, 2003, 2007, and 2010 are included. *EGI* sensitive species, *EGII* indifferent species, *EGIII* tolerant species, and *EGIV* opportunistic species. *Vertical lines* show boundaries between the different Ecological Status (ES). *H* high ES, *G* good ES, *M* moderate ES, *P* poor ES, and *B* bad

Table 1 Boundary values	Ecological Status	Boundaries (0–6)	Boundaries (1–0)
delimiting the five ES classes in Catalonia for littoral fine	High/good	1.60	0.73
sand and sandy mud habitats	Good/moderate	3.20	0.47
	Moderate/poor	4.77	0.20
	Poor/bad	5.50	0.08

coexisted with sensitive taxa, and tolerant taxa (EGIII) were more associated with the presence of opportunistic taxa (EGIV). However, in Atlantic waters the EGIII was more associated with the presence of sensitive taxa [52]. Because the obtained patterns are similar to that in Pinedo et al. [22], the same boundaries defining the five levels (high, good, moderate, poor, and bad) of ES required by the WFD were assigned (Table 1) following Pinedo et al. [22].

MEDOCC index was aimed at describing and suggesting the way to establish boundaries for ecological classes based on the composition of the assemblages in terms of relative EG abundances, instead of proposing fixed and rigid values [22]. Thus, to assess the ES of the Catalan coastal waters based on macroinvertebrate assemblages thriving in littoral sandy muds, a new distribution pattern of EGs was represented (Fig. 3). The most relevant difference between Figs. 2 and 3 is the short gradient of MEDOCC values observed for deepwater assemblages. Moreover, while sensitive taxa dominate shallow water assemblages (mean = 55%), tolerant species dominate in deeper assemblages (mean = 39%). However, the shapes of the EG distribution patterns are quite similar, and the boundaries for littoral fine sands also in littoral sandy muds were used.



Fig. 3 MEDOCC values according to the percentages of the different Ecological Groups (EGs) for the littoral sandy mud assemblages in Catalonia. Data from 2007 and 2009 are included. *EGI* sensitive species, *EGII* indifferent species, *EGIII* tolerant species, *EGIV* opportunistic species. *Vertical lines* show boundaries between the different Ecological Status (ES). *H* high ES, *G* good ES, *M* moderate ES, *P* poor ES, and *B* bad

2.2.2 Reference Conditions

Reference conditions are places where anthropogenic disturbances are very low or nonexistent. In the absence of pristine areas, the use of "virtual" reference conditions [57] probably is the best approach [58–60]. During the development of MEDOCC index, sites with low anthropogenic pressures were selected; these places had no harbors, no beach regeneration, no urban sewages, no industrial activities, no fish farms, no desalination plants, and no agriculture activities, and they were at least 3 km away from the closer city with more than 1,000 inhabitants.

It is not suitable to oversimplify the approach to assess the values of the biological elements in reference conditions [61] because of the heterogeneity of habitats within the different water bodies [62]. Type-specific reference conditions must summarize the range of possibilities and values for the biological quality element over periods of time and across the geographical extent of the type [63]. In this way, clear and reliable reference conditions for each of the types (even habitat: [24]) should be determined [61]. Thus, habitat-specific reference conditions have been defined for Catalan coastal waters. The best situation (location) was selected to create a "virtual" reference condition both for littoral fine sand (shallow) and sandy mud (deep) habitats. After choosing this "best of all" situation, a new theoretical situation (as reference condition) was created where fauna composition differs depending on the habitat: the fauna is composed by (1) sensitive and indifferent taxa, with 90% EGI and 10% EGII, and a MEDOCC = 0.2 for littoral fine sand assemblages and (2) sensitive, indifferent, and tolerant taxa with 75% EGI, 15% EGII, and 10% EGIII and a MEDOCC = 0.7 for littoral sandy mud habitats.

2.2.3 EQR (Ecological Quality Ratio) Calculation

MEDOCC index as calculated in (1) varies from 0 (high ES) to 6 (bad ES) in a scale reverse to EQR scale. Following WFD requirements, the EQR values have to be calculated by rescaling MEDOCC values between 1 (high) and 0 (bad) and introducing the correction for the reference condition (MEDOCC_{ref}). Therefore, the EQR is given by:

$$EQR = 1 - \left[(MEDOCC_{obs} - MEDOCC_{ref}) / (6 - MEDOCC_{ref}) \right]$$
(2)

where $MEDOCC_{obs}$ is the MEDOCC value observed for a WB or a location and MEDOCC_{ref}, the MEDOCC value considered as the reference condition.

2.2.4 **Response to Pressures**

The existence of a good relationship between MEDOCC index and some relevant anthropogenic pressures was demonstrated in Pinedo et al. [22] for littoral fine sands. Organic matter content and LUSI (Land Uses Simplified Index [64]), as a measure of the global pressure, were used to assess the relationship between MEDOCC index and environmental pressures in littoral fine sands. MEDOCC index values increased when both LUSI and organic matter increased [22]. When testing the response of the index to OM content based on littoral sandy mud assemblages, a significant ($\rho = 0.571$; p < 0.05) relationship was also observed (Fig. 4). However, when OM > 3%, the index did not respond as expected.



3 Results

3.1 Sedimentological Variables

The results for sedimentological variables (granulometrical characteristics, organic matter content, and heavy metals concentrations) for shallow sediments are explained in Pinedo et al. [41]. The most remarkable differences compared to deepwater sediments (Table 2) were the finer fraction composition and the organic matter content. The average value of SC was 7% in shallow sediments compared to 28% in deepwater bottoms. Furthermore the MPD was obviously higher in shallow sediments (126 μ m average value) than in deeper ones (103 μ m). The interannual comparison analyzed by Pinedo et al. [41] for shallow habitats reveals that the SC decreased in 2007 in most sites sampled in 2002–2003. The year 2007 was dry compared to 2010 [41], and therefore, the inputs of freshwater material to the sea were lower. However, this general pattern was not observed for locations sampled in deep waters between 2007 and 2009. The percentage of SC increased substantially from 2007 to 2009 at sites X and Y, while at J and R decreased.

Regarding OM content, the maximum value registered in deepwater sediments was 6.7% at the mouth of Besòs River (site Q) in 2007, while 3.0% was the maximum value observed in shallow sediments during the studied period [41]. A decrease in organic matter content (with the exception of site K) was observed in deepwater sediments during 2009. However, the OM content did not change significantly during the surveys in shallow bottoms [41].

The metal concentrations in deepwater sediments did not overpass the registered values detected in shallow ones [41]. The higher values detected in the Besòs River mouth and Barcelona surrounding areas (sites Q and R) for Zn and Pb matched with those registered in shallow sediments in Pinedo et al. [41]. Mercury concentration in deepwater sediments registered the highest values both in Barcelona and Tarragona coastal sites (R, S, and Y).

3.2 Ecological Status

The ecological status provided by MEDOCC index for each location was calculated for samples with fine to mud sand sediments (Fig. 1). Samples with medium and coarse sands were excluded for ES calculation as MEDOCC index was developed to be only applied in fine sediments [22]. Moreover, samples with more than 20% of the individuals without any EG assignment were also excluded to assess the ES. Thus, from the whole dataset, 44 sites in 2002, 13 in 2003, 53 in 2007, and 39 in 2010 were used representing littoral fine sands (shallow), while 22 sites in 2007 and 6 in 2009 were used representing littoral sandy mud (deepwater) sediments (Fig. 1).

The 71% of shallow sites were rated high in 2002, 25% good, and only one site (2%) was rated moderate and another (2%) bad (Table 3). The moderate classified

latter content	more values	Values for Se	
of organic n	d (%). Two o	cal position.	
t: percentage	g except for A	th geographic	
Catalan coas	pressed as μg/	s a north-sou	
ites along the	tration are exp	e table follow	
nud studied s	metal concent	te order in the	
ttoral sandy 1	PD, µm), and	rent years. Si	
ates) at the li	diameter (M	npled in diffe	eter
of two replic	edian particle	e site was san	the spectrom
ues (average	y (SC, %), m	that the same	tion limit of
chemical valu	ige of silt-cla	a site mean	e under detec
2 Physicoc	%), percenta	variable for	to zero were
Table	(OM, 2	into a	equal 1

location (site 2) was located in the little bay of Port de la Selva, north of Girona, and the bad evaluated site was situated at the mouth of Llobregat River (site 31). Unfortunately, during the following surveys it was not possible to sample the site 31 as it was replenished of sediment up to the surface by infrastructural works in Barcelona harbor. Regarding the locations sampled in 2003, 46% were rated high, 46% were good, and only one site, located at the mouth of Besòs River (Be4), was moderate (8%). In 2007, 77% of sites were rated high, 19% good, and two sites (4%) moderate: site 5, located at the Roses Bay near the harbor, and site 31A at the mouth of Llobregat River. Finally, 67% of the locations were rated high and 33% good in 2010.

The ES comparison between years (Table 3) for shallow habitats shows that some locations remained with the ES unchanged, although variations in their EQR values were observed. However, other locations displayed remarkable changes. As mentioned above, site 2 increased the ES from moderate to high; Be4 changed progressively from moderate (2002) to good (2010), and 31A switched from moderate in 2007 to high in 2010. Other less relevant changes from high to good and vice versa were common. In general, while ES remained unchanged in the coast of Girona, the other sectors of the coast displayed a high variability.

When the MEDOCC was applied to deepwater assemblages (Table 4), most of the locations rated good in 2007 (77%) and all rated good in 2009. Comparing the ES between years for the six reassessed sites, all of them maintained the ES, but the EQR value mostly increased in 2009.

During 2007 both shallow and deep sediments were monitored. Some locations are close to each other but at different depths (Fig. 1 and Table 5). Deepwater assemblages usually showed lower EQRs than shallow water ones (Fig. 5).

When looking at the ES in WBs at shallow waters, some of them remain unchanged over time, mainly in Girona coastal waters (Table 6). However, there was a general trend to increase the EQR value in 2010 in Girona and Barcelona, while a slight decrease was observed in some WBs at the southern coast of Barcelona and in Tarragona. Only the southern section of Tarragona coast (WBs C33, C34, and C35) increased the EQR value and ES at the last survey. The most relevant shifts were, however, the increasing ES at C02 from moderate in 2002 to high ES both in 2007 and 2010 and, on the contrary, the decreasing ES changing from high (in 2002, 2003, or 2007) to good ES in 2010 at C24, C26, C29, and C32. Water bodies C12, C16, and C20 could not be compared because they were only sampled during one survey. Only two WBs (C03 and C04) were not evaluated based on shallow assemblages over time.

Regarding the assessment of ES of WBs based on deepwater assemblages, no differences were detected between 2007 and 2009 (Table 6). In this case nearly half of the total WBs were not evaluated as they were not sampled twice.

Finally, the comparison of the ES of WBs obtained based both on shallow and deepwater assemblages was possible in 14 WBs (Table 6). Although six WBs obtained the same ES, the EQR obtained in deepwater assemblages tended to be lower than that obtained in the shallowest ones. Moreover, most of the WBs rated high in shallow sediments rated good in deeper habitats. Changes in the ES

Site	WB	Year	EQR	ES		
Girona			·			
1	C01	02/07/10	0.90/0.91/0.96	Н	Н	Н
2	C02	02/07/10	0.44/0.94/0.83	М	Н	Н
2I1	C02	07	0.85		Н	
2I2	C02	07	0.85		Н	
3	C05	02	0.84	Н		
3A	C05	07	0.75		Н	
4A	C06	07/10	0.81/0.80		Н	Н
4	C06	02/07/10	0.71/0.53/0.75	G	G	Н
5	C07	02/07/10	0.71/0.46/0.69	G	М	G
6	C07	02/07/10	0.69/0.75/0.71	G	Н	G
6A	C07	07/10	0.75/0.75		Н	Н
7	C08	02/07	0.79/0.77	Н	Н	
8	C09	02/07/10	0.79/0.78/0.90	Н	Н	Н
10	C11	02/07/10	0.70/0.96/0.93	G	Н	Н
10A	C11	07	0.76		Н	
11A	C12	07	0.89		Н	
13	C14	02/07	0.87/0.88	Н	Н	
16	C14	02/07/10	0.70/0.74/0.84	G	Н	Н
17	C14	02/07	0.88/0.90	Н	Н	
18	C14	02/07/10	0.95/0.92/0.94	Н	Н	Н
20A	C14	07/10	0.89/0.87		Н	Н
Barcelond	1					
22	C16	02	0.84	Н		
24	C16	02	0.93	Н		
27	C18	02	0.87	Н		
Be1	C18	03/07/10	0.72/0.70/0.71	G	G	G
Be4	C19	03/07/10	0.29/0.58/0.71	М	G	G
B1	C19	03/07	0.80/0.79	Н	Н	
30	C20	02	0.78	Н		
31	Land	02	0.07	В		
Ll1	Land	03	0.52	G		
Ll2	Land	03	0.71	G		
31A	C21	07/10	0.45/0.86		М	H
Ll2A	C21	07/10	0.74/0.81		Н	H
Ll3	C22	03	0.76	Н		
32	C22	02	0.88	Н		
33	C22	02/07/10	0.84/0.82/0.93	Н	Н	н

0.76

0.81

C22

C22

03

02

Ll4

34

 Table 3 Ecological Quality Ratio (EQR) and Ecological Quality Status (ES) of littoral fine sand

(continued)

Η

Н

Site	WB	Year	EQR	ES		
35A	C22	07/10	0.73/0.87		G	Н
35	C22	02/07/10	0.59/0.68/0.71	G	G	G
G1	C23	03	0.70	G		
G2	C23	03/07	0.72/0.72	G	G	
36	C23	02	0.88	Н		
G3	C23	03	0.82	Н		
37	C23	02/07/10	0.87/0.93/0.75	H	Н	Н
G4	C23	03	0.67	G		
38	C24	02/07/10	0.71/0.94/0.73	G	Н	G
Tarragon	а					
39	C25	02/07/10	0.89/1.02/0.83	Н	Н	H
40	C25	02	0.75	H		
41	C25	02/07/10	0.80/0.82/0.89	H	Н	Н
41A	C25	07	0.81		Н	
41B	C25	07	0.86		Н	
42	C25	02/07/10	0.80/0.88/0.65	Н	Н	G
42A	C25	07	0.77		Н	
42B	C25	07	0.85		Н	
43	C26	02	0.89	H		
44	C26	02/07/10	0.87/0.86/0.73	Н	Н	G
T1	C27	03/07/10	0.87/0.88/0.61	H	Н	G
T2	C27	03	0.94	Н		
45	C27	02/07/10	0.93/0.92/0.91	H	Н	Н
46	C28	02/07/10	0.88/0.88/0.75	Н	Н	Н
47A	C29	07/10	0.80/0.58		Н	G
47	C30	02/07/10	0.86/0.88/0.81	Н	Н	Н
48	C30	02/07/10	0.85/0.90/0.71	H	Н	G
49	C31	02/07/10	0.70/0.84/0.92	G	Н	Н
50	C31	02	0.84	H		
51	C31	02/07/10	0.82/0.89/0.72	Н	Н	G
52	C32	02/07/10	0.76/0.89/0.90	Н	Н	H
53	C32	02/07/10	0.69/0.71/0.50	G	G	G
55	C33	02/07/10	0.72/0.80/0.93	G	Н	Н
56	C33	02/07/10	0.64/0.59/0.75	G	G	Н
57	C34	02/07/10	0.89/0.68/1.00	Н	G	Н
60	C35	02/07/10	0.76/0.58/0.76	Н	G	Н

Table 3 (continued)

classification usually follow one of these three different patterns: (1) same evaluation in 2007 both in shallow and deepwater sediments (good ES), but increased to high ES in 2010 only for shallow habitats (C21); (2) different ES in 2007 for both habitats (high ES in shallow assemblages and good ES in deeper ones), but in some cases the ES of shallow sediments decreased to good ES in 2010 (C26 and C29),

Table 4 Ecological Quality	Site	WB	Year	EQR	ES			
Ratio (EQR) and Ecological	Girona				1			
sandy mud samples	С	C06	07	0.67	G			
in Catalonia	D	C07	07	0.62	G			
(NW Mediterranean Sea) for	Е	C08	07	0.61	G			
2007 and 2009. WB: water	F	C10	07	0.77	Н			
body in which the sample is	G	C11	07	0.95	Н			
ES, <i>M</i> moderate ES, <i>B</i> bad ES	Н	C12	07	0.85	Н			
	Barcelo	na						
	Ι	C15	07	0.62	G			
	J	C15	07/09	0.53/0.59	G	G		
	K	C15	07/09	0.57/0.57	G	G		
	Р	C17	07	0.91	Н			
	Q	C19	07/09	0.54/0.63	G	G		
	R	C19	07/09	0.52/0.61	G	G		
	S	C20	07	0.57	G			
	Т	C21	07/09	0.50/0.51	G	G		
	U	C23	07	0.60	G			
	Tarragona							
	V	C25	07	0.63	G			
	W	C26	07	0.57	G			
	Х	C27	07	0.53	G			
	Y	C27	07/09	0.56/0.65	G	G		
	Z	C27	07	0.89	Η			
	AB	C29	07	0.56	G			
	AD	C33	07	0.64	G			

reaching the same ES than deepwater assemblages; and (3) the ES of shallow sediments maintained high in 2010 (C23, C25, and C27). The case observed at C27 was the most notable as high ES was always obtained in shallow waters, while good ES was assessed in deeper ones.

4 Discussion

The application of MEDOCC index both in shallow and deepwater soft-bottom assemblages in coastal waters from Catalonia shows that the distribution of EGs frequency is quite similar even though the habitats are different, the shallow ones corresponding to littoral fine sands and the deep ones corresponding to littoral sandy muds. However, although the patterns are similar, the EGII and EGIII reach slightly higher values in deep waters. Conversely, EGI is higher in shallow assemblages than in deeper ones. The dominance of sensitive taxa (mean average value = 55%) in shallow assemblages and of tolerant species (mean average

Table 5 Site comparability	Littoral fine sands	Littoral sandy muds
(shallow) and sandy mud (deep) assemblages in the 2007 survey	4A, 4	С
	5	D
	7	E
	10, 10A	G
	11A	Н
	Be4	Q
	B1	R
	LI2A	Т
	G2	U
	41, 41A, 41B	V
	45	X, Y
	47A	AB
	56	AD



Fig. 5 Comparison of EQR values obtained applying MEDOCC index at littoral fine sand (\diamond) and sandy mud (\bigcirc) assemblages sited close to each other during 2007 survey. *Horizontal lines* show boundaries between the different Ecological Status (ES). *H* high ES, *G* good ES, *M* moderate ES, *P* poor ES, and *B* bad

value = 39%) in deep assemblages seems to be related to the organic matter enrichment observed in the littoral sandy muds typical of deep waters. Moreover, opportunistic species contribute considerably in deepwater assemblages (mean average value = 8%), which is again related to the higher OM content. Species can either actively respond to the increase in OM or remain indifferent. Moreover, the presence of tolerant and opportunistic species, deposit-feeder organisms mainly,

Table 6 Ecological Quality Ratio (EQR) and Ecological Quality Status (ES) of Catalan water bodies from 2002 to 2010 for littoral fine sand and sandy mud assemblages. *WB* water body. *H* high ES, *G* good ES, *M* moderate ES, *B* bad ES

	Littoral fine sand					Littoral sandy mud				
WB	Year	EQR	ES				Year	EQR	ES	
Giron	а									
C01	02/07/10	0.90/0.91/0.96	H		Н	H				\square
C02	02/07/10	0.44/0.88/0.83	M		Н	H				
C03										
C04										
C05	02/07	0.84/0.75	Н		Н					
C06	02/07/10	0.71/0.67/0.78	G		G	H	07	0.67	G	
C07	02/07/10	0.70/0.66/0.72	G		G	G	07	0.62	G	
C08	02/07	0.79/0.77	Н		Н		07	0.61	G	
C09	02/07/10	0.79/0.78/0.90	Н		Н	Н				
C10							07	0.77	Н	
C11	02/07/10	0.70/0.86/0.93	G		Н	Н	07	0.95	Н	
C12	07	0.89			Н		07	0.85	Н	
C14	02/07/10	0.85/0.87/0.88	Н		Н	Н				
Barce	lona									
C15							07/09	0.58/0.58	G	G
C16	02	0.88	Н							
C17							07	0.91	Н	
C18	02/03/07/10	0.87/0.72/0.70/0.71	Н	G	G	G				
C19	03/07/10	0.54/0.68/0.71		G	G	G	07/09	0.53/0.62	G	G
C20	02	0.78	Н				07	0.57	G	
C21	02/03/07/10	0.07/0.62/0.60/0.83	В	G	G	Н	07/09	0.50/0.51	G	G
C22	02/03/07/10	0.78/0.76/0.74/0.84	Н	Н	Н	Н				
C23	02/03/07/10	0.88/0.73/0.83/0.75	Н	G	Н	Н	07	0.60	G	
C24	02/07/10	0.71/0.94/0.73	G		Н	G				
Tarra	gona									
C25	02/07/10	0.81/0.86/0.79	H		Н	H	07	0.63	G	
C26	02/07/10	0.88/0.86/0.73	H		Н	G	07	0.57	G	
C27	02/03/07/10	0.93/0.90/0.90/0.76	H	H	Н	H	07/09	0.66/0.65	G	G
C28	02/07/10	0.88/0.88/0.75	H		Н	H				
C29	07/10	0.80/0.58			Н	G	07	0.56	G	
C30	02/07/10	0.85/0.89/0.76	H		H	H				
C31	02/07/10	0.79/0.86/0.82	H		Н	H				
C32	02/07/10	0.72/0.80/0.70	G		H	G				
C33	02/07/10	0.68/0.70/0.84	G		G	Η	07	0.64	G	
C34	02/07/10	0.89/0.68/1.00	Η		G	Η				
C35	02/07/10	0.76/0.58/0.76	H		G	Η				

induces an intense bioturbation [65], which would contribute to the settlement of indifferent species that are always present in low densities.

The different SC between shallow sands and deep sandy muds would determine the amount of OM trapped in the sediment. The maximum value for OM in shallow sediments is 3%, although the majority of sediments did not overcome the 2% [41]; on the contrary, OM content is usually around 4% in deepwater sediments. Both factors, SC and OM content, have been reported to affect directly the species composition of the assemblages [2, 28, 66] and the structure of polychaete assemblages both in the Mediterranean Sea [67, 68] and elsewhere [69, 70]. Thus, the different frequency of EGs depending on the habitats seems to be related to the SC and OM in the sediment.

When regarding the dominance of EGs in the three coastal sectors (Girona, Barcelona, and Tarragona), different compositions were also observed depending on the habitats. In shallow waters the higher dominance of sensitive taxa in Girona and Tarragona could be related to less disturbed habitats than those from Barcelona, where a decrease in sensitive taxa in behalf of increasing opportunistic species is observed. In deepwater habitats tolerant taxa dominate both in Barcelona and Tarragona, and the abundance of opportunistic species represents the 11% and 7%, respectively. In general, the EG composition indicates that the most structured assemblages are observed in Girona, while the most fluctuating ones related to disturbed habitats are found in Barcelona. This observation is reflected in the ES results as the minimal interannual variation of the ES was observed in Girona, while it was higher in Barcelona and Tarragona.

The MEDOCC index can be applied to littoral sandy muds, but we found a weak, although significant, response to OM enrichment as already noted by Pinedo et al. [22]. MEDOCC indices never exceed 3.5 (Fig. 4), even at OM content higher than 3%. However, similar or worse responses are observed with other indices such as AMBI ($\rho = 0.374$; p < 0.05) or BOPA ([71]; $\rho = 0.349$; n.s.) when they are applied to our data and related to the OM gradient.

Outputs from rivers, such as Besòs, Llobregat, and Ebre, result in an increase in the SC and OM of superficial sediments in Catalan coasts [41, 44, 72, 73]. Disturbed shallow water assemblages have been observed close to the mouths of the Besòs (site Be4 in 2003) and Llobregat rivers (31 in 2002 and 31A in 2007). The SC at these locations is high enough to harbor high levels of OM although it does not reach the 2%. The worst classified site located in the nearshore area of Llobregat River (site 31) registered only 1% of OM content in the sediments, but the abundance of the opportunistic polychaete Capitella capitata was extremely high $(2,783 \text{ individuals in } 600 \text{ cm}^2)$. The elevated abundance of this species is responsible for the bad ES assessment. Kinoshita et al. [74] observed that in a process of rapid population growth of Capitella, the decomposition of organic matter in the sediment was enhanced. During 2003 the area was monitored by sampling the location Ll1 that rated good, with an EQR value equal to 0.52. The shift from an EQR of 0.07 in 2002 to 0.52 in 2003 shows a significant progress in the ES in only 1 year. The improvement of wastewater systems and the construction of a sewage effluent offshore since 2002–2003 in Llobregat River (http://www.gencat.net [75]) should be responsible for the improvement. Unfortunately it was not possible to resample neither location 31 nor L11 during the following surveys because of the infrastructural works in the Barcelona harbor and surrounding areas and the deviation of the Llobregat River mouth in 2004. The increasing EQR observed in the mouth of Besòs River (Be4) over time, matching with an improvement of the ES since 2003, seems to be related to the implementation of a new wastewater system in 2005 [75]. Thus, MEDOCC index detects highly polluted environments when they are present.

Other factors, such as exceptional raining periods and storms, also increase the inputs of SC and OM. The SC at site 2 changed from 23% in 2002 to less than 1% in 2007, and OM content decreased also from 2002 to 2007 [41], which points to a period of heavy rain registered in 2002 (http://www.gencat.net). Thus, natural factors can also change the composition of the assemblages and consequently EG frequencies and ES.

Both the morphology of the continental shelves and the energy of the hydrodynamic processes in the Northwestern Mediterranean allow the accumulation of sedimentary deposits around the mouths of most rivers [40, 76] where not only fine sediments and OM are deposited but also heavy metals. Some of the locations are subjected to heavy metals pollution [41], which also affect the biota [77–80], increasing the abundance of tolerant and opportunistic species at the most disturbed locations. The moderate ES observed in site 5 in 2007, although with an EQR value close to the boundary between moderate and good, demonstrates that the index detects the increase not only in OM but also in Zn and Cu concentrations registered in 2007 [41].

Although the 2003 survey was designed to assess the ES at potentially highly disturbed areas, only one location was classified as moderate at the mouth of Besòs River (Be4). This result indicates that many pressures related to the industrial activity acting in this area [40] do not origin a high impact on macroinvertebrate assemblages on the shallow soft-bottom habitats. Neither in 2007 nor in 2010, the shallow samples were significantly disturbed as only two locations – site 5 mentioned above and site 31A sited at the southern area of the new Llobregat River mouth – were rated moderate in 2007. Moreover, in 2010 the ES increased again changing from moderate to good at the first location and to high at the second. The conclusion is that there is an improvement in the ES since 2002 in shallow coastal sediments, although many sites get worse from high ES to good ES in 2010. Future monitoring programs are needed to explore this decline in ES.

Our data also suggests that the ecological quality of macroinvertebrate assemblages in deep waters is always worse than that observed for the shallowest sediments, but also less variable over time. The accumulation of fine sediments and OM in deepwater bottoms enhances the presence of tolerant and opportunistic species. Likewise, deepwater habitats are more stable environments than the shallowest ones, and assemblages suffer few changes in species abundance and composition determining less variability in the ES.

Another factor that can affect MEDOCC values is recruitment. As the index is calculated based on the abundance (number of individuals) of the four EGs, very

high abundances of recruits or juveniles of one species belonging to a particular EG affects to the frequency of the rest of the groups. Thus, natural and intrinsic events of the populations themselves are able to change the ES results as they have to the dataset the same effect of a perturbation when recruits belong to tolerant or opportunistic species. Thus, it is possible to find erroneous disturbed situations during recruitment periods although they quickly recover in the post-recruitment period [3, 30]. On the contrary, better ES would be assessed when recruits belong to sensitive organisms. In fact, the seasonal dynamics of shallow soft-bottom macroinfaunal assemblages in the southern coast of Girona (Blanes Bay) exhibited a very predictive annual cycle, with abundances rising sharply during spring, followed by a striking drop through summer and showing lower values during autumn and winter [29, 30, 32]. Our sampling surveys were performed in June–July to avoid recruitment events [29].

It is relevant that there is no location/water body in default risk of WFD requirements in 2010, at least regarding soft-bottom macroinvertebrates as biological quality elements, both in shallow and deepwater habitats. Only two WBs (C03 and C04) located in the Cap de Creus (northern coast of Girona) have not been evaluated in this study as the habitats (littoral fine sands or sandy muds) are lacking [81]. Other locations have been sampled only occasionally, but in our opinion this does not affect the big picture.

In conclusion, regarding macroinvertebrate soft-bottom assemblages inhabiting both littoral fine sand and sandy mud habitats, there is no water body in default risk of WFD requirements in 2010 in the Catalan coast. It seems that the wastewater management is effective enough to maintain at least a good ES for the WBs and thus Catalonia being compliant with the WFD objectives by 2010. However, future monitoring programs are needed to explore if the ES obtained in 2010 is preserved at present.

Acknowledgments Acknowledgements are due to Agència Catalana de l'Aigua and to the Govern de les Illes Balears, for providing the funding for the development of MEDOCC index. We are especially grateful to Agència Catalana de l'Aigua and Intramural-CSIC project reference 201330E065 for providing funds for this study. The authors are grateful to R. Arévalo, N. Fernández, M. M. Flagella, M. García, P. López, S. Mariani, M. P. Mura, M. P. Satta, M. Terradas, X. Torras, and B. Weitzmann for their help in the field and in sorting and identifying samples. We also acknowledge J. Gil, S. Mariani, M. P. Mura, and M. P. Satta in the identification of species. Finally thanks are due to M. de Torres for her constant support during this study.

References

- 1. EC (2000) Water Framework Directive. Directive 2000/60/EC, p 72
- 2. Pearson TH, Rosenberg R (1978) Macrobenthic succession in relation to organic enrichment and pollution of marine environment. Oceanogr Mar Biol Annu Rev 16:229–311
- Dauer DM, Luckenbach MW, Rodi AJ Jr (1993) Abundance biomass comparison (ABC method): effects of an estuarine gradient, anoxic/hypoxic events and contaminated sediments. Mar Biol 116:507–518

- 4. Tapp JF, Shillabeer N, Ashman CM (1993) Continued observations of the benthic fauna of the industrialised Tees estuary, 1979–1990. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 172:67–80
- 5. Levin SA (2000) Multiple scales and the maintenance of biodiversity. Ecosystems 3:498-506
- 6. Dauvin JC, Bellan G, Bellan-Santini D (2010) Benthic indicators: from subjectivity to objectivity where is the line? Mar Pollut Bull 60:947–953
- Kröncke I, Reiss H (2010) Influence of macrofauna long-term natural variability on benthic indices used in ecological quality assessment. Mar Pollut Bull 60:58–68
- Weisberg SB, Ranasinghe JA, Dauer DM, Schaffner LC, Diaz RJ, Frithsen JB (1997) An estuarine benthic index of biotic integrity (B-IBI) for Chesapeake Bay. Estuaries 20:149–158
- 9. Rosenberg R (2001) Marine benthic fauna successional stages and related sedimentary activity. Sci Mar 65:107–119
- Pinto R, Patricio J, Baeta A, Fath BD, Neto JM, Marques JC (2009) Review and evaluation of estuarine biotic indices to assess benthic condition. Ecol Indic 9:1–25
- Rhoads DC, Yingst JY, Ullman WJ (1978) Seafloor stability in central Long Island Sound. Part

 Temporal changes in erodibility of fine-grain sediment. In: Wiley ML (ed) Estuarine
 interactions. Academic, New York, pp 221–244
- 12. Majeed SA (1987) Organic matter and biotic indices on the beaches of north Brittany. Mar Pollut Bull 18:490–495
- Diaz RJ, Cutter GR Jr, Dauer DM (2003) A comparison of two methods for estimating the status of benthic habitat quality in the Virginia Chesapeake Bay. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 285–286:371–381
- 14. Grémare A, Labrune C, Vanden Berghe E, Amouroux JM, Bachelet G, Zettler ML, Vanaverbeke J, Fleischer D, Bigot L, Maire O, Deflandre B, Craeymeersch J, Degraer S, Dounas C, Duineveld G, Heip C, Herrmann M, Hummel H, Karakassis I, Kedra M, Kendall M, Kingston P, Laudien J, Occhipinti-Ambrogi A, Rachor E, Sardà R, Speybroeck J, Van Hoey G, Vincx M, Whomersley P, Willems W, Wlodarska-Kowalczuk M, Zenetos A (2009) Comparison of the performances of two biotic indices based on the MacroBen database. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 382:297–311
- Bustos-Baez S, Frid C (2003) Using indicator species to assess the state of macrobenthic communities. Hydrobiologia 496:299–309
- Rosenberg R, Blomqvist M, Nilsson C, Cederwall H, Dimming A (2004) Marine quality assessment by use of benthic species-abundance distributions: a proposed new protocol within the European Union Water Framework Directive. Mar Pollut Bull 49:728–739
- Dauvin JC (2007) Paradox of estuarine quality: benthic indicators and indices, consensus or debate for the future. Mar Pollut Bull 55:271–281
- Bigot L, Grémare A, Amouroux J-M, Frouin P, Maire O, Gaertner JC (2008) Assessment of the ecological quality status of soft-bottoms in Reunion Island (tropical Southwest Indian Ocean) using AZTI marine biotic indices. Mar Pollut Bull 56:704–722
- 19. Gillett DJ, Weisberg SB, Grayson T, Hamilton A, Hansen V, Leppo EW, Pelletier MC, Borja A, Cadien D, Dauer D, Diaz R, Dutch M, Hyland JL, Kellogg M, Larsen PF, Levinton JS, Llansó R, Lovell LL, Montagna PA, Pasko D, Phillips CA, Rakocinski CJ, Ranasinghe A, Sanger DM, Teixeira H, Van Dolah RF, Velarde RG, Welch KI (2015) Effect of ecological group classification schemes on performance of the AMBI benthic index in US coastal waters. Ecol Indic 50:99–107
- 20. Teixeira H, Borja A, Weisberg SB, Ananda Ranasinghe J, Cadien DB, Dauer DM, Dauvin JC, Degraer S, Diaz RJ, Grémare A, Karakassis I, Llansó RJ, Lovell LL, Marques JC, Montagne DE, Occhipinti-Ambrogi A, Rosenberg R, Sardá R, Schaffner LC, Velarde RG (2010) Assessing coastal benthic macrofauna community condition using best professional judgement developing consensus across North America and Europe. Mar Pollut Bull 60:589–600
- Pinedo S, Jordana E, Salas F, Subida MD, García Adiego E, Torres J (2012) Testing MEDOCC and BOPA indices in shallow soft-bottom communities in the Spanish Mediterranean coastal waters. Ecol Indic 19:98–105

- 22. Pinedo S, Jordana E, Ballesteros E (2014) A critical analysis on the response of macroinvertebrate communities along disturbance gradients: description of MEDOCC (mediterranean occidental) index. Mar Ecol. doi:10.1111/maec.12126
- 23. Carvalho S, Barata M, Pereira F, Gaspar MB, Cancela da Fonseca L, Pousão-Ferreira P (2006) Distribution patterns of macrobenthic species in relation to organic enrichment within aquaculture earthen ponds. Mar Pollut Bull 52:1573–1584
- 24. Blanchet H, Lavesque N, Ruellet T, Dauvin JC, Sauriau PG, Desroy N, Desclaux C, Leconte M, Bachelet G, Janson AL, Bessineton C, Duhamel S, Jourde J, Mayot S, Simon S, de Montaudouin X (2008) Use of biotic indices in semi-enclosed coastal ecosystems and transitional waters habitats—implications for the implementation of the European Water Framework Directive. Ecol Indic 8:360–372
- 25. Munari C, Mistri M (2010) Towards the application of the Water Framework Directive in Italy: assessing the potential of benthic tools in Adriatic coastal transitional ecosystems. Mar Pollut Bull 60:1040–1050
- 26. Guille A (1971) Bionomie benthique du plateu continental de la côte catalane française. IV. Densités, biomasses et variations saisonnières de la macrofaune. Vie Milieu 22:93–158
- 27. Picard J (1965) Rechèrches qualitatives sur les biocenoses marines de substrats meubles dragables de la region merseillaise. Rec Trav St Mar Endoume 36:1–160
- Labrune C, Grémare A, Amouroux JM, Sardá R, Gil J, Taboada S (2007) Assessment of softbottom polychaete assemblages in the Gulf of Lions (NW Mediterranean) based on a mesoscale survey. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 71:133–147
- 29. Pinedo S, Sardá R, Martin D (1996) Seasonal dynamics and structure of soft-bottom assemblages in Blanes Bay (NW Mediterranean Sea). In: Duarte CM (ed) Seasonality in Blanes Bay: a paradigm of the Northwest Mediterranean Littoral. Publicaciones del Instituto Español de Oceanografía, p 22
- 30. Pinedo S (1998) Structure and dynamics of Western Mediterranean soft-bottom communities along a disturbance gradient. Natural and man-induced variability in the Bay of Blanes. Ph.D. thesis, Universitat de Barcelona
- 31. Grémare A, Sardá R, Medernach L, Jordana E, Pinedo S, Amouroux JM, Martin D, Nozais C, Charles F (1998) On the dramatic increase of *Ditrupa arietina* O.F. Muller (Annelida: Polychaeta) along both the French and the Spanish Catalan coasts. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 47:447–458
- 32. Sardá R, Pinedo S, Martin D (1999) Seasonal dynamics of macroinfaunal key species inhabiting shallow soft-bottoms in the Bay of Blanes (NW Mediterranean). Acta Oecol 20:315–326
- 33. Pinedo S, García M, Satta MP, Torres M, Ballesteros E (2007) Rocky-shore communities as indicators of water quality: a case study in the Northwestern Mediterranean. Mar Pollut Bull 55:126–135
- 34. Blasco J, González-Mazo E, Tovar-Sánchez A (2009) Urban pressures of the Spanish Mediterranean coasts: ecotoxicological and ecological issues in marine ecosystems. In: Angelidis M, Briand F, Cadiou J-F, Kholeif S, Oh J, Rodríguez-Baena A, Scoullos M (eds) Impact of large coastal Mediterranean cities on marines ecosystems. Workshop proceedings, Alexandria, pp 51–56
- 35. Olivos A, Masó M, Camp J (2002) Continental runoff of nutrients and their possible influence over stoichiometrical relations (DIN:P:Si) in the Northwest Mediterranean waters. Cienc Mar 28:393–406
- 36. Agència Catalana de l'Aigua (2005) Caracterització de masses d'aigua i anàlisi de risc d'incompliment dels objectius de la Directiva Marc de l'Aigua (2000/60/CE) a Catalunya (conques intra i intercomunitàries). Aigües costaneres i de transició. Generalitat de Catalunya. Departament de Medi Ambient i Habitatge. http://www.gencat.net
- 37. Agència Catalana de l'Aigua (2010) Estat de le masses d'aigua a Catalunya 2007–2009. Resultats del programa de Seguiment i control. Generalitat de Catalunya. Departament de Medi Ambient i Habitatge. http://www.gencat.net

- Flo E, Garcés E, Manzanera M, Camp J (2011) Coastal inshore waters in the NW Mediterranean: physicochemical and biological characterization and management implications. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 93:279–289
- Palanques A, Sánchez-Cabeza JA, Masqué P, León L (1998) Historical record of heavy metals in a highly contaminated Mediterranean deposit: the Besos prodelta. Mar Chem 61:209–217
- 40. Palanques A, Masqué P, Puig P, Sánchez-Cabeza JA, Frignani M, Alvisi F (2008) Anthropogenic trace metals in the sedimentary record of the Llobregat continental shelf and adjacent Foix Submarine Canyon (Northwestern Mediterranean). Mar Geol 248:213–227
- 41. Pinedo S, Jordana E, Flagella MM, Ballesteros E (2014) Relationships between heavy metals contamination in shallow marine sediments with industrial and urban development in Catalonia (Northwestern Mediterranean Sea). Water Air Soil Pollut 225:2084
- 42. Palanques A, Diaz JI (1990) Contaminación de metales pesados en los sedimentos superficiales de la plataforma continental de Barcelona (Mediterráneo Nooccidental). Rev Soc Geol Esp 3:357–371
- 43. Palanques A, Diaz JI, Farran ML (1995) Contamination of heavy metals in the suspended and surface sediment of the Gulf of Cadiz (Spain): the role of sources, currents, pathways and sinks. Oceanol Acta 18:469–477
- 44. Puig P, Palanques A, Sánchez-Cabeza JA, Masqué P (1999) Heavy metals in particulate matter and sediments in the southern Barcelona sedimentation system (North-western Mediterranean). Mar Chem 63:311–329
- 45. Stamatis N, Ioannidou D, Christoforidis A, Koutrakis E (2002) Sediment pollution by heavy metals in the Strymonikos and Ierissos Gulfs, North Aegean Sea, Greece. Environ Monit Assess 80:33–49
- 46. Radakovitch O, Roussiez V, Ollivier P, Ludwig W, Grenz C, Probst JL (2008) Input of particulate heavy metals from rivers and associated sedimentary deposits on the Gulf of Lion continental shelf. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 77:285–295
- Yuan H, Song J, Li X, Li N, Duan L (2012) Distribution and contamination of heavy metals in surface sediments of the South Yellow Sea. Mar Pollut Bull 64:2151–2159
- 48. Alonso Castillo ML, Sánchez Trujillo I, Vereda Alonso E, García de Torres A, Cano Pavón JM (2013) Bioavailability of heavy metals in water and sediments from a typical Mediterranean Bay (Málaga Bay, Region of Andalucía, Southern Spain). Mar Pollut Bull 76:427–434
- 49. Golterman HL, Sly PG, Thomas RL (1983) Study of the relationships between water quality and sediment transport. Technical papers in Hydrology. UNESCO, Paris, p 231
- 50. Wentworth W (1922) A scale of grade and class terms for clastic sediments. J Geol 30:377–392
- 51. EC (2008) Water Framework Directive. Directive 2008/105/EC
- 52. Borja A, Franco J, Pérez V (2000) A marine biotic index to establish the ecological quality of soft-bottom benthos within European estuarine and coastal environments. Mar Pollut Bull 40:1100–1114
- 53. Poggiale JC, Dauvin JC (2001) Long-term dynamics of three benthic Ampelisca (Crustacea-Amphipoda) populations from the Bay of Morlaix (western English Channel) related to their disappearance after the 'Amoco Cadiz' oil spill. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 214:201–209
- Guerra-García JM, Corzo J, García-Gómez JC (2003) Short-term benthic recolonization after dredging in the harbour of Ceuta, North America. Mar Ecol 24:217–229
- 55. Tataranni M, Maltagliati F, Floris A, Castelli A, Lardicci C (2009) Variance estimate and taxonomic resolution: an analysis of macrobenthic spatial patterns at different scales in a Western Mediterranean coastal lagoon. Mar Environ Res 67:219–229
- 56. de-la-Ossa-Carretero JA, Del-Pilar-Ruso Y, Giménez-Casalduero F, Sánchez-Lizaso JL, Dauvin JC (2012) Sensitivity of amphipods to sewage pollution. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 96:129–138
- 57. Vincent C, Heinrich H, Edwards A, Nygaard K, Haythornthwaite J (2002) Guidance on typology, reference conditions and classification systems for transitional and coastal waters.

Water Framework Directive Common Implementation Strategy Working Group 2.4 COAST. European Commission, p 119

- 58. Borja A, Valencia V, Franco J, Muxika I, Bald J, Belzunce MJ, Solaun O (2004) The water framework directive: water alone, or in association with sediment and biota, in determining quality standards? Mar Pollut Bull 49:8–11
- 59. Bald J, Borja A, Muxika I, Franco J, Valencia V (2005) Assessing reference conditions and physico-chemical status according to the European Water Framework Directive: a case-study from the Basque Country (Northern Spain). Mar Pollut Bull 50:1508–1522
- 60. Borja A, Dauer DM, Grémare A (2012) The importance of setting targets and reference conditions in assessing marine ecosystem quality. Ecol Indic 12:1–7
- Borja A, Muxika I, Rodríguez JG (2009) Paradigmatic responses of marine benthic communities to different anthropogenic pressures, using M-AMBI, within the European Water Framework Directive. Mar Ecol 30:214–227
- 62. Borja A (2005) The European Water Framework Directive: a challenge for nearshore, coastal and continental shelf research. Cont Shelf Res 25:1768–1783
- 63. CIS (2003) Overall approach to the classification of ecological status and ecological potential. Water Framework Directive Common Implementation Strategy Working Group 2 A Ecological Status (ECOSTAT). Rome, p 53
- 64. Flo E, Garcés E, Camp J (2011b) Assessment pressure methodology Land Use Simplified Index (LUSI). MED GIG BQE Phytoplankton
- 65. Hily C, Glémarec M (1990) Dynamique successionalle des peuplements de fonds meubles au large de la Bretagne. Oceanol Acta 13:107–115
- 66. Karakassis I, Eleftheriou A (1997) The continental shelf of Crete: structure of macrobenthic communities. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 160:185–196
- 67. Gambi MC, Giangrande A (1986) Distribution of soft-bottom polychaetes in two coastal areas of the Tyrrhenian Sea (Italy): structural analysis. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 23:847–862
- Simboura N, Nicolaidou A, Thessalou-Legaki M (2000) Polychaete communities of Greece: an ecological overview. Mar Ecol 21:129–144
- 69. Probert PK, Read GB, Grove SL, Rowden AA (2001) Macrobenthic polychaete assemblages of the continental shelf and upper slope off the west coast of the South Island, New Zealand. N Z J Mar Freshw Res 35:971–984
- 70. Díaz-Castañeda V, Harris LH (2004) Biodiversity and structure of the polychaete fauna from soft bottoms of Bahía Todos Santos, Baja California, México. Deep Sea Res Part II 51:827–847
- 71. Dauvin JC, Ruellet T (2007) Polychaete/amphipod ratio revisited. Mar Pollut Bull 55:215-224
- 72. Palanques A, Diaz JI (1994) Anthropogenic heavy metal pollution in the sediments of the Barcelona continental shelf (Northwestern Mediterranean). Mar Environ Res 38:17–31
- 73. Cardell MJ, Sardà R, Romero J (1999) Spatial changes in sublittoral soft-bottom polychaete assemblages due to river inputs and sewage discharges. Acta Oecol 20:343–351
- 74. Kinoshita K, Tamaki S, Yoshioka M, Srithonguthai S, Kunihiro T, Hama D, Ohwada K, Tsutsumi H (2008) Bioremediation of organically enriched sediment deposited below fish farms with artificially mass-cultured colonies of a deposit-feeding polychaete *Capitella* sp. I. Fish Sci 74:77–87
- 75. Agència Catalana de l'Aigua (2009) Memòries de l'Agència Catalana de l'Aigua. Generalitat de Catalunya. Departament de Medi Ambient i Habitatge. http://www.gencat.net
- 76. Got H, Aloisi JC, Monaco A (1985) Sedimentary processes in Mediterranean deltas and shelves. In: Stanley DJ, Wezel FC (eds) Geological evolution of the Mediterranean Basin. Springer, New York, pp 355–376
- 77. Luoma SN, Dagovitz R, Axtmann E (1990) Temporally intensive study of trace metals in sediments and bivalves from a large river-estuarine system: Suisun Bay/delta in San Francisco Bay. Sci Total Environ 97(98):685–712
- 78. Watzin MC, Roscigno PR (1997) The effects of zinc contamination on the recruitment and early survival of benthic invertebrates in an estuary. Mar Pollut Bull 34:443–455

- Mucha AP, Vasconcelos MTSD, Bordalo AA (2003) Macrobenthic community in the Douro estuary: relations with trace metals and natural sediment characteristics. Environ Pollut 121:169–180
- 80. Mayer-Pinto M, Underwood AJ, Tolhurst T, Coleman RA (2010) Effects of metals on aquatic assemblages: what do we really know? J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 391:1–9
- 81. Lo Iacono C, Orejas C, Gori A, Gili JM, Requena S, Puig P, Ribó M (2012) Habitats of the Cap de Creus continental shelf and Cap de Creus canyon, Northwestern Mediterranean. In: Harris PT, Baker EK (eds) Seafloor geomorphology as benthic habitat. Elsevier, London, pp 457–469

Assessing the Environmental Quality in Heavily Modified Transitional Waters: The Application of MEDOCC (MEDiterranean OCCidental) Index in Ebre Delta Bays

Esther Jordana, Susana Pinedo, and Enric Ballesteros

Abstract The assessment of ecological quality in the frame of the Water Framework Directive has been performed in Ebre Delta bays (Alfacs and Fangar) using MEDOCC (MEDiterranean OCCidental) index. Results demonstrate the applicability of the index in heavily modified transitional water bodies and its response to pressures (mainly agricultural activities) affecting macroinvertebrate assemblages inhabiting soft bottoms. According to previous studies and the organic matter enrichment and heavy metal gradients inside the bays, three different Transitional Waters (TW) have been distinguished, but only two of them are assigned to Heavily Modified Water Bodies (HMWB). Two different reference conditions have been considered depending on the acting pressures: a Maximum Ecological Potential (MEP) for the areas highly affected by the pressures (i.e., HMWB) and a Reference Condition (RC) for non-modified waters from the southern shelf of Alfacs Bay where the effect of agricultural activity is scarce. A good Ecological Potential/ Status (EP/ES) was always achieved in the surveys.

Keywords Ebre Delta bays, Heavily Modified Water Bodies (HMWB), Macroinvertebrates, Maximum Ecological Potential (MEP), Mediterranean sea, MEDOCC (MEDiterranean OCCidental), Transitional Waters (TW)

E. Jordana (🖂), S. Pinedo, and E. Ballesteros

Centre d'Estudis Avançats de Blanes - CSIC, Accés Cala Sant Francesc 14, 17300 Blanes, Girona, Spain

e-mail: esther@ceab.csic.es

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water* 227 *Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 43: 227–248, DOI 10.1007/698_2015_373, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 29 July 2015

Contents

Intro	duction	228				
2 Materials and Methods						
2.1 Study Area						
2.2	Sampling and Laboratory Procedures	230				
2.3	Computation of MEDOCC	232				
2.4	Assessment of EP/ES	233				
2.5	Data Analysis	233				
Resu	lts	234				
Disc	ussion	239				
4.1	Response of MEDOCC Index to Pressures	239				
4.2	Reference Condition (RC) and Maximum Ecological Potential (MEP)	240				
4.3	EP/ES at Sampling Site Level	241				
4.4	EP/ES at Management Unit Level	242				
ferenc	ces	243				
	Intro Mate 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5 Resu Disc 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 ference	Introduction Materials and Methods 2.1 Study Area 2.2 Sampling and Laboratory Procedures 2.3 Computation of MEDOCC 2.4 Assessment of EP/ES 2.5 Data Analysis Results Discussion 4.1 Response of MEDOCC Index to Pressures 4.2 Reference Condition (RC) and Maximum Ecological Potential (MEP) 4.3 EP/ES at Sampling Site Level 4.4 EP/ES at Management Unit Level ferences				

Abbreviations

EG	Ecological Group
EP	Ecological Potential
EQR	Ecological Quality Ratio
ES	Ecological Status
GES	Good Ecological Status
HMWB	Heavily Modified Water Body
ICP-MS	Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometer
MEDOCC	MEDiterranean OCCidental
MEP	Maximum Ecological Potential
RC	Reference Condition
TW	Transitional Water
WFD	Water Framework Directive

1 Introduction

Estuarine environments and coastal lagoons (Transitional Waters (TW) following Water Framework Directive (WFD) [1] definitions) are among the most productive ecosystems on earth, providing important socioeconomical resources [2–4]. In addition to human activities, these ecosystems are exposed to a wide variation of physicochemical parameters due to their particular hydrogeographic conditions (confinement, shallowness, marine influence, freshwater inputs, etc.). Sometimes, the response of communities to natural and anthropogenic stress is similar, making it difficult to discern between natural and human-induced changes [5–7]. This feature has implications for the implementation of environmental management actions and requires an accurate interpretation of the data.

Among several legislative instruments for the environmental management of water bodies, the WFD establishes a common basis to protect and improve the ecological quality of European waters, which must reach at least the Good Ecological Status (GES) by 2015. Many water bodies have been heavily modified in their physical structure or hydrological dynamics in order to serve various human uses including navigation, flood protection, hydropower, water regulation, land drainage, and agriculture [8]. When removing such uses and entailed modifications for achieving GES is technically unfeasible from a socioeconomic perspective, or the changes would have significant adverse effects on the water body or at a wider scale, the water body is designed as Heavily Modified Water Body (HMWB). In fact, a large number of European transitional water bodies (26% in number and 47% of surface) are considered as HMWBs [8]. Environmental managers are required to assess the status of HMWBs in terms of achieving at least a Good Ecological Potential (GEP), a less stringent quality target than GES. According to the WFD, a HMWB shows a GEP when there are slight differences in the values of the relevant biological quality elements as compared to the values found at Maximum Ecological Potential (MEP), which is considered as the Reference Condition (RC) for HMWB [8-11]. At present only minimal advancement has taken place, in terms of understanding the meaning of GEP and how to define MEP, especially within an ecological context [12–14]. The meaning of the Ecological Potential (EP) concept comprises several difficulties [15], and the WFD gives little guidance as to the definition of these "potentials" but indicates that they should be water body specified and as close as possible to the most comparable natural situation.

The Ecological Status (ES) and Ecological Potential (EP) assessment and the subsequent environmental management actions should be based upon the status of biological, hydromorphological, and physicochemical quality elements. Among the biological indicators considered in the WFD, soft-bottom macroinvertebrates constitute one of the most used, both in coastal and transitional waters, because of their many advantages [16]. In the last decade, a certain number of indices have been proposed (AMBI [17], Bentix [18], BQI [19], BOPA [20], BITS [21] and MEDOCC [22], among others) to assess the environmental quality using macroinvertebrates as biological element. MEDOCC (MEDiterranean OCCidental) index was developed for the establishment of the ES in Northwestern Mediterranean coastal waters and has been widely used in several countries from the Mediterranean eco-region [22–28]. Nonetheless, this index has not yet been applied in TW or in HMWBs.

The present work has been performed in Alfacs and Fangar bays, two semienclosed embayments of the Ebre River delta complex (Northwestern Mediterranean Sea). The rice cultivation developed on the emerged delta since the second half of the nineteenth century and resulted in a substantial modification of the natural hydrological regime [29, 30]. Because of the physical alterations by human use, these bays are considered as transitional HMWBs [31]. Nevertheless, the two bays are renowned for its naturalistic value being included in the Natura 2000 network following the EU Habitat Directive: full bay for Fangar Bay and half of the Alfacs Bay. In 2013 the delta and the lower watershed of the Ebre River (total area of 367,769 ha) were awarded as a UNESCO Biosphere Reserve (http://www. unesco.org). Moreover, the delta plain is also considered an important bird area [32].

Here we examine data relative to sediment characteristics, organic matter content, heavy metal concentrations, and composition of the benthic macroinvertebrate assemblages in the two bays. Our aims were (1) to check the response of MEDOCC index to the pressures in TW and HMWBs, (2) to demonstrate the suitability of MEDOCC index in the ecological assessment in modified and transitional waters at the assemblage level, (3) to set the best reference conditions and MEP considering areas with different degree of pressures, and finally, (4) to determine the EP/ES at water management units level.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Study Area

The study area is located in two bays connected to the open sea, on the Ebre Delta plain (Fig. 1). Fangar, the northern bay, covers an area of 12 km² with a capacity of 16×10^6 m³ and 2 m mean depth, with a mouth 1 km wide. The residence time of water ranges between 1 and 2 days depending on freshwater inputs [33]. The largest, Alfacs Bay, is located at the southern part of the delta. It has a surface of about 50 km² and a volume of 150×10^6 m³ with a mean depth about 4 m and a mouth 2 km wide. The average water turnover is 10 days, depending on freshwater inputs [33]. In both bays, the major source of pollution is related to agricultural activity. Nutrients, organic matter, heavy metals, and pesticides deriving from freshwater discharges [34–39] make up the major disturbances affecting the water quality of the two bays [31]. However, other activities such as salt refinery, fisheries, aquaculture, and tourism can cause a potential impact on both bays.

2.2 Sampling and Laboratory Procedures

Samples were collected in June 2006 and June 2011 (18 and 16 sites, respectively) in Alfacs and Fangar bays (Fig. 1). Sampled stations were homogeneously distributed throughout both bays according to different hydrogeomorphological areas, distribution of different microhabitats, and anthropogenic pressures [38, 40, 41]. Two replicate samples of sediment were collected at each station using a van Veen grab (600 cm²). Samples were filtered through a 500 μ m mesh and stored in 4% formaldehyde solution stained with Rose Bengal. Samples were sorted at the laboratory, and faunal composition was identified to species level (when possible).



Fig. 1 Location of sampling stations in Alfacs and Fangar bays (Northwestern Mediterranean)

Sediment subsamples were taken for analysis of physicochemical parameters at each grab: sediment characteristics, organic matter content, and heavy metal concentration. Granulometrical analysis was conducted by standard dry-sediment procedure [42]. Median particle diameter and percentage of silt-clay (<63 µm) were used as variables to identify sediment characteristics. Organic matter content in sediments was estimated as ash-free dry weight (5 h at 450° C). Heavy metals analyzed were Zn, Cu, Pb, V, Cd, and Hg. Their concentrations were determined weighting an amount of about 0.1 g of freeze-dried sediment. The latter was weighted and digested in a concentrated HNO₃ and hydrogen peroxide solution (Suprapur Merck[®] reagents) in an oven at 90°C for 24 h. Digested solution was diluted with Milli-Q purified water, stored at 3°C, and analyzed by Inductively Coupled Plasma Mass Spectrometer (ICP-MS, PE Elan-6000). Blanks solutions were done to detect eventual contamination during analytical procedure. Certified reference material was also analyzed using the same procedure to check the accuracy of the measurements [43]. All metal concentrations, expressed in micrograms of metals per gram ($\mu g g^{-1}$) of dry sediment, were determined at the Scientific-Technical Services of the University of Barcelona.

2.3 Computation of MEDOCC

MEDOCC index [22] is based on the relative abundances of Ecological Groups (EGs) made according to the degree of sensitivity/tolerance of species to organic enrichment. MEDOCC was calculated at each site (average value of two replicates) using the following formula:

 $MEDOCC = (0 \times \%EGI + 2 \times \%EGII + 4 \times \%EGIII + 6 \times \%EGIV)/100$ (1)

where EGI, EGII, EGIII, and EGIV correspond to sensitive, indifferent, tolerant, and opportunistic taxa, respectively. MEDOCC values range from 0 to 6, low values indicating high environmental quality.

2.3.1 Boundaries

The definition of boundaries between ecological classes defined by WFD is an intrinsic computation of the MEDOCC index [22]. This index, rather than providing fixed values between ES, suggests to establish new boundaries on an ecological theory basis (i.e., the response of EGs along the disturbance gradients) for each group of data, eco-region, etc. Thresholds based on the distribution of the frequency of the four EGs along an increasing gradient of the MEDOCC values for the dataset obtained in Alfacs and Fangar bays were explored.

2.3.2 Definition of Reference Conditions

The MEP is considered as the reference condition for HMWB and is intended to describe the best approximation to a natural aquatic ecosystem that could be achieved given the hydromorphological characteristics. In this context, these features cannot be changed without significant adverse effects on the specified use or the wider environment [10, 11].

In the case of Ebre Delta bays, the southern platform of Alfacs Bay was the less disturbed area by human activities. Moreover, results of the characterization of Alfacs and Fangar bays in terms on environmental variables and macrobenthic composition of assemblages [44] demonstrated that the effects of the pressures affecting these bays (mainly rice cultivation) did not reach the southern coast of Alfacs Bay. A recent study on the distribution population of *Pinna nobilis* in Alfacs Bay [45] demonstrates high abundance of this species at the southern platform, while it is practically absent at the rest of the bay. Thus, although communities sampled in both bays were included within two different water bodies (each one corresponding to each bay), two groups of stations are considered to define RCs: one including stations sampled in the southern platform of Alfacs Bay (8, 10, 12A, and 12B) and the other including the rest of the stations (1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 9, and

11, in Alfacs Bay and the overall stations in Fangar Bay). Stations located at the southern shelf of Alfacs Bay, with minor effects of freshwater inputs from drainage channels of rice fields, must have a more restrictive reference condition (i.e., with a lower value of MEDOCC) compared with the rest of stations. Moreover, this sector of Alfacs Bay should be considered as non-modified TW, following WFD definitions [8]. Conversely, stations at the northern shelf, directly affected by freshwater inputs from rice cultivation discharges, and the stations situated in central areas of Alfacs Bay where the contents of these inputs accumulate, are considered as HMWB. Due to the smaller size and the degree of confinement of Fangar Bay, together with the pressures affecting the bay, it is also defined as a HMWB. Thus, the optimal environmental quality that can achieve these two HMWBs should be different to that for the southern platform of Alfacs Bay. A MEP will be defined for the former, while RC will be assigned to the latter.

Both MEP and RC are based in samples reflecting minor disturbance. For each group of stations, the sample with the lower MEDOCC value was improved, creating a new "virtual" reference condition [46, 47], corresponding to the option 4 (expert judgment) from the four options proposed by WFD to identify reference conditions [48]. The new theoretical situation based for the southern platform of Alfacs Bay is defined by a macrofaunal community composed by sensitive, indifferent, and tolerant species with a frequency of 80%, 10%, and 10%, respectively (MEDOCC value = 0.6). In the other areas of both bays, affected by natural and human-induced disturbances, the MEP is defined by a community composed by a low percentage of sensitive taxa (40%), but higher percentages of indifferent and tolerant species (30%). The MEDOCC value of this less restricted reference condition is 1.8.

2.4 Assessment of EP/ES

Following WFD requirements, the Ecological Quality Ratio (EQR) at each site was calculated by dividing the MEDOCC values by RC/MEP value and by rescaling the results from 0 to 1. To determine the EP/ES at Ebre Delta bays, the mean EQR value was calculated for each management unit: (1) the nonimpacted southern platform in Alfacs Bay (TW), (2) the area affected by the human pressures in Alfacs Bay (HMWB), and (3) the whole Fangar Bay (HMWB).

2.5 Data Analysis

The response of the index to the anthropogenic pressures was analyzed by Spearman's rank correlation coefficients between MEDOCC values and organic matter content and heavy metal concentrations in sediment. SPSS v21 software was used to run the analysis. Non-metric Multidimensional Scaling (nMDS) ordinations

were conducted to visualize the distribution pattern of samples based on faunal composition by means of the Bray-Curtis similarity coefficient and data pretreatment using a square root transformation. Species assemblages were identified by cluster analysis and similarity levels. The macrofaunal data were analyzed using the PRIMER v6 software.

3 Results

The distribution pattern of the four EGs along increasing values of MEDOCC index obtained for the samples from Alfacs and Fangar bays (Fig. 2) shows an exponential decrease of sensitive taxa (EGI), while the percentage of opportunistic species (EGIV) increases also exponentially. EGII increases to a maximum value of MEDOCC near 2 and then decreases nearly linearly, while EGIII reaches the maximum percentage for MEDOCC values close to 3.75.

The process for setting the boundaries between different levels of EP/ES has been the same to the process followed in coastal waters [22]. Once the distribution of the EGs has been plotted, the boundaries have been established (Fig. 2) following quality status definitions proposed by the WFD [1, 22]. As the changes of EGs abundances across the gradient are very similar to those obtained for coastal waters [22, 28], the selected boundaries between EP/ES are identical to those selected for coastal waters (Table 1).

In Alfacs Bay, high values of silt-clay (around 80%) have been observed in the northern platform, the central basin, and the outer part of the bay (Fig. 3a), and low values of silt-clay content have been measured in the southern shelf. In Fangar Bay, higher values have been recorded in the external area and to a lesser extent in the platform where the freshwater discharge occurs and also on the opposite shore. The distribution pattern of organic matter content in sediments is quite similar (Fig. 3b). The values increase progressively from the northern platform to the central basin in



Fig. 2 Distribution of the percentage of Ecological Groups (EGs) along the increasing gradient of MEDOCC values in Alfacs and Fangar bays. *EGI* sensitive taxa, *EGII* indifferent taxa, *EGII* tolerant taxa, *EGIV* opportunistic taxa. *Vertical lines* show the boundaries between the different Ecological Potential (EP). *H* high, *G* good, *M* moderate, *P* poor, *B* bad

Table 1 Threshold valuesbetween the four ES/EP usingMEDOCC index for highmodified transitional watersin NorthwesternMediterranean sea	EP/ES	MEDOCC	EQR
	High/good	1.60	0.73
	Good/moderate	3.20	0.47
	Moderate/poor	4.77	0.20
	Poor/bad	5.50	0.08



Fig. 3 Spatial distribution of silt-clay (a) and organic matter (b) contents based on 2011 survey data

Alfacs Bay, but they decrease again in the southern platform. In outer areas of the two bays, organic matter content is slightly lower than in areas directly affected by freshwater inflows, even if the percentage of silt-clay is high. The distribution pattern of the metals measured in sediments (Fig. 4) is similar to the silt-clay content and is comparable for all considered metals, with higher values observed in the northern platform and central basin of Alfacs Bay and also at station 14 in Fangar Bay. Lowest values have been measured in the southern platform of Alfacs Bay, in the most confined areas of both bays and in the most external platform of Fangar Bay. Accumulation of metals in sediments is lower in the outer part of the two bays despite the high percentage of silt-clay, in a similar pattern to organic matter content.

The nMDS ordination plot of sampling sites regarding species composition (Fig. 5) clearly illustrates the segregation of three main groups, based on a degree of similarity of approximately 30%. The group 1 includes samples of the outer area of both bays and the central basin of Alfacs Bay, characterized by macrofaunal assemblages highly influenced by a marine regime (Fig. 6). The group 2 contains samples from the shallow northern and eastern platform of Alfacs Bay and from both shallow platforms in Fangar Bay (stations 14 and 15) characterized by macrofaunal assemblages with a significant presence of tolerant and opportunistic species. Finally, the most compacted set of stations is located at the southern platform of Alfacs Bay and locations 13 and 16 of Fangar Bay (group 3), distant from the main anthropogenic pressures. Although this group of stations is dominated mainly by sensitive and indifferent species, location 13 shows a particular


Fig. 4 Spatial distribution of metal concentrations (Zn, Cu, Pb, V, Cd, and Hg; $\mu g g^{-1}$) based on 2011 survey data



Fig. 5 n-MDS ordination based on faunal composition. *Lines surround groups* identified at 30% similarity levels in the cluster analysis



Table 2 Results of
Spearman's rank correlation
coefficients between
MEDOCC values and
variables measured in
sediments: silt-clay content
(SC; %), mean particle
diameter (MPD; µm), organic
matter content (OM; %), and
metal concentrations (Zn, Cu,
Pb, V, Cd, and Hg; $\mu g g^{-1}$).
Value ranges are given

by cluster analysis

Variables	Range	MEDOCC
SC	0–94	0.415**
MPD	48–316	-0.398*
OM	0.7–12.7	0.528**
Zn	14–124	0.591**
Cu	2–45	0.614**
Pb	4–52	0.551**
V	14–93	0.504**
Cd	0.07–0.47	0.422*
Hg	0.00–0.40	0.516**
*n < 0.05 $**n < 0.01$		

species composition with important abundances of opportunistic and tolerant species.

Significant correlations between MEDOCC index and sediment variables have been obtained (Table 2), with heavy metal concentrations and organic matter content showing highest correlations.

Samples from the southern platform of Alfacs Bay (stations 8, 10, 12A, and 12B) show high and good ES both in 2006 and 2011 (Fig. 7 and Table 3). Samples from the outer areas of both bays (stations 1, 2, and 17) are classified as good EP in both surveys. The most confined areas of Alfacs Bay reach also good EP, with the exception of station 7 in 2011, which rates moderate. Sites 3 and 5, located at



Fig. 7 Assessment of EP/ES using MEDOCC index in soft-bottom assemblages sampled in Ebre Delta bays in 2006 (a) and 2011 (b)

Station	Year	MEP/RC	MEDOCC	EQR	EP/ES	
1	06-11	1.8	3.60-3.67	0.57-0.56	G	G
2	06	1.8	3.47	0.60	G	
3	06-11	1.8	4.30-4.21	0.40-0.43	М	M
4	06-11	1.8	3.90-4.01	0.50-0.47	G	M
5	06-11	1.8	4.55-4.58	0.34-0.34	М	M
6	06-11	1.8	3.32-3.52	0.64-0.59	G	G
7	06-11	1.8	3.59-4.00	0.57-0.48	G	M
8	06-11	0.6	0.80-1.21	0.96-0.89	Н	H
9	06-11	1.8	4.34-3.74	0.40-0.54	М	G
10	06-11	0.6	2.39–2.75	0.67-0.60	G	G
11	06-11	1.8	4.27-3.95	0.41-0.49	М	M
12A	06	0.6	1.72	0.79	G	
12B	06-11	0.6	2.25-2.73	0.69–0.61	G	G
13	06-11	1.8	5.03-4.59	0.23-0.34	М	M
14	06-11	1.8	3.78–3.87	0.53-0.51	G	G
15	06-11	1.8	3.54-4.17	0.58-0.44	G	M
16	06-11	1.8	2.54-2.48	0.82-0.84	Н	H
17	06-11	1.8	2.95-3.63	0.73-0.56	G	G

Table 3 Assessment of EP/ES with MEDOCC index in Ebre Delta stations sampled in 2006 and 2011. EQR ecological quality ratio, H high EP, G good EP, M moderate EP, B bad EP

shallow areas in the northern platform of Alfacs Bay directly influenced by the discharge of freshwater from irrigation channels, remain with a moderate EP during

Table 4 Assessment of		Year	EQR	EP/ES		
for each management unit	Alfacs Bay					
EQR ecological quality ratio	Southern platform	06-11	0.78-0.70	G	G	
	Disturbed areas	06-11	0.49–0.49	G	G	
	Fangar Bay	06-11	0.58-0.54	G	G	

the two surveys. In the same area, station 4 is rated good in 2006, while in 2011 it shifts to moderate EP. Samples located in the central basin of Alfacs Bay (9 and 11) are classified as moderate in 2006, increasing their EQR value in 2011, but only station 11 improves, achieving a good EP. EPs in Fangar Bay do not show big changes in the 2 years of study. Only station 15 shifts from good to moderate EP between the two sampling periods. The station 13 of Fangar Bay is rated moderate during both surveys. Results obtained at the defined management units level (Table 4) indicated that the good EP/ES was always achieved in all surveys.

4 Discussion

4.1 Response of MEDOCC Index to Pressures

MEDOCC index is based on the response of macrofaunal assemblages to organic enrichment gradients as described by the model of Pearson and Rosenberg [49]. Relationships between MEDOCC and environmental variables (e.g., organic matter content, metal concentrations) that increase in areas with a high percentage of land dedicated to agriculture makes this index a reliable statistical descriptor of the anthropogenic pressures concerning Alfacs and Fangar bays. However, organic enrichment is also enhanced in nonhuman-stressed estuarine environments, natural stress being an intrinsic feature of these systems [5]. In Alfacs and Fangar bays, factors such as continental inputs, confinement, and shallowness can naturally result in the accumulation of organic matter in the sediments, complicating the interpretation of data obtained with the biotic indices and hindering the distinction between human-related and natural stress [5, 6]. For this reason, several authors consider the use of indices based on tolerance/sensitivity, originally developed in coastal waters, inappropriate to be applied in TW [21, 50-52], and suggest the creation of new and specific methodologies to assess the ecological assessment of TW [50] or adapt the indices to such environments [52].

Many studies have focused in the comparison of indices, readjusting boundaries to improve agreement between methods when assessing ES [53–55]. The need to reexamine and adapt the different index thresholds for the estuarine environments is also highlighted by several authors [5, 56–59]. Indeed, the application of MEDOCC index itself includes how to define boundaries between ES categories based on the distribution pattern of the curves of different EGs [22]. In the current study, the

pattern of EGs frequency distribution obtained in the samples collected in Ebre Delta bays is very similar to the one obtained from coastal waters, being unnecessary to make any change in the boundaries. The good relationships of MEDOCC index with environmental variables, the definition of boundaries based on EGs distribution patterns, and the selection of suitable reference conditions in Ebre Delta bays indicates that it is not necessary to change the assignment of the degree of tolerance of species in TW because of differences in species' ecological behaviors [51, 60–62].

4.2 Reference Condition (RC) and Maximum Ecological Potential (MEP)

Appropriate selection of RCs is a crucial step in the application of indices [63]. Setting RCs become even more difficult in TW, due to its natural great variability [47, 64, 65]. In HMWB, RCs are replaced by MEPs, the best possible conditions attainable if hydromorphological causes of change are removed. Several assemblages have been identified in Alfacs and Fangar bays [40, 41, 44], being the southern shelf of Alfacs Bay the less affected by human pressures, mainly agriculture activity [38, 39]. Differences observed between the assemblages of the southern platform in Alfacs Bay with other stations sampled in both bays indicate that the conditions in these areas lead to the development of communities that could be found in other stations if they were not affected by agricultural activity and other pressures. Taking into account that pressures acting in both different groups of stations are not comparable, three management units should be considered: (1) the nondisturbed southern platform in Alfacs Bay, which could be considered as non-modified transitional water body, (2) the areas affected by the human pressures in Alfacs Bay, and (3) the whole water body in Fangar Bay, the last two considered as HMWBs. Therefore, the ecological potential of the communities reached in these areas cannot be equivalent to that achieved in the most distant areas to the origin of the disturbance. Thus, the RCs should be also different, since environmental conditions found at the communities sampled in the southern platform of Alfacs Bay will never be present in the other sampled areas.

The Ebre Delta holds 21,600 ha of rice fields, covering 72% of the total area and producing 113,500 t of rice per year [39], whose management results on a modification of the natural hydrological regime of both bays [29]. Despite this, the Ebre Delta plain is one of the most important wetland areas in the Northwestern Mediterranean and is valuable both economically and ecologically. In Alfacs and Fangar bays, management measurements related to the reduction of agricultural activity that could be implemented to improve environmental quality could affect adversely the general environment of the Ebre Delta plain. According to the compilation document [8], the impact of the management actions on the entire ecological and socioeconomic system could occur at different levels: (1) reducing

the area of protected habitats, endangering the favorable conservation status in the Natura 2000 site, (2) endangering environmental status of RAMSAR site or natural park, (3) loss of wetlands, (4) jobs reduction, and (5) loss of agricultural lands and agricultural production reduction. The hydromorphological modification resulting from agricultural activity cannot be reversed even in the long-term because it would compromise the continuation of the uses for which these water bodies were altered, with high economic and social costs [9, 10]. Under this assumption, the sense of determining the EP and MEP by comparison with natural conditions must be questioned as by definition, being HMWBs, they are physically, structurally, and ecologically unattainable.

Even considering the overall Alfacs Bay as a unique transitional HMWB, it is well known that species assemblages in estuarine environments display a high spatial variability [66], and thus, using a single RC, as recommended by the WFD, can be subjected to criticism [58, 64, 65, 67, 68]. Although recent studies on the implementation of the EP in HMWBs have considered a single MEP to assess the EP [15, 69, 70], Borja et al. [14] proposed several values of MEP in estuarine HMWB according to different salinity stretches, being salinity an explanatory variable of anthropogenic-driven hydromorphological changes.

4.3 EP/ES at Sampling Site Level

As expected, the stations with the highest EP/ES are those with the lowest human influence, located on the southern platform in Alfacs Bay. The improvement of the EP (from moderate to good) at the central area of Alfacs Bay (station 9) from 2006 to 2011 could be explained by the replacement of several opportunistic and tolerant species of polychaetes (Heteromastus filiformis, Notomastus latericius, Prionospio cirrifera, and Prionospio fallax) by the ophiuroid Amphiura chiajei. This brittle star is considered an indifferent species to organic enrichment, and it is mainly responsible for the increase of EQR and, consequently, for the EP improvement. Station 11 remains with a moderate EP in both surveys, although the EQR value obtained in 2011 coincides with the boundary between good and moderate EP. The almost lack in 2011 of the opportunistic species Fabriciola tonerella, abundant in 2006 (densities up to 5,000 ind m⁻²), explains the increase of EQR value. At this point, we do not know whether this improvement is real or it is the consequence of a random inter-annual variability due to the high variability of hydrological conditions [71, 72], which may change if the assemblage is under marine or freshwater influence [44]. Further monitoring is needed to properly address this doubt.

Stations at the northern platform of Alfacs Bay, those directly affected by human pressures, had lower values of EQR and worse EP. Different results were also obtained at the station 4 located at the northern platform near the freshwater discharge and very close to a sewage outfall, which was classified as good EP in 2006 and as moderate EP in 2011. However, the EQR values are similar and close to the boundary between good and moderate. Both organic matter content and

heavy metal concentrations measured in sediments enhance the development of more opportunistic and tolerant species [49, 73]. Despite the presence of this kind of species (*Aora spinicornis, Corophium acutum, Erichtonius punctatus,* and *Prionospio multibranchiata* in 2006 and Galathowenia oculata and *Pseudomastus deltaicus* in 2011), the contribution of sensitive and indifferent species is also important, with values up to 16.0% and 20.5%, respectively. In this location, the EPs obtained do not fit the expected ecological assessments (lower ratings), considering the variables measured in sediments.

Station 14 in Fangar Bay shows the same response than station 4 at Alfacs Bay. Despite the high organic matter content and metal concentration, faunal composition indicates a good EP. Changes in the EP between the two surveys (from good to moderate) are observed at station 15 in Fangar Bay. The increase of Galathowenia oculata (tolerant species) and Pseudomastus deltaicus (opportunistic species) together with the decrease of Microdeutopus algicola (sensitive species) in 2011 explains the change. Macrofaunal assemblages from shallow areas influenced by fluctuating freshwater inputs or subjected to a high evaporation are submitted to high temporal physicochemical variability resulting in a coexistence of sensitive and indifferent and tolerant species, together with opportunistic species, which are favored during acute disturbance events [74–76]. The lowest values of EOR (0.23 and 0.34, in 2006 and 2011, respectively) reached in the most confined area of Alfacs Bay (station 13) are explained by the dominance of polychaetes such as Capitella capitata, Neanthes caudata, Pseudopolydora sp., and Heteromastus filiformis, opportunistic and tolerant species to organic enrichment, whose abundance could be enhanced by the accumulation of detritus coming from Cymodocea nodosa meadows, a sea grass colonizing the sediments in the area [77] but also from filamentous algae (i.e., Chaetomorpha sp., personal observation). We contend that the assessment of ecological status in areas organically enriched by a natural factor should be reexamined as suggested by Pinedo et al. [23, 27].

4.4 EP/ES at Management Unit Level

Each of Alfacs and Fangar bays was defined as a single water body in the IMPRESS document [31]. However, the spatial heterogeneity present in the two bays due to hydromorphological conditions (i.e., freshwater inputs, marine regime, and confinement) and a disturbance gradient (i.e., the organic matter and heavy metals mainly discharged from channels of rice fields) points to the division of Alfacs Bay into two management units. The southern platform of Alfacs Bay does not receive the pressures for which it has been considered as HMWB. Moreover, according to the definition of the WFD, each water body is defined also in terms of its pressures, making the situation in Alfacs Bay inconsistent with the WFD. This situation is similar to that found in a recent study conducted at the port of Santander where the water body is divided into smaller sub-domains (water management units) to assess the ecological potential of a HMWB [70]. Thus, we consider that three management

units have to be considered in Ebre Delta bays to correctly address suitable management measures: the southern platform of Alfacs Bay on one side and the area of Alfacs Bay affected by the freshwater discharges and Fangar Bay on the other side. We suggest that the recovery of green filters in re-naturalized rice fields could be an effective mitigation strategy without having significant adverse impacts on the delta plain uses. The implementation of this and other management actions could improve the water quality flowing into two bays and consequently the EP/ES.

Acknowledgments Funding has been provided by Agència Catalana de l'Aigua (Departament de Medi Ambient i Habitatge, Generalitat de Catalunya) and INTRAMURAL-CSIC project (reference 201330E065). We are grateful to M. P. Satta for her help in field missions, sample sorting, and physicochemical analysis. We thank J. Gil, N. Fernández, M. P. Satta, and M. P. Mura for their contributions to species identification. Thanks are also due to M. de Torres for her constant support during this study.

References

- 1. European Commission (2000) Water Framework Directive. Directive 2000/60/EC, p 72
- 2. Correll DL (1978) Estuarine productivity. BioScience 28:646-650
- Costanza R, d'Arge R, de Groot R, Farber S, Grasso M, Hannon B, Limburg K, Naeem S, O'Neill RV, Paruelo J, Raskin RG, Sutton P, van den Belt M (1997) The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital. Nature 387:253–260
- 4. Lafite R, Romana LA (2001) A man-altered macrotidal estuary: the Seine estuary (France): introduction to the special issue. Estuaries 24:939
- Dauvin J (2007) Paradox of estuarine quality: benthic indicators and indices, consensus or debate for the future. Mar Pollut Bull 55:271–281
- Elliott M, Quintino V (2007) The estuarine quality paradox, environmental homeostasis and the difficulty of detecting anthropogenic stress in naturally stressed areas. Mar Pollut Bull 54:640–645
- Neto JM, Teixeira H, Patrício J, Baeta A, Veríssimo H, Pinto R, Marques JC (2010) The response of estuarine macrobenthic communities to natural- and human-induced changes: dynamics and ecological quality. Estuar Coasts 33:1327–1339
- CIS (2009) Heavily modified water bodies: "information exchange on designation, assessment of ecological potential, objective setting measures". In: Common Implementation Strategy workshop, Brussels, 12–13 Mar 2009, p 28
- CIS (2003) Overall approach to the classification of ecological status and ecological potential. Water Framework Directive Common Implementation Strategy working group 2 A Ecological Status (ECOSTAT), Rome, p 53
- CIS (2003) Identification and designation of heavily modified water bodies. Water Framework Directive. Common Implementation Strategy working group. Guidance Document n° 4. Working Group 2. European Communities, p 118
- Borja A, Elliot M (2007) What does "good ecological potential" mean, within the European Water Framework Directive? Mar Pollut Bull 54:1559–1564
- 12. CIS (2006) WFD and hydromorpholgical pressures, technichal report. Good practice in managing the ecological impacts of hidropower chemes; flood protection works; and works designed to facilitate the navigation under the Water Framework Directive. European communities, p 68

- Wetzel MA, von der Ohe PC, Manz W, Koop JHE, Wahrendorf DS (2012) The ecological quality status of the Elbe estuary. A comparative approach on different benthic biotic indices applied to a highly modified estuary. Ecol Indic 19:118–129
- 14. Borja A, Chust G, del Campo A, González M, Hernández C (2013) Setting the maximum ecological potential of benthic communities, to assess ecological status, in heavily morphologically-modified estuarine water bodies. Mar Pollut Bull 71:199–208
- Veríssimo H, Patricio J, Teixeira H, Carriço A, Marques JC (2013) Testing different ecological scenarios in a temperate estuary: a contribution towards the implementation of the Ecological Potential assessment. Mar Pollut Bull 71:168–178
- Dauvin JC, Bellan G, Bellan-Santini D (2010) Benthic indicators: from subjectivity to objectivity – where is the line? Mar Pollut Bull 60:947–953
- Borja A, Franco J, Pérez V (2000) A marine biotic index to establish the ecological quality of soft-bottom benthos within European estuarine and coastal environments. Mar Pollut Bull 40:1100–1114
- Simboura M, Zenetos A (2002) Benthic indicators to use in ecological quality classification of Mediterranean soft-bottom marine ecosystems, including a new biotic index. Mediterr Mar Sci 3:77–111
- Rosenberg R, Blomqvist M, Nilsson HC, Cederwall H, Dimming A (2004) Marine quality assessment by use of benthic species-abundance distributions: a proposed new protocol within the European Union Water Framework Directive. Mar Pollut Bull 49:728–739
- 20. Dauvin JC, Ruellet T (2007) Polychaete/amphipod ratio revisited. Mar Pollut Bull 55:215-224
- Mistri M, Munari C (2008) BITS: a SMART indicator for soft-bottom, non-tidal lagoons. Mar Pollut Bull 56:587–599
- 22. Pinedo S, Jordana E, Ballesteros E (2014) A critical analysis on the response of macroinvertebrate communities along disturbance gradients: description of MEDOCC (MEDiterranean OCCidental) index. Mar Ecol. doi:10.1111/maec.12126
- 23. GIG (2008) WFD intercalibration technical report. Part 3 coastal and transitional waters. Sec. 2 – benthic invertebrates. Four parts: Mediterranean GIG; Black Sea GIG; North East Atlantic GIG; and Baltic GIG. http://circa.europa.eu/Public/irc/jrc/jrc_eewai/library
- 24. GIG (2012) Final technical report coastal waters. Mediterranean GIG benthic invertebrate fauna. JRC and the benthic macroinvertebrates subgroup. https://circabc.europa.eu/faces/
- Simboura M, Argyrou N (2010) An insight into the performance of benthic classification indices tested in Eastern Mediterranean coastal waters. Mar Pollut Bull 60:701–709
- 26. Subida MD, Drake P, Jordana E, Mavrič B, Pinedo S, Simboura N, Torres J, Salas F (2012) Response of different biotic indices to gradients of organic enrichment in Mediterranean coastal waters: implications of non-monotonic responses of diversity measures. Ecol Indic 19:106–117
- Pinedo S, Jordana E, Salas F, Subida MD, García Adiego E, Torres J (2012) Testing MEDOCC and BOPA indices in shallow soft-bottom communities in the Spanish Mediterranean coastal waters. Ecol Indic 19:98–105
- 28. Pinedo S, Jordana E, Ballesteros E (2015) Using MEDOCC (MEDiterranean OCCidental) index to evaluate the ecological quality of Catalan coastal waters (Northwestern Mediterranean Sea) over time and depths. Hdb Env Chem. doi:10.1007/698_2015_375
- 29. Ibàñez C, Canicio A, Day JW, Curcó A (1997) Morphologic development, relative sea level rise and sustainable management of water and sediment in the Ebre Delta, Spain. J Coast Conserv 3:191–202
- 30. Day JW Jr, Maltby E, Ibáñez C (2006) River basin management and delta sustainability: a commentary on the Ebro Delta and the Spanish National Hydrological Plan. Ecol Eng 26:85–99
- 31. IMPRESS (2013) Característiques de la demarcació, anàlisi d'impactes i pressions de l'activitat humana, i anàlisi econòmica de l'ús de l'aigüa a les masses d'aigua del districte de conca fluvial de Catalunya. Barcelona, p 96

- 32. SEO/BirdLife (1997) Pla Delta XXI. Directrices para la conservación y desarrollo sostenible en el Delta del Ebro. SEO/BirdLife, Madrid, p 100
- 33. Camp J, Delgado M (1987) Hidrografía de las bahías del Delta del Ebro. Investig Pesq 51:351–369
- 34. Schuhmacher M, Domingo JL, Llobet JM, Corbella J (1995) Variations of heavy metals in water, sediments, and biota from the delta of Ebro river, Spain. J Environ Sci Health A 30:1361–1372
- 35. Mañosa S, Mateo R, Guitart R (2001) A review of the effects of agricultural and industrial contamination on the Ebro delta biota and wildlife. Environ Monit Assess 71:187–205
- 36. Terrado M, Kuster M, Raldúa D, Lopez De Alda M, Barceló D, Tauler R (2007) Use of chemometric and geostatistical methods to evaluate pesticide pollution in the irrigation and drainage channels of the Ebro river delta during the rice-growing season. Anal Bioanal Chem 387:1479–1488
- 37. Kuster M, López de Alda MJ, Barata C, Raldúa D, Barceló D (2008) Analysis of 17 polar to semi-polar pesticides in the Ebro river delta during the main growing season of rice by automated on-line solid-phase extraction-liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. Talanta 75:390–401
- 38. Köck M, Farré M, Martínez E, Gajda-Schrantz K, Ginebreda A, Navarro A, López de Alda M, Barceló D (2010) Integrated ecotoxicological and chemical approach for the assessment of pesticide pollution in the Ebro River delta (Spain). J Hydrol 383:73–82
- 39. Ochoa V, Riva C, Faria M, Barata C (2013) Responses of B-esterase enzymes in oysters (*Crassostrea gigas*) transplanted to pesticide contaminated bays from the Ebro Delta (NE, Spain). Mar Pollut Bull 66:135–142
- 40. Palacín C, Martin D, Gili JM (1991) Features of spatial distribution of benthic infauna in a Mediterranean shallow-water bay. Mar Biol 110:315–321
- 41. Martin D, Pinedo S, Sardá R (2000) Distribution patterns and trophic structure of soft-bottom polychaete assemblages in a north-western Mediterranean shallow-water bay. Ophelia 53:1–17
- 42. Golterman HL, Sly PG, Thomas RL (1983) Study of the relationships between water quality and sediment transport. Technical papers in Hydrology. UNESCO, Paris, p 231
- 43. Pinedo S, Jordana E, Flagella MM, Ballesteros E (2014) Relationships between heavy metals contamination in shallow marine sediments with industrial and urban development in Catalonia (Northwestern Mediterranean Sea). Water Air Soil Pollut 225(9):2084
- 44. Jordana E, Pinedo S, Ballesteros E (2015) Macrobenthic assemblages, sediment characteristics and heavy metal concentrations in soft-bottom Ebre Delta bays (NW Mediterranean). Environ Monit Assess 187:71
- 45. Prado P, Caiola N, Ibáñez C (2014) Habitat use by a large population of *Pinna nobilis* L. in shallow waters. Sci Mar 78:555–565
- 46. Borja A, Valencia V, Franco J, Muxika I, Bald J, Belzunce MJ, Solaun O (2004) The Water Framework Directive: water alone, or in association with sediment and biota, in determining quality standards? Mar Pollut Bull 49:8–11
- 47. Bald J, Borja A, Muxika I, Franco J, Valencia V (2005) Assessing reference conditions and physico-chemical status according to the European Water Framework Directive: a case-study from the Basque country (Northern Spain). Mar Pollut Bull 50:1508–1522
- 48. Vincent C, Heinrich H, Edwards A, Nygaard K, Haythornthwaite J (2002) Guidance on typology, reference conditions and classification systems for transitional and coastal waters. Water Framework Directive Common Implementation Strategy working group 2.4 COAST. European Commission, p 119
- 49. Pearson TH, Rosenberg R (1978) Macrobenthic succession in relation to organic enrichment and pollution of marine environment. Oceanogr Mar Biol Annu Rev 16:229–311
- Quintino V, Elliott M, Rodrigues AM (2006) The derivation performance and role of univariate and multivariate indicators of benthic change: case studies at differing spatial scales. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 330:368–382

- 51. Munari C, Manini E, Pusceddu A, Danovaro R, Mistri M (2009) Response of BITS (a benthic index based on taxonomic sufficiency) to water and sedimentary variables and comparison with other indices in three Adriatic lagoons. Mar Ecol 30:255–268
- 52. Munari C, Mistri M (2010) Towards the application of the Water Framework Directive in Italy: assessing the potential of benthic tools in Adriatic coastal transitional ecosystems. Mar Pollut Bull 60:1040–1050
- 53. Borja A, Josefson AB, Miles A, Muxika I, Olsgard F, Phillips G, Rodríguez JG, Rygg B (2007) An approach to the intercalibration of benthic ecological status assessment in the North Atlantic ecoregion, according to the European Water Framework Directive. Mar Pollut Bull 55:42–52
- 54. Borja A, Dauer DM, Díaz R, Llansó RJ, Muxika I, Rodríguez JG, Schaffner L (2008) Assessing estuarine benthic quality conditions in Chesapeake bay: a comparison of three indices. Ecol Indic 8:395–403
- 55. De-La-Ossa-Carretero JA, Dauvin JC (2010) A comparison of two biotic indices, AMBI and BOPA/BO2A, for assessing the ecological quality status (EcoQS) of benthic macroinvertebrates. Transit Water Bull 4:12–24
- 56. Ruellet T, Dauvin JC (2007) Benthic indicators: analysis of the threshold values of ecological quality classifications for transitional waters. Mar Pollut Bull 54:1707–1714
- 57. Chainho P, Costa JL, Chaves ML, Dauer DM, Costa MJ (2007) Influence of seasonal variability in benthic invertebrate community structure on the use of biotic indices to assess the ecological status of a Portuguese estuary. Mar Pollut Bull 54:1586–1597
- 58. Teixeira H, Salas F, Pardal MA, Marques JC (2007) Applicability of ecological evaluation tools in estuarine ecosystems: the case of the lower Mondego estuary (Portugal). Hydrobiologia 587:101–112
- 59. Dauvin JC, Fisson C, Garnier J, Lafite R, Ruellet T, Billen G, Deloffre J, Verney R (2008) A report card and quality indicators for the Seine estuary: from scientific approach to operational tool. Mar Pollut Bull 57:187–201
- 60. Cognetti G (1992) Colonization of stressed coastal environments. Mar Pollut Bull 24:12-14
- 61. Cognetti G, Maltagliati F (2000) Biodiversity and adaptive mechanisms in brackish water fauna. Mar Pollut Bull 40:7–14
- 62. Cognetti G, Maltagliati F (2008) Perspectives on the ecological assessment of transitional waters. Mar Pollut Bull 56:607–608
- 63. Muxika I, Borja A, Bald J (2007) Using historical data, expert judgement and multivariate analysis in assessing reference conditions and benthic ecological status, according to the European Water Framework Directive. Mar Pollut Bull 55:16–29
- 64. Teixeira H, Salas F, Borja A, Neto JM, Marques JC (2008) A benthic perspective in assessing the ecological status of estuaries: the case of the Mondego estuary (Portugal). Ecol Indic 8:404–416
- 65. Teixeira H, Salas F, Neto JM, Patrício J, Pinto R, Veríssimo H, García-Charton JA, Marcos C, Pérez-Ruzafa A, Marques JC (2008) Ecological indices tracking distinct impacts along disturbance-recovery gradients in a temperate NE Atlantic estuary – guidance on reference values. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 80:130–140
- 66. McLusky DS (1990) The estuarine ecosystem, 2nd edn. Chapman & Hall, New York
- 67. Borja A (2005) The European water framework directive: a challenge for nearshore, coastal and continental shelf research. Cont Shelf Res 25:1768–1783
- Borja A, Miles A, Occhipinti-Ambrogi A, Berg T (2009) Current status of macroinvertebrate methods used for assessing the quality of European marine waters: implementing the Water Framework Directive. Hydrobiologia 633:181–196
- Molozzi J, Feio MJ, Salas F, Marques JC, Callisto M (2013) Maximum ecological potential of tropical reservoirs and benthic invertebrate communities. Environ Monit Assess 185:6591–6606

- 70. Ondiviela B, Gómez AG, Puente A, Juanes JA (2013) A pragmatic approach to define the ecological potential of water bodies heavily modified by the presence of ports. Environ Sci Pol 33:320–321
- 71. Llebot C, Solé J, Delgado M, Fernández-Tejedor M, Camp J, Estrada M (2011) Hydrographical forcing and phytoplankton variability in two semi-enclosed estuarine bays. J Mar Syst 86:69–86
- Llebot C, Rueda FJ, Solé J, Artigas ML, Estrada M (2014) Hydrodynamic states in a winddriven microtidal estuary (Alfacs Bay). J Sea Res 85:263–276
- 73. Ryu J, Khim JS, Kang S, Kang D, Lee C, Koh C (2011) The impact of heavy metal gradients in sediments on benthic macrofauna at population and community levels. Environ Pollut 159:2622–2629
- 74. Mistri M (2002) Persistence of benthic communities: a case study from the Valli di Comacchio, a Northern Adriatic lagoonal ecosystem (Italy). ICES J Mar Sci 59:314–322
- 75. Munari C, Modugno S, Ghion F, Castaldelli G, Fano EA, Rossi R, Mistri M (2003) Recovery of the macrobenthic community in the Valli di Comacchio, Northern Adriatic Sea, Italy. Oceanol Acta 26:67–75
- 76. Munari C, Rossi R, Mistri M (2005) Temporal trends in macrobenthos community structure and redundancy in a shallow coastal lagoon (Valli di Comacchio, Northern Adriatic Sea). Hydrobiologia 550:95–104
- 77. Pérez M, Mascaró O (2005) Mapa de la vegetació submergida de la badia del Fangar (Delta de l'Ebre). Informe Tècnic. Parc Natural del Delta de l'Ebre. Departament de Medi Ambient. Generalitat de Catalunya

First Report on the Distribution and Impact of Marine Alien Species in Coastal Benthic **Assemblages Along the Catalan Coast**

María García, Boris Weitzmann, Susana Pinedo, Emma Cebrian, and Enric Ballesteros

Abstract The Mediterranean Sea is especially prone to the introduction of alien species due to an intense marine traffic, the connection with the Red Sea through the Suez Canal and intensive aquaculture. Catalonia, a region in the Northwestern Mediterranean, began an extensive study on the presence, distribution and impact of invasive macroalgae in 1992, which was extended to all macrobenthic alien species by 2007. Gathering all presence and abundance data of introduced species from the monitoring, we also calculated a Biopollution Level (BPL) index to assess the magnitude of the effects of introduced species on the marine biota at a local level (water body) as required by Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD). Seventeen alien species have been identified although only three can be considered so far as threatening in non-modified environments: the green alga Caulerpa cylindracea and the red algae Womersleyella setacea and Asparagopsis armata. These species show an uneven distribution along the coast but sometimes coexist in the same water body. The impact of alien species on native communities was never severe as shown by the low values obtained using the BPL. The only species triggering a moderate to strong impact was *Caulerpa cylindracea* but it only affected a single water body. However, C. cylindracea exhibited a great temporal

Centre d'Estudis Avançats de Blanes-CSIC, Acc. Cala Sant Francesc 14, 17300 Blanes, Girona, Spain

e-mail: maria@ceab.csic.es

B. Weitzmann C. Suïssa 17, 17258 L'Estartit, Girona, Spain

E. Cebrian Centre d'Estudis Avançats de Blanes-CSIC, Acc. Cala Sant Francesc 14, 17300 Blanes, Girona, Spain

Departament de Ciències Ambientals, Universitat de Girona, Campus de Montilivi, 17071 Girona, Spain

A. Munné et al. (eds.), Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II), Hdb Env Chem (2016) 43: 249-270, DOI 10.1007/698 2015 411, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 11 September 2015

249

M. García (🖂), S. Pinedo, and E. Ballesteros

variability on its abundance, with sudden collapses of its populations, which also caused a great variability in the BPL. Future monitoring of the coasts of Catalonia is advised as there is an increase in the number of water bodies affected by alien species and an increase in their abundances from 2007 to 2012.

Keywords Alien species, BPL (biopollution level) index, Catalan coast, Invasive species, Littoral rocky shores, Mediterranean Sea, MSFD, Water bodies (WBs)

Contents

1	Introduction	250
2	Material and Methods	252
	2.1 Field Procedures	252
	2.2 Data Analyses	253
3	Results	253
	3.1 Alien Species	253
	3.2 BPL Application	256
4	Discussion	260
Ref	rences	263

1 Introduction

Although much less studied than terrestrial ecosystems, marine habitats are known to hold a great number of alien (=introduced) species [1]. The spread of alien species is considered one of the main threats to biodiversity both in the terrestrial and in the marine realm [2–4]. Inventories of alien species are being published in reports and in the scientific literature as they are useful both for public administrations and for the scientific community. Of special interest are those alien species that behave as invasives, i.e. aliens that undergo a rapid spread and conquer novel areas within recipient ecosystems in which they become dominant [5] because they become major drivers of environmental change and they are the main targets to be monitored and controlled [6].

The Mediterranean Sea is heavily affected by the introduction of alien species [7–9], with almost 1,000 taxa reported in 2012 [10]. Inventories of alien species are only present for certain Mediterranean countries like Turkey [11], Israel [12], Cyprus [13], Italy [14], Greece [15–17] and Libya [18], although they are critical for managing marine ecosystems and providing data for the requirements of major objectives at the European Union level such as the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD) [19]. In fact, alien species are one of the eleven qualitative descriptors for the assessment of the environmental status of the water bodies according to the MSFD.

Moreover, the descriptor D2 for the assessment of the environmental status according to MSFD requirements states that introduced species have to be "at levels that do not adversely alter the ecosystems" to attain a Good Environmental Status. This means that presence/absence data has to be available not only on alien species but also on the abundance and impacts of the alien species to the marine habitats. Mediterranean experts know which are the species that are potentially invasive [20–22] and in some cases they also know their spreading rate [16, 23–28]. Moreover, there is plenty of scientific literature dealing with the abundance and effects of invasive species on native Mediterranean assemblages [e.g. 29–43], but they only consider one (or two) species in one or a limited number of habitats. However, as far as we know, there has been no Mediterranean attempt to assess the number of alien species and their effects on the marine biota at a local level, i.e. the level of a water body, as required by MSFD.

Olenin et al. [44] described a methodology specifically focused on the assessment of the magnitude of alien species impacts on native community structure, habitat traits and ecosystem functioning. This methodology uses basic information on abundance and distribution of alien species within a water body (or some other geographical unit) to obtain a score from 0 to 4 at different levels of impact, fitting with the schemes for water quality assessment in the frame of the Water Framework Directive (WFD) [45]. This index was called Biopollution Level (BPL) since, according to Olenin et al. [44], the introduction of alien species is a factor of disturbance that can be viewed as a pollution agent.

The BPL has been first tested in well-studied areas within the Baltic Sea, both in open waters and coastal lagoons, considering also different periods in the same areas to look for changes in the index over time [44, 46]. However the BPL has not been used extensively in other areas although it is easy to apply and compliant with MSFD.

Catalonia is a region situated in the Northwestern Mediterranean with a coastline extending for more than 400 lineal km, whose water bodies are subjected to different pressures and impacts [47]. The regional government from Catalonia initiated in 1992 a monitoring programme to detect the arrival of *Caulerpa taxifolia*, an alien alga that became invasive in southern France [48, 49]. Surveys were carried out by SCUBA diving in 126 stations that were selected to cover the environments where *Caulerpa taxifolia* usually settles at the first stages of colonization. However, in 2006, the monitoring stations were modified in order to cover all kinds of environments, since the programme broadened its aims to make an early detection of other potentially invasive species that were spreading very fast in nearby Mediterranean areas (*Caulerpa cylindracea, Lophocladia lallemandii*, *Womersleyella setacea* and *Oculina patagonica*) [28, 37, 38, 40, 42, 50–55]. The methodology was also slightly improved to allow the calculation of BPL because this index was in line with other biotic indexes used in Catalonia for the implementation of the WFD.

The objectives of this work are twofold: (1) to provide a checklist of the main alien species in the coastal waters of Catalonia at the end of 2014, with references to their extension ranges and relative abundances, if available, and (2) to calculate the BPL index at each coastal water body of Catalonia as an indicator of the additive impacts of invasive species during the period 2007–2012.

2 Material and Methods

2.1 Field Procedures

The study area covers the coastal waters of Catalonia (Northwestern Mediterranean) from Punta de l'Ocell (42° 51′ 45,97″N) to Platja de Sòl de Riu (40° 31′ 27,56″N). These coastal waters have been divided into 34 sectors or water bodies according to their geomorphological features, water basins and anthropogenic pressures, as required by the WFD (Fig. 1). The monitoring was exclusively focused on rocky bottoms and was initiated in 1992. The number of sampled stations has been increasing until 2007, when a total of 188 locations were monitored in a 2-year basis, with the sampling dates concentrated between May and October, the period of the year when the sea conditions are more suitable for diving operations.



Fig. 1 Coastline of Catalonia with indication of the three provinces, the different water bodies and the sampling stations

Sampling locations were selected to include the geographical range of Catalonia and the environmental diversity of its seabeds, covering all kinds of rocky bottoms and ranges of wave exposure, water quality, depth and orientation. However, water bodies C08, C19, C21, C26 and C34 were not surveyed since they were completely devoid of rocky bottoms. Transects of different lengths according to the bathymetric profile of each station were surveyed by two divers. Surveys covered a width of 10 m (5 m at each side of the transect line) of seabed and crossed different habitats. Main habitats were characterized by native species abundances using a semiquantitative index widely used in phytosociology (Braun-Blanquet index) [56– 58]. Every habitat was checked for over 10 min to make the list of the native species but also to record the abundances of the alien species using the same semiquantitative index. Moreover, accurate data on alien species' distribution along the bathymetric range, physical appearance, degree of epiphytism and other relevant aspects were recorded. Qualitative samples of unidentified or doubtful species were collected for accurate identification in the laboratory.

There are two alien species that have been detected only outside the monitoring stations. We report these species but we do not provide any indication of its progression.

2.2 Data Analyses

The BPL index [44] was calculated for each water body taking into account the data collected at all the stations situated inside each water body. The assessment was obtained for every 2 years (2007–2008, 2009–2010 and 2011–2012) and was performed using the criteria stated in the BPL calculation. The presence (presence/absence), distribution range (one, several, many, all localities) and abundance (low, moderate, high) of each alien species were analysed at each water body, and all the species were considered to evaluate the impacts. The BPL at each water body was set according to the greatest impact level of alien species found in the water body [44]. BPL ranges from 0 to 4, with five categories indicating no biopollution (BPL = 0) or different levels of biopollution: weak (BPL = 1), moderate (BPL = 2), strong (BPL = 3) and massive (BPL = 4) [44].

3 Results

3.1 Alien Species

A total of 17 alien species, including two green algae, one brown alga, three red algae, one sponge, two cnidarians, two molluscs, one crustacean, four tunicates and one fish, have been recorded in the Catalan coast during this study (1992–2012). Their first record and their invasive potential are summarized in Table 1. Species

Species	Group	Year	Reference	Invasiveness
Caulerpa cylindracea	Chlorophyta	2008	Ballesteros et al. [51]	Invasive
Codium fragile	Chlorophyta	1981	Ballesteros [59]	Opportunistic
Acrothamnion preissii	Rhodophyta	2006	Ballesteros et al. [60]	Non-invasive
Asparagopsis armata	Rhodophyta	1955	Thomas [61]	Invasive
Womersleyella setacea	Rhodophyta	2006	Ballesteros et al. [60]	Invasive
Dictyota cyanoloma	Ochrophyta	2004	Rull et al. [62]	Non-invasive
Paraleucilla magna	Porifera	2006	Frotscher and Uriz [63]	Non-invasive
Pennaria disticha	Cnidaria	1986	Gili [64]	Non-invasive
Oculina patagonica	Cnidaria	1992	Ballesteros et al. [65]	Opportunistic
Percnon gibbesi	Crustacea	2003	Abelló et al. [66]	Non-invasive
Crassostrea gigas	Mollusca	2010	Ballesteros et al. [67]	Non-invasive
Bursatella leachii	Mollusca	2007	Weitzmann et al. [68]	Non-invasive
Polyandrocarpa zorritensis	Tunicata	1987	Turon and Perera [69]	Opportunistic
Ciona intestinalis	Tunicata	1916	Maluquer [70]	Non-invasive
Microcosmus squamiger	Tunicata	1978	Turon [71]	Opportunistic
Styela plicata	Tunicata	1905	Harant [72]	Non-invasive
Fistularia commersonii	Vertebrata	2007	Pontes (unpublished)	Non-invasive

 Table 1
 Main introduced species reported from 1992 to 2012, with indications on the year of first record and their invasive behaviour in Catalonia during the period 2007–2012. Further explanations on invasive behaviours included in the main text

have been designated as "invasives" if they show an invasive behaviour in natural environments, as "opportunistic invasives" if they behave as invasives only on artificial substrates and anthropogenic environments or as non-invasives if they do not behave as invasives at all. Comments on the impacts and distribution of each species are reported below.

Codium fragile (Suringar) Hariot is common across Catalonia, where it mostly grows on sheltered shallow rocky environments like the entrance of the harbours and some coves with an enhanced nutrient input. It was first reported in Tossa de Mar [as ssp. *tomentosoides* (van Goor) P. C. Silva; [59]]. It was probably present before 1981 since it has been largely misidentified with *Codium tomentosum*, a species that was widely reported before (see Ballesteros and Romero, 1982 [73]). *Codium fragile* can make dense populations in reduced areas, where it covers big patches of the sea bottom but this behaviour is not widespread.

Caulerpa cylindracea Sonder was first reported in 2008 growing between 20 and 50 m in lower infralittoral to circalittoral bottoms from the central coast [51], where it was first detected by artisanal fishermen (Andreu Núñez, personal communication). It invades both rocky and sedimentary bottoms and it even grows over dead *Posidonia oceanica* rhizomes. The species quickly spread and increased its density making dense carpets around 20 m depth offshore Sitges. However, the population collapsed in February 2012 for unknown reasons and recolonized the bottom again after August 2012 (author's unpublished data). At present (September 2014), the species has spread to 5 m depth (Eduard Llorente, personal communication) and has

been found at other distant localities (Blanes, 2013; Aurora Martínez-Ricart and Bernat Hereu, personal communication).

The presence of *Acrothamnion preissii* (Sonder) E. M. Wollaston is anecdotal since only two small thalli have been reported in 2010 (Palamós, Conxi Rodriguez-Prieto, personal communication; l'Escala, Marc Terradas, personal communication). It has never been recorded again.

Both the gametophyte and the tetrasporophyte [*Falkenbergia rufolanosa* (Harvey) F. Schmitz] of *Asparagopsis armata* Harvey were already reported by Thomas (1955) [61]. The distribution of the gametophyte seems to be restricted from the northern coast southward till Blanes, always on moderately exposed shallow waters. It attains large coverages from late winter to early spring (March to May) on rocky bottoms north of Medes Islands [74]. The tetrasporophyte is present everywhere but never abundant. The gametophyte, however, shows an invasive behaviour only in spring and in the northernmost part of the Catalan coast.

Womersleyella setacea (Hollenberg) R. E. Norris was first found in 2006 from at Palamós [60] and has expanded northwards and southwards. Its distribution is always restricted to the northern part of Catalonia, where it thrives on coralligenous outcrops. It shows an invasive behaviour everywhere.

Dictyota cyanoloma Tronholm, De Clerck, Gómez Garreta and Rull Lluch was first collected in 2004 and misidentified with *D. ciliolata* [62] before it was described as a new species [75]. It has been found all along the coast and prefers shallow, slightly polluted waters, growing on rocky bottoms and artificial substrates, mainly in small harbours and nearby areas.

The calcareous sponge *Paraleucilla magna* Klautau, Monteiro and Borojevic, 2004, was first reported in 2006 [63] and is currently found all along the coast on shallow water rocky bottoms. It usually grows as an epiphyte of different seaweeds.

Pennaria disticha Goldfuss, 1820, was first reported as *Halocordyle disticha* at Tossa and Sant Carles de la Ràpita [64] and remained unnoticed until the year 2011, when it appeared again in several areas of the central and southern coasts. It colonizes shallow water environments, always on rocky bottoms in moderately exposed conditions.

A single colony of the zooxanthellate coral *Oculina patagonica* de Angelis, 1908, was found in the breakwater of the southernmost harbour in Catalonia (Cases d'Alcanar) in 1992 [65]. Its distribution has expanded northwards since then [28] and at present is common in the southern and central coasts. Some scattered colonies have been also detected in the northern coast. It grows on shallow rocky bottoms and has a special preference for breakwaters and other artificial habitats.

The crab *Percnon gibbesi* was first reported in the coast of Barcelona [66]. It has been found intermittently in our surveys, always in low abundances, on shallow rocky bottoms and artificial substrates.

The Japanese oyster, *Crassostrea gigas*, has been cultured for a long time in the bays of the Ebre Delta, southern Catalonia. We have reported it growing attached to rocks on the breakwaters of the harbours of l'Ampolla and Cases d'Alcanar, situated at the entrances of Ebre Delta bays [67]. *Crassostrea gigas* seems to be restricted to closed bays and lagoonal environments, not expanding abroad.

The sea slug *Bursatella leachii* (de Blainville, 1817) was detected in Alfacs Bay (Ebre Delta) in 2007 growing on muddy bottoms with *Caulerpa prolifera* at 2 m depth [68]. Besides this station, *Bursatella leachii* has been found intermittently at the Forum harbour, close to Barcelona.

One colony of the sea squirt *Polyandrocarpa zorritensis* (Van Name, 1931) was first reported in Fangar Bay in 1986 [69]. It is now common in Alfacs Bay where it grows abundantly on artificial substrates and upper infralittoral rocky bottoms.

Ciona intestinalis is a solitary sea squirt that has been found exclusively in harbours and closed bays, where it grows mainly on artificial substrates. It is common in Ebre Delta bays [71].

Microcosmus squamiger Michaelsen, 1927, is a solitary sea squirt present all along the coast, always growing on rocky and artificial substrates from harbours, marinas and enclosed bays. It can colonize all available substrate in harbours where it behaves as invasive but always restricted to these environments. First reported by Turon (1987) [71] from several localities as *Microcosmus exasperatus*, a closely related lessepsian migrant with which it has been usually misidentified [76, 77].

Styela plicata (Lesueur, 1823) is a solitary sea squirt found all along the coast in enclosed bays (Alfacs, Fangar), harbours and nearby areas, growing particularly on artificial substrates. Already reported from Catalonia by Harant (1927) [72].

Fistularia commersonii Rüppell, 1838, is the first lessepsian fish that has established an enduring population in Catalonia. It was first detected in Palamós in 2007 (Miguel Ponte, personal communication) and its sight by SCUBA and free divers is becoming not exceptional.

3.2 **BPL** Application

Here we present the results of the application of BPL index along the coast of Catalonia during the periods 2007–2008, 2009–2010 and 2011–2012. Some water bodies have not been evaluated since they have not been surveyed (Table 2).

During the period 2007–2008 (Fig. 2, Table 2), eight alien species were recorded (A. armata, B. leachii, C. cylindracea, C. fragile, D. cyanoloma, O. patagonica, P. gibbesi and W. setacea) but only W. setacea and C. cylindracea showed an invasive behaviour in natural environments during our surveys. Womersleyella setacea partially covered coralligenous assemblages on the water body C14 but with a weak impact. Caulerpa cylindracea colonized coastal detritic bottoms in water body C24 but without causing major impacts. Oculina patagonica also displayed weak impacts on artificial substrates of water bodies C27, C32, C33 and C35.

During the period 2009–2010 (Fig. 3, Table 2), thirteen alien species were recorded (A. preissii, A. armata, B. leachii, C. cylindracea, C. fragile, C. gigas, D. cyanoloma, M. squamiger, O. patagonica, P. magna, P. gibbesi, S. plicata and

Table 2 Presence (+) of the main introduced species (A.a., Asparagopsis armata; A.p., Acrothamnion preissii; B.I., Bursatella leachii; C.c. Caulerpa cylindracea; C.f., Codium fragile; C.g., Crassostrea gigas; D.c., Dicryota cyanoloma; Microcosmus squamiger; O.p. Oculina paragonica; P.m.; Paraleucilla magna, P.d., Pennaria disticha; P.g., Percono gibbesi; P.z., Polyandrocarpa zorritensis; S.p., Styel Dictorin W s Womerydowlar corrored humo, the three studied errors (1, 2007–2008; 2, 2010; 3, 7011–2010; 3, 7011–2010; a, prin error ward ward with a study with
body. Water bodies shaded in grey have never been evaluated

	GIRONA													BARCELONA										IAKKAGUNA									
WB	C01	C02	C03	C04	C05	C06	C07	C08	C09	C10	C11	C12	C14	C15	C16	C17	C18	C19	C20	C21	C22	C23	C24	CZ5	C26	C27	C28	C29	C30	C31	C32	C33	The statement of the st
A 1					+	+				+			+																				
a.*										+	+		+																				
ŝ	+						+		+	+	+		+																				
A.P										+			Ť																				
2.																																	
1																																	
3.1.																																	
ŝ																			+														
C.C																							+										
1 0																							+										
1	+	+	+	+		+	+		+	+	+	+	+		+							+	+	+		+				+	+	+	
C.f.	+	+	+	+		+	+		+	+	+	+	+		+							+	+	+		+				+	+	+	
ŝ	+	+	+	+		+	+		+	+	+	+	+		+							+	+	+		+				+	+	+	
C.8																																+	
3																																+	
1	+												+	+	+				+			+	+				+						
2. 2														+	+				+			+	+				+						
ŝ	+													+	+				+			+					+						
M.5																					Ť								Ŧ			7	
2 3							+														+		+				+		+++			+	
0 1													+		+		+									+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
2 ²									+				+		+		+				+			+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
ŝ							+						+	+	+		+				+			+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	
P.m							+			+		+	+		+							+	1	1			+						
L 3							+		+	+		+	+	+	+				+			+		1			+	+		+	+		
ч н															,									.						,			
.d.																																	
ŝ															+						+	+				+			+		+		
P.8.																											+					+	
m																																	
Ч. ^т																																	
5 2																																	
S.p.											+						+																
3											+						+				+							+					
N T			+										+																				
. ~			+		+								+																				



Fig. 2 BPL index for the different water bodies during the period 2007-2008

W. setacea). BPL values ranged between no impact and moderate impact. A moderate impact was produced by *C. cylindracea* in water body C24 since *C. cylindracea* covered large areas of detritical coastal bottoms with densities around 4,500 fronds m⁻² during fall. *W. setacea* also became more abundant at infected locations and increased its distribution depth; it also colonized some nearby areas in water body C14 and spread to some distant locations (water body C03) but always showed a weak impact on colonized environments. *O. patagonica* generated a weak impact on artificial substrates of water bodies C27, C31, C32, C33 and C35.

Fourteen alien species were recorded during the period 2011–2012 (Fig. 4, Table 2) (*A. armata*, *B. leachii*, *C. cylindracea*, *C. fragile*, *C. gigas*, *D. cyanoloma*, *M. squamiger*, *O. patagonica*, *P. magna*, *P. disticha*, *P. gibbesi*, *P. zorritensis*, *S. plicata* and *W. setacea*), but only *C. cylindracea* and *W. setacea* showed invasive



Fig. 3 BPL index for the different water bodies during the period 2009-2010

behaviour on natural environments during the surveying period. *Caulerpa cylindracea* attained frond densities up to 10,000 fronds m⁻² in the water body C24 during 2011 and displayed a strong impact before totally collapsing in late winter 2012. *Womersleyella setacea* expanded its distribution range to water body C06 but was always showing a weak impact on coralligenous outcrops. *Microcosmus squamiger* constituted monospecific beds in the harbours of Roses (water body C07) and Sitges (water body C22) but its distribution was restricted to the breakwaters and thus having a weak impact at the level of the water body. *Oculina patagonica* expanded its distribution to four new water bodies (C27, C28, C29, C30) but its impact was always weak and restricted to artificial substrates. The sponge *Paraleucilla magna* was detected in 15 water bodies but never showed an invasive behaviour.



Fig. 4 BPL index for the different water bodies during the period 2011–2012

4 Discussion

Even we have not intensively surveyed areas with high propagule supply in the coasts of Catalonia, the number of detected alien species is still rather low when compared to other Mediterranean areas. The high geographical distance between Catalonia and the Suez Canal, by far the main vector of species introduction in the Mediterranean Sea [7], may explain, at least in large part, the big difference in the number of alien species between Catalonia and Eastern Mediterranean countries [11–13, 16, 17]. The relatively low temperature of the coastal waters of Catalonia [78, 79] should act also as a protection against the colonization of warm-water lessepsian immigrants, as suggested by the data provided by Galil [7] and Zenetos et al. [10]. On the other hand there is a striking difference in the number of alien species present in the neighbouring French Mediterranean coast, where the total number of aliens is enhanced by the large amount of exotic macroalgae arrived by oyster aquaculture [80, 81]. Shellfish farming is also important in the bays of the

Ebre Delta [82], but they are not colonized by the exotic macroalgae that are so common in French Mediterranean lagoons. Globally, the situation in the coasts of Catalonia is much more similar to that found in western Sardinia or the Ligurian Sea coast, where 13 and 38 alien species have been reported, respectively [14]. Comparisons within other Spanish regions are not available since there is no published literature on this issue.

All the alien species reported here were already known from other Mediterranean areas. The species with the lowest number of reports were *Polyandrocarpa zorritensis*, which had been found in two Italian harbours [83], and *Dictyota cyanoloma*, a species that is suspected to be an introduction but that the region of origin is still unknown. Other Mediterranean localities for *D. cyanoloma* outside Catalonia are Izmir (Turkey) [84] and Split (Zuljevic, personal communication).

Tunicates are the taxonomic group holding the highest number of alien species. However, the species reported here are always confined to artificial substrates in highly modified environments, such as harbours, marinas and aquaculture facilities, or to estuaries and bays, as it is usually the case for invasive tunicates [85, 86]. They do not seem to be of great concern outside these environments, although they can generate economic problems in shellfish farms and in harbours as fouling organisms. Breakwaters and aquaculture facilities in the Ebre Delta bays host great numbers of *Crassostrea gigas*. *Bursatella leachii* is exclusively found in enclosed bays and highly modified environments. *Oculina patagonica* also prefers man-made structures such as breakwaters [28, 87, 88] although in the long term may become also abundant in natural environments [40].

Preference for natural environments is evident for the three seaweeds that show an invasive behaviour in Catalonia: *Womersleyella setacea*, *Caulerpa cylindracea* and *Asparagopsis armata*. *Womersleyella setacea* thrives in well-developed coralligenous bottoms [89–93] and also on macroalgal beds and seagrass meadows [93–97]. It has deleterious effects on the suspension feeders living in coralligenous assemblages [53, 98] and on the crustose calcareous macroalgae that build up the outcrops [92].

Caulerpa cylindracea probably is the most aggressive invasive macrophyte in the Mediterranean as it has spread very fast both at a regional level and at the local level across different depths and because its colonization changes the species composition and the structure of the assemblages [25, 26, 34, 54, 99–102]. Consumption of *C. cylindracea* reduces the performances of the herbivores [103–106] but, in any case, herbivory does not affect the ability of *C. cylindracea* to invade [107, 108]. Moreover, *C. cylindracea* is known to show large temporal, not necessarily seasonal, changes in its abundance [37, 109], which explains the sudden collapse and subsequent recovery of *C. cylindracea* in the water body C24.

Asparagopsis armata, a species whose gametophytic stage invades shallow rocky environments in northern Catalonia [75], has not been considered in the calculation of the BPL index because its abundance strongly decays in spring and it has never been found abundant during the surveys. However, even if its abundance only blooms during a short period of time, we agree with Boudouresque and Verlaque [20] in considering it invasive. Further studies have to be performed to

account for the real impact of A. armata in shallow water assemblages from northern Catalonia.

In our opinion, both *C. cylindracea* and *W. setacea* are the two invasive species that will be most probably threaten the species composition and functioning of benthic assemblages in Catalonia in the long term and at a wide extent. Aside from these two species, *Lophocladia lallemandii* is another candidate to threaten Catalonia's benthic marine assemblages in the near future. It has already been reported to be invading the rocky reefs in the Columbretes Islands [54, 55], an archipelago that is only 35 nautical miles southeast from the southernmost sector of the Catalan coast. *Lophocladia lallemandii* shows a highly invasive behaviour [20, 38, 52, 110–113] with severe affectations on several key Mediterranean ecosystems and species [32, 52, 114, 115].

The application of the BPL index to benthic Mediterranean assemblages has been performed easily. Each station was surveyed by a team of two divers and all the information required by the index could be obtained in a single dive lasting up to 1 h. The assessment of overall water body information obviously depends on the number of dives required to have a good representation and a proper station replication. However, in any case, the time needed is not longer than the time used for other assessments of environmental quality that require SCUBA diving [e.g. 116–121].

There is a clear increase on the alien species impact on shallow benthic assemblages in Catalonia during the last 6 years, with higher number of alien species present and higher coverages for some species. This implies a worsening on the BPL index, with 15 of the 29 water bodies surveyed having a weak impact by alien species and one water body having a moderate impact during the period 2011–2012, versus only six water bodies with a weak impact during the period 2007–2008. The spread of *W. setacea* is driving this worsening in northern shores, while the spread and increasing abundances of *C. cylindracea* and to a lesser extent *O. patagonica* are driving the deterioration in southern shores.

It is hard to compare these BPL values and the deterioration trend with other Mediterranean regions as this is the first time that the BPL has been applied in the Mediterranean. However, available data on the literature related to the current abundances of invasive species and its spread suggests that Catalonia has a lower affectation compared with other countries. We have already pointed out the extended colonization by alien macroalgae in bays and lagoons from the Gulf of Lions (France) [82] and the high level of colonization by *C. cylindracea*, *L. lallemandii* and *W. setacea* in the Balearic Islands [37, 38, 52, 91], which would probably give BPL values ranging from moderate to strong impact in most water bodies of these areas. The spread of *C. cylindracea* [122, 123] and *O. patagonica* [28, 89] in Spanish regions south of Catalonia also suggests weak to moderate values of BPL in these areas. And for sure the situation deteriorates when we move towards the Southeastern Mediterranean where the impacts of invasive species completely transform the whole ecosystem structure and dynamics [e.g. 39, 43, 124–128].

The conjunction of a relatively low water temperature that hinders the settlement and growth of warm-water aliens, the long distance to the Suez Canal and the existence of natural barriers between the lagoons from southern France and those from Ebre Delta bays seem to account for the present generalized weak impact of invasive species in most of the coastal water bodies from Catalonia. However, predicted sea warming following the current scenarios of temperature increase in the Mediterranean region [129], the expected expansion of the Suez Canal [130] and the current spread rates of species such as *C. cylindracea*, *W. setacea*, *O. patagonica* and *L. lallemandii* reported here do not provide any hope for this situation to be maintained or improved, neither in the short or in the long term. Thus, future monitoring for marine species introductions and invasions in the Catalan coast is strongly advised.

Acknowledgements Thanks are due to Olga Delgado, Manuel Maldonado, Daniel Martin, Clara Rovira, Gemma Ribera, Natàlia Sant, Teresa Alcoverro, Ramón Alós, Luisa Mangialajo, Xavier Torras, Paula López, Esther Jordana, Maria Paola Satta, Maria Elena Cefalí and Simone Mariani for their help during the field missions. We also acknowledge Andreu Núñez, Conxi Rodríguez-Prieto, Marc Terradas, Eduard Llorente, Aurora Martínez-Ricart and Bernat Hereu for providing records of some aliens. We are especially grateful to Agència Catalana de l'Aigua and to INTRAMURAL-CSIC project reference 201330E065 for providing funds for this study. Finally, thanks are also due to M. De Torres for her constant support during this study.

References

- 1. Grosholz ED (2005) Recent biological invasion may hasten invasional meltdown by accelerating historical introductions. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102:1088–1091
- Bax N, Williamson A, Aguero M, Gonzalez E, Geeves W (2003) Marine invasive alien species: a threat to global biodiversity. Mar Policy 27:313–323
- 3. Molnar JL, Gamboa RL, Revenga C, Spalding MD (2008) Assessing the global threat of invasive species to marine biodiversity. Front Ecol Environ 6:485–492
- 4. Hulme PE, Pysek P, Nentwig W, Vila M (2009) Will threat of biological invasions unite the European Union? Science 324:40–41
- 5. Valery L, Fritz H, Lefeuvre JC, Simberloff D (2008) In search of a real definition of the biological invasion phenomenon itself. Biol Invasions 10:1345–1351
- Leppäkoski E, Gollasch S, Gruszka P, Ojaveer H, Olenin S, Panov V (2002) The Baltic a sea of invaders. Can J Fish Aquat Sci 59:1175–1188
- Galil BS (2009) Espècies invasores de la regió eritrea a la Mediterrània. Senyals de canvi L'Atzavara 18:51–60
- Lejeusne C, Chevaldonné P, Pergent-Martini C, Boudouresque CF, Perez T (2010) Climate change effects on a miniature ocean: the highly diverse, highly impacted Mediterranean Sea. Trends Ecol Evol 25:250–260
- Zenetos A, Gofas S, Verlaque M, Çinar M, García Raso E, Bianchi CN, Morri C, Azzurro E, Bilecenoglu M, Froglia C, Siokou I, Violanti D, Sfriso A, San Martin G, Giangrande A, Katagan T, Ballesteros E, Ramos-Esplà A, Mastrototaro F, Ocaña O, Zingone A, Gambi MC, Streftaris N (2010) Alien species in the Mediterranean areas of the European Union's Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MFSD) by 2010. Part I. Spatial distribution. Mediterr Mar Sci 11:381–493

- 10. Zenetos A, Gofas S, Morri C, Rosso A, Violanti D, García Raso JE, Çinar ME, Almogi-Labin A, Ates AS, Azzurro E, Ballesteros E, Bianchi CN, Bilecenoglu M, Gambi MC, Giangrande A, Gravili C, Hyams-Kaphzan O, Karachle PK, Katsanevakis S, Lipej L, Mastrototaro F, Mineur F, Pancucci-Papadopoulou MA, Ramos Esplá A, Salas C, San Martín G, Sfriso A, Streftaris N, Verlaque M (2012) Alien species in the Mediterranean Sea by 2012. A contribution to the application of European Union's Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD). Part 2. Introduction trends and pathways. Mediterr Mar Sci 13:328–352
- Çinar ME, Bilecenoglu M, Ozturk B, Katagan T, Aysel V (2005) Alien species on the coasts of Turkey. Mediterr Mar Sci 6:119–146
- 12. Galil BS (2007) Seeing Red: alien species along the Mediterranean coast of Israel. Aquat Invasions 2:281–312
- Katsanevakis S, Tsiamis K, Ioannou G, Michailidis N, Zenetos A (2009) Inventory of alien marine species of Cyprus (2009). Mediterr Mar Sci 10:109–133
- 14. Occhipinti-Ambrogi A, Marchini A, Cantone G, Castelli A, Chimenz C, Cormaci M, Froglia C, Furnari G, Gambi MC, Giaccone G, Giangrande A, Gravili Z, Mastrototaro F, Mazziotti C, Orsi-Relini L, Piraino S (2011) Alien species along the Italian coasts: an overview. Biol Invasions 13:531–532
- Tsiamis K, Panayotidis P, Zenetos A (2008) Alien marine macrophytes in Greece: a review. Bot Mar 51:237–246
- 16. Zenetos A, Pancucci-Papadopoulou M-A, Zogaris S et al (2009) Aquatic alien species in Greece (2009): tracking sources, patterns and effects on the ecosystem. J Biol Res Thessaloniki 12:135–172
- 17. Zenetos A, Katsanevakis S, Poursanidis D et al (2011) Marine alien species in Greek Seas: additions and amendments by 2010. Mediterr Mar Sci 12:95–120
- Bazairi H, Sghaier YR, Benamer I, Langar H, Pergent G, Bourass EM, Verlaque M, Ben Soussi J, Zenetos A (2013) Alien marine species of Libya: first inventory and new records in El-Kouf National Park (Cyrenaica) and the neighbouring areas. Mediterr Mar Sci 14:451–462
 EC (2008) Marine Strategy Framework Directive 2008/56/EC
- 19. EC (2008) Marine Shalegy Hancwork Directive 2008/50/EC
- Boudouresque CF, Verlaque M (2002) Biological pollution in the Mediterranean Sea: invasive versus introduced macrophytes. Mar Pollut Bull 44:32–38
- 21. Zenetos A, Çinar ME, Pancucci-Papadopoulou MA, Harmelin JG, Furnari G, Andaloro F, Bellou N, Streftaris N, Zibrowius H (2005) Annotated list of marine alien species in the Mediterranean with records of the worst invasive species. Mediterr Mar Sci 6:63–118
- 22. Streftaris N, Zenetos A (2006) Alien marine species in the Mediterranean the 100 'Worst Invasives' and their impact. Mediterr Mar Sci 7:87–117
- 23. Meinesz A, Hesse B (1991) Introduction of the tropical alga *Caulerpa taxifolia* and its invasion of the northwestern Mediterranean. Oceanol Acta 14:415–426
- 24. Ruitton S, Verlaque M, Boudouresque CF (2005) Seasonal changes of the introduced *Caulerpa racemosa* var. *cylindracea* (Caulerpales, Chlorophyta) at the northwest limit of its Mediterranean range. Aquat Bot 82:55–70
- 25. Piazzi L, Meinesz A, Verlaque M, Ak Ali B, Antolic B, Argyrou M, Balata D, Ballesteros E, Calvo S, Cinelli F, Cirik S, Cossu A, D'archino R, Djellouli AS, Javel F, Lanfranco E, Mifsud C, Pala D, Panayotidis P, Peirano A, Pergent G, Petrocelli A, Ruitton S, Zuljevic A, Ceccherelli G (2005) Invasion of *Caulerpa racemosa* var. *cylindracea* (Caulerpales, Chlorophyta) in the Mediterranean Sea: an assessment of the spread. Cryptogam Algol 26:189–202
- 26. Klein JC, Verlaque M (2008) The *Caulerpa racemosa* invasion: a critical review. Mar Pollut Bull 56:205–225
- 27. Katsanevakis S, Weber A, Pipitone C, Leopold M, Cronin M, Scheidat M, Doyle T, Buhl-Mortensen L, Buhl-Mortensen P, D'Anna G, de Boois I, Dalpadado P, Damalas D, Fiorentino F, Garofalo G, Giacalone VM, Hawley KL, Issaris Y, Jansen J, Knight CM, Knittweis L, Kröncke I, Mirto S, Muxika I, Reiss H, Skjoldal HR, Vöge S (2012) Monitoring

marine populations and communities: methods dealing with imperfect detectability. Aquat Biol 16:31-52

- Serrano E, Coma R, Ribes M, Weitzmann B, García M, Ballesteros E (2013) Northward expansion of a coral species: evidence for fundamental modification of a temperate ecosystem. PLoS One 8(1):e52739
- 29. Verlaque M, Fritayre P (1994) Mediterranean algal communities are changing in the face of the invasive alga *Caulerpa taxifolia* (Vahl) C.Agardh. Oceanol Acta 17:659–672
- 30. Devillele X, Verlaque M (1995) Changes and degradation in a *Posidonia oceanica* bed invaded by the introduced tropical alga *Caulerpa taxifolia* in the north-western Mediterranean. Bot Mar 38:79–87
- 31. Ceccherelli G, Piazzi L, Cinelli F (2000) Response of the non-indigenous *Caulerpa racemosa* (Forsskal) J-Agardh to the native seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* (L.) Delile: effect of density of shoots and orientation of edges of meadows. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 243:227–240
- 32. Ballesteros E, Cebrian E, Alcoverro T (2007) Mortality of shoots of *Posidonia oceanica* following meadow invasion by the red alga *Lophocladia lallemandii*. Bot Mar 50:8–13
- 33. Bulleri F, Benedetti-Cecchi L (2008) Facilitation of the introduced green alga Caulerpa racemosa by resident algal turfs: experimental evaluation of underlying mechanisms. Mar Ecol Prog Ser 364:77–86
- 34. Vázquez-Luis M, Sánchez-Jerez P, Bayle-Sempere JT (2008) Changes in amphipod (Crustacea) assemblages associated with shallow-water algal habitats invaded by *Caulerpa racemosa* var. *cylindracea* in the western Mediterranean Sea. Mar Environ Res 65:416–426
- Piazzi L, Balata D (2009) Invasion of alien macroalgae in different Mediterranean habitats. Biol Invasions 11:193–204
- 36. Francour P, Pellissier V, Mangialajo L, Buisson E, Stadelmann B, Veillard N, Meinesz A, Thibaut T, de Vaugelas V (2009) Changes in invertebrate assemblages of *Posidonia oceanica* beds following *Caulerpa taxifolia* invasion. Vie Milieu 59:31–38
- 37. Cebrian E, Ballesteros E (2009) Temporal and spatial variability in shallow and deep-water populations of the invasive *Caulerpa racemosa* var. *cylindracea* in the Western Mediterranean. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 83:469–474
- Cebrian E, Ballesteros E (2010) Invasion of Mediterranean benthic assemblages by red alga *Lophocladia lallemandii* (Montagne) F. Schmitz: depth-related temporal variability in bio-mass and phenology. Aquat Bot 92:81–85
- 39. Sala E, Kizilkaya Z, Yildirim D, Ballesteros E (2011) Alien marine fishes deplete algal biomass in the Eastern Mediterranean. PLoS One 6(2):e17356
- 40. Coma R, Serrano E, Linares C, Ribes M, Diaz D, Ballesteros E (2011) Sea urchins predation facilitates coral invasion in a marine reserve. PLoS One 6(7):e22017
- 41. Klein JC, Verlaque M (2011) Experimental removal of the invasive *Caulerpa racemosa* triggers partial assemblage recovery. J Mar Biol Assoc UK 91:117–125
- 42. Cebrian E, Rodriguez-Prieto C (2012) Marine invasion in the Mediterranean Sea: the role of abiotic factors when there is no biological resistance. PLoS One 7(2):e31135
- 43. Verges A, Tomas F, Cebrian E, Ballesteros E, Kizilkaya Z, Dendrinos P, Karamanlidis A, Spiegel D, Sala E (2014) Tropical rabbitfish and the deforestation of a warming temperate sea. J Ecol 102:1518–1527
- Olenin S, Minchin D, Daunys D (2007) Assessment of biopollution in aquatic ecosystems. Mar Pollut Bull 55:379–394
- 45. EC (2000) Water Framework Directive 2000/60/EC, p 72
- 46. Zaiko A, Lehtiniemi M, Narscius A, Olenin S (2011) Assessment of bioinvasion impacts on a regional scale: a comparative approach. Biol Invasions 13:1739–1765
- 47. IMPRESS (2013) Característiques de la demarcació, anàlisi d'impactes i pressions de l'activitat humana, i anàlisi econòmica de l'ús de l'aigüa a les masses d'aigua del districte de conca fluvial de Catalunya. Agència Catalana de l'Aigua, Generalitat de Catalunya, Barcelona, p 96

- 48. Boudouresque CF, Meinesz A, Ribera MA, Ballesteros E (1995) Spread of the green alga *Caulerpa taxifolia* (Caulerpales, Chlorophyta) in the Mediterranean: possible consequences of a major ecological event. Sci Mar 59:21–29
- 49. De Torres M, Delgado O, Weitzmann B, Martin D, Maldonado M, Ribera G, Sant N, Ballesteros E (1996) Surveillance programme on the introduction of *Caulerpa taxifolia* in the Catalan coast. Years 1992–1994. In: Ribera MA, Ballesteros E, Boudouresque CF, Gómez A, Gravez V (eds) Second international workshop on *Caulerpa taxifolia*, Barcelona. Universitat de Barcelona, Barcelona, pp 67–73
- 50. Weitzmann B, García M, Cebrian E, Ballesteros E (2009) Les invasions biològiques en el medi marí: exemples i impactes a la Mediterrània Occidental. L'Atzavara 18:39–49
- 51. Ballesteros E, García M, Weitzmann B (2008) Informe: Detecció de Caulerpa racemosa var. cylindracea a la costa de Vilanova i la Geltrú. Agència Catalana de l'Aigua. Conselleria de Medi Ambient. Generalitat de Catalunya
- 52. Cebrian E, Ballesteros E (2010) Invasion susceptibility of Mediterranean rocky benthic assemblages to red alga *Lophocladia lallemandii* (Montagne) F. Schmitz. In: El Asmi S, Langar H, Belgacem W (eds) Proceedings of the Fourth Mediterranean symposium on marine vegetation, Yasmine-Hammamet. RAC/SPA, Tunis, pp 37–42, Dec 2010
- 53. De Caralt S, Cebrian E (2013) Impact of an invasive alga (Womersleyella setacea) on sponge assemblages: compromising the viability of future populations. Biol Invasions 15:1591–1600
- 54. Kersting D, Ballesteros E, Bensoussan N, Casado C, De Caralt S, Teixidó N, Linares C (2014) Long-term monitoring of *Cladocora caespitosa* reefs in the Columbretes Islands: from mapping to population dynamics and threats. In: Bouafif C, Langar H, Ouerghi A (eds) Proceedings of the Second Mediterranean symposium of coralligenous and other calcareous bioconcretions, Portoroz, Slovenia. RAC/SPA, Tunis, pp 89–94, Oct 2014
- 55. Kersting DK, Ballesteros E, De Caralt S, Linares C (2014) Invasive macrophytes in a marine reserve (Columbretes Islands, NW Mediterranean): spread dynamics and interactions with the endemic scleractinian coral *Cladocora caespitosa*. Biol Invasions 16:1599–1610
- 56. Braun-Blanquet J (1979) Fitosociología. Bases para el estudio de las comunidades vegetales. Blume, Madrid
- 57. Cebrian E, Ballesteros E (2004) Zonation patterns of benthic communities in an upwelling area from the western Mediterranean (La Herradura, Alboran Sea). Sci Mar 68:69–84
- 58. Sales M, Ballesteros E (2010) Long-term comparison of algal assemblages dominated by *Cystoseira crinita* (Fucales, Heterokontophyta) from Cap Corse (Corsica, North Western Mediterranean). Eur J Phycol 45:404–412
- 59. Ballesteros E (1981) Contribució al coneixement algològic de la Mediterrània espanyola: algues bentòniques i litorals de Tossa de Mar (Girona). Butll Inst Cat Hist Nat 46(4):55–73
- 60. Ballesteros E, Pinedo S, García M, Torras X, Jordana E, Satta MP, Weitzmann B, López P, Arévalo R (2006). Informe final del programa "Estudi de la vulnerabilitat i de la qualitat ambiental dels fons marins i la zona litoral a Catalunya i prevenció de la implantació de *Caulerpa taxifolia*". Any 2006. Agència Catalana de l'Aigua. Conselleria de Medi Ambient. Generalitat de Catalunya
- 61. Thomas L (1955) Observaciones sobre la ecología de las formas Asparagopsis armata-Falkenbergia rufolanosa y un nuevo órgano de reproducción. Collect Bot 4:399–407
- Rull J, Ballesteros E, Barceló MC, Gómez-Garreta A, Ribera Siguan MA (2007) *Dictyota* ciliolata sonder ex Kutzing (Phaeophyceae, Dictyotales) in the Mediterranean Sea. Cryptogam Algol 28:89–97
- 63. Frotscher PJ, Uriz MJ (2008) Reproduction and life cycle of the calcarean sponge *Paraleucilla magna* in the Mediterranean Sea. In: XV Simposio Ibérico de Estudios de Bentos Marino, Funchal, Septiembre 2008, p 121
- 64. Gili JM (1986) Estudio sistemático y faunístico de los Cnidarios de la Costa Catalana. Tesis doctoral, Autonomous University of Barcelona
- 65. Ballesteros E, Delgado O, Weitzmann B (1992) IX Informe del Programa de prevenció de la implantació de *Caulerpa taxifolia* a les costes catalanes. Departament de Medi Ambient. Generalitat de Catalunya

- 66. Abelló P, Visauta E, Bucci A, Demestre M (2003) New data on the spread of the crab *Percnon gibbesi* (Brachyura: Grapsidae) in the western Mediterranean. Bol Soc Hist Nat Baleares 46:73–77
- 67. Ballesteros E, García M, Torras X, Weitzmann B, Flagella MM, Pinedo S, Jordana E, Satta MP (2010) Informe final del programa CTN0802811 "Disseny realització i suport del programa de vigilància de la qualitat de les aigües litorals de Catalunya, en funció de les comunitats de macroalgues, segons la directiva Marc de l'Aigua i de la prevenció de la implantació d'espècies invasores". Any 2010. Agència Catalana de l'Aigua. Conselleria de Medi Ambient. Generalitat de Catalunya
- 68. Weitzmann B, García M, Ballesteros E (2007) First record of the sea hare *Bursatella leachi* (de Blainville, 1817) in the continental Iberian coasts. Butll Inst Cat Hist Nat 75:153–158
- 69. Turon X, Perera M (1988) Las ascidias del delta del Ebro. Aspectos faunísticos y cuantitativos. Publ Dept Zool 14:81–90
- Maluquer M (1916) Treballs oceanogràfics a la costa de l'Empordà. Ann Junta Cienc Nat Barcelona 1916:221–261
- Turon X (1987) Estudio de las ascidias de las costas de Catalunya e Islas Baleares. Tesis doctoral, Universitat de Barcelona
- 72. Harant H (1927) La faune ascidiologique de Banyuls et de Cette: essai de révision des ascidies de la Méditerranée occidentale. Ann Inst Oceanogr Monaco 4:209–251
- Ballesteros E, Romero J (1982) Catálogo de las algas bentónicas (con exclusión de las diatomeas) de la costa catalana. Collect Bot 13:723–765
- 74. Sala E, Boudouresque CF (1997) The role of fishes in the organization of a Mediterranean sublittoral community. 1. Algal communities. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 212:25–44
- 75. Tronholm A, Steen F, Tyberghein L, Leliaert F, Verbruggen H, Ribera Siguan MA, De Clerck O (2010) Species delimitation, taxonomy, and biogeography of *Dictyota* in Europe (Dictyotales, Phaeophyceae). J Phycol 46:1301–1321
- 76. Turon X, Nishikawa T, Rius M (2007) Spread of *Microcosmus squamiger* (Ascidiacea: Pyuridae) in the Mediterranean Sea and adjacent waters. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 342:185–188
- 77. Ramos-Esplà AA, Izquierdo A, Cinar ME (2013) *Microcosmus exasperatus* (Ascidiacea: Pyuridae), current distribution in the Mediterranean Sea. Mar Biodivers Rec 6:e89
- 78. Brasseur P, Beckers JM, Brankart JM, Schoenauen R (1996) Seasonal temperature and salinity fields in the Mediterranean Sea: climatological analyses of a historical data set. Deep Sea Res 43:159–192
- 79. Bianchi CN (2007) Biodiversity issues for the forthcoming tropical Mediterranean Sea. Hydrobiologia 580:7–21
- Verlaque M (2001) Checklist of the macroalgae of Thau Lagoon (Herault, France), a hot spot of marine species introduction in Europe. Oceanol Acta 24:29–49
- 81. Boudouresque CF, Klein J, Ruitton S, Verlaque M (2011) Biological Invasion: The Thau Lagoon, a Japanese Biological Island in the Mediterranean Sea. In: Ceccaldi HJ, Dekeyser I, Girault M, Stora G (eds) Proceedings of the 13th French-Japanese oceanography symposium, Marseille. Global change: mankind-marine environment interactions. Springer, The Netherlands, pp 151–156
- Ramón M, Cano J, Peña JB, Campos MJ (2005) Current status and perspectives of mollusk (bivalves and gastropods) culture in the Spanish Mediterranean. Bol Inst Esp Oceanogr 21:361–373
- Brunetti R, Mastrototaro F (2004) The non-indigenous stolidobranch ascidian *Polyandrocarpa zorritensis* in the Mediterranean: description, larval morphology and pattern of vascular budding. Zootaxa 528:1–8
- 84. Taskin E (2013) New records of three dictyotalean brown algae for Turkey. Bot Mar 56:299–302
- 85. Lambert G (2007) Invasive sea squirts: a growing global problem. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 342:3–4

- Tyrrell MC, Byers JE (2007) Do artificial substrates favor nonindigenous fouling species over native species? J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 342:54–60
- Serrano E, Coma R, Ribes M (2012) A phase shift from macroalgal to coral dominance in the Mediterranean. Coral Reefs 31:1199
- Rubio-Portillo E, Vázquez-Luis M, Izquierdo Muñoz A, Ramos Espla AA (2014) Distribution patterns of alien coral *Oculina patagonica* De Angelis D'Ossat, 1908 in western Mediterranean Sea. J Sea Res 85:372–378
- Ribera MA, Boudouresque CF (1995) Introduced marine plants, with special reference to macroalgae: mechanisms and impact. Prog Phycol Res 11:187–268
- 90. Ballesteros E (2004) Espècies marines invasores: un problema ambiental emergent a les Illes Balears. In: IV Jornades de Medi Ambient de les illes Balears Ponències i Resums, Palma de Mallorca. pp 13–15
- Ballesteros E (2006) Mediterranean coralligenous assemblages: a synthesis of present knowledge. Oceanogr Mar Biol Annu Rev 44:123–195
- 92. Piazzi L, Balata D, Cinelli F (2007) Invasions of alien macroalgae in Mediterranean coralligenous assemblages. Cryptogam Algol 28:289–301
- 93. Nikolic V, Zuljevic A, Antolic B, Despalatovic M, Cvitkovic I (2010) Distribution of invasive red alga *Womersleyella setacea* (Hollenberg) RE Norris (Rhodophyta, Ceramiales) in the Adriatic Sea. Acta Adriat 51:195–202
- 94. Airoldi L, Rindi F, Cinelli F (1995) Structure, seasonal dynamics and reproductive phenology of a filamentous turf assemblage on a sediment influenced, rocky subtidal shore. Bot Mar 38:227–237
- Athanasiadis A (1997) North Aegean marine algae. 4. Womersleyella setacea (Hollenberg) R. E. Norris (Rhodophyta, Ceramiales). Bot Mar 40:473–476
- 96. Piazzi L, Cinelli F (2003) Evaluation of benthic macroalgal invasion in a harbour area of the western Mediterranean Sea. Eur J Phys 38:223–231
- 97. Ballesteros E, Garrabou J, Hereu B, Zabala M, Cebrian E, Sala E (2009) Deep-water stands of *Cystoseira zosteroides* C. Agardh (Fucales, Ochrophyta) in the Northwestern Mediterranean: insights into assemblage structure and population dynamics. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 82:477–484
- Cebrian E, Linares C, Marschal C, Garrabou J (2012) Exploring the effects of invasive algae on the persistence of gorgonian populations. Biol Invasions 14:2647–2656
- 99. Ceccherelli G, Piazzi L, Balata D (2002) Spread of introduced *Caulerpa* species in macroalgal habitats. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 280:1–11
- 100. Piazzi L, Balata D (2008) The spread of *Caulerpa racemosa* var. *cylindracea* in the Mediterranean Sea: an example of how biological invasions can influence beta diversity. Mar Environ Res 65:50–61
- 101. Baldacconi R, Corriero G (2009) Effects of the spread of the alga *Caulerpa racemosa* var. *cylindracea* on the sponge assemblage from coralligenous concretions of the Apulian coast (Ionian Sea, Italy). Mar Ecol 30:337–345
- 102. Bulleri F, Balata D, Bertocci I, Tamburello L, Benedetti-Cecchi L (2010) The seaweed *Caulerpa racemosa* on Mediterranean rocky reefs: from passenger to driver of ecological change. Ecology 91:2205–2212
- 103. Box A, Deudero S, Sureda A, Blanco A, Alòs J, Terrados J, Grau AM, Riera F (2009) Diet and physiological responses of *Spondyliosoma cantharus* (Linnaeus, 1758) to the *Caulerpa racemosa* var. cylindracea invasion. J Exp Mar Biol Ecol 380:11–19
- 104. Tomas F, Box A, Terrados J (2011) Effects of invasive seaweeds on feeding preference and performance of a keystone Mediterranean herbivore. Biol Invasions 13:1559–1570
- 105. Terlizzi A, Felline S, Lionetto MG, Caricato R, Perfetti V, Cutignano A, Mollo E (2011) Detrimental physiological effects of the invasive alga *Caulerpa racemosa* on the Mediterranean white seabream *Diplodus sargus*. Aquat Biol 12:109–117

- 106. Tejada S, Deudero S, Box A, Sureda A (2013) Physiological response of the sea urchin Paracentrotus lividus fed with the seagrass Posidonia oceanica and the alien algae Caulerpa racemosa and Lophocladia lallemandii. Mar Environ Res 83:48–53
- 107. Cebrian E, Ballesteros E, Linares C, Tomas F (2011) Do native herbivores provide resistance to Mediterranean marine bioinvasions? A seaweed example. Biol Invasions 13:1397–1408
- 108. Tomas F, Cebrian E, Ballesteros E (2011) Differential herbivory of invasive algae by native fish in the Mediterranean Sea. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 92:27–34
- 109. Klein JC, Verlaque M (2012) Temporal trends in invasion impacts in macrophyte assemblages of the Mediterranean Sea. Cah Biol Mar 53:403–407
- 110. Patzner RA (1998) The invasion of *Lophocladia* (Rhodomelaceae, Lophotalieae) at the northern coast of Ibiza (western Mediterranean Sea). Bol Soc Hist Nat Baleares 41:75–80
- 111. Cebrian E, Ballesteros E (2007) Invasion of the alien species Lophocladia lallemandii in Eivissa-Formentera (Balearic Islands). In: Pergent-Martini C, El Asmi S (eds) Proceedings of the Third Mediterranean symposium on marine vegetation, Marseilles. RAC/SPA, Tunis, pp 34–41
- 112. Bedini R, Bonechi L, Piazzi L (2011) Spread of the introduced red alga Lophocladia lallemandii in the Tuscan Archipelago (NW Mediterranean Sea). Cryptogam Algol 32:383–391
- 113. Vázquez-Luis M, Banach-Esteve G, Alvarez E, Deudero S (2014) Colonization on *Pinna nobilis* at a marine protected area: extent of the spread of two invasive seaweeds. J Mar Biol Assoc UK 94:857–864
- 114. Cabanellas-Reboredo M, Blanco A, Deudero S, Tejada S (2010) Effects of the invasive macroalga Lophocladia lallemandii on the diet and trophism of Pinna nobilis (Mollusca: Bivalvia) and its guests Pontonia pinnophylax and Nepinnotheres pinnotheres (Crustacea: Decapoda). Sci Mar 74:101–110
- 115. Marba N, Arthur R, Alcoverro T (2014) Getting turfed: the population and habitat impacts of Lophocladia lallemandii invasions on endemic Posidonia oceanica meadows. Aquat Bot 116:76–82
- 116. Romero J, Martínez-Crego B, Alcoverro T, Perez M (2007) A multivariate index based on the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* (POMI) to assess ecological status of coastal waters under the Water Framework Directive (WFD). Mar Pollut Bull 55:196–204
- 117. Kipson S, Fourt M, Teixido N, Cebrian E, Casas E, Ballesteros E, Zabala M, Garrabou J (2011) Rapid biodiversity assessment and monitoring method for highly diverse benthic communities: a case study of Mediterranean coralligenous outcrops. PLoS One 6(11):e27103
- 118. Deter J, Descamp P, Ballesta L, Boissery P, Holon F (2012) A preliminary study toward an index based on coralligenous assemblages for the ecological status assessment of Mediterranean French coastal waters. Ecol Indic 20:345–352
- 119. Personnic S, Boudouresque CF, Astruch P, Ballesteros E, Blouet S, Bellan-Santini D, Bonhomme P, Thibault-Botha D, Feunteun E, Harmelin-Vivien M, Pergent G, Pergent-Martini C, Pastor J, Poggiale JC, Renaud F, Thibaut T, Ruitton S (2014) An ecosystembased approach to assess the status of a Mediterranean ecosystem, the *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass meadow. PLoS One 9(6):e98994
- 120. Ruitton S, Personnic S, Ballesteros E, Bellan-Santini D, Boudouresque CF, Chevaldonné P, Bianchi CN, David R, Féral JP, Guidetti P, Harmelin JG, Montefalcone M, Morri C, Pergent G, Pergent-Martini C, Sartoretto S, Tanoue H, Thibaut T, Vacelet J, Verlaque M (2014) An ecosystem-based approach to assess the status of the Mediterranean coralligenous habitat. In: Bouafif C, Langar H, Ouerghi A (eds) Proceedings of the Second Mediterranean symposium of coralligenous and other calcareous bioconcretions, Portoroz, Slovenia. RAC/SPA., Tunis, pp 153–158, Oct 2014
- 121. Sartoretto S, David R, Aurelle D, Chenuil A, Guillemain D, Thierry de Ville D'Avray L, Féral JP, Çinar ME, Kipson S, Arvanitidis C, Schohn T, Daniel B, Sakher S, Garrabou J, Gatti G, Ballesteros E (2014) An integrated approach to evaluate and monitor the conservation state of coralligenous bottoms: the INDEX-COR method. In: Bouafif C, Langar H,

Ouerghi A (eds) Proceedings of the Second Mediterranean symposium of coralligenous and other calcareous bioconcretions, Portoroz, Slovenia. RAC/SPA, Tunis, pp 159–164, 29–30 Oct 2014

- 122. Guillen JE, Jimenez S, Martinez J, Triviño A, Múgica Y, Argilés J, Bueno M (2010) Expansion of the invasive algae *Caulerpa racemosa* var. *cylindracea* (Sonder) Verlaque, Huisman and Boudouresque, 2003 on the region of Valencia seabed. Thalassas 26:135–149
- 123. Ruiz JM, Marin-Guirao L, Bernardeau-Esteller J, Ramos-Segura A, García-Muñoz R, Sandoval-Gil JM (2011) Spread of the invasive alga *Caulerpa racemosa* var. *cylindracea* (Caulerpales, Chlorophyta) along the Mediterranean Coast of the Murcia region (SE Spain). Anim Biodivers Conserv 34:73–82
- 124. Harmelin-Vivien ML, Bitar G, Harmelin JG, Monestiez P (2005) The littoral fish community of the Lebanese rocky coast (eastern Mediterranean Sea) with emphasis on Red Sea immigrants. Biol Invasions 7:625–637
- 125. Bitar G, Ocaña O, Ramos-Esplá AA (2007) Contribution of the Red Sea alien species to structuring some benthic biocenosis in the Lebanon coast (Eastern Mediterranean). In: Monaco (ed) 38th CIESM congress proceedings, Istanbul April 2007 p 437
- 126. Edelist D, Rilov G, Golani D, Carlton JT, Spanier E (2013) Restructuring the sea: profound shifts in the world's most invaded marine ecosystem. Divers Distrib 19:69–77
- 127. Bianchi CN, Corsini-Foka M, Morri C, Zenetos A (2014) Thirty years after: dramatic change in the coastal marine ecosystems of Kos Island (Greece), 1981–2013. Mediterr Mar Sci 15:482–497
- 128. Bodilis P, Louisy P, Draman M, Arceo HO, Francour P (2014) Can citizen science survey non-indigenous fish species in the eastern Mediterranean Sea? Environ Manage 53:172–180
- 129. Somot S, Sevault F, Deque M (2006) Transient climate change scenario simulation of the Mediterranean Sea for the twenty-first century using a high-resolution ocean circulation model. Clim Dyn 27:851–879
- 130. Galil BS, Boero F, Campbell ML, Carlton JT, Cook E, Fraschetti S, Gollasch S, Hewitt CL, Jelmert A, Macpherson E, Marchini A, McKenzie C, Minchin D, Occhipinti-Ambrogi A, Ojaveer H, Olenin S, Piraino S, Ruiz GM (2015) "Double trouble": the expansion of the Suez Canal and marine bioinvasions in the Mediterranean Sea. Biol Invasions 17:973–976

Evolution of Chemical Pollution in Catalan Coastal Sediments

Albert Palanques, Josep Caixach, Marc Belzunces, and Arantxa Bartolomé

Abstract In 2000 and from 2006 to 2011, a monitoring program was followed along the Catalan inner shelf, using homogeneous analytical methods and sampling strategies and focusing on the main sites of river sediment accumulation at present. Adjacent areas that are potentially vulnerable to pollution were also selected. Trace metals and organic pollutants were analyzed in surface sediment samples. Mean concentrations in each area show a distribution of organic and inorganic pollutants along the Catalan inner continental shelf. The highest concentrations are located on and around the coast of Barcelona city for most pollutants and locally on the coast of Tarragona city and the Ebre Delta for some of them. The concentrations tend to decrease gradually southward and sharply northward of Barcelona. The trace metal that shows the highest anomalies is Hg (max. enrichment factor, 34), whereas Cd, Zn, Cr, Pb, and Cu show more moderate anomalies. Sediment polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, 4-nonylphenols (metabolites of nonylphenol polyethoxylated, nonionic surfactant), polybrominated diphenyl ethers, polychlorinated biphenyls, and dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane are also significant. The time evolution of most trace metals shows a decreasing trend mainly between 2000 and 2006, whereas between 2006 and 2011 trends of trace metals and organic pollutants are not clear, as some of them increased and others decreased and many of them peaked in 2007 and 2009. The greatest decreases in trace metals were in the most polluted areas.

e-mail: albertp@icm.csic.es

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water* 271 *Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 43: 271–300, DOI 10.1007/698_2015_374, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 7 October 2015

A. Palanques (🖂) and M. Belzunces

Institute of Marine Sciences (CSIC), Passeig Maritim de la Barceloneta, 37-49, Barcelona 08003, Spain

J. Caixach and A. Bartolomé Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research (CSIC), c/ Jordi Girona, 18-26, 08034 Barcelona, Spain

Keywords Catalan coast, Mediterranean, Organic pollutants, Sediment, Trace metals

Contents

1	Introduction	272
	1.1 Study Area	274
2	Materials and Methods	275
	2.1 Sampling	275
	2.2 Analytical Procedures	277
3	Results	278
	3.1 Distribution of Pollutants	278
	3.2 Time Trends	290
4	Discussion	290
5	Conclusions	297
Re	ferences	298

Abbreviations

DDT	Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (or dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethanes
	(DDTs) and metabolites DDE and DDD)
HCBz	Hexachlorobenzene
NPs	4-Nonylphenols (metabolites of nonylphenol polyethoxylated, nonionic
	surfactant)
PAHs	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons
PBDEs	Polybrominated biphenyl ethers
PCBs	Polychlorinated biphenyls

1 Introduction

Contaminants discharged into rivers are transported downstream to the marine environment. However, they can also be trapped in dams or during periods of low water discharge, and they can be partially trapped on the inner side of meanders, in river banks, or in estuaries before reaching the sea. In the Mediterranean, the irregular regime of rivers and streams (most of them small) and the local nature of many discharges mean that pollutants reach the sea in sporadic pulses that are difficult to predict. Once discharged into the sea, pollutants are scavenged when flocculation occurs along the freshwater-saltwater interface [1], where they may also be affected by dilution, desorption, absorption, aggregation, and precipitation [2–5]. In addition, offshore dispersion of pollutants is controlled by dynamic marine processes (mainly currents and waves) that induce transport, accumulation, and/or resuspension of pollutants and determine their final fate [6–9]. In many zones of the oceans, energetic processes transport and dilute the marine pollution load in the
transit to the deep sea. However, in the Mediterranean Sea, the transport capacity of the dynamic processes is lower than in large oceans, so a large part of the particulate pollutant load can quickly settle on the seabed near the coast, in some cases before being sufficiently diluted, thus generating persistent and anomalous concentrations in the bottom coastal sediments. Only extreme hydrodynamic events such as strong wave storms or strong wind-induced currents can resuspend coastal sediment and transport it again [10–13], and these events are not too frequent in the Mediterranean.

Trace metals are among the most common pollutants discharged into the marine environment and are indicators of domestic and industrial pollution. In most advanced countries of the European Community, the distribution of trace metals in the marine environment is being studied systematically and extensively in order to estimate the environmental impact and the economic and social effects of pollutants and to take preventive and corrective measures.

During the 1980s and 1990s, studies of trace metals in sediments of specific areas of the Catalan coast including Barcelona, the Llobregat River mouth, and the Ebre Delta coast [14–17] showed significant trace metal pollution at some sites. However, these studies were not continuous in time and did not always follow the same sampling strategies or methods of analysis. Organic pollutants were also studied on the Catalan coast, and it was found that the contamination of PCBs and PAHs was greater near the sites of urban and industrial impact [18, 19].

Because the Water Framework Directive (WFD, DIR 2000/60/EC) is not specific with respect to sediments, the monitoring of organic pollutants in them has been at the discretion of experts. In this context, to protect the environment, the Catalan Water Agency (ACA) has also been analyzing organic pollutants in different matrices. The WFD describes the monitoring of priority substances (PS) and other pollutants in fresh waters and coastal waters. The daughter directive 2008/105/EC defined environmental quality standards (EQS) for priority substances in water, with the aim of protecting the aquatic environment from their adverse effects. This directive includes 33 PS, mainly organic pollutants. In the recent revision of the list of PS (DIR 2013/39/EU), 12 new ones were added, the EQS of some existing PS was changed, and values for biota were introduced. Additionally, compliance monitoring for PS in the WFD requires the achievement of a limit of quantification (LOQ) equal to or below 30% of the relevant EQS. The formula for calculating the LOQ is therefore $0.3 \times EQS$. The WFD establishes the obligation to carry out programs to monitor and control the quality of water bodies and to establish management measures for them to achieve a good ecological and chemical status by 2015.

In 2000 the Marine Water Unit of the ACA started a surveillance program of heavy metal pollution in marine sediments of the Catalan inner shelf and established a monitoring network that prioritized the control of sediments in the vicinity of river mouths, where these elements tend to be more accumulated. This program provided homogeneity in the analytical methods and sampling strategies.

As a continuation of this work, the ACA started a second program to determine the levels of trace metals and organic pollutants in sediments of the Catalan coast in 2006, giving priority to the most affected areas of control according to the results of 2000 and also to water bodies that had not been evaluated at that time but were at risk of breaching the WFD [20]. Also, the monitoring of organic pollutants in sediment started at the discretion of experts. In the ACA program, which lasted until 2011, trace metals of some areas were analyzed annually, and organic pollutants were sampled at varying frequencies. In 2006, 2007, and 2009, all the sampling points of the monitoring network were analyzed, while in 2008 and 2010, only sampling points of the high-risk areas were analyzed.

1.1 Study Area

The fine sediment and pollutants that are present on the Catalan coast are mainly provided by the rivers, which develop mud belt prodeltas, particularly along the inner and mid-continental shelf [14, 15, 18, 21–24]. Outside these prodeltaic mud deposits, surface sediment can be relict from hundreds and thousands of years ago, when the sea level was lower than today [22, 25, 26]. Therefore, in this paper, we study the evolution of pollutants at selected sites of the present prodeltaic deposits of the rivers discharging on the Catalan coast (Fig. 1). The basic characteristics of the Catalan rivers are shown in Table 1. There are great differences between the Ebre River and the other eight rivers, which form the system known as the Inner Catalan River Basins. These eight rivers show a typical Mediterranean behavior, with short length, low discharges (extremely low in summer) and sporadic major floods typically in autumn and spring.

The system of the Inner Catalan River Basins occupies 16,600 km² (52% of the territory of Catalonia) and is densely populated, with about six million people accounting for 85% of the Catalan population. The most populated areas are the Barcelona Metropolitan Area and the Tarragona Bay. Heavily industrialized since the nineteenth century, the Barcelona Metropolitan Area is the sixth most populous urban area in the European Union (4.4 million inhabitants [2011]) and the second urban area on the Mediterranean Coast (Eurostat 2012). Tarragona Bay contains Tarragona city and one of the most important petrochemical clusters in the Mediterranean. The value of the production is equivalent to 0.75% of worldwide production, and the area produces 25% of the petrochemical products and 44% of the plastics for the Spanish market. Stockbreeding and agriculture are also important in the Inner Catalan River Basins. Stockbreeding is more important in the northern basins, while agriculture is more important in the southern ones. Finally, the Ebre River Basin occupies 85,362 km² in the north of the Iberian Peninsula, with a population of about three million people. The river flows through a major city, Zaragoza, but far away from the river mouth. In the lower Ebre River, although there is some local industrial activity, such as the Flix complex [27, 28], the main human activity is agriculture and stockbreeding.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Sampling

Surface sediment samples were taken from present-day prodelta deposits of the following rivers: Roses, Muga, Fluvià, Ter, Tordera, Besòs, Llobregat, Foix, Francolí, and Ebre. In addition, adjacent areas potentially vulnerable to pollution were also selected: Mataró, Masnou, Barceloneta, Castelldefels, La Falconera, Sitges, El Vendrell, Cambrils, Fangar Bay, and Alfacs Bay (Fig. 1).

In 2000, four transects of sampling stations were established in front of the mouth of each river perpendicular to the bathymetry. Considering that the main



Fig. 1 Location of the study areas and samples in the context of the Catalan coast and the western Mediterranean (*CRO* Roses, *MUG* Muga prodelta, *FLU* Fluvià prodelta, *TER* Ter prodelta, *TOR* Tordera prodelta, *MAT* Mataró, *MAS* Masnou, *BTA* Barceloneta, *BCN* Barcelona city, *LLO* Llobregat prodelta, *NLL* new Llobregat, *CDF* Castelldefels, *FAL* La Falconera, *FOI* Foix prodelta, *VEN* El Vendrell, *FOI* Foix, *CAM* Cambrils, *EBR* Ebre prodelta, *BFA* Fangar Bay, *BAL* Alfacs Bay)

River	Length (km)	Basin area (km ²)	Mean water discharge (m ³ s ^{-1} , 2005–2011)
Muga	65	854	2.18
Fluvià	97	1,125	3.98
Ter	208	3,010	12.57
Tordera	54	894	0.39
Besòs	58	1,039	4.33
Llobregat	170	4,948	13.64
Foix	49	312	0.25
Francolí	85	838	0.83
Ebre	910	85,534	247.83

Table 1 Basic characteristics of the rivers flowing into the Catalan coast

Data source: Statistical Institute of Catalonia (IDESCAT) and Ebre Hydrographic Confederation (CHE)

Table 2Sampling areas andcorresponding water bodiesfollowing IMPRESS 2005

Area	Water body
Roses (CRO)	C6
Muga prodelta (MUG)	C6, C7
Fluvià prodelta (FLU)	C7
Ter prodelta (TER)	C11, C12
Tordera prodelta (TOR)	C15
Mataró (MAT)	C17
Masnou (MAS)	C17
Besòs prodelta (BES)	C19, C20
Barceloneta (BTA)	C20
Llobregat prodelta (LLO)	C21
New Llobregat (NLL)	C21
Castelldefels (CDF)	C22
La Falconera (FAL)	C23
Foix prodelta (FOI)	C25
El Vendrell (VEN)	C25
Francolí prodelta (FRA)	C27
Cambrils (CAM)	C29
Fangar Bay (BFA)	T1
Ebre prodelta (EBR)	C33
Alfacs Bay (BAL)	T3

current of the Catalan coast has a dominant southwestward component [29], we established one transect north of the river mouth, one just in front of the mouth, and the other two south of the river mouth. In each transect, sediment samples were collected at 10, 20, 30, 40, and 50 m depth. In the following years, only the samples that showed significant pollution or were representative of an area were taken.

In this paper, we selected the stations in which sampling was carried out for 3 or more years. The correspondence between these areas and the coastal water bodies defined in [20] is presented in Table 2. Mean concentrations for all the samples

from the same area were calculated for each sampling year and for the whole study period.

Sediment samples were taken with a grab collecting the first cm of surface sediment. Samples for metals were stored at 4°C and later lyophilized and ground. Samples for organics were air-dried and manually ground (2 mm) before extraction.

2.2 Analytical Procedures

2.2.1 Grain Size

The grain size analysis was performed using a SediGraph 5100 (<50 µm fraction) and a settling tube (>50 µm fraction). The results for both fractions were joined in order to obtain the total grain size distribution and the textural statistical parameters for each sample [30]

2.2.2 Trace Metal Analytical Procedures

A total digestion technique was carried out according to Querol et al. [31], using HNO₃, HF, and HCl suprapure acids. For every 18 samples, a blank, a PACS-2 reference material (National Research Council Canada), and a random-replicated sample were used for analytical quality control. Trace elements were analyzed (except Hg) by ICP-MS. Al was analyzed by ICP-AES. The overall analytical uncertainty was below 15% and typically between 5% and 10%.

For Hg analysis, a LECO AMA254 Mercury Analyzer complying with US EPA Method 7473 [32] was used. PACS-2 reference material from the National Research Council Canada, random-replicated for every ten samples and blank samples to avoid memory effects, was used for analytical quality control. The overall analytical uncertainty was below 2%.

Background trace metal levels of sediment samples from several areas were determined in previous studies [14, 16, 23]. Surface samples of the present study with these background trace metal levels were used to estimate the enrichment factor (EF). With these samples, aluminum-trace metal regression curves were established for every trace element in order to find the background levels in terms of aluminum content (Al normalization). The ratio between metal content and background level (Al normalized) for each sample was defined as the EF, which is a dimensionless value. To evaluate toxicity risk, we also used reference values following Long et al. [33], who defined two values for each trace metal, effect range low (ERL) and effect range median (ERM), which defined three ranges whose effects to the environment are predicted to be minimal (value < ERL), occasional (ERL < value < ERM), and frequent (value > ERM).

2.2.3 Organic Pollutants

About 5 g of dried samples were spiked with isotopic labeled standards. Five grams of copper powder was added to the sample to remove elemental sulfur. The extraction was carried out by sonication with hexane/dichloromethane (1:1, v/v). The extract was separated by centrifugation and the extraction process was repeated once again. The extracts were joined, and, after addition of isooctane, the whole extract was concentrated to a volume of 4 mL.

The extract was passed through a glass column containing 5 g of silica gel deactivated with 5% Milli-Q water, and the column was eluted with 100 mL of 95:5 hexane/dichloromethane at atmospheric pressure. The extract was concentrated to a volume of 500 μ L and transferred to an amber glass vial. Finally, recovery standards were added. The extract volume was adjusted to 250 μ L with gentle nitrogen flow.

The analyses of different families of organic compounds are based on the isotope dilution quantitation method and were performed by gas chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry of low and high resolution (HRGC-LRMS & HRGC-HRMS). These methods are based mainly on United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA) methods (e.g., 8270C, 1614, 1668) [19, 24, 34–36].

3 Results

3.1 Distribution of Pollutants

Distribution of mean trace metal concentrations (and EF) and mean organic pollutants in each sampling area during the whole monitoring period shows three main sectors of pollutant levels along the Catalan coast: the northern Catalan coast, where mean pollutant levels were mainly low or absent; the Barcelona city area, where mean pollutant levels were high; and the southern Catalan coast, where mean pollutant levels were high; and the southern Catalan coast, where mean pollutant levels were mostly medium-high decreasing to low southward (Figs. 2, 3, and 4).

3.1.1 Northern Catalan Coast

The northern Catalan coast sector extends from the French border to Barcelona city area. This sector comprises the Roses, Muga, Fluvià, Ter, Tordera, Mataró, and Masnou areas, including the fluvial basins of the Muga, Fluvià, Ter, and Tordera Rivers (Fig. 1). The samples from the Roses, Muga, and Fluvià were mainly mud, with a fine fraction (silt plus clay) content higher than 60%, whereas the samples from the other areas were mainly muddy sand with a fine fraction of only 30%.



Fig. 2 Mean concentrations of trace metals (mg kg⁻¹) in the study areas during the whole monitoring period. Areas from the northern Catalan coast over *blue*. Areas from the Barcelona city coast over *green*. Areas from the Southern Catalan coast over *yellow*



Fig. 3 Mean enrichment factors (EFs) of trace metals in the study areas during the whole monitoring period. Only EFs > 1.5 are considered significant and are represented. Areas from the northern Catalan coast over *blue*. Areas from the Barcelona city coast over *green*. Areas from the Southern Catalan coast over *yellow*



Fig. 4 Mean concentrations of organic pollutants ($\mu g k g^{-1}$) in the study areas during the whole monitoring period. Areas from the northern Catalan coast over *blue*. Areas from the Barcelona city coast over *green*. Areas from the Southern Catalan coast over *yellow*

Mean trace metal and organic pollutant concentrations in the areas of this sector during each monitored year are shown in Figs. 5 and 6.

In general, sediment samples taken in this sector showed natural or low levels of trace metal pollution, except in the case of Hg at Masnou where it showed a mean EF of 5.3 and concentrations between ERL and ERM values. Hg also reached a mean EF of 1.5 at Ter and Mataró (Fig. 3), where concentrations were below ERL values. Mean EFs for Pb of 2.4 were found at Tordera and of between 1.5 and 1.8 at Ter, Mataró, and Masnou, but only at Tordera did concentrations exceed ERL values without reaching ERM levels in 2000. Samples from all the other areas of this sector showed concentrations within the natural values below ERL for all the studied trace elements. Only Zn exceeded the ERL values slightly in 2009.

Regarding the organic pollutants, PAHs showed significant concentrations at Muga, Ter, and Masnou. PBDEs were identified at all the sites of this sector, increasing to the south, although significant values were only detected in 2007. The other families of organic compounds showed low concentrations, with only isolated increases in some areas (Figs. 4 and 6).

3.1.2 Barcelona City Coast

The coast of the Barcelona Metropolitan Area comprises the Besòs prodelta and Barceloneta and includes the fluvial basin of the Besòs River (Fig. 1). Most samples from this coast consisted of mud with more than 70% of fine fraction. This sector is where the Catalan coast showed the highest levels of most trace metals in sediments (Figs. 2 and 7). Hg is the element that showed the highest mean EFs (15 at Besòs and 21 at Barceloneta) in the area (Fig. 3). All the mean Hg concentrations on the Barcelona coast were above the ERM values during all the sampling years (Fig. 7). Anomalies of Cu, Zn, Cr, and Pb were lower (mean EF between 2.5 and 4) but relatively high for the marine environment, with concentrations between ERL and ERM values. Cd showed important anomalies in all the samples (mean EF 6.5) but only exceeded the ERL value in one sample (Fig. 7). In general, Besòs and Barceloneta showed the highest mean and absolute trace metal concentrations on the Catalan coast except for Hg, which was higher at Francolí (Fig. 2). However, these higher concentrations at Francolí were measured in only a few samples and mainly in 2000.

Mean organic pollutant levels were high in this sector, reaching maximum values for the PAH, NP, PBDE, and PCB families, which were significantly higher than those from other sectors. PAHs, PBDEs, and PCBs showed large increases in 2007. NPs increased strongly in 2009 at Besòs, which was the only area on the Catalan coast affected by high values of this family. DDT concentrations were also high in this sector, similar to those detected in the Ebre Delta area and increasing sharply in 2008 at Besòs. HCBz values were high but lower than the maximum values detected at Francolí and Ebre on the southern Catalan coast. A major increase in HCBz took place in 2010 at Barceloneta (Figs. 4 and 8).



Fig. 5 Mean concentration of trace metals (mg kg^{-1}) in the study areas of the northern Catalan coast during each of the sampling years



Fig. 6 Mean concentration of organic pollutants ($\mu g \ kg^{-1}$) in the study areas of the northern Catalan coast during each of the sampling years



Fig. 7 Mean concentration of trace metals $(mg kg^{-1})$ in the study areas of the Barcelona city coast during each of the sampling years. *Hg of Francolí from the southern Catalan coast is represented in this figure because its concentration is of the same order of magnitude as those of the Barcelona city coast



Fig. 8 Mean concentration of organic pollutants ($\mu g k g^{-1}$) in the study areas of the Barcelona city coast during each of the sampling years

3.1.3 Southern Catalan Coast

The areas of the southern Catalan coast are Llobregat, New Llobregat, Castelldefels, La Falconera, Foix, El Vendrell, Francolí, Cambrils, Fangar Bay, Ebre, and Alfacs Bay (Fig. 1). They include the basins of the Llobregat, Foix, Francoli, and Ebre Rivers. New Llobregat corresponds to the new Llobregat River mouth, which was moved 2 km southward artificially in 2004 to enlarge the Barcelona harbor. At La Falconera, there is a large dumpsite. The Francoli River mouth is in the harbor of the city of Tarragona. Most samples from this coast are mud with a fine fraction higher than 70%.

The southern Catalan coast was characterized by a gradual southward decrease of most trace metals, from significant pollution to near-natural levels and from general polluted areas to areas with only a few isolated points of pollution. The highest mean concentrations on the southern Catalan coast were at Llobregat and Castelldefels for Zn, Pb, and Cu; at Castelldefels for Cr; at Llobregat and La Falconera for Cd; and at Francolí for Hg. (Figs. 2 and 3). The highest mean Hg concentrations at Francolí were higher than those at Besòs and Barceloneta, with an EF of 34 and concentrations exceeding the ERM. However, the higher levels at Francolí only corresponded to a few samples with a maximum in those taken in 2000, whereas the high levels in the Barcelona city area (Besòs and Barceloneta) extended over a wider area than at Francolí. Hg concentrations of other samples at Francolí were similar to or lower than those at Besòs and Barceloneta. At Castelldefels the mean values and all the samples exceeded the ERM value for Hg (mean EF, 11), and at La Falconera and Foix, concentrations of Hg exceeded ERM values only in 2000. All the other samples from the southern Catalan coast exceeded the ERL value for Hg.

The mean and highest concentrations of Zn, Pb, Cr, and Cu only exceeded the ERL at Llobregat and Castelldefels, and Cd only exceeded the ERL at Llobregat and La Falconera in 2000 with an EF of 4. Toward the south of La Falconera, trace metal concentrations decreased to below the ERL. However, at Ebre trace metal concentrations increased slightly. Fangar Bay and Alfacs Bay are semi-enclosed bays that showed low pollution levels of Hg and Cd (EF around 2) and very low pollution levels of Zn and Cr (EF <1.4).

For the organic compounds, there was also a southward decreasing trend, except for HCBz and DDTs. HCBz showed maximum values at Francolí and Ebre, and DDTs concentrations also showed maximum values at Ebre. These two families of organic compounds are the only organic pollutants that reached the highest values on the southern Catalan coast in addition to the Barcelona city coast. PBDEs and PCBs showed great increases in all the areas of this sector in 2007. HCBz also showed high values at New Llobregat, Francolí, and Ebre in 2007 and at Ebre in 2011. DDTs increased at Ebre in 2007 and 2011 (Figs. 4 and 10). NPs values on the southern Catalan coast are low.



Fig. 9 Mean concentration of trace metals (mg kg⁻¹) in the study areas of the southern Catalan coast during each of the sampling years. Hg of Francolí is represented in Fig. 7 because its concentration is of the same order of magnitude as those of the Barcelona city coast



Fig. 10 Mean concentration of organic pollutants ($\mu g k g^{-1}$) in the study areas of the southern Catalan coast during each of the sampling years

3.2 Time Trends

Time trends of annual mean concentrations of trace metals in the monitored areas of the three sectors of the Catalan coast can be observed in Figs. 5, 7, and 9. On the northern Catalan coast, there are few clear trends because many samples have nearnatural values of trace metals. Observing the difference between the samples taken in 2000 and those taken in 2006, Pb, Cr, and Cu decreased at Muga, Ter, and Tordera; Zn decreased at Ter; and Hg, Zn, and Cr increased slightly at Fluvià. However, comparing the samples taken in 2006 with those taken in 2011, Zn, Cr, Pb, and Cd increased in almost all the areas of this sector except Mataró. Other differences are small (Fig. 5). For organic compounds, there was no sampling in 2000 and in some years of the 2006–2011 period, so there are insufficient samples to define a trend in many areas. From the existing data, it seems that there was a major increase in PAHs and NPs at Ter and of DDTs at Masnou in 2011 and PAHs seem to have decreased at Masnou. Peaks of PBDEs and PCBs occurred in all the areas in 2007 (Fig. 6).

In the Barcelona city area, Hg, Zn, Cr, Pb, and Cu decreased at Besòs from 2000 to 2006 and only Cd increased in this period of time. However, considering only the annual mean concentrations from 2006 to 2011, these decreasing trends were not so clear (Fig. 7). At Barceloneta, there appears to be a decreasing trend for all the studied trace metals between 2006 and 2011, but there were peaks in 2007 and 2009. At Besòs, there were also peaks of some metals in 2009. For organic compounds, there were peaks of PBDEs and PCBs at Besòs and Barceloneta in 2007, of PAHs and DDTs at Besòs and Barceloneta in 2008, of NPs at Besòs in 2009, and of HCBz at BAR in 2011. HCBz seems to have shown an increasing trend at Besòs and Barceloneta, whereas PBDEs and PCBs decreased at Besòs and DDTs decreased at Barceloneta (Fig. 8)

On the southern Catalan coast, the trace metals decreased in all the areas between 2000 and 2006, with the exception of Hg at Llobregat and Zn at Francolí (Fig. 9). However, from 2006 to 2011, Zn increased in all the areas and Cd increased slightly. On the other hand, Hg, Cr, Pb, and Cu decreased slightly in most areas, and Cr, Pb, and Cu increased at New Llobregat and Castelldefels. For organic compounds, there were peaks of PBDEs and PCBs in all the areas in 2007. NPs and HCBz decreased at New Llobregat, Castelldefels, and Ebre (Fig. 10).

4 Discussion

Pollution on the Catalan coast is mainly associated with discharges from urban and industrial areas. The main urban area on the coast is Barcelona and its metropolitan area, and the second is Tarragona. Several small coastal cities and towns can also show local anomalies. The rivers transport trace metal and organic pollution from inland cities and industries. The main sources of industrial pollution in Catalonia

Table 3 Coastal cities with	Cities $> 20 \times 10^5$ inh.	Population	
more than 20,000 inhabitants	Northern Catalan coast		
Catalan coast	Lloret de Mar	40,282	
	Blanes	39,834	
	Premià de Mar	28,310	
	Pineda de Mar	26,040	
	Palafrugell	22,816	
	El Masnou	22,595	
	Mataró	123,868	
	Sant Feliu de Guíxols	21,814	
	Total	325,559	
	Barcelona city coast		
	Barcelona	1,615,448	
	Hospitalet	256,065	
	Badalona	219,786	
	Santa Coloma de Gramenet	120,824	
	Sant Adrià de Besòs	341,57	
	Total	2,246,280	
	Southern Catalan coast		
	Tarragona	134,085	
	Vilanova i la Geltrú	66,905	
	Viladecans	64,737	
	Prat de Llobregat	63,499	
	Castelldefels	63,139	
	Gavà	46,250	
	El Vendrell	36,454	
	Cambrils	33,008	
	Sitges	28,617	
	Salou	26,193	
	Calafell	24,984	
	Total	587,871	

are located in the basins of the Besòs, Llobregat, Francolí, and Ebre Rivers [37]. In addition to rivers, other sources are wastewater plants, outfalls, storm sewers, and wind and rain events, which can also discharge significant amounts of pollutants.

On the northern Catalan coast, there are few populated coastal cities and few industrial areas. There are eight cities of more than 20,000 inhabitants which total about 325,000 inhabitants (Table 3). Landward, there are five cities with more than 20,000 inhabitants which total 226,000 inhabitants. Pollution load affecting this part of the coast is lower and is probably more diluted by the rivers discharging on it (the Muga, Fluvià, Ter, and Tordera) than is the case on the southern coast. The sediment discharged by rivers and accumulated on the northern coast often shows near-natural trace metal values and low organic pollution concentrations (Fig. 2). The Ter River has two large dams of 165 and 233 hm³ along its course, whereas the

Muga River has a small one of 61 hm³. Pollutants transported by these rivers are partially retained by these dams, but these rivers and the coastal towns produce some local anomalies at sea.

In contrast, in highly populated and industrialized areas, where the pollutant load affecting the rivers is higher, rivers are unable to dilute the concentration sufficiently to reach near-natural values. As a result, they are still discharging significant pollution into the sea and producing anomalies in the bottom sediments. This is the case of the Barcelona city coast, where more than two million inhabitants live in five cities (Table 3). In addition, more than 860,000 inhabitants live in 12 cities of more than 20,000 inhabitants located in the Besòs watershed. The Besòs River, the ancient Besòs wastewater treatment plant, and the sewers from Barceloneta have been generating high trace metal contents in the bottom sediment of the Besòs prodelta for decades [16, 38]. Also, most of the main representative families of organic pollutants are concentrated at Besòs and Barceloneta (Fig. 4). When the Besòs River discharge is low, most of it is treated in the Barcelona-Besòs wastewater treatment plant the sea, but when it is high, the plant is unable to process all of it and the rest goes directly into the sea.

DDT and its metabolites deserve particular consideration as their use was forbidden decades ago. There was an old industrial area of DDT affecting sensitive areas of the Besòs that was studied prior to the appearance of the WFD. However, our data indicate a recent contribution of DDT, apart from its known metabolites DDDs and DDEs.

In the case of NPs, although their use has declined significantly, probably due to their inclusion in the first list of priority pollutants [2455/2001/EC] and their values are low on most of the Catalan coast, a major isolated peak was still detected at Besòs, which should be noted as an exception to this decline.

On the southern Catalan coast, 11 coastal cities have a population of more than 20,000, totaling 580,000 people. A further 20 cities located inland in the watershed of the rivers discharging on this coast have a population of more than 20,000, bringing the grand total to one million people (Table 3). Some of the highest trace metal concentrations and organic pollutants are found around the Llobregat River mouth area, which receives the inputs from several populated cities and industries. The sediments from the Llobregat prodelta, although polluted, have lower trace metal contents than those of the Besòs prodelta. One of the reasons for this is that the Llobregat River has a mean water discharge three times higher than that of the Besòs River (Table 1 and Fig. 11). Therefore, the Llobregat has a higher dilution capacity, which probably helps to produce lower pollutant levels in the Llobregat prodelta sediments than in the Besòs prodelta sediments. The mouth of the Llobregat River was moved about 2 km southward in 2004 to enlarge the Barcelona harbor, and a wastewater treatment plant was built in 2006. However, our data show no clear effect of this move in the pollutants of the sediments of this area. Southward from the Llobregat River, there are eight coastal cities of more than 20,000 inhabitants between Castelldefels and Salou. The largest of these cities is Tarragona (133,000 inhabitants), where the Francolí River discharges into the harbor, causing major local anomalies of Hg and HCBz, as it is affected by the



Fig. 11 Annual water discharge (hm³) of the Catalan rivers from 2000 to 2011 (from idescat.cat)



activity of the city and the petrochemical industry. Southward from Salou, there are no populated cities and trace metals and organic pollutants decrease to low values. However, in the south, the Ebre River has a mean water discharge about two orders of magnitude higher than that of the other rivers (Table 1, Fig. 11). The lower part of this river is mainly affected by agriculture and some industry, such as the Flix Erkimia complex [28]. Upstream from the town of Flix, there are several dams along the Ebre River and its tributaries [39], which retain part of the pollutant load of this river [40]. Although this river has a much higher dilution capacity than the other Catalan rivers, there are Hg and Cd enrichments in the sediment accumulated around the Ebre Delta, as well as high values of HCBz and DDTs. As at Besòs, our data indicate a recent input of DDT. These pollutants break the southward decreasing trend. The explanation probably lies in the known contamination of the industrial chemical area of Flix (approx. 50 km from the river mouth), which is currently being treated.

Time trends in trace metals show a fairly general decreasing trend between 2000 and 2006. However, between 2006 and 2011, no clear trend is observed (Figs. 5, 7, and 9). Increasing trends are only observed for Cd at Ter and Besòs and for Zn at Tordera, Castelldefels, and Francolí. One of the reasons for the decreasing trend of trace metals between 2000 and 2006 is the continuous increase in the number of wastewater treatment plants in Catalonia (Fig. 12), including new plants on the Besòs and Llobregat Rivers. However, this increase does not explain why the trace metal levels remained similar from 2006 to 2011. The answer has more to do with the amount of water treated at these plants, which increased significantly from 2000 to 2003 and remained quite similar between 2006 and 2011 (Fig. 13).



Hydrodynamic processes must also be considered. From 2001 to 2006, 13 storm events with a significant deepwater wave height exceeding 3 m and a minimum duration of 70 h took place on the Barcelona city coast, whereas only six of these events occurred in the 2006–2011 period [41]. In addition, river water discharge also increased between 2002 and 2004 (Fig. 11). These storms and water discharge increases could have led to a decrease in trace metal levels of coastal sediments between 2000 and 2006 by resuspension and dilution.

Another cause of the trace metal decrease could be industrial production (Fig. 14). Textile and machinery and equipment production decreased sharply from 2000 to 2006 and continued to decrease until 2009. However, other industrial activities did not decrease until 2008. A strong decrease in all activities took place from 2008, but trace metal contents did not show this decrease in the monitoring carried out between 2008 and 2011.

In fact, some trace metals and organic pollutants increased in some areas in 2007, 2009, and 2011. These peaks of pollutants may have a variety of causes. The most general one could be the low water discharge of most rivers in 2007 (Fig. 11), which probably led to a lower pollutant dilution in most rivers and to peaks of several pollutants (PBDEs, PCBs, HCBz, Hg, Cr, Pb, Cd, and Cu) in 2007. In addition, the strongest storms of the 2006–2011 period occurred in 2008 and 2010 [41], with higher river discharge than in 2007 (Fig. 11), which could have reduced the levels of some pollutants on the Barcelona coast. The peaks in 2009 only occurred on the Barcelona city coast for NPs, Zn, Cr, Pb, Cd, and Cu and were related to an anomalous discharge of the Besòs wastewater treatment plant.





Finally, other causes could have contributed to these peaks. For example, (a) economic problems in management of wastewater treatment plants due to the crisis could have led to a lower reduction of the pollutant discharge, (b) industry could have invested less in environmental care, (c) the pollution generated during the pre-crisis times and retained in fluvial traps (meanders, small dams, etc.) could have been discharged in the following years, and (d) the pollution accumulated in coastal sediment could have been resuspended and redistributed on the coastal seabed.

If we compare the mean trace metal concentrations of the first and last year of monitoring in each zone, a dominant decreasing trend is observed on the Barcelona city coast and the southern Catalan coast (Figs. 7 and 9). In most cases, the most polluted zones (Besòs, Barceloneta, Llobregat, La Falconera, and Francolí) are the ones that show the highest decrease between the first and the last sampling year. The available data on organic pollutants show no dominant trend.

If we compare the data from this study with those from studies carried out in the 1980s and 1990s [14, 16, 17, 23, 42], in some areas, we observe that at Besòs maximum levels of Pb and Cd decreased by one order of magnitude, maximum levels of Cr and Cu decreased fourfold, and maximum levels of Hg decreased by half. At Llobregat, Cr, Pb, and Cu maximum concentrations decreased by a quarter. These comparisons must be taken with care, as methods and analytical equipment have changed, and the position of the compared samples is different. However, it is evident that this decrease is related to the installation of more efficient water treatment systems and the establishment of new environmental laws that have restricted the use of many pollutants over the last decades, as stated by Pinedo

et al. [43], who monitored trace metals in shallow sediments (most of them taken between 6 and 12 m depth) along the Catalan coast in 2002, 2003, 2007, and 2010. Although most of these samples were sands with less than 10% of mud, these authors also detected maximum trace metal concentrations in Barcelona and Tarragona. However, most of the trace metal concentrations detected in this study were lower than those of our study, and pollution levels were not identified in several areas where we detected anthropogenic metal enrichments. Pinedo et al. [43] found increases between 2003 and 2007 and decreases in 2010.

5 Conclusions

This study allows the Catalan coast to be divided into three sectors in terms of trace metal pollution. The northern Catalan coast, from the French border to the town of Mataró, showed natural or near-natural levels, with isolated pollution at some points. The Barcelona city coast showed very high pollution for most of the studied pollutants, especially Hg, Cd, PAHs, PBDEs, and NPs. Finally, the southern Catalan coast showed significant pollution decreasing southward with isolated maximum values of Hg and HCBz at Francolí and maximum values of HCBz and DDTs at Ebre.

The Catalan coast showed considerable pollution of Hg along two-thirds of its length, between Mataró (Barcelona Metropolitan Area) and the Ebre Delta. The main Hg pollution is associated with areas of intense industrial and urban activities (Besòs, Barceloneta, Francolí). Mean Hg concentrations at Besòs, Barceloneta, and Francolí exceeded the ERM value in all years monitored, reaching a maximum mean EF of 33 at Francolí. Mean Hg concentration also exceeded the ERM value at La Falconera and Foix in 2000.

Cd exhibited a similar behavior to Hg but with lower anomalies, reaching maximum EF values of 6.5. It had maximum concentrations on the Barcelona city coast but not at Francolí. Although Cd concentrations were high, they rarely reached the ERL value. The sources were the same as those of Hg.

Cr, Pb, Cu, and Zn also showed levels indicative of pollution, but with a lower EF than Hg and Cd (EF: 3.5-4). They also showed higher values on the Barcelona city coast and decreasing values southward.

Similarly to trace metals, most of the main representative organic families are strongly concentrated on the Barcelona city coast, which receives the organic pollution of the industrial and urban conurbation of Barcelona. This includes the emerging pollution of the PBDEs family and exceptionally the NPs family at Besòs, although their use is declining. Maximum values of DDTs and HCBz at Ebre can be related to the Flix industrial complex and maximum HCBz at Francolí to the Francolí River inputs and the Tarragona harbor.

Rivers generate anomalies in coastal sediment depending on their pollutant load and their capacity to dilute it in their water discharge. In the case of the Besòs River, the pollutant load is too high to be sufficiently diluted by the river water and dispersed by coastal processes. Trace metals showed a dominant decreasing trend between 2000 and 2006 on the Barcelona city and southern Catalan coasts, the most polluted areas being the ones that show the sharpest decrease. This decrease can be due to an increase in the water treated in wastewater treatment plants and to natural causes (dilution by storms and water discharge). The pollutant peaks in 2007 can be associated with dryness and those in 2009 on the Barcelona coast can be associated with malfunctioning of wastewater treatment plants. Economic cuts reducing the observance of environmental policies and the redistribution of ancient pollutants could also have contributed to pollutant increases during some of the crisis years.

Acknowledgments This study was funded by the Agència Catalana de l'Aigua (Departament de Medi Ambient i Habitatge, Generalitat de Catalunya). A.P. belongs to the CRG on Littoral and Oceanic Processes, supported by grant 2014 SGR 1642 of the Generalitat de Catalunya. We thank Mariona de Torres and Marta Manzanera for their support and Silvia de Diago and Neus Maestro, who helped with the technical aspects of this study.

References

- 1. Beck KC, Reuter JH, Perdue EM (1974) Organic and inorganic geochemistry of some coastal plain rivers of the southeastern United States. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 38:341–364
- 2. Salomon W, Förstner U (1984) Metals in the hydrocycle. Springer, Berlin
- 3. Fernex FE, Span D, Flatau GN, Renard D (1986) Behaviour of some metals in surficial sediments of the Northwest Mediterranean continental shelf. In: Sly PG (ed) Sediment and water interactions. Springer, New York, pp 353–370
- 4. Garnier JM, Martin JM, Mouchet JM, Thomas AJ (1991) Surface reactivity of the Rhone suspended matter and relation with trace element sorption. Mar Chem 36:267–289
- 5. Turner A, Millward GE (2002) Suspended particles: their role in estuarine biogeochemical cycles. Estuar Coast Shelf Sci 55:857–883
- 6. Krom MD, Turekian KK, Cutshall NH (1983) Fate of metals in the sediments of the New York Bight. In: Duedall IW, Kester DR, Ketchum BH, Kilho P (eds) Wastes in the ocean, vol 1. Wiley, New York, pp 209–234
- Palanques A, Díaz JI (1993) Transport and fate of heavy metal pollution dumped in the Besòs River and the Barcelona littoral area (northwestern Mediterranean). In: Arnaldos J, Mutjé P (eds) Chemical industry and environment. Palahí, Arts Gràfiques, Girona, pp 21–30
- Milliman JD, Syviski JPM (1992) Geomorphic-tectonic control of sediment discharge to the ocean: the importance of small mountainous rivers. J Geol 100:525–544
- 9. Nittrouer CA, Wright LD (1994) Transport of particles across continental shelves. Rev Geophys 32(1):85–113
- Walsh JP, Nittrouer CA (1999) Observations of sediment flux to the Eel continental slope, northern California. Mar Geol 154:55–68
- Puig P, Ogston AS, Mullenbach BL, Nittrouer CA, Sternberg RW (2003) Shelf-to-canyon sediment-transport processes on the Eel continental margin (northern California). Mar Geol 193:129–149
- Guillén J, Bourrin F, Palanques A, Durrieu de Madron X, Puig P, Buscail R (2006) Sediment dynamics during wet and dry storm events on the Têt inner shelf (SW Gulf of Lions). Mar Geol 234:129–142

- Palanques A, Guillén J, Puig P, Durrieu de Madron X (2008) Storm-driven shelf-to-canyon suspended sediment transport at the southwestern end of the Gulf of Lions. Cont Shelf Res 28:1947–1956
- Palanques A, Plana F, Maldonado A (1990) Recent influence of man on the Ebro Margin Sedimentation System, Northwestern Mediterranean. Mar Geol 95:247–263
- 15. Palanques A, Díaz JI (1994) Anthropogenic heavy metal pollution in the sediments of the Barcelona continental shelf (northwestern Mediterranean). Mar Environ Res 38:17–31
- Palanques A, Sanchez-Cabeza JA, Masqué P, Leon L (1998) Historical record of heavy metals in a highly contaminated Mediterranean deposit: the Besòs Prodelta. Mar Chem 61:209–217
- Puig P, Palanques A, Sanchez Cabeza JA, Masque P (1999) Heavy metals in particulate matter and sediments in the southern Barcelona sedimentation system (northwestern Mediterranean). Mar Chem 63:311–329
- Eljarrat E, Caixach J, Rivera J (2001) Evaluation of dioxin contamination in sewage sludge discharges on coastal sediments from Catalonia, Spain. Water Res 35:2799–2803
- Eljarrat E, Caixach J, Rivera J, de Torres M, Ginebreda A (2001) A toxic potency assessment of non- and mono-ortho PCBs, PCDDs, PCDFs, and PAHs in northwest Mediterranean sediments (Catalonia, Spain). Environ Sci Technol 35:3589–3594
- 20. IMPRESS, ACA (2005) Caracterització de masses d'aigua i anàlisi del risc d'incompliments dels objectius de la Directiva Marc de l'Aigua (2000/60/CE) a Catalunya (conques intra i intercomunitàries). Generalitat de Catalunya. Departament de Medi Ambient i Habitatge, Barcelona. http://aca-web.gencat.cat/aca/appmanager/aca/aca?_nfpb=true&_pageLabel= P1206154461208200586461
- 21. Díaz JI, Palanques A, Nelson CH, Guillén J (1996) Morpho-structure and sedimentology of the Holocene Ebro prodelta mud belt (northwestern Mediterranean Sea). Cont Shelf Res 16:435–456
- 22. Díaz JI, Ercilla G (1993) Holocene depositional history of the Fluviá-Muga prodelta, northwestern Mediterranean Sea. Mar Geol 111:83–92
- 23. Palanques A, Masqué P, Puig P, Sanchez-Cabeza JA, Frignani M, Alvisi F (2008) Anthropogenic trace metals in the sedimentary record of the Llobregat continental shelf and adjacent Foix Submarine Canyon (northwestern Mediterranean). Mar Geol 248(3–4):213–227
- 24. Solé M, Manzanera M, Bartolomé A, Tort L, Caixach J (2013) Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) in sediments from fishing grounds in the NW Mediterranean: ecotoxicological implications for the benthic fish *Solea* sp. Mar Pollut Bull 67(1–2):158–165
- 25. Díaz JI, Nelson CH, Barber J Jr, Giró S (1990) Late Pleistocene and Holocene sedimentary facies on the Ebro continental shelf. Mar Geol 95:333–352
- 26. Farran M, Maldonado A (1990) The Ebro continental shelf: quaternary seismic stratigraphy and growth patterns. Mar Geol 95:289–312
- 27. Muñoz P (1997) Centenari de "La Fàbrica". De la societat electroquímica de Flix a Erkimia, 1897–1997. Lunwerg Editores S.A, Barcelona
- Palanques A, Grimalt J, Belzunces M, Estrada F, Puig P, Guillén J (2014) Massive accumulation of highly polluted sedimentary deposits by river damming. Sci Total Environ 497–498:369–381
- Font J, Salat J, Julià A (1990) Marine circulation along the Ebro continental margin. Mar Geol 95:165–177
- Giró S, Maldonado A (1985) Análisis granulométrico por métodos automáticos: tubo de sedimentación y Sedigraph. Acta Geol Hisp 20:95–102
- Querol X, Alastuey A, Lopez Soler A, Mantilla E, Plana F (1996) Mineralogy of atmospheric particulates around a large coal-fired power station. Atmos Environ 30(21):3557–3572
- 32. US EPA (2007) Method 7473. Mercury in solids and solutions by thermal decomposition, amalgamation, and atomic absortion spectrophotometry. http://www.epa.gov/osw/hazard/ testmethods/sw846/pdfs/7473.pdf

- 33. Long ER, Macdonald DD, Smith SL, Calder FD (1995) Incidence of adverse biological effects within ranges of chemical concentrations in marine and estuarine sediments. Environ Manage 19:81–97
- 34. Galgani F, Martínez-Gómez C, Giovanardi F, Romanelli G, Caixach J, Cento A, Scarpato A, Benbrahim S, Messaoudi S, Deudero S, Boulahdid M, Benedicto J, Andral B (2011) Assessment of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon concentrations in mussels (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) from the Western basin of the Mediterranean Sea. Environ Monit Assess 172 (1–4):301–317
- 35. Scarpato A, Romanelli G, Galgani F, Andral B, Amici M, Giordano P, Caixach J, Calvo M, Campillo JA, Albadalejo JB, Cento A, BenBrahim S, Sammari C, Deudero S, Boulahdid M, Giovanardi F (2010) Western Mediterranean coastal waters—monitoring PCBs and pesticides accumulation in *Mytilus galloprovincialis* by active mussel watching: the Mytilos project. J Environ Monit 12(4):924–993
- 36. Caixach J, Calvo M, Bartolomé A, Palacios O, Guerra M, Abad E, River J (2007) Analysis of PBDEs, DL-PCBs and PCCD/Fs in caged mussels in the Western Mediterranean Sea. Mytilos project. Organohalogen Compd 69, O-056: 243
- 37. El agua en Cataluña: diagnosis y propuestas de actuación: esquema provisional de los temas más importantes que se plantean en la redacción del Plan de Gestión del Distrito de Cuenca Fluvial de Cataluña (2008) Agència Catalana de l'Aigua. Catalonia. Departament de Medi Ambient i Habitatge. Printed by Agpograf Impressors. http://aca-web.gencat.cat/aca/docu ments/ca/publicacions/aigua_a_catalunya/aigua_a_catalunya_es.pdf
- Palanques A, Díaz JI, Maldonado A (1991) Impact of the sewage sludge discharged in the Barcelona continental shelf. In: Chamley H (ed) Environment of epicontinental seas. Gauthier-Villars, Montrouge; Oceanol Acta 11: 329–336
- 39. Guillén J, Palanques A (1992) Sediment dynamics and hydrodynamics in the lower course of a river highly regulated by dams: the Ebro River. Sedimentology 39:567–579
- 40. Manrique A, García JM, Rodriguez J, Nebreda AM, Villuela I, Sanz AM (1986) Metales pesados en sedimentos, agua y vegetación del rio Ebro. In: Mariño M (ed) El Sistema Integrado del Ebro: Cuenca, Delta y Medio Marino. Gráficas Hermes, Madrid, pp 203–219
- Sancho-García A, Guillén J, Ojeda E (2013) Storm-induced readjustment of an embayed beach after modification by protection works. Geo-Mar Lett 33:159–172
- 42. Modamio X (1986) Heavy metal distribution on the coast of Catalonia. Mar Pollut Bull 17:383–385
- 43. Pinedo S, Jordana E, Flagella MM, Ballesteros E (2014) Relationships between heavy metals contamination in shallow marine sediments with industrial and urban development in Catalonia (Northwestern Mediterranean Sea). Water Air Soil Pollut 225:2084

Monitoring Programmes for Bathing Waters Within the Frame of the EU Bathing Water **Directive: The Experience of Catalonia**

Maria José Figueras, Mariona de Torres, Carolina Silvera, and Maria José Corrales

Abstract The quality of coastal recreational waters is monitored in Europe and other geographical areas through the analysis of faecal indicator bacteria, i.e. total and faecal coliforms and more recently E. coli and intestinal enterococci as in the new EU Bathing Water Directive (2006/7/EC). The old and new indicators and their methods of analysis are presented in this chapter underlying the limitations detected for the methods included in the new Directive. The expertise achieved along the ca. 25 years of monitoring the Catalan bathing waters revealed the two factors responsible of sporadically altering the otherwise excellent water quality of our beaches. These factors are rain events and incidences of the sewerage system. The Catalan beaches have been classified on the basis of the impact that rain events may have on altering their water quality. This information is now used to provide almost real-time warnings through the recently launched mobile app. Common alteration of the water aspect such as water discolouration, phytoplankton blooms and presence of foam that may be perceived as contamination by the public showed after investigation to correspond mainly to natural phenomena. The interrelationship established with the municipalities and the developed communication systems enabled to obtain accurate timely information from each bathing area.

Keywords Bathing water profiles, Bathing water quality, Beaches, *E. coli*, Faecal indicator bacteria, Intestinal enterococci, Mobile app, Rain events, Wastewater

M.J. Figueras (🖂) and C. Silvera

Unit of Microbiology, Department of Basic Health Sciences, University Rovira i Virgili, Sant Llorenc 21, 43201 Reus, Spain e-mail: mariajose.figueras@urv.cat

A. Munné et al. (eds.), Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II), Hdb Env Chem (2016) 43: 301-334, DOI 10.1007/698 2015 425, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2015, Published online: 11 September 2015

301

M. de Torres and M.J. Corrales Department of Monitoring and Aquatic Ecosystem Improvement, Catalan Water Agency, c/ Provenca 204-208, 08036 Barcelona, Spain

Contents

1	Introduction		
2	2 Faecal Indicators in Bathing Water Control		
	2.1 Coliforms	305	
	2.2 Faecal Coliforms	305	
	2.3 Escherichia coli	306	
	2.4 Faecal Streptococci, Enterococci or Intestinal Enterococci	306	
3	Analytical Methods Included in the New EU Directive	307	
	3.1 Most Probable Number (MPN)	308	
	3.2 Membrane Filtration (MF)	309	
	3.3 Limitations of the Methods Included in the EU Directive	310	
4	Bathing Water Quality	312	
	4.1 The Monitoring Programmes Developed in Catalonia	313	
	4.2 Alterations of the Microbiological Quality	317	
	4.3 Alterations Associated to Coastal Natural Phenomena	322	
5	Conclusions and Future Perspectives	328	
Ret	ferences	330	

1 Introduction

Natural waters are subject to important changes in their microbial quality due to discharges of treated or untreated sewage or wastewater as a result of human activity or storm water run-off. Sewage effluents contain a wide range of pathogenic microorganisms that may pose a health hazard to the human population when they are discharged into recreational waters [1]. The density and variety of these pathogens are related to the size of the population, the seasonal incidence of the illness and the dissemination of pathogens [2, 3]. The evaluation of the microbiological quality of bathing water aims to protect the users from illness derived from the potential accidental consumption or contact with open wounds of water that may contain pathogens such as bacteria, viruses and protozoa and thus to prevent water-related outbreaks [4-6]. This has been and still is nowadays an important challenge. For the past century, this evaluation has been performed through the analysis of the bathing water quality using faecal indicator bacteria (FIB), which are expected to predict the potential presence of pathogenic microorganisms in the water [1-7]. However, scientists, engineers, public health officials and water pollution control agencies have faced cases in which the quality of water showed the presence of high levels of indicators when water had already been used for recreation [3]. Outbreaks linked to bathing in a specific recreational area are very difficult to demonstrate, because of the many confounders that can be involved, such as the consumption in parallel of drinking water and food. Nevertheless, a relationship between bathing in faecally contaminated areas and health outcomes has been reported in several studies [2-10].

The World Health Organization (WHO) has been very active in developing guidelines for monitoring bathing waters of universal application (freely accessible through the Internet) and has promoted a more preventive approach based on risk assessment that can anticipate possible contamination events [4-6]. This approach takes into account all factors that can endanger the quality of water in the bathing area and pretend to be able to predict water quality deterioration before it occurs. The European Commission has undertaken an extensive revision of the existing 1976 Directive (76/160/EEC) concerning the quality of bathing water [11], taking into consideration the principles of the WHO guidelines [4-6], that resulted in the publication in February 2006 of a new updated Directive (2006/7/EC) [12]. The first innovation is related with the title of the new Directive that concerns "the management of bathing water quality" and not only the "water quality" as the old Directive (76/160/EEC). The latter will be completely substituted by Directive 2006/7/EC with effect from eight years after its entry into force (i.e. on 31 December 2014). The change in title is very relevant because it is not only mandatory to assess the water quality but also to do interventions in order to increase the quality of bathing water. Despite of that, both Directives shared as a general objective to preserve, protect and improve the quality of the environment and protect human health. The other innovative aspect is the change of the FIB and the requirement for elaborating for each bathing area a risk assessment, the so-called bathing water profiles (BWPs). The latter includes an exhaustive analysis of the potential sources of pollution that can endanger the bathing water quality. In fact, the BWPs, as indicated in the Directive (2006/7/EC), have to rely on or use data obtained from the monitoring and the assessments of the Water Framework Directive (2000/60/ EC) [13]. Therefore both Directives are interlinked as both should nourish from each other's data. The BWPs, which should have been established for the first time in 2011, are meant to be an essential tool for the daily management of bathing water quality during the bathing season [12].

The indicator organisms used to evaluate the microbiological quality of water and their methods of analyses have been extensively reviewed [14–18], as well as the relevance of some of them, e.g. faecal streptococci [16–18], and their relationship with specific pathogenic bacteria, e.g. *Salmonella* [7, 18, 19], *Arcobacter* [20, 21], viruses [22–24] and parasites [25].

In this chapter we will focus on describing the FIB, included in the old and new Directive underlining some of the limitations detected for the microbiological methods included in the new Directive. The factors that alter water quality using the expertise acquired through the monitoring programmes for bathing waters developed in Catalonia (northeast of Spain) since 1990 until now are presented as well as the public information systems including the recently launched mobile app and the interrelationship established with the municipalities and other stakeholders.

2 Faecal Indicators in Bathing Water Control

There are hundreds of different enteric microorganisms that are known to infect humans. Enteric microorganisms are excreted in the faeces of infected individuals or animals and may directly or indirectly contaminate water used for recreational activities [1, 3-5, 7, 22-25]. Some agents of waterborne diseases, such as Legionella spp., Vibrio spp., Aeromonas spp. and Pseudomonas, are indigenous of aquatic environments; therefore, infections caused by these microorganisms will depend on the exposure to natural waters [1, 3, 5]. However, most microbial waterborne pathogens of concern originate in the enteric tracts of humans and animals and enter the aquatic environment via faecal contamination [1-7]. The concentration of these pathogens in natural waters will depend on the number of infected persons and/or asymptomatic carriers in the community and the effectiveness of the wastewater treatment before the discharge to reduce their load [1, 3-6]. In addition, the dilution and the natural self-depurating capability of the receiving waters will also reduce the concentration of contaminant microorganisms. The control of microbial pathogens must be carried out by the use of a multi-barrier approach, including protection of the bathing area from receiving direct discharges of water contaminated with sewage or wastewater [4-6].

The presence of enteric pathogens in bathing waters is of great concern, and thus, legislation either in Europe, the USA and other countries requires the analysis of indicators to determine the microbiological quality of these waters [4–6, 11, 12]. Ideally, we would like to analyse the waters for the presence and quantification of specific enteric pathogens. However, many waterborne pathogens are still difficult to detect and/or quantify in waters, and for most of the newly recognised agents, easy methods to detect them in water samples have still to be developed [1, 3]. The introduction of molecular methods has advanced the recognition of these methods for the analysis of pathogens is not yet a reality in Europe. Molecular methods are restricted to research studies [20–24, 31, 32], especially those related to tracing the sources of contamination, i.e. microbial source tracking (MST) that pretends to determine the origin of the faecal pollution (human, animal, mix) or to study cases of suspected outbreaks [26, 33].

Nowadays, new approaches based on virulence factor-activity relationships to discover and detect emerging waterborne pathogens are being explored [31, 32]. However, the commonly used approach to determine the potential presence of pathogenic microorganisms in waters is the analysis of FIB or indicators of faecal pollution [1, 3–6, 12, 14–18]. These indicators must fulfil the requirements indicated in a previous study [3]: (1) Indicators should be present in faeces, sewage and sewage-polluted waters whenever the pathogens are also present and absent in waters without faecal pollution; (2) they must not multiply in water; (3) therefore the levels of indicators should have some direct relationship to the density of pathogens in aquatic environments and be proportional to the extent of the

pollution; (4) indicator survival rate in water must be at least similar to that of pathogens. In addition, (5) the resistance of indicators to depuration factors and disinfectants should be at least similar to that of the pathogens; (6) indicators must be detectable by a simple, inexpensive, accurate, rapid laboratory methodology; (7) indicators should be nonpathogenic and applicable to all types of water samples that require a monitoring programme.

The most widely used indicators are coliforms (total coliforms), faecal or thermotolerant coliforms, *Escherichia coli* and enterococci (faecal streptococci or intestinal enterococci) [1, 3–6, 11, 12, 14]. Bacteriophages have been used as indicators of viruses [1, 3], but several studies have claimed that the best indicator for viruses is the direct study of the presence of adeno- or noroviruses in the water [22–24]. Cyanobacteria and dinoflagellate toxins have been associated with health outcomes such as contact irritation after bathing in freshwater and marine environments, respectively [4, 5]. Their potential risk in bathing areas is also included in the new Directive and has to be contemplated in the BWPs [12].

2.1 Coliforms

By definition, coliform bacteria are facultative anaerobe, Gram-negative, non-spore-forming, rod-shaped bacteria that ferment lactose with acid production in 24–48 h at 36°C and are indole negative [1, 3]. Coliforms belong to the family Enterobacteriaceae and include Escherichia, Enterobacter, Klebsiella, Citrobacter, Kluyvera and Leclercia genera and some members of the genus Serratia [1, 3]. The coliform bacteria, traditionally termed the total coliforms, have been the primary standard for bathing and potable water in most of the world and in the European Union. These bacteria were classically used as indicators of faecal contamination of waters because they were considered to be inhabitants of the intestinal tracts of warm-blooded animals [1, 3–5, 11]. However, the ability of some coliforms to grow in natural waters and the lack of correlation between the number of coliforms and those of pathogenic microorganisms have led many regulatory agencies to question its utility as an indicator [1-6, 14, 15]. Furthermore, several studies have demonstrated the presence of coliforms in pristine bathing waters and in sediments in the absence of faecal pollution [34, 35]. For these reasons, this is one of the parameters that have been eliminated in the new Directive (2006/7/EC) [12].

2.2 Faecal Coliforms

These bacteria conform to all the criteria used to define total coliforms plus the requirement that they grow and ferment lactose with the production of acid at 44.5° C [1, 3]. For this reason, thermotolerant coliform would be the scientifically

accurate term for this group [1, 3, 6, 14, 15]. Bacteria in this coliform subgroup have been found to have a positive correlation with faecal contamination of warmblooded animals [3, 14, 19]. However, some thermotolerant coliform bacteria of the genus *Klebsiella* have been isolated from environmental samples in the apparent absence of faecal pollution [14, 15]. Similarly, other members of the thermotolerant coliform group, including *Escherichia coli*, have been detected in some pristine areas [35, 36]. Faecal coliforms display a survival pattern similar to those of bacterial pathogens but their usefulness as indicators of protozoan and viral contamination is limited [1, 3, 6, 14]. Therefore, they tended to be replaced by *E. coli* in several legislations as occurred in the new Directive [12].

2.3 Escherichia coli

This microbe is a member of a faecal coliform group that naturally occurs in the lower part of the gut of warm-blooded animals being therefore a more specific indicator for the presence of faecal contamination as commented above [1, 3, 6, 12, 14]. In addition, *E. coli* is the faecal indicator of choice used in WHO guidelines for bathing water quality [4–6] because it conforms to taxonomic as well as functional identification criteria and is enzymatically distinguished by the lack of urease and presence of β -glucuronidase [1, 3, 14, 37]. The latter reaction is the basis of the ISO 9308-3 method included in the new Directive [12, 38].

Several countries include *E. coli* in their regulations as the primary indicator of faecal pollution (i.e. Europe, USA) [4–6, 12]. As commented, the disadvantage associated with this organism as an indicator is its presence in pristine tropical rainforest aquatic and plant systems as well as soils [34–36]. Additionally, it seems to survive for short periods in aquatic temperate environments [39, 40].

2.4 Faecal Streptococci, Enterococci or Intestinal Enterococci

This group of microorganisms has received widespread acceptance as useful indicators of microbiological water quality, since (1) they show a high and close relationship with health hazards associated with the water use, mainly for gastrointestinal symptoms; (2) they are always present in faeces of warm-blooded animals; (3) they are unable to multiply in sewage-contaminated waters; and (4) their die-off is less rapid than those of coliforms or *E. coli* in water and persistence patterns are similar to those of potential waterborne pathogenic bacteria [1, 3, 8, 9, 14, 16, 29, 41].

Faecal streptococci, enterococci and intestinal enterococci are three synonyms used to refer to species described as members of the genus *Enterococcus*, which

also fulfil Sherman's criteria (growth at 10°C and 45°C, resistance at 60°C, growth at pH 9.6 and at 6.5% NaCl and reduction of 0.1% methylene blue) [1, 3, 14, 16, 41]. They comprise species of different sanitary significance and survival characteristics and, in addition, the proportions of the species of this group are not the same in animal and human faeces [1, 3, 14, 16]. *Enterococcus faecalis* and *E. faecium* are the predominant species in human faeces and sewage [16, 18]. In a European study that investigated enterococcal populations in animals, humans and the environment, the most common species detected were *E. faecium* (33%), *E. faecalis* (29%) and *E. hirae* (24%), and the distribution in these hosts has been confirmed using a molecular multiplex PCR technique [1 and references therein].

In 1996, considering the low specificity of the m-*Enterococcus* (m-Ent) medium (31%, i.e. almost 70% of false positives) for the detection and enumeration of faecal streptococci or enterococci, we have described a method for the confirmation of all the colonies grown on m-Ent from different types of water [17]. After incubation at $35 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C for 48 h of m-Ent, the confirmation technique consisted in the transplantation of the membrane filter from m-Ent to a new Petri dish containing bile-esculin medium for 2–4 h ($35 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C). The intestinal enterococci colonies grow, hydrolyse esculin and were confirmed, because after this incubation the original dark-red colonies change to dark brown, as seen from the reverse of the Petri dish. With some modification, this is the ISO 7899-2 method included now in the new Directive [12, 42].

Despite the definitions provided above for the indicators (total coliforms, faecal coliforms, *E. coli* and enterococci), in practical terms, these are determined on the basis of the biochemical reactions evaluated in culture media that are recognised either by the appearance of characteristic colonies (with a specific colour as response to this reaction in chromogenic substrates) and/or by the emission of fluorescence. Microbiological methods for indicators are far from perfect because they can produce false-positive and false-negative results [6, 14–18]. Despite the comments made about the limitations of total and faecal coliforms, we have to say that they are useful for detecting gross faecal contamination failing normally at the low concentration required by the standards of the new Directive.

3 Analytical Methods Included in the New EU Directive

The new Directive [12] includes standard operating procedures that detail all specific operations linked to the analytical methods developed by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO). Two ISO methods for each indicator (EC and IE), one based on the most probable number (MPN) and the other on membrane filtration (MF), are included in the new Directive [12, 38, 42–44]. Despite that, it is indicated in Article 3.9 that member states may permit the use of other methods if they can demonstrate that the results obtained are equivalent to those obtained using the methods specified in the Directive [12].

The most important limitation of all these methods is the time required to obtain the results, 36–72 h for the MPN methods [12, 38, 43] and shorter for the MF methods ca. 24 h for the EC (with the rapid method) [44] and 48–52 h for the IE [42]. The USEPA has developed an MF method for IE (Method 1600) that provides results in 24 h [45]; in our view, this is more convenient because results of both indicators can be obtained simultaneously in ca. 24 h. We have tested this method in parallel to the MF ISO method [42] in 113 samples and found that the mean results for the MF ISO 7899-2 were lower (245 cfu/100ml) than those obtained with the EPA method (420 cfu/100 ml). Despite of that, results with both methods were <100 cfu/100 ml in 72% of the samples. However, in 11.5% of the samples, the MF ISO method results were <100 cfu (mean 42 cfu/100 ml) while with the EPA method the results were very high (mean 436 cfu/100 ml) indicating that a confirmation should be required for this method. Alternative methods, validated by AFNOR, that provide results for both indicators in 24 h are the Colilert $18^{\text{(R)}}$ for E. coli (http://www.idexx.es/water/products/colilert-18.html) and Enterolert for intestinal enterococci (http://www.idexx.es/water/products/enterolert.html).

In cases of urgency in our laboratory, we have counted MF preliminary results of EC at around ca. 18 h of incubation and those of IE at ca. 40 h, and the classification of the bathing area was within the same category as when waiting for the complete incubation period. Preliminary readings of fluorescent wells can also be done with the MPN methods at ca. 36 h. These preliminary data can be relevant in contamination events to know if the quality of a bathing area has been restored or not so that alerts, warning signs and fences can be removed or not.

3.1 Most Probable Number (MPN)

The MPN analysis is a statistical method based on the random dispersion of microorganisms per volume in a given sample [1, 3, 14]. Classically, this assay has been performed as a multiple-tube (3, 5 or 10 tubes) fermentation test in three sequential phases (presumptive, confirmatory and complete), each phase requiring 1 to 2 days of incubation making therefore this technique very time consuming (5-7)days) [14]. The substantial amount of reagents, tubes, incubation space and cleanup requirements is the principal disadvantage together with the fact that MPN is a probabilistic method in which precision depends upon the number of multiple tubes used. Considering this limitation, the method has been adapted in miniaturised 96-well plates to increase precision and to overcome the other disadvantages. The final results are determined by counting the number of positive (fluorescent) wells at each dilution and transforming this number of positives on a specific number of bacteria (MPN/100 ml) using the MPN tables. This number is not a precise value and confidence intervals, i.e. most probable range, are often published with the MPN result [14]. The 96-well plates are the format used in the MPN ISO methods included in the new Directive (ISO 9308-3 and ISO 7899-1 for EC and IE, respectively) [38, 43].
In both MPN ISO methods, the presence of the indicator is evaluated by enzymatic reactions considered specific for EC and IE. In the case of EC, it detects the expression of the enzyme β -glucuronidase present in most of the strains by the hydrolysis of a highly sensitive fluorogenic substrate (4-methylumbelliferyl- β -Dglucuronide) present in each of the 96 wells of the microplate. For the detection of IE, the method relies on the expression of the β -glucosidase enzyme characteristic of enterococci by the hydrolysis of the substrate 4-methylumbelliferyl- β -D-glucoside. If the enzyme is present, the substrate releases the 4-methylumbelliferyl that emits fluorescence under a UV lamp. The Colilert and Enterolert methods mentioned above are based on the MPN method and on the same fluorogenic enzymatic reactions than the MPN ISO methods and can be used for both drinking water and bathing water. Unlike traditional methods, results require no further confirmation and are not dependent on subjective interpretation. The major advantages of the MPN technique are the following [1, 3, 14]: (1) it can be performed in both clear and turbid samples; (2) it inherently allows the resuscitation and growth of injured bacteria; and (3) the results may be recorded by personnel with minimal skills.

3.2 Membrane Filtration (MF)

The MF technique is the most widely used method in microbiological water analyses [1, 3, 14]. The technique is based on the entrapment of the bacterial cells by a membrane filter (pore size of 0.45 μ m). After the water is filtered, the membrane is placed on an appropriate medium and incubated. Discrete colonies with typical appearance are counted after 24–48 h, and the population density of the target bacteria is described as colony-forming units (cfu) per 100 ml calculated from the filtered volumes and dilutions used from the original sample. This technique was classically considered more precise than the classical MPN method. The MF test presents the limitation of its use for low-turbidity waters with low concentrations of background microorganisms and does not allow the resuscitation of injured bacteria.

The new Directive includes MF ISO methods for *E. coli* (ISO 9308-1) and intestinal enterococci (ISO 7899-2). The MF (ISO 9308-1) for *E. coli* allows two alternative procedures; the first is the standard test and uses lactose TTC agar with Tergitol-7 and requires a probabilistic confirmation of the colonies (at least 10) and therefore is a relative slow procedure (>48 h). The second is the rapid test that uses a pre-incubation, to recover injured bacteria, in tryptone soya agar (TSA, 4–5 h at $36 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C) after which a transplantation of the filter to tryptone bile agar (TBA, 19– 20 h at $44 \pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C) allows confirmation of all the colonies. The ones that turn red, after the addition of drops of the indole reagent (on their top), are *E. coli*. Transplantation can be avoided if both media are included in the same Petri dish and a programmed incubation is used. Since we implemented the new Directive, the rapid test for *E. coli* (ISO 9308-1) and the MF ISO 9308-1 for intestinal enterococci are the methods employed for the majority of the bathing waters of the Catalan monitoring programme. They were also used in the EPIBATHE Project financed by the EU within the VI Framework Research Programme to support the new Directive (2006/7/EC), which in its Article 14 (a) indicated that "The Commission shall, by 2008, submit a report to the European Parliament and to the Council on the results of an appropriate European epidemiological study conducted by the Commission in collaboration with Member States" [12]. In 2014, the ISO 9308-1 for *E. coli* has been modified including now only one culture medium, the chromogenic coliform agar (CCA) [46]. The CCA is a differential agar in which X-glucuronide is used for the identification of β -D-glucuronidase activity after incubation (at $36 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C) and, in this assay, *E. coli* colonies take on a dark-blue to violet colour. This medium does not contain any antibiotic to eliminate background microbial growth so for its use for bathing water we recommended incubation at 44°C to achieve this goal. This method at this incubation temperature was implemented in the Catalan monitoring programme for bathing areas in 2015.

3.3 Limitations of the Methods Included in the EU Directive

The limitations and contradictions of the old Directive [11] have been broadly discussed by us previously proposing amendments and corrections to be considered when designing the new Directive [47]. Among the limitations pointed out, there was the need for defining, harmonising and updating the methods of analysis and the FIB [47]. A harmonisation of methods has been done, and the new Directive includes well-defined ISO methods [12]. However, these methods can produce such different results for *E. coli* that a very discordant classification (excellent vs. poor) can be obtained for the same bathing area as we describe below. The limitations of the methods are only known when they are tested in parallel with other methods and when results are confirmed independently of the method indicating that it does not require confirmation.

The Catalan experience with the MPN methods included in the new Directive [12] started when we used them in parallel with our conventional methods for total coliforms and faecal coliforms [15], *E. coli* [37] and faecal streptococci [17] in the 2000 summer season within a practical trial promoted by the European Commission that was coordinated by us in Spain. The aim of the trial was to evaluate and compare results of old and new indicators and to test the feasibility of introducing direct management actions in case of unexpected results in view of the introduction of this new approach for managing bathing waters in the new Directive that was under preparation. Within that trial, it was evidenced that while the intestinal enterococci (IE) results between our conventional MF method [17] and the ISO 7899-2 were very similar, for certain bathing areas, the results between the FC and *E. coli* with our methods [15, 37] differed considerably from those of the ISO 9308-3 MPN method [38] that produced much higher results. These higher results were observed again during the development of the EPIBATHE Project entitled "Assessment of Human Health Effects Caused by Bathing Waters" that included



Fig. 1 Mean results and standard deviation obtained from the 54 water samples taken at each of the trials performed in two different dates in 2006 in a bathing area known to be of excellent water quality. *FC*, results of faecal coliforms with MF with m-FC medium; *ECMUG*, results of *E. coli* (EC) on the basis of the glucuronidase reaction; *ECTBA*, results of EC with the MF rapid method of ISO 9308-1; *EC96*, results of EC with the MPN ISO 9308-3; *IEMF*, results of intestinal enterococci (IE) with the MF ISO 7899-2; *IE96*, results of IE with MPN ISO 7899-1. Notice the high discordant results found for *E. coli* with the MPN ISO 9308-3

randomised controlled trials and epidemiological field studies performed in freshwater bathing areas in Hungary and in marine beaches in Catalonia, Spain. The volunteer participants were randomised as bathers and non-bathers, and through interviews and questionnaires, self-reported symptoms both pre-exposure and at one and three weeks postexposure were obtained. In parallel to the exposure, water samples were taken every 20 min during a period of 3 h (12–14 h) at six sampling points separated 20 m and this was repeated in 2 days (see Fig. 1). The analysis performed included the FIB of the new EU Directive (*E. coli*, intestinal enterococci with both MPN and MF ISO methods in parallel) plus faecal coliforms using MF and the m-FC medium. By transferring the membrane to a medium containing 4-methylumbelliferyl- β -D-glucuronide (MUG), we determined which FC colonies were *E. coli*, because they showed fluorescence after cultivation for 2 h at 36 ± 2°C [37]. These methods for FC and EC were the ones employed in the Catalan monitoring programme for many years before implementing the new Directive.

As shown in Fig. 1 and as expected, the concentration of ECMUG was smaller than the one of FC, because the method confirmed which of the FC belonged to EC. Results for FC were relatively similar to those obtained with the MF ISO 9308-1 (ECTBA) rapid test. All these results indicated a very good water quality as also shown by the results (mean <10 cfu/100 ml) obtained with both ISO methods MF (IEMF) and MPN (IE96) for intestinal enterococci. However, the ISO 9308-3 MPN method (EC96) for *E. coli* produced much higher results (mean >100 cfu/100 ml) that would classify the bathing area of poor water quality on the basis of the new Directive when the 95% percentile is calculated [12]. The observed high concentration is due to enzymatic activity from other nontarget bacteria (false positives) at

low levels of the targeted bacteria or even by plant extracts and algae including diatoms [6]. However, the MPN methods for intestinal enterococci and $E. \, coli$ had been used for fresh recreational waters in another epidemiological study performed in Germany [10] without finding the false-positive reactions for $E. \, coli$ mentioned above. This is in agreement with our findings also in the Catalan freshwater bathing areas or in marine waters impacted by freshwater where the MPN method of $E. \, coli$ is more reliable than the MF ISO 9308-1 method. The latter was designed for drinking water or treated waters and in our hands provided good results for the bathing waters of excellent water quality of Catalonia as occurred in the bathing area from which the results are shown in Fig. 1.

It has been suggested that intestinal enterococci and *E. coli* may not be useful in tropical waters due to their potential growth in soils/sediments [34, 35]. In fact, molecular methods have proved that *E. coli* can become "naturalised" in the environment and its presence does not necessarily indicate recent faecal pollution [1, 6, 14, 36]. In line with this we have also observed the phenomenon described as "blooms of faecal indicators" that had been attributed to the presence of organic carbon that favours the growth and can be present by preceding rain events, sewage outfalls or green algae. These blooms can also be promoted by the stratification of the water influenced by the wind and water temperatures (18°C) [1, 6, 36]. It has been demonstrated that *E. coli* has the capacity to grow in water and/or sediments at temperatures between 15 and 45° C or that other interfering microbes like *Enterobacter cloacae* and *Citrobacter freundii* can produce these abnormal results [6, 36].

During EPIBATHE, in the two trials performed in 2007 in a totally different beach, we detected important temporal and spatial variations of water quality influenced by the wind speed that changed along the 3 h in which we performed the monitoring in an area impacted by a faecally polluted rivulet. Important temporal and spatial variations have been observed in other studies [48]. In this bathing area we observed that salinity inversely correlated with the indicators of faecal pollution. A similar relationship has been noticed in cases of sewage spills. Salinity is an easy to perform in situ measure that may help to delimit the area impacted by faecal pollution. Salinity has been used with other data to nourish modelling systems to determine the bathing water quality [49].

4 Bathing Water Quality

The microbiological quality of coastal water is obtained through the periodic analysis of seawater during the bathing season, which is carried out in accordance with the criteria established in the new Directive (2006/7/EC) in order to obtain information about the water quality and to protect the health of the bathers [4–6, 12]. Algae, plant debris, changes in water colour or transparency (Fig. 2) and other natural phenomena typical of coastal waters as well as the presence of phytoplankton, sea foam, etc., can cause temporary alterations in the visual appearance of the



Fig. 2 Transparency is evaluated during sampling

Table 1 Bathing water quality categories according to the EU Directive depending on the percentile derived from the results obtained, in the last four bathing seasons, from intestinal enterococci and *E. coli*. (*) Percentile 95; (**) percentile 90; cfu, colony-forming units in 100 ml of water

Indicator	Excellent	Good	Sufficient	Poor
Intestinal enterococci	100 (*)	200 (*)	185 (**)	>185 (**)
E. coli	250 (*)	500 (*)	500 (**)	>500 (**)

water, without changing the microbiological quality of the bathing water. These changes in the appearance of the aspect of bathing water are related with their aesthetical aspect that in most cases does not have an impact on human health with the exception of the presence of harmful toxic algal blooms that occur very rarely at specific sites [4, 5, 50]. However, these aesthetical changes can generate some discomfort to the bathers that can associate these changes not with natural phenomena typical of coastal waters but with contamination (Fig. 2) [4, 5].

Bathing water quality is classified according to the EU Directive into four categories (Table 1), excellent, good, sufficient and poor, depending on the percentile derived from the results obtained, in the last four bathing seasons, from intestinal enterococci and *E. coli* [12].

4.1 The Monitoring Programmes Developed in Catalonia

The microbiological monitoring of the Catalan bathing areas was initiated in the early 1980s when Spain was not a member of the EU yet and depended on the Department of Public Health of the Catalan government. However, this responsibility was assumed in 1990 by the Environmental Department that designed and implemented an integrated sanitary and environmental monitoring programme introducing improvements almost every year from 1990 to 2010. For collecting the samples and performing the inspections (Figs. 2 and 3), we counted with 15–17 ad hoc trained inspectors. The bathing areas studied evolved from ca. 140 in 1990 to ca. 250 in 2010. Currently, the one responsible for the bathing water quality control



Fig. 3 During the sanitary and environmental inspection, data about the aspect of water, sand and potential sources of pollution are collected, originally in paper and when the Internet was available using a PDA (personal digital assistant)

is the Catalan Water Agency (ACA, http://aca-web.gencat.cat/aca/appmanager/aca/ aca? nfpb=true& pageLabel=P1210054461208200724644) that is carrying out inspections in the bathing areas and analysing the microbiological quality of seawater and continental (lakes, rivers and reservoirs) bathing areas. It is thereby possible to assure that the bathing areas are safe to use. The monitoring programmes developed in Catalonia have been implemented with the aim to provide the public with actualized information about the quality of the bathing areas during the bathing season, avoiding the public to rely on the quality obtained in the previous bathing season. The latter approach is the one used for other existing information systems as the Blue Flag award (http://www.fee-international.org/en/menu/programmes) and by the European Commission (http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/europeanbathing-water-quality-in-2013). Another objective of the programme was to provide information to the public not only about the microbiological water quality but also about the aspect of the water and the sand obtained during the sanitary inspection. The microbiological water quality was monitored once a week (Saturdays to be representative of one of the more crowded days) at a single laboratory (Unit of Microbiology of the Faculty of Medicine of the University Rovira i Virgili, URV), while sanitary inspections were assessed more frequently (four or five times a week). The inspection enabled to recognise the environmental characteristics of the bathing area and also potential sources of pollution (Fig. 3). Data recorded during the inspection include the presence and amount of plastic, sanitary residues, algae, tar, oil and litter, abnormal water colour and anything else that might cause aesthetic revulsion. Any abnormal situation was recorded making photos, which illustrate the problem and its extent. In addition, it was also recorded how thoroughly a beach was machine cleaned and how frequently litter containers were emptied. Municipalities were informed weekly of the results, and this information was simultaneously provided to tourist information offices, NGOs, local newspapers, TV and radio. The information was delivered at first by fax, but once the Internet and e-mail were available, these were the dissemination tools. At that time, the ACA website was developed including information about the monitoring programme and the bathing water quality updated each week (http://aca-web.gencat.cat/aca/appmanager/aca/ aca? nfpb=true& pageLabel=B10200167951250775483859& nfls=false). In



Fig. 4 Beach warnings in place when a sporadic contamination event occurs

addition, municipalities received each week a report including raw microbial data for each of the evaluated FIB and the results of the visual inspection and at the end of the bathing season a final balance report with suggestions for improvements. This system showed to give confidence to the public that their concerns were being taken seriously and has also encouraged many municipalities to improve the aesthetic aspects of their bathing areas. The approach of including a sanitary inspection and recording aesthetical data perceived by the users was considered so interesting that it is described in the WHO guidelines [5].

The sanitary inspections performed by ACA during the period 1990–2010, with a mean of 70 inspections for bathing area per year (or season), have enabled to obtain a very valuable information from each bathing area (Fig. 3). The latter included: (1) a photographic illustrated inventory of the potential sources of contamination of the bathing areas verified with the microbiological results and (2) a photographic illustrated inventory of the natural phenomena and changes on the aesthetical aspect of each bathing area. All the potential sources of contamination of the Catalan bathing areas are referenced in a map using the geographic information system (GIS). The mean number of water samples investigated per season (year) ranged from 2,500 to 4,500, and the amount of results for the FIB ranged between 10,000 and 15,000. The characterisation of the most relevant factors that affect each bathing area was determined and enabled to implement management actions and strategies for improving the quality of the bathing area. Our approach is totally in line with the requirements now included in the new Directive [12].

In the event of sporadic contamination, ACA informs right away the municipalities and warning notices are always posted. In such cases additional inspections and microbiological analyses are carried out in order to verify if the microbiological quality of the water has been restored. If water quality was not restored, the warning remains in place, and if necessary, the bathing area or a section of the beach is fenced (Fig. 4). The experience demonstrated that there are two main factors that can alter sporadically the microbiological water quality; those are rainfall and incidences of the sewerage system. Both factors will be explained in detail in the next section. These warning signs in place indicate that quality of the bathing water cannot be guaranteed due to rainfall or an incident involving the sewerage system. Point sources of pollution such as rivers and streams have also been recognised, and the implementation of management measures such as introduction of water treatment has led to minimise their impact in the Catalan coast to the extent that most point sources of pollution have been mitigated.

In 2005, ACA created the *Beach Commission* that include representatives from all Catalan municipalities that have bathing areas, administrations with coastal competences or involved in public health protection and beach rescue as well as the scientists of the research centres and experts on marine ecology and pollution control that act as advisers to ACA (URV; Institute of Marine Sciences, ICM; Institute of Advance Sciences of Blanes, CEAB; Institute of Environmental Assessment and Water Research, IDAEA; the last three named all belonging to the Spanish Council for Scientific Research). The aim of this commission is to allow the interrelation between all stakeholders involved in the management of bathing water quality. So to some extent, we anticipated the requirement of the new Directive of disseminating information to stakeholders [12]. In the meetings performed during the bathing season, the common problems are presented and the stakeholders are also invited to present their ideas, worries and expertise.

In 2011, in compliance with the requirements of the new Directive, the ACA elaborated the bathing water profiles (BWPs) that describe the physical, geographical and hydrological characteristics of the bathing area and their potential risk of being affected by sources of pollution following the guidelines described in the Annex III of the new Directive [12]. Also in 2011, the programme has been redesigned reducing the amount of inspections and microbiological controls in agreement with the new Directive.

The ca. 25-year implementation of the monitoring programme has generated a very broad knowledge of the factors that affect the bathing water quality. It also enabled to classify the ca. 300 coastal bathing areas of Catalonia in function of the risk of being sporadically contaminated by rain or by events linked to the sewerage system (sewage leaks) as well as to classify them in relation to their risk of being affected by natural phenomena, as blooms of phytoplankton, that will alter the aspect of the water. All this information has been extremely useful for the elaboration of the BWPs that have also benefited from the fact that ACA is also responsible of the Catalan sewage sanitation system and of the characterisation of the coastal and catchment areas according to the Water Framework Directive (WFD) [13].

In 2012, with the aim of increasing the exchange of information about the bathing areas with the municipalities (local administrations), a "telematic network of beaches" was created to improve the coordination and the management. For the functioning of the network, a dedicated software (with a template) has been designed that enables ACA to receive environmental data from the bathing areas obtained by the local authorities with their own personnel or contracted beach watchers. With the received information from all bathing areas, ACA prepares daily a balance for each specific municipality with a comparative analysis of all Catalan bathing areas and another one at the end of each bathing season. A regular balance about the quality of the Catalan bathing areas is also presented at the web and at the regular meetings of the Beach Commission where the management strategies and the functionality of the telematic network are discussed.

In 2014, a mobile app (Fig. 7) was launched with the idea of making even more readily accessible the information about the water quality of the ca. 300 bathing areas to the public. Information about the water quality is provided by the app daily as are alerts about possible alterations of the water quality (http://aca-web.gencat. cat/aca/platgescat/landing/ca/index.htm).

4.2 Alterations of the Microbiological Quality

The impact of rain in bathing water quality is a well-known phenomenon [4, 5, 48,49, 51–56]. The microbiological quality of the water in some beaches can be impaired temporarily, when there are fairly strong rains. In those beaches impacted by rainwater run-off, there are rainwater outlets, torrents, river mouths, sluices, streams or sewage pumping stations (used to move waste to higher elevations), etc. In the case of high sewage flows in wet weather, pumping stations may be insufficient, or in the case of failure of the pumping station, a backup in the sewer system can occur, leading to a sanitary sewer overflow or a discharge of raw sewage into the environment. Many beaches are not affected when it rains because they do not have pumping stations or natural or artificial course of water reaching the sea. In others it depends on the amount of rain as also determined in studies performed in California [48, 49, 51]. This sanitary quality alteration tends to return to normal 24– 48 or 72 h after the rain run-off spell stops [48, 51, 52]. A survey of swimmers in Santa Monica Bay found an increased health risk when swimming within 400 yards (366 m) of a flowing storm drain [52]. Within this area, they separate the classification of the water quality during wet weather and dry weather [53]. In order to effectively discourage use of areas that are of poor quality or discourage use at times of increased risk, signs have been posted permanently in rain drains along the California coast (Fig. 5).

The intensity and regularity of rain events can be influenced by climate change, and this will affect surface water quality, as we have discussed elsewhere [1 and references therein], and therefore the quality of bathing waters. The climate change determinants affecting water quality are mainly the air temperature, the increase of extreme hydrological events, soil drying-rewetting cycles and solar radiation. It is expected that in the temperate zones, climate change will decrease the number of rainy days but increase the average volume of each rainfall event. The higher water temperatures will probably, although there is still no clear evidence, lead to increase the pathogens' survival in the environment, and it has been shown that the increased UV radiation, due to ozone layer depletion, provokes the breaking down of bio-available organic compounds, minerals and micronutrients, stimulating the bacterial activity in aquatic ecosystems [1 and references therein]. The continuous accumulated knowledge in this field should help to prepare strategies to mitigate the climate change impact on the quality of bathing waters.

The Catalan coastal area embraces 830 km of coastline with 70 coastal municipalities and shows an elevated demographic pressure as it may occur in other



Fig. 5 Different signs posted in California alerting that all what is dump in the ground can drain in the ocean and about the impact of rain events

geographical areas in the Mediterranean Sea. When there is no rain, the Catalan water quality is very stable and usually excellent at the majority of the beaches. However, when strong rains take place, they can impair the bathing water quality temporarily, as the rainwater flowing into the sea may be faecally contaminated. The reason for this is that in Catalonia as in many other geographical regions, the urban sewerage systems are on the whole connected as a unit and these systems are named "combined sewer" (CS). Within this CS, a significant amount of the rainwater run-off enters the municipal sewerage system and then runs into the sea along the beds of rivers, streams or rainwater outlets or as an overflow from the sewerage system. Combined sewer overflows (CSOs) can lead to short-term periods of pollution on the most susceptible beaches. As commented not all beaches are affected when it rains because not all of them receive combined sewage. Storm water discharges that do not come from a combined sewage system or that do not have washed up animal manure may have a limited impact on the microbiological water quality of the bathing water. These beaches tend to be situated in non-urbanised or poorly populated areas.

The fact that the monitoring programme in Catalonia was never discontinued in case of wet weather allowed to record data from all beaches under this condition and to grade the amount of rain required at each bathing site to alter the water quality, and this information has been incorporated in the BWP. The information regarding the risk of the Catalan bathing areas of being impaired by rainfall is recorded, and the beaches are classified as *high/medium/low/nil*. For instance, the excellent water quality obtained from the bathing area (Fig. 6, from which we illustrated the results in Fig. 1) was not altered despite that on the 23rd of September the amount of rain fallen was ca. 23 mm and it did not stop raining all day. Notice in Fig. 1 that the results from the 24th were very similar to those obtained on the 30th when there was no rain. So this bathing area is classified with a risk of *nil* (not being impacted by rain events).

In the app (Fig. 7) developed by the ACA, the water quality classification is changed by an alert about the risk of the bathing water quality of being affected by



Fig. 6 Image showing the six sampling subareas delimited with buoys from which samples were collected every 20 min during 3 h on the 24th of September. Notice the wet sand that resulted from the constant rain during the day before (23rd of September)



Fig. 7 Free app (PlatgesCat) developed by ACA including information of ca. 300 Catalan beaches



Fig. 8 Images showing the impact of rain events on the bathing area

rain events in a daily and even hourly basis. The rainfall warning notice on the app is reviewed daily throughout the bathing season (1 June to 15 September) using the weather forecast information coming from two sources, a real-time online radar monitoring system developed by ACA (http://aca-web.gencat.cat/aetr) and the information of the Catalan Meteorological Service. Furthermore, to determine the risk, the previous information is complemented with the information of the online monitoring system existing at the pumping stations that record high sewage flows that may lead to sanitary sewage overflows that may affect a given bathing area. Warnings remain until the bathing water quality is restored, something that occurs as commented 24–48 h after the rain has fallen. However, increase in water turbidity due to sediment loads following periods of rainfall may persist for longer periods (Fig. 8), and they may even have a slight impact in the microbiological water quality.

Considering that the variation in water quality that may occur in response to rainfall can be a predictable outcome, this has been used as a tool to develop predictive models on bathing water quality [48, 49, 57]. River flow has also been used to model and predict the microbiological water quality in bathing areas controlled under the frame of the new Directive [57]. Torrential rains wash a large quantity of sediment and terrestrial plant remains onto the beaches, as well as waste from human activity. On some beaches, coastal fronts can form with very murky, brown-coloured water (Fig. 8). This can lead to large amounts of debris accumulating on the sand, which start out in the water and along the shoreline and

depending of the quantities may require additional cleaning operations to be implemented by local authorities. The coastal fronts may contain large amounts of reeds, pieces of wood, tree branches and other terrestrial plant remains, as well as all types of waste generated by human activity, which may remain along the coast for a number of days. The responsibility for not littering river areas, urban and interurban land and beaches lies with everyone. People should be aware that every paper, plastic bag or waste thrown on the ground may reach the seawater through rain run-off, and this can be announced as shown in Fig. 5.

Unexpected *discharges of wastewater onto the beach* as a result of isolated incidents involving the wastewater treatment system are rare. When this wastewater reaches the sea at the coastal area or when a pipe of a long sea outfall is accidentally broken or shows a leaking, the microbiological quality of the bathing water can be impaired temporarily. In order to prevent this impact on water quality, all of the sewerage systems in the coastal and pre-coastal areas of Catalonia are regularly inspected to ensure that they are working properly and that all wastewater from urban areas is being directed to the treatment plants. Despite these monitoring activities, isolated incidents may occur which are dealt with as quickly as possible and warning notices are also put up on the beaches (Fig. 4) as a precautionary measure and directly announced at the app.

There are currently 50 sewerage systems operating along the Catalonia coastline made up of collectors, pumping stations and wastewater treatment plants (WWTP) that collect and treat sewage normally with a biological or secondary treatment. The treated wastewater is then discharged into the sea, mainly through long sea outfalls in which the length from the coast depends on the population equivalent of wastewater treated and the characteristics of the coast (form, slope, depth, etc.).

The WHO guidelines for safe recreational water environments classify the sewage discharges, or outfalls, into three principal types [5]:

- 1. Those where the discharge is directly onto the beach, which will have the greater impact.
- 2. Those where discharge is through "short" outfalls; in this case, the sewagepolluted water is likely to contaminate the recreational water in the area, but its impact can depend on the distance of the outfall to the bathing area.
- 3. Those where discharge is through "long" outfalls, where the sewage is diluted and dispersed and the design criteria for the outfall should ensure that sewage does not pollute the bathing areas.

Direct discharges or short outfalls will always produce contamination unless the wastewater has been treated with a procedure that involves the removal of the microbial contamination (UV disinfection).

In our experience, the discharge of primary or secondary treated sewage without disinfection or untreated sewage will have a great impact on the microbiological water quality due to the high loads of faecal coliforms and *E. coli* in these types of water $(10^6-10^8 \text{ cfu}/100 \text{ ml})$. This is very evident at the point of discharge, but it will be less evident at a certain distance (200 m away) due to the dispersion, dilution, sedimentation and inactivation effect that occur in the receiving waters (through sunlight, predation, natural die-off, etc.).



Fig. 9 Images showing the warning sign in five different languages and how the bathers ignore the message

According to WHO, the proper location and design of long outfalls is also important and should include sufficient diffusers and adequate discharge depth to ensure low probability of the sewage reaching the recreational area [5]. Direct discharge of crude, untreated sewage (for instance, through short outfalls or combined sewer overflows, which contain a mixture of raw sewage and storm water) onto beaches presents a serious risk to public health. An imperfect design can generate that sewage which is relatively warm and of low salinity when compared with the receiving water, may mix poorly and form a floating slick [5]. Such slicks should not form where properly designed and operated diffusers are in place on the outfall. Where slicks form, they will be readily influenced by wind and may therefore pollute (even distant) recreational water environments severely [5].

As commented, impairment of water quality due to incidents involving the sewerage system should be identified by warnings (Figs. 4 and 9). The warning will have to remain in place until the authorities have resolved the incident (usually within a few hours), but reparations of pipes may require several days, and in those cases fencing the affected area will be necessary. In all situations it will be necessary to verify if the bathing water quality levels have returned to normal, so that the warning can be removed. However, warning signs are sometimes totally ignored by the bathers as we have experienced (Fig. 9).

4.3 Alterations Associated to Coastal Natural Phenomena

Beaches are natural areas where marine life grows and lives and natural phenomena relevant to the coastal shore ecosystem take place. Among the marine life, there are algae that can be single-celled forms or macroscopic like seaweeds. A massive growth of algae can generate the so-called algal blooms, which although occurred throughout recorded history have increased during recent decades 1, 2, 58–60]. The increased occurrence frequency has accompanied nutrient enrichment of coastal

waters on a global scale. As indicated in the WHO guidelines, blooms of non-toxic phytoplankton (i.e. microscopic organisms that live in watery environments) species and mass occurrences of macro-algae can affect the amenity value of recreational waters due to reduced transparency, discoloured water and scum or slime formation. In addition, bloom degradation can be accompanied by unpleasant odours, resulting in aesthetic problems that may impact tourism economy [4, 5, 58].

The accumulation of jellyfish and other gelatinous organisms is an additional natural phenomenon along the coast, and their presence may have an impact in human health through stings that normally result in only a short-lived burning sensation, although some can be dangerous, especially if the swimmer has a severe allergic reaction [4, 5, 59]. As we wrote in the WHO guidelines [4] where we presented the remedial measures to deal with jellyfish in bathing areas in Barcelona (Spain), jellyfish are commonly found in coastal environments, although their normal environment is approximately 50 miles away from the coastlines in oceanic waters and the factors that govern their presence at the coastline are still unclear. However, dry weather conditions (dry years) are considered to contribute to jellyfish along the coastline and their presence usually indicates a flow of oceanic waters towards the coastline and therefore should be considered a natural phenomenon not linked to pollution. Between 2007 and 2010, ACA has financed monitoring research studies developed at the Jellyfish Expertise Centre of the Institute of Marine Sciences (ICM) of Barcelona to try to understand the dynamics of the jellyfish populations [60, 61 among others]. Furthermore, in collaboration with the ICM, extensive public information campaigns dedicated to the recognition of the different species that can be found at our coasts and their associated danger have been developed. A uniform treatment protocol in case of stings was also established as well as a code of good practice for bathers and municipalities in the event of jellyfish stings at the beach. This information is included at the ACA website and at the app.

The BWPs should include an assessment of the potential risk for cyanobacteria, macro-algae and/or phytoplankton proliferation, meaning by proliferation an accumulation in the form of a bloom, mat or scum [12]. In reality, cyanobacteria have a similar size to the unicellular algae but, unlike other bacteria, contain blue-green or green pigments, and they are also termed blue-green algae and are typical members of the freshwater phytoplankton, although they can also be found in brackish waters. In the marine environments, the phytoplankton proliferations are commonly produced by dinoflagellates. As commented, marine plant (macro-algae) remains can also be washed towards our shores from time to time, which may lead to give the bathing area a dirty aspect that can in addition be associated to an increase in water turbidity due to sediment loads following periods of rainfall.

4.3.1 Phytoplankton Blooms

Phytoplankton blooms are occurrences of population explosions related to the suspended microscopic algae that live in the water. This phenomenon can lead to a greenish, yellow or brown colouration of the water which, in the majority of cases,

does not constitute any danger to bathers. This abnormal discolouration usually has a negative effect on how the water looks. This is due to the fact that phytoplankton cells contain varying colour pigments and, when in large concentrations, turn the water into different colours (tones of green, yellow, brown or red), the bathing water not being as transparent as a result.

The blooms are most common in summer when the waters are calm and there are intense levels of solar radiation. Along the Catalan coast, like in the rest of the Mediterranean, these are most likely to occur around sheltered beaches, bays and harbours and, in general, in areas with low rates of water renewal. Blooms are also common in areas where river mouths or irrigation channels run into the sea, bringing with them freshwater which is rich in nutrients and suspended matter. In general, when there is a bloom, the seawater change colour and loses its transparency after midday. The blooms may last for a period ranging from a few days to up to 1–3 weeks, depending on the weather and sea conditions.

As indicated above, phytoplankton blooms occur naturally in the marine environment as a manifestation of the life cycle of these organisms and generally do not pose any risk to beachgoers or marine ecosystems. However, exceptionally, some species can produce toxins that can potentially affect the health of bathers [4, 5, 58, 62]. Interestingly, phytoplankton blooms can be recurrent in certain bathing areas. A persistent problem was detected in Catalonia at La Fosca Beach (Costa Brava) characterised by the discolouration of water. Water that appeared to be clean in the early morning became green-brown by late morning and remained so into the evening (Fig. 10). This generated numerous complaints from the public who assumed the problem to be related to wastewater and sewage inputs. An intensive monitoring programme was conducted, and this included:

- Sanitary inspection of the beach and sewage system to search for unauthorised outlets
- · Inspection of possible inland water influence
- · Study of the temporal and spatial variations of the microbial water quality
- Analysis of physicochemical parameters
- Study of sediments and flora
- · An investigation of phytoplankton

The programme (which costs US\$35,000 at 1994–1996 prices) unequivocally ruled out wastewater or sewage inputs. The discolouration was attributed to a non-toxic dinoflagellate *Alexandrium taylori* [57]. Once the origin of the problem was identified, a series of press conferences and a local publicity campaign were undertaken to inform the public. The species *A. taylori* had not previously been identified, but since its identification at La Fosca, it has been reported at other Mediterranean locations [62] and later in other Catalan beaches. This incident illustrates that not all water discolouration should be assumed to be due to sewage pollution or to toxic blooms. In this instance, a preliminary investigation to identify dinoflagellate species would have saved both time and money.



Fig. 10 Images showing La Fosca Beach with transparent and brownish water during the phytoplankton bloom

4.3.2 Accumulations or Sea Foam and Lines of Spume and Slime

Algae blooms may also form surface foam/scum/mucus or slime that are mainly linked to the presence and degradation of organic matter in seawater and plant production. Although certain human activities and the accidental discharge of pollutants can provoke the appearance of foam, the lines or patches of spume and slime that can sometimes be observed on the seawater are generally the result of natural processes and do not pose any risk to the health of bathers. The fact that this process is linked to the presence of naturally degraded organic matter means that spume is frequently formed by the waves after the most active hours for plants (from midday onwards), because organic substances are released into the water as a result of plant production. Scum formation is also prevalent following periods of rainfall, due to organic matter being washed into the sea, and also when there are a lot of waves. Patches or lines of spume are created by the movement of the waves; therefore, the evolution and persistence of the scum also varies depending on the sea conditions. However, they usually persist for several hours.

The most commonly observed accumulations or patches of foam or spume in the Catalan bathing waters are caused by the presence of natural tensioactive substances, which result from the degradation of organic matter occurring naturally in the marine environment. This was demonstrated in a study performed by ACA during 2004 in collaboration with several research institutions (URV, ICM and IDAEA). The study involved the analysis of phytoplankton, faecal indicator bacteria and organic and inorganic chemical compounds in 50 samples of foam. The natural origin of the foam was confirmed by the absence of faecal contamination or anthropogenic organic chemical compounds in the foam samples.

Accumulations of slimy substances can also form, less frequently and on a large scale, and are normally associated with the growth of certain phytoplankton genus, such as *Phaeocystis* spp. and *Gonyaulax* spp. (Fig. 11).



Fig. 11 Images showing the formation of foam, lines of spume and floating slime phytoplankton bloom produced by members of the genus *Gonyaulax* (see its microscopic morphology)



Fig. 12 Accumulation of marine plant remains at the sea and at the sand and water. The fibre balls come from a seagrass called *Posidonia*

4.3.3 Deposits of Marine Plant Remains

The huge appearance of seaweed masses that pile on the beaches or on the shore, the so-called seaweed tides, is a phenomenon that has increased worldwide in recent years [63, 64]. In certain areas of the Catalan coast, currents and waves quite commonly wash up remains of marine plants (i.e. seagrass, marine macro-algae or seaweed) that are then accumulated on the water shoreline or deposited on the beach sand (Fig. 12). This phenomenon forms part of the natural cycle of coastal ecosystems. Although these accumulations are generally harmless and are usually temporary, they can generate discomfort or be a nuisance to recreational users or even to nearby residents because when they decompose they may produce unpleasant smells and can attract insects.

The accumulation on the sand or in the shallow water can uncover rocks or broken glass and other anthropogenic litter, and care should be taken to avoid wading among them to avoid injuries or wounds. Furthermore, some studies have indicated that accumulation of seaweed at the sand could provide a protected environment for FIB reducing the impact of UV disinfection and dissection as well as producing a source of nutrients that may facilitate a greater persistence of FIB (like *E. coli*) in the bathing area [64].

4.3.4 Marine Litter

Marine litter has been found to be widespread in marine environments all over the world impacting negatively the marine life [4, 5, 56, 65, 66]. WHO defined marine litter as any waste from human origin that may accumulate in the sand depending on the sea currents that come from three main sources marine, riverine (including torrents and rain drains) and beach user discharge [4, 5]. The impacts of litter in the bathing areas and some possible interventions have been presented in the WHO guidelines [4, 5]. The United Nations Environmental Programme considered this waste to be an important problem and has launched a global initiative on marine litter (http://www.unep.org/regionalseas/marinelitter/initiatives/unepglobal/default.asp) as did the European Commission that studied the problem with the aim of establishing a quantitative reduction targets for marine litter in the coming years (http://ec.europa.eu/environment/marine/good-environmental-status/descrip tor-10/pdf/final_report.pdf). Marine litter is also the topic of recent studies performed at the Mediterranean and other geographical areas [56, 65, 66].

The ACA has also paid a lot of attention to the presence of litter at the bathing areas and even launched an educative campaign underlying how dangerous plastics and other human-generated litter may be for the environment (Fig. 13). In fact since 1992, ACA has used pelican boats to remove litter from the Catalan coast during the summer seasons. Along 10 years (2001 to 2010), they performed an intensive and extensive study along all the coast using between 40 and 52 boats (including pelicans and other types of boats) to find out the extent of the problem. The collected marine litter was sorted, weighed and classified as anthropic residues (plastics, wood, glass bottles, hydrocarbons, etc.) and/or residues of natural origin (such as those coming from vegetation, seagrass, seaweed, foam or spume, etc.). These interventions also prevented marine litter from reaching the bathing areas. As indicated the main goal was to quantify the extent of the problem analysing the quantities recovered each season and at each area of the coast during the different years. The mean volume of residues collected by those cleaning boats during each bathing season was around 500 m³. They corresponded (% of the total) 60% to anthropic residues (33.5% plastics, 16% anthropic wood, 0.5% hydrocarbons and 10% to other origins) and 40% to natural residues (14% land vegetation, 15% marine vegetation and 11% to organic matter). Our results indicated the need for mitigating the problem at the origin that means in the land by reducing the amount of litter and especially the amount of plastics used. Intensive public campaigns have promoted recycling and reducing litter. Plastic bags are not given for free at grocery shops and are almost not used anymore for shopping in our area. One of the recent studies performed in Australia revealed that although the population is motivated



Fig. 13 Poster elaborated by ACA to educate people about the impact that human litter may have in the marine ecosystem and cleaning activities performed by one ACA boat

for preserving marine wildlife, they underestimated the risk that marine litter generated for wildlife [52]. We believe that a similar situation may happen in our population, so probably it would be important that the information campaigns are not punctual educational interventions but are launched at regular intervals, like, for instance, every 2 years.

5 Conclusions and Future Perspectives

In this chapter, we have analysed the indicators and methodologies proposed for them in the new Directive commenting their limitations. The information about the water quality provided to the competent authorities and the public has to be as reliable as possible and not be distorted by false-positive or false-negative results produced by the analytical methods that will over- or underestimate, respectively, the amount of faecal contamination. It is essential to know the limitations of the microbiological methods in order to select the most reliable to undertake management actions with guarantees. Unreliable information in the form of the false-positive results obtained for the *E. coli* ISO 9308-3 method could lead to spend unnecessary time and money directed at understanding sources of pollution that do

not exist. In our experience there is not an ideal method that can be applied to all types of waters (seawater, brackish water or freshwater) with different degrees of faecal contamination. For polluted waters (seawater, brackish water or freshwater), the MPN methods of the Directive are the ones that perform better, while for our clean seawaters, the MF ISO methods were reliable and provided results in shorter time. We hope that in the near future we can have access to continuous measures of water quality. Such systems do already exist measuring similar enzymatic reactions as the ones of the MPN ISO methods and therefore may show the same limitations, and in addition, they are too expensive to be used in routing extensive monitoring programmes.

The sanitary and environmental inspections introduced in the Catalan monitoring programmes (ca. 25 years ago) have been a key element for recognising and studying all the factors that affect/alter the quality and aspect of the water and the sand at each bathing area. The follow-up research enabled to distinguish which ones corresponded to natural phenomena or to faecal pollution. Once a good knowledge of the factors that endanger each beach is established, management actions can also be designed in accordance. The amount of information generated for bathing areas within the Catalan monitoring programmes recording those potentially impacted by urban sewage has been extremely useful for quantifying the pressures received by each water body defined in line with the WFD.

Rain events typical of the Mediterranean climate characterised by few rain episodes of a high intensity are one of the most important factors that can alter sporadically the excellent water quality of our Catalan beaches. Each bathing area has been classified in function of the impact that rain may produce in its quality. An online monitoring of the rain events, with different approaches, allows to give fast alerts or warnings about the potential change of the water quality. This information is integrated in the mobile app on the Catalan bathing areas (ca. 300 beaches) developed by ACA and provides alerts in a timely and friendly manner to the public. Modelling is another approach taken to give warnings about the water quality, but independently of the approach taken, the important thing is that information is proactive and not reactive, i.e. bathers should be alerted before the water quality has deteriorated.

We should bear in mind the possible needed adaptations of the monitoring programmes and the risk assessments to face the possible changes on water quality that may occur in response to climate change.

Education campaigns indicating that the seawater aspect may change as result of natural phenomena not linked to pollution are necessary. In the same line, it is important that the public is aware that during and after (48–72 h) a rain event, the quality of water cannot be guaranteed. Furthermore, it is essential to involve the population on reducing marine litter in order to preserve the marine ecosystem by being more responsible and reducing the litter that they produce.

References

- 1. Figueras MJ, Borrego JJ (2010) New perspectives in monitoring drinking water microbial quality. Int J Environ Res Public Health 7:4179–4202
- 2. Kay D, Fricker C (1997) Coliforms and *E. coli*, problem or solution? The Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge
- 3. Borrego JJ, Figueras MJ (1997) Microbiological quality of natural waters. Microbiol SEM (Int Microbiol) 13:413–426
- 4. WHO (2000) In: Bartram J, Rees G (eds) Monitoring bathing waters a practical guide to the design and implementation of assessments and monitoring programmes. E & FN Spon, London. http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/bathing/bathing3/en/
- WHO (2003) Guidelines for safe recreational water environments, vol 1: Coastal and freshwaters. World Health Organization, Geneva. http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/ bathing/srwe1/en
- 6. WHO (2009) Addendum to the WHO guidelines for safe recreational water environments, volume 1, coastal and fresh waters. WHO/HSE/WSH/10.04, World Health Organization, Geneva. (http://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/publications/addendum_coastal.pdf? ua=1
- 7. Borrego JJ, Castro D, Figueras MJ (2002) Salmonella in aquatic environments. In: Bitton G (ed) Encyclopedia of environmental microbiology. Wiley, New York
- Kay D, Fleisher JM, Salmon RL, Jones F, Wyer MD, Godfree AF, Zelenauch-Jacquotte Z, Shore R (1994) Predicting the likelihood of gastroenteritis from sea bathing results from randomized exposure. Lancet 344:905–909
- Kay D, Bartram J, Prüss A, Ashbolt N, Wyer MD, Fleisher JM, Fewtrell L, Rogers A, Rees G (2004) Derivation of numerical values for the World Health Organization guidelines for recreational waters. Water Res 38:1296–1304
- 10. Wiedenmann A, Kruger P, Dietz K, Lopez-Pila J, Szewzyk R, Botzenhart K (2006) A randomized controlled trial assessing infectious disease risks from bathing in fresh recreational waters in relation to the concentration of *Escherichia coli*, intestinal enterococci, *Clostridium perfringens* and somatic coliphages. Environ Health Perspect 8115:1–41
- 11. Directive 76/160/EEC (1976) Concerning the quality of bathing water. Off J Eur Union L 31
- 12. Directive 2006/7/EC (2006) Concerning the management of bathing water quality and repealing Directive 76/160/EEC. Off J Eur Union L 64
- Directive 2000/60/EC (2000) Establishing a framework for the community action in the field of water policy. Off J Eur Union L 327
- 14. Figueras MJ, Robertson W, Pike E, Borrego JJ (2000) Sanitary inspection and microbiological water quality. In: Bartram J, Rees G (eds) Monitoring bathing waters. A practical guide to the design and implementation of assessments and monitoring programmes. E & FN Spon, London
- Figueras MJ, Polo F, Inza I and Guarro J (1994) Poor specificity on m-Endo and m-FC culture media for the enumeration of coliform bacteria in sea water. Lett Appl Microbiol 19:446–450
- 16. Borrego JJ, Castro D, Figueras MJ (2002) Fecal streptococci/enterococci in aquatic environments. In: Bitton G (ed) Encyclopedia of environmental microbiology. Wiley, New York
- Figueras MJ, Inza I, Polo FL, Feliu MT, Guarro J (1996) A fast method for the confirmation of fecal streptococci from m-*Enterococcus* medium. Appl Environ Microbiol 62:2177–2178
- Figueras MJ, Inza I, Polo FL, Guarro J (1998) Evaluation of the oxolinic acid-esculin-azide medium for the isolation and enumeration of faecal streptococci in a routine monitoring programme for bathing waters. Can J Microbiol 44:998–1002
- Polo F, Figueras MJ, Inza I, Sala J, Fleisher JM, Guarro J (1998) Relationship between presence of *Salmonella* and indicators of faecal pollution in aquatic habitats. FEMS Microbiol Lett 160:253–256
- 20. Collado L, Inza I, Guarro J, Figueras MJ (2008) Presence of *Arcobacter* spp. in environmental waters correlates with high levels of fecal pollution. Environ Microbiol 10:1635–1640

- 21. Collado L, Kasimir G, Perez U, Bosch A, Pinto R, Saucedo G, Huguet JM, Figueras MJ (2010) Occurrence and diversity of *Arcobacter* spp. along the Llobregat river catchment, at sewage effluents and in a drinking water treatment plant. Water Res 44:3696–3702
- 22. Wyn-Jones AP, Carducci A, Cook N, D'Agostino M, Divizia M, Fleischer J, Gantzer C, Gawler A, Girones R, Höller C, de Roda Husman A, Kozyra I, López-Pila J, Muscillo M, Sao José Nascimento M, Papageorgiou G, Rutjes S, Sellwood J, Szewzyk R, Wyer MD, Kay D (2011) Surveillance of adenoviruses and noroviruses in European recreational waters. Water Res 45:1025–1038
- 23. Bofill-Mas S, Caluga B, Clemente-Casares P, La Rosa G, Iaconelli M, Muscillo M, de Roda Husman AM, Grunert A, Graber I, Verani M, Carducci A, Calvo M, Wyn-Jones AP, Girones R (2010) Quantification of human adenovirus in European recreational waters. Food Environ Virol 2:101–109
- 24. Wyer MD, Wyn-Jones AP, Kay D, Au-Yeung HK, Gironés R, López-Pila J, de Roda Husman AM, Rutjes S, Schneider O (2012) Relationships between human adenoviruses and faecal indicator organisms in European recreational waters. Water Res 46:4130–4141
- Adamska M (2015) Molecular characterization of Cryptosporidium and Giardia occurring in natural water bodies in Poland. Parasitol Res 114:687–692
- 26. Wyer MD, Kay D, Watkins J, Davies C, Kay C, Thomas R, Porter J, Stapleton CM, Moore H (2010) Evaluating short-term changes in recreational water quality during a hydrograph event using a combination of microbial tracers, environmental microbiology, microbial source tracking and hydrological techniques: a case study in Southwest Wales, UK. Water Res 44:4783–4795
- 27. van Alphen LB, Dorléans F, Schultz AC, Fonager J, Ethelberg S, Dalgaard C, Adelhardt M, Engberg JH, Fischer TK, Lassen SG (2014) The application of new molecular methods in the investigation of a waterborne outbreak of norovirus in Denmark, 2012. PLoS One 9:105053
- Gensberger ET, Polt M, Konrad-Köszler M, Kinner P, Sessitsch A, Kostić T (2014) Evaluation of quantitative PCR combined with PMA treatment for molecular assessment of microbial water quality. Water Res 67:367–376
- 29. Wade TJ, Sams E, Brenner KP, Haugland R, Chern E, Beach M, Wymer L, Rankin CC, Love D, Li Q, Noble R, Dufour AP (2010) Rapidly measured indicators or recreational water quality and swimming-associated illness at marine beaches: a prospective cohort study. Environ Health 9:66
- 30. USEPA (2012) Method 1611: Enterococci in water by TaqMan[®] quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) Assay. EPA-821-R-12-008, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, USA. http://water.epa.gov/scitech/methods/cwa/bioindicators/upload/ Method-1611-Enterococci-in-Water-by-TaqMan-Quantitative-Polymerase-Chain-ReactionqPCR-Assay.pdf
- Lasalde C, Rodriguez R, Smith HH, Toranzos GA (2005) Heterogeneity of uidA gene in environmental *Escherichia coli* populations. J Water Health 3:297–304
- 32. Cangelosi GA (2009) Prospects for applying virulence factor-activity relationships (VFAR) to emerging waterborne pathogens. J Water Health 7:64–74
- 33. Ervin JS, Van De Werfhorst LC, Murray JL, Holden PA (2014) Microbial source tracking in a coastal California watershed reveals canines as controllable sources of fecal contamination. Environ Sci Technol 48:9043–9052
- 34. Lee CM, Lin TY, Lin CC, Kohbodi GA, Bhatt A, Lee R, Jay JA (2006) Persistence of fecal indicator bacteria in Santa Monica Bay beach sediments. Water Res 40:2593–2602
- 35. Rivera SC, Hazen TC, Toranzos GA (1988) Isolation of fecal coliforms from pristine sites in a tropical rain forest. Appl Environ Microbiol 54:513–517
- 36. Ashbolt NJ, Dorsch MR, Cox PT, Banens B (1997) Blooming *E. coli*, what do they mean? In: Kay D, Fricker C (eds) Coliforms and *E. coli*, problem or solution? The Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge
- 37. Mates A, Shaffer M (1989) Membrane filtration differentiation of *E. coli* from coliforms in the examination of water. J Appl Bacteriol 67:343–346

- 38. ISO 9308-3 (1998) (cor 1: 2000). Water quality-detection and enumeration of *Escherichia coli* and coliform bacteria Part 3: Miniaturized method (most probable number) for the detection and enumeration of *E. coli* in surface and waste water. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva
- 39. Blaustein RA, Pachepsky Y, Hill RL, Shelton DR, Whelan G (2013) *Escherichia coli* survival in waters: temperature dependence. Water Res 47:569–578
- 40. Borrego JJ, Arrabal F, De Vicente A, Gomez LF, Romero P (1983) Study of microbial inactivation in the marine environment. J Water Pollut Control Fed 55:297–302
- Byappanahalli MN, Nevers MB, Korajkic A, Staley ZR, Harwood VJ (2012) Enterococci in the environment. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 76:685–706
- 42. ISO 7899-2 (2000) Water quality-detection and enumeration of intestinal enterococci-Part 2: membrane filtration method. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva
- 43. ISO 7899-1 (1998) (cor 1: 2000) Water quality-detection and enumeration of intestinal enterococci-Part 1: Miniaturized method (most probable number) for surface and waste water. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva
- 44. ISO 9308-1 (2000) (cor 1: 2007) Water quality-detection and enumeration of *Escherichia coli* and coliform bacteria in surface and waste water-Part 1: membrane filtration method. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva
- 45. USEPA (2002) Method 1600: Enterococci in water by membrane filtration using membrane-*Enterococcus* Indoxyl-β-D-Glucoside agar (mEI). EPA-821-R-02-022. U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Washington, DC, USA. http://www.epa.gov/microbes/1600sp02.pdf
- 46. ISO 9308-1 (2014) Water quality enumeration of *Escherichia coli* and coliform bacteria-Part 1: membrane filtration method for waters with low bacterial background flora. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva
- Figueras MJ, Polo FL, Inza I, Guarro J (1997) Past, present and future perspective of the EU bathing water directive. Marine Pollut Bull 34:148–156
- He LM, He ZL (2008) Water quality prediction of marine recreational beaches receiving watershed baseflow and stormwater runoff in southern California, USA. Water Res 42:2563–2573
- 49. Thoe W, Gold M, Griesbach A, Grimmer M, Taggart ML, Boehm AB (2014) Predicting water quality at Santa Monica Beach: evaluation of five different models for public notification of unsafe swimming conditions. Water Res 67:105–117
- Casabianca S, Casabianca A, Riobó P, Franco JM, Vila M, Penna A (2013) Quantification of the toxic dinoflagellate *Ostreopsis* spp. by qPCR assay in marine aerosol. Environ Sci Technol 47:3788–3795
- Ackerman D, Weisberg SB (2003) Relationship between rainfall and beach bacterial concentrations on Santa Monica Bay beaches. J Water Health 1:85–89
- 52. Parker JK, McIntyre D, Noble RT (2010) Characterizing fecal contamination in stormwater runoff in coastal North Carolina, USA. Water Res 44:4186–4194
- 53. Soyeux E, Blanchet F, Tisserand B (2007) Stormwater overflow impacts on the sanitary quality of bathing waters. Water Sci Technol 56:43–50
- 54. Santa Monica Bay Restoration Project (1996) An epidemiological study of possible adverse health effects of swimming in Santa Monica Bay. Final report 7 May 96. Monterey Park, CA, USA
- 55. Noble RT, Weisberg SB, Leecaster MK, McGee CD, Dorsey JH, Vainik P, Orozco-Borbón V (2003) Storm effects on regional beach water quality along the southern California shoreline. J Water Health 1:23–31
- 56. Bougeard M, Le Saux JC, Jouan M, Durand G, Pommepuy M (2010) Modeling and evaluation of compliance to water quality regulations in bathing areas on the Daoulas catchment and estuary (France). Water Sci Technol 61:2521–2530
- Delgado M, Garcés E, Villa M, Camp J (1997) Morphological variability in three populations of the dinoflagellate *Alexandrium taylori*. J Plankton Res 19:749–757
- 58. Smetacek V, Zingone A (2013) Green and golden seaweed tides on the rise. Nature 504:84-88

- 59. Pascual M, Fuentes V, Canepa A, Atienza D, Gili JM, Purcell JE (2014) Temperature effects on asexual reproduction of the scyphozoan *Aurelia aurita* s.l.: differences between exotic (Baltic and Red seas) and native (Mediterranean Sea). Marine Ecol 1–9
- 60. Purcell JE, Atienza D, Fuentes V, Olariaga A, Tilves U, Colahan C, Gili JM (2012) Temperature effects on asexual reproduction rates of scyphozoan species from the northwest Mediterranean Sea. Hydrobiologia 690:169–180
- 61. Quilliam RS, Jamieson J, Oliver DM (2014) Seaweeds and plastic debris can influence the survival of faecal indicator organisms in beach environments. Mar Pollut Bull 84:201–207
- 62. Garcés E, Masó M, Vila M, Camp J (2000) HABs events in the Mediterranean Sea: are they increasing? A case study; the last decade in the NW Mediterranean and the genus *Alexandrium*. Harmful Algae News 20:1–11
- 63. Gili JM, Pagès F (2005) Jellyfish blooms. Boll Soc Hist Nat Balears 48:16-22
- 64. Ioakeimidis C, Zeri C, Kaberi H, Galatchi M, Antoniadis K, Streftaris N, Galgani F, Papathanassiou E, Papatheodorou G (2014) A comparative study of marine litter on the seafloor of coastal areas in the Eastern Mediterranean and Black seas. Mar Pollut Bull 89:296–304
- 65. Pearson E, Mellish S, Sanders B, Litchfield C (2014) Marine wildlife entanglement: assessing knowledge, attitudes, and relevant behaviour in the Australian community. Mar Pollut Bull 89:136–148
- 66. Polo F, Figueras MJ, Inza I, Sala J, Fleisher JM, Guarro J (1999) Prevalence of *Salmonella* serotypes in environmental waters and their relationships with indicator organisms. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 75:285–292

Index

A

Accumulations, 219, 323, 325 Acrothamnion preissii, 255 Adenovirus, 1, 6 Aeromonas spp, 304 Agriculture, 1, 3, 12, 26, 64, 125, 141, 173, 204, 229, 274, 294 Alexandrium taylori, 324 Alfacs Bay, 227, 230, 256, 275, 287 Algae, 145, 164, 184, 242, 312 Algal blooms, 135, 137, 145-148, 261, 301, 313, 322 Alien species, 249, 253 Aluminum, 277 Amphiura chiajei, 241 Analysis, 63 Anilides, 69 Aora spinicornis, 242 Apps, 319 Aquifer media (A), 123 Aquifers, 27, 64, 101, 106, 117 Arcobacter, 303 Asparagopsis armata, 255, 261 Atrazine, 69, 72, 75 Azithromycin, 82

B

Badalona, 108, 291 Balearic Islands, 177, 185, 262 Barcelona, 70, 75, 82, 93, 101, 271, 278, 291, 323 coastal plain, 106 metropolitan area (MAB), 91, 106, 274, 282

organic contaminants, 84 Bathing water, profiles (BWPs), 301, 303, 316 quality, 301, 312 Beach Commission, 316 Beaches, 301, 315, 319 Benzophenones, 85 Besòs River, 82, 85, 110, 210, 219, 282, 292, 297 delta, 107 Biodegradation/biodegradability, 65, 109, 124 Bioindicators, 138, 163 Biological quality element (BQE), 135-156, 184 Biopollution level index (BPL), 249, 251 Bloom frequency index, 148 Bovine polyomaviruses (BPyVs), 10, 13 Braun-Blanquet index, 252 Bursatella leachii, 256, 261

С

Cadmium, 168, 206, 231, 271, 279–282, 287–290, 294–297 *Capitella capitata*, 218, 242 CARLIT, 183 Catalan Water Agency (ACA), 142, 272 Catalonia, 1, 25, 91, 117 beaches, 301, 315 coast, 249 *Caulerpa cylindracea*, 251, 254 *Caulerpa taxifolia*, 251 Chemical pollution, 271 Chicken/turkey parvoviruses (Ch/TuPV), 13 Chloroacetanilides, 69

A. Munné et al. (eds.), *Experiences from Ground, Coastal and Transitional Water* 335 *Quality Monitoring: The EU Water Framework Directive Implementation in the Catalan River Basin District (Part II)*, Hdb Env Chem (2016) 43: 335–340, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-23904-0, © Springer International Publishing Switzerland 2016

Chlorophyll-a, 135, 138, 148, 166 Chromium, 211, 271, 279, 282 Ciona intestinalis, 256 Citrobacter freundii, 312 Cnidarians, 253 Coastal inshore waters (CIW), 142 Coastal nearshore waters (CNW), 142 Coastal waters, 135, 161 Codium fragile, 254 Codium tomentosum, 254 Coliforms, 305 Combined sewer (CS), 318 overflows (CSOs), 318 Continental pressures, 135 Conventional activated sludge (CAS), 65 Copper, 168, 206, 211, 219, 271, 279, 282, 287, 290, 295 Corallina elongata, 184 Corophium acutum, 242 Crassostrea gigas, 255, 261 Cyanazine, 69 Cyanobacteria, 185, 195, 305, 323 Cymodocea nodosa, 161 **CYMOX**, 162 Cystoseira mediterranea, 184, 195 Cystoseira stricta, 184

D

2,4-D, 69 Daughter Directive, 25 DDDs/DDEs, 292 DDT, 271, 281, 290-294 Depth of water (D), 121 Desethyl atrazine (DEA), 69 Desisopropyl atrazine (DIA), 69 Diatom/dinoflagellate ratio, 147 Diazinon, 72 Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT), 271, 281, 290-294 Dictyota cyanoloma, 255, 261 Dimethoate, 72 Dinoflagellates, 323 Diuron, 72 DPSIR (Driver-Pressure-Status-Impact-Response), 173 DRASTIC, 117 Drugs of abuse, 82

Е

Ebro (Ebre), 141, 218, 227, 294 delta, 143, 227, 297 Ecological groups (EGs), 203 Ecological potential (EP), 229 Ecological quality ratio (EQR), 137, 185, 209 Ecological status (ES), 161, 183, 202, 210, 229 Enalaprilat, 85 Enrichment factor (EF), 277 Enterobacter cloacae, 312 Enterococci, intestinal, 301, 306 Enterococcus faecalis, 307 Enterococcus faecium, 307 Environmental gradients, 166 Environmental objectives, 26 Environmental quality standards (EQS), 273 Erichtonius punctatus, 242 Escherichia coli, 4, 301, 306 EU Bathing Water Directive (2006/7/EC), 301

F

Fabriciola tonerella, 241 Faecal contamination, 1, 305 Faecal indicator bacteria (FIB), 301, 302 *Falkenbergia rufolanosa*, 255 Fangar Bay, 230 Farm animals, 2 Fertilisers, 2, 3, 12, 14 *Fistularia commersonii*, 256 Flix, 274, 294, 297 Fluvial traps, 296 Fungicides, 68

G

H

Halocordyle disticha, 255 Halophila stipulacea, 164 Index

Harmful algal bloom (HAB) index, 145 Heavily modified water bodies (HMWB), 227 Heavy metals, 184, 205, 209, 219, 231, 237, 242, 271 Herbicides, 68-72 Heteromastus filiformis, 241, 242 Human adenoviruses (HAdV), 12, 13 Human polyomavirus (JCPyV), 12 Human pressures, 161 HYDOR, 96 Hydraulic conductivity of the aquifer (C), 127 Hydrodynamic processes, 295 Hydrogeochemical calculator tools, 100, 108 Hydrogeochemical data, 91 4-Hydroxy-propanolol, 85

I

Impact of the vadose zone (I), 126 IMPRESS, 131 Indicators, 1, 140, 163, 301 bacteria, 4 Indices, harmonization, 177 Invasive species, 171, 249, 262 Ionic ratios, 100 Irrigation, 64, 73, 74, 92, 106, 122 channels, 238, 324 pesticides in groundwater, 73

J

Jellyfish, 323

K

Klebsiella, 306

L

La Fosca Beach, 324 Land Use Simplified Index (LUSI), 135, 144, 183 Landfills, 2 Lead (Pb), 166, 206, 210, 231, 237, 271, 279–282, 287, 290, 295 *Legionella* spp, 304 Limit of quantification (LOQ), 28, 273 Linuron, 72 Littoral fine sands, 201 Littoral rocky shores, 249 Littoral sandy muds, 201 Livestock, 3 Llobregat, 64 *Lophocladia lallemandii*, 251, 262

M

Macroalgae, 183 Macroinvertebrates, 184, 195, 201, 219, 227 Macrolide antibiotics, 82 Manure, 2 Marine litter, 327 Maximum ecological potential (MEP), 227, 240Mediterranean Sea, 201, 227 NW. 135 MEDOCC (MEDiterranean OCCidental), 201, 203, 206, 227 index. 206 Membrane filtration (MF), 309 Mercury, 166, 206, 210, 231, 236, 271, 277-297 4-Methylbenzylidenecamphor (4MBC), 85 4-Methylumbelliferyl-β-D-glucuronide, 309 Microbes, tracking, 1 Microbial source tracking (MST), 1, 4, 304 Microcosmus exasperatus, 256 Microcosmus squamiger, 256 Microdeutopus algicola, 242 Mobile apps, 301 Molinate, 69 Monitoring, 25, 313 points (stations), 28, 46 Most probable number (MPN), 308 MSFD, 249 Mytilus galloprovincialis, 184–186, 194, 195

Ν

Neanthes caudata, 242 Nephtys hombergii, 203 Net recharge (R), 122 Nitrates, 1, 3, 12, 27, 42, 65, 73–76, 92, 109, 132, 143 Nonmetric multidimensional scaling (NMDS), 187 Nonylphenols, 271 Notomastus latericius, 241

0

Oculina patagonica, 251, 255 Organic contaminants, polar, 63 Organic pollutants, 271 Outliers, 27

Р

Paraleucilla magna, 255, 259 Parasites, 5, 303 Parvovirus, 8 Pathogens, 2 Pennaria disticha, 255 Pesticides, 2, 63, 68, 74, 109, 117, 129, 230 polar, 68, 81 regional distribution, 73 temporal distribution, 74 Phaeocystis spp, 325 Pharmaceuticals, 66, 82 Phenoxy acids, 69 Phenylureas, 69, 72 Phosphate, 109, 143 Phytoplankton, 135, 138, 323 Pinna nobilis, 232 PlatgesCat, 319 Polar organic pollutants (PolOPs), 66, 81 Polyandrocarpa zorritensis, 256, 261 Polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs), 271, 281, 282, 287, 290, 295 Polychaetes, 203 Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), 271, 281, 282, 287, 295 Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs), 271, 281, 282, 290, 297 Polyomavirus, 1, 7 POMI. 162 Porcine adenoviruses (PAdVs), 10, 13 Posidonia oceanica, 161, 254 Pressure-impact relationship, 135, 150, 173, 209 Prionospio cirrifera, 241 Prionospio fallax, 241 Prionospio multibranchiata, 242 Priority substances (PS), 273 Protozoa, 3 Pseudomastus deltaicus, 242 Pseudomonas, 304 Pseudopolydora sp, 242 Punta de l'Ocell, 252

Q Quality trend assessment, 25

R

Rain events, 301 Rainwater, 64 run-off, 317 Reference conditions, 151 Rocky-shore assemblages, 183 *Ruppia*, 164

S

Salinity, 100, 102, 135, 149, 166, 174, 195, 241, 312 Salmonella, 303 Sampling, sediments, 275 Scoloplos armiger, 203 Scum formation, 325 Sea foam, 325 Seagrasses, 164 Seaweed tides, 326 Sedimentological variables, 210 Sediments, 271 Sensitivity levels, 185 Sewage, 2 effluents, 302 sludge, 3, 76, 117, 131 Sewerage systems, 321 Simazine, 72 Slime, 325 Slurry, 2 Software, 93 Soil type (S), 124 Solid phase extraction (SPE), 68 Spearman's rank correlation coefficients, 237 Spiramycin, 82 Spisula subtruncata, 203 Spume, 325 Statistical tools, 105 Streptococci, 303, 306 Sulfadiazine, 76 Sulfadimethoxine, 77 Sulfamethoxazole, 76 Sulfapyridine, 76 Sulfonamides, 63, 68, 75

Т

Terbuthylazine, 70, 109 Tetracyclines, 75 Thiocarbamates, 69 Time trends, 290 Topography (T), 125 Tordera, 64 Toxicity risk, 277 Trace metals, 271 Transitional waters (TW), 227 Trend estimation, 43 Trend reversal, 27 Triazines, 69 Tunicates, 253 Index

U

Urban wastewater, 3, 7, 12, 77 UV disinfection, 321, 327 UV filters, 65–68, 82–86

V

Vanadium, 206, 211, 231, 236, 237 Venus ovata, 203 Vibrio spp, 304 Viral markers, 1 Viruses, 1, 3 Vulnerability, 117

W

Wastewater, 7, 64, 218, 301 discharges, 80, 203, 321 pharmaceuticals, 81 sludge, 12, 15 untreated, 64 urban, 77 Wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs), 5, 65, 76, 80, 291, 294, 321 effluents, 73 Water bodies (WBs), 201, 249 Water Framework Directive (WFD), 1, 117, 201 Water-quality assessment, 135 Water-quality surveys, 142 *Womersleyella setacea*, 251, 255, 261

Z

Zinc, 168–170, 206, 210, 219, 231, 237, 271, 279–282, 287, 290, 294 Zostera, 165